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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Introduction
The directors present the Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2021.
Business review

The principal activity of MH Services International Holdings {UK) Limited ("the Company") during the year was
to act as an investment holding company.

Financial key performance indicators
The Company generated a loss for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 of £61,226k (2020: £80,276k).
Principal risks and uncertainties

The directors have overall responsibility for the Company's approach to assessing and managing risk, with the
Company's management teams being responsible for the implementation of policies on risk control and
compliance with such policies.

Price risk
The Company has no exposure to equity securities price risk, as it holds no listed or other equity investments.
Impairment of investments

The Company holds investments in its subsidiaries. A significant change in the nature or market of these
investments could lead to impairment in the carrying value of these investments.

Liquidity risk

The Company monitors its liguidity position on a regular basis and leverages parent company support, if
required.

Political and Regulatory risk

Current and potential new NHS legislation is monitored by the Board and executive management tc ensure any
impacts on the Company, and its subsidiaries, are properly evaluated and managed.

This report was approved by the board and signed on its behaif.

E)pkiJM

E Perry
Director

5th December 2022
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS {(UK) LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

The directors present this report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.
Results and dividends

The loss for the year, after taxation, amounted to £61,226k (2020: £80,276k).

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the period (2020: nif}.
Directors

The directors who served during the year were:

E Perry (appointed 29 March 2021)
T Dinkelman
S Jones (appointed 14 January 2021, resigned 30 March 2021)

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of the directers and officers was in force during the
financial year.

Creditor policy

The Company seeks to follow best practice guidelines iaid down by the Department of Business, Innovation and
Skills to pay suppliers in line with their agreed payment terms subject to suppliers meeting their contractual
obligations. The Company continually reviews its supply chain with a view to maximising the strength of
relatiocnships with its preferred suppliers and obtain best prices.

Post Balance Sheet events

The Company has received £267.9 million of cash fundings from Centene Corporation through the Company's
immediate parent, MHS Consulting International, Inc., of which £267.9 million was passed down to MH Services
International {UK) Limited. On 11th January, 2022, £7.5 million of the contribution was passed down to Operose
Health Limited. On 31st March 2022, 1 share was issued by the Company for consideration of £260.3 million,
which was used to acgquire 1 share in MH Services International (UK} Limited for consideration of £260.3 million.
MH Services International {(UK) Limited used this to settle a portion of their existing short term intercompany
loan with Centene Corporation. The £267.9 million in fundings primarily consists of these two contributions.

This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf.

[
CPELAiy

E Perry
Director

5th December 2022
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Directors' Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations,

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable
law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that
period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
+ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

+ assess the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern; and

+ use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or 1o
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK} LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of MH Services International Holdings (UK) Limited ("the Company”)
for the year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Balance
Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, and related notes, including the accounting palicies in note 2.

In our opinion the financial statements:

+ give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of its loss for
the year then ended;

- have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland, and

* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)")} and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and
are independent of the Company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our
opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liqguidate the Company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the Company's financial
position means that this is realistic. They have alsc concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could
have cast significant doubt over it's ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of
approval of the financial statements (“the going concemn period"},

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Company's business
model and analysed how those risks might affect the Company’s financial resources or ability to continue
operations cver the going concern period.

Qur conclusions based on this work:

* we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is appropriate;

= we have not identified, and concur with the directors’ assessment that there is not, a material
uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions
are not a guarantee that the Company will continue in operation.
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatermnent due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks") we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:

- Enquiring of directors as to the Company's high-level palicies and procedures to prevent and detect
fraud, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

+ Reading Board minutes
»  Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud
throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account our overall knowledge of the control envirochment, we
perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk that
management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries. On this audit, we do not believe
there is a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because there are no revenue transactions.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.
We performed procedures including:

« l|dentifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting
documentation. These included unbalanced journals and journals containing specific words.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience and through discussion with the
directors and other management (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with the directors and other
management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of
non-caompliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and
taxation legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our
procedures on the related financial statement items.
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK} LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS {UK) LIMITED

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect (continued)

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related fo compliance with laws and regulations
{continued)

This Company as a holding company, is not subject to other laws and regulations where the consequences of
non-compliance could have a materiatl effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our
audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently
limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Qur audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-
compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Strategic Report and Directors' Report

The directors are responsible for the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover those reports and we do nct express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report and, in doing s0, consider whether,
based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with
the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

+ we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report;

* in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements; and

+ in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

+ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
«  certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
+ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TC THE MEMBERS OF
MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK} LIMITED

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 3, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of
the financial statements and for heing satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal controt as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting
uniess they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditor's responsibilities

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor's report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantes that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK} will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financiat statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilites is provided on the FRC's website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

%M&ﬂ/\&___

David Simpson (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of
KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

Charlered Accountants

58 Clarendon Road
Watford
Hertfordshire
wD17 1DE

9 December 2022
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

Note £000 £000

Administrative expenses {61,226) {80,273)
Operating loss {61,226) {80,273)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) — (3)
Loss before tax {61,226) (80,276)
Tax on loss 5 — —
Loss for the financial year {61,226) (80,276)
Other comprehensive loss for the year - —
Total comprehensive loss for the year (61,226) {80,276)

The notes on pages 11 to 19 form part of these financial statements.
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

Fixed assets
Investments

Current assets

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

Net liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share premium account
Profit and loss account

Note

0

2021 2020
£000 £000
9,778 —
(133,777) (117,663)
(133,777) (117,663)
(123,999) (117,663)
{123,999) (117,663)
77,003 22,113
(201,002) (139,776)
(123,999) (117,663)

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
with respect to accounting records and the preparation of financial statements.

The financial statements were approved and authcrised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf by:

ety

E Perry
Director

5th December 2022

The notes on pages 11 to 19 form part of these financial statements.
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Profit and
Share loss
premium account Total equity
£000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2020 22,113 (59,500) (37,387)
Comprehensive income (loss) for the year
Loss for the year — (80,276) {80,276)
At 1 January 2021 22113 {139,776) {117.663)
Comprehensive income (loss) for the year
Loss for the year —_ (61,226) {61,226)
Shares issued during the year 54,890 — 54,890
At 31 December 2021 77,003 {201,002) {123,999)

The notes on pages 11 to 19 form part of these financial statements.
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. General information

MH Services International Holdings (UK} Limited is a private company, limited by share capital, incorporated in
the United Kingdom and registered in England and Wales under Company number: 109260863. The registered
office is 108 High Street, Great Missenden, England, HP16 0BG.

The financial information set out in these financial statements comprises the Company’s statutory accounts for
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

2.  Accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention unless otherwise specified
within these accounting policies and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102, the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland and the Companies Act 2C06.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates, It also requires Company management to exercise judgement in applying the Company's
accounting policies.

The Company's functional and presentational currency is GBP.
The following principal accounting policies have been applied:
2.2 Financial reporting standard 102 - reduced disclosure exemptions

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions in preparing these financial
statements, as permitted by the FRS 102, the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland:

« the requirements of Section 4 Statement of Financial Position paragraph 4.12(a)(iv);
+ the requirements of Section 7 Statement of Cash Flows;
+  the requirements of Section 3 Financial Statement Presentation paragraph 3.17(d);

+ the requirements of Section 11 Financial Instruments paragraphs 11.41(b}, 11.41(c}, 11.41(e), 11.41(f),
11.42, 11.44, 11.45, 11.47, 11.48(a)(iii), 11.48(a)(iv}, 11.48(b} and 11.48(c}),

+ the requirements of Section 12 Other Financial Instruments paragraphs 12.26, 12.27, 12.29(a), 12.29(b)
and 12.29A;

« the requirements of Section 33 Related Party Disclosures paragraph 33.7.

This information is included in the consclidated financial statements of Centene Corporation as at 31 December
2021 and these financial statements may be obtained from 7700 Forsyth Bivd., St. Louis, MO, 63105, USA.

2.3 Exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements

The Company is a parent company that is also a subsidiary included in the consolidated financial statements of
its ultimate parent undertaking established under the law of an non-EEA state and is therefore exempt from the
requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements under section 401 of the Companies Act 20086,
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. Accounting policies (continued)
24 Going concern

The Company's business activities are described in the Strategic Report on page 1 and Directors’ Report on
page 2.

Notwithstanding net current liabilities of £133,777k as of 31 December 2021 and a total comprehensive loss for
the year then ended of £61,226k the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which
the directors consider to be appropriate for the following reasons:

The directors and associated management team have prepared cash flow forecasts for the period to December
2023 which indicate that, taking account of reascnably possible downside scenarios and the anticipated impact
of COVID-19 on the operations and its financial resources, the Company will have sufficient funds, through
funding from its ultimate parent company, to meet its liabilities as they fall due in the forecast period.

Those forecasts are dependent on Centene Corporation, the ultimate parent, not seeking repayment of the
amounts currently due to the group, which at 31 December 2021 amounted to £133,761K, and providing
additional financial support during that pericd. Centene Corporation has indicated its intention fo continue to
make available such funds as are needed by the Company, and that it does not intend to seek repayment of
these amounts for the period covered by the forecasts. As with any company placing reliance on other group
entities for financial support, the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty that this support will
continue although, at the date of approval of these financial statements, they have no reason to believe that it
will not do so.

Consequently, the directors are confident that the Company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its
liabilities as they fall due for at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements and
therefore have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

2.5 iInvestments
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment.

Any subsidiary underiakings sold or acquired during the year are included up to, or from, the dates of change of
control or change of significant influence, respectively.

2.6 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when the Company becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade and other debtors and creditors are classified as basic financial instruments and measured at initial
recognition at transaction price. Debtors and creditors are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. A provision is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will
not be able to colliect all amounts due.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an eguity
instrument. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. Accounting policies {continued)
2.7 Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the Company's functional currency at the foreign exchange
rate ruling at the date of the transaction, Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the
balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date,
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined. Foreign exchange differences arising
on translation are recognised in the profit and loss account.

2.8 Current and deferred taxation

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit and loss, except
that a charge attributable to an item of income and expense recognised as other comprehensive income or to
an item recognised directly in equity is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company operate and generate
income,

Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed
by the balance sheet date, except that:

*+ The recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that it is probable that they will be
recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits;

+ Any deferred tax balances are reversed if and when all conditions for retaining asscciated tax
allowances have been met; and

+  Where they relate to timing differences in respect of interests in subsidiaries, associates, branches and
joint ventures and the Company can control the reversal of the timing differences and such reversal is
not considered probable in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax balances are not recognised in respect of permanent differences except in respect of business
combinations, when deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the fair values of assets acquired
and the future tax deducticns available for them and the differences between the fair values of liabilities
acquired and the amount that will be assessed for tax. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS {UK) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3. Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements are described below.

i. Impairment of investments (note 6)

The Company considers whether investments are impaired. When an indication of impairment is identified the
estimation of recoverable value requires estimation of the recoverable value of CGUs. This requires estimation
of the future cash flows from the CGUs and also selection of appropriate discount rates in order to calculate the
net present value of those cash flows.

4. Key management personnel

The Company does not have any employees. The Directors are renumerated by other group Companies and
the notional cost of the services they provide to the Company is not considered material.

5. Taxation

2021 2020
£000 £000
Current tax
Current tax on loss for the year — —
Adjustments in respect of previous periods — —
Total current tax — —
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences 1 —

Adjustments in respect of prior periods — —
Effect of tax rate change on opening balance (1) —
Total deferred tax — —

Total tax charge (credit) -— —
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

NOTES TC THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

5. Taxation {continued)

Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the year is lower than (2020: iower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of

19% (2020: 19%). The differences are explained below:

2021 2020
£000 £000
Loss on ordinary activities before tax (61,226) (80,276}
Loss on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the
UK of 19% {2019: 19%) (11,633) {15,252}
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 11,625 15,222
Group relief surrendered 6 —_
Remeasurement of deferred tax for changes in tax rates (28) (6)
Deferred tax not recognised 30 36

Total tax charge (credit) for the year —

Factors that may affect future tax charges

At 31 December 2021, there were trading losses of £466k (2020: £456k) to be used against future trading

profits.

An increase in the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 25% (effective 1 April 2023) was substantively enacted

on 24 May 2021. This will increase the company's future current tax accordingly.
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

6. Investments

Cost

At 1 January 2021
Additions

At 31 December 2021
Impairment

At 1 January 2021
Charge for the period
At 31 December 2021
Net book value

At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2020

Investments
in subsidiary
companies

£000

22,113
54,890

77,003

22,113
45,112

67,225

9,778

On 10 February 2021, the Company acquired 1 share in MH Services International (UK) Limited for
consideration of £54.9 million. At year-end, an impairment of £45.1 million has been recorded against this

investment,

The following were subsidiary undertakings of the Company as of 31 December 2021:

Name
MH Services International (UK) Limited
Operose Health Limited*

Operose Health (Group) Limited*
The Practice Properties Limited®
Operose Health (Group) UK Limited*
Chilvers & McCrea Limited®

The Practice Surgeries Limited*

The Practice U Surgeries Limited*

Operose Health Corporate Management
Limited*

Phoenix Primary Care Limited*

Phoenix Primary Care (South) Limited*
AT Medics Holdings LLP*

AT Medics Limited*
Primary Care Partners Limited*

Principal activity

Investment holding company

Investment holding company and
provision of back office services

Investment holding company
Owning and renting property
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services

Management of defined benefit pension
scheme

Provision of administrative support
services for group companies

Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Investment holding company

Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of back office services

Ctass of
shares

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
None
None
None

None

None
None

Membership
interests

Ordinary
Ordinary

Holding

100 %
100 %

100 %
100 %
100 %
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
100 %

100 %
100 %

Page 16



MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Name
AT Learning Limited*

AT Technology Services Limited*

AT Technology (Private) Limited*

Circle Health Holdings Limited”

Circle Health 1 Limited*

Circle Health 2 Limited*

Circle Holdings (OS) Limited*

Circle International plc*

CHG Management Services Limited*
Circle Hospital (Reading) Limited*
Circle Clinical Services Limited*

Circle Birmingham Limited*

Circle Rehabilitation Services Limited*
Nations Healthcare Limiteg”

Circle Nottingham Limited*

Circle Health 3 Limited”

Circle Health 4 Limited™

GHG Healthcare Holdings Limited*
General Healthcare Group Limited*
General Healthcare Holdings {2) Limited”
General Heailthcare Holdings (3) Limited*
GHG Mount Alvernia Hospital Limited*
Generale de Sante International Limited*
GHG Intermediate Holdings Limited*
Bishopswood SPV Limited*
Runnymede SPV Limited*

Circle Health Group Limited*

Circle Decontamination Limited*

GHG Leasing Limited*

TKH Holding Lid*

BMI Syon Clinic Limited*

North West Cancer Clinic Limited*
GHG {DB) Pension Trustees Limited*
Circle Harmony Health Limited {China)*
Shanghai Circle Harmony Hospital

BMI Imaging Clinic Limited*

BMI Southend Private Hospital Limited*
Meriden Hospital Advanced Imaging
Mount Alvernia PET CT Limited”

The Pavilion Clinic Ltd*

Three Shires Hospital LLP*

Principal activity

Provision of medical education and
training services

Provision of technology and services
Provision of technology and services
Investment holding company
Investment helding company
Investment holding company
Investment holding company
Investment holding company

Holding and management company
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Investment holding company

Provision of healthcare related services
Investment heolding company
investment holding company
Investment holding company
Investment holding company
Investment holding company
Investment holding company
Investment holding company
Investment holding company
Investment holding company

Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of decontamination services
Provision of heaithcare related services
Property ownership and development
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Investment holding company

Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services
Provision of healthcare related services

Class of
shares

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
QOrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Holding
100 %

100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
106 %
100 %

50 %
90 %
100 %

50 %

50 %

50 %

50 %
50 %

50 %

50 %

50 %
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UVK) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Principal activity Class of Holding
Name shares

*indirect subsidiary

Operose Health Corporate Management Limited, The Practice Surgeries Limited, Chilvers & McCrea Limited
and The Practice U Surgeries Limited are consolidated by virtue of control being exercised as set out in section
1162(2)(4) and schedule 7 of the Companies Act 2006. Phoenix Primary Care Limited is 100% owned by The
Practice Surgeries Limited. Phoenix Primary Care (South) Limited is 100% owned by Phoenix Primary Care
Limited. Circle Health Holdings Limited is 100% owned by MH Services International (UK) Limited.

The registered office of MH Services International (UK) Limited, Operose Health Limited, AT Medics Holdings
LLP, AT Medics Limited, Primary Care Partners Limited, AT Learning Limited, and AT Technology Services
Limited is 108 High Street, Great Missenden, England, HP16 OBG. The registered office of AT Technology
(Private) Limited is Building #1486, 2nd Floor, Civic Center, Block-C, Phase-4, Islamabad, Pakistan. The
registered office of Operose Health (Group) Limited, The Practice Properties Limited,

Operose Health {Group) UK Limited, Chilvers & McCrea Limited, The Practice Surgeries Limited, The Practice
U Surgeries Limited, Operose Health Corporate Management Limited, Phoenix Primary Care Limited, and
Phoenix Primary Care {(South) Limited is Rose House Bell Lane, Office Village, Bell Lane, Little Chalfont,
Amersham, Buckinghamshire, England, HPE 6FA.

The registered office of Circle Health Holdings Limited and its associated subsidiaries is 1st Floor 30 Cannon
Street, London, England, EC4M 6XH with the excepticn of the offices of Circle Holdings (OS) Limited, Circle
Harmony Health Limited (China), and Shanghai Circle Harmony Hospital Management Limited (China). Circle
Holdings (OS) Limited is 12 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE2, 3RT. Circle Harmony Health Limited (China) is
Rm 905-906, 9/F Houston Ctr, 63 Mody Road, TST KLN, Hong Kong. Shanghai Circle Harmony Hospital
Management Limited {China) is Rm 1209, 12/F, Ruijin Building, 205 Maoming South Rd., Huangpu District,
Shanghai.

7.  Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2021 2020

£000 £000

Accruals and deferred income 16 248
Amounts owed to group undertakings 133,761 117,415
133,777 117,663

Amounts owed to group undertakings comprises a balance of £133,761k (2020: £117,415k) that is owed to the
parent company, MHS Consulting International, inc., and is repayable on demand.

8. Share capital

2021 2020
£ £
Allotted, called up and fully paid
2021: 201 Ordinary shares at £0.7262 each
2020: 200 Ordinary shares at £0.7262 each 146 145
146 145
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MH SERVICES INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

9. Reserves
Share premium account

The share premium account arises on the excess of the consideration paid for ordinary shares between the
amount paid per share and its nominal value.

Profit and loss account

This reserve records the cumulative retained earnings of the Company, less amounts distributed to
shareholders.

10. Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 102 Section 33 to not disclose transactions with
wholly owned group entities.

11. Post Balance Sheet events

The Company has received £267.9 million of cash fundings from Centene Corporation through the Company's
immediate parent, MHS Consulting International, Inc., of which £267.9 millicn was passed down to MH Services
International (UK) Limited. On 11th January, 2022, £7.5 million of the contribution was passed down to Operose
Health Limited. On 31st March 2022, 1 share was issued by the Company for consideraticn of £260.3 million,
which was used to acquire 1 share in MH Services International (UK) Limited for consideration of £260.3 million.
MH Services International (UK) Limited used this to setlle a portion of their existing short term intercompany
loan with Centene Corporation. The £267.9 million in fundings primarily consists of these two confributions.

12.  Controlling party

The Company's immediate parent is MHS Consulting International, Inc., which holds the shares and voting
rights in the Company.

The uliimate controlling party and the parent of the largest group which includes the Company and for which
group accounts are prepared is Centene Corporation, a company incorporated in the United States of America.
Copies of the Group accounts can be obtained from its registered office at Centene Plaza, 7700 Forsyth Bivd.,
St, Louis, MO 63105, USA,
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements, other than statements of current or histotical fact, contained in this filing are forward-looking statements. Without limiting the foregoing, forward-looking
statements often use words such as "believe," “anticipate,” "plan,” "expect,” "estimate," "intend," "seek," “target,” "goal," "may,” "will," "would,” "could,” "should,"” “can,"
"continue” and other similar words or cxpressions (and the negative thercof). Centene Corporation and its subsidiaries (Centene, the Company, our or we) intends such forward-
looking statements to be covered by the safe-harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Sccurities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, and we are
including this statement for purposes of complying with these safe-harbor provisions. In particular, these statements include, without limitation, statements about our future
operating or financial performance, market opportunity, value creation strategy. competition, expected activities in completed and future acquisitions, including statements about
the impact of our recently completed acquisition of Magellan Health (the Magellan Acquisition), other recent and future acquisitions and dispositions, investments and the
adequacy of our available cash resources. These statements may be found in the various sections of this filing, such as Part I, Item 1. "Business,” Part I, Item IA "Risk Factors,"
Part 1, Item 3. "Legal Proceedings,” and Part II, Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

These forward-locking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are based on numerous assurnptions and assessments made by us in light of our
cxperience and perception of historical trends, current conditions, business strategies, operating cnvironments, future developments and other factors we believe appropriate. By
their nature, forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and wnrertaintics and are subject to change bLuvause they relate to events and depend on
circwmstances that will eccur in the future, including economic, regulatory, competitive and other factors that may cause our or our industry's actual results, levels of activity,
performance or achicvements fo be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by thesc forward-looking
statements. These stalements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertaintics and assumptions.

All forward-looking statements included in this filing are based on information available to us on the date of this filing. Except as may be otherwise required by law, we
undertake no obligation to update or revise the forward-looking statements included in this filing, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, after the
date of this filing. You should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, as actual results may differ materially from projections, estimates, or other forward-
looking statements due to a variety of important factors, variables and events including, but not limited to:

*  our ability o accurately predict and effectively manage health benefits and other operating cxpenses and reserves, including fluctuations in medical utilization rates due
to the impact of COVID-19;

+  the risk that the election of new directors, changes in senior management and inability 1o retain key personnel may create uncertainty or negatively impact our ability to
cxceute quickly and effectively:

*  uncertainty as to the expected financial perfonmance of the combined company following the recent completion of the Magellan Acquisition;

»  the possibitity that the expected synergies and value creation from the Magellan Acquisition or the WellCare Acquisition {or other acquired businesses) will not be
realized, or will not be realized within the respective expected time periods;

= the risk that uncxpeeted costs will be incurred in connection with the integration of the Magellan Acquisition or that the integration of Magellan Health will be more
difficult or time consuming than cxpeeted, or similar risks from other acquisitions we may announce or complete from time to time;

+  disruption from the integration of the Magcllan Acquisition or from the integration of the WellCare Acquisition, or similar risks from other acquisitions we may
announce or complete from time to time, including potential adverse reactions or changes to business relationships with customers, employees, suppliers or regulators,
making it more difficult to maintain business and operational relationships;

»  adowngrade of the credit rating of our indebtedness;

+  competition;

+  membership and revenue declines or uncxpected trends;

»  changes in healthcare practices, new technologics, and advances in medicine;

* increased healthcare costs;

»  changes in economic, political or market conditions;

»  changes in federal or state laws or regulations, including changes with respect to income tax reform or government healtheare programs as well as changes with respect
to the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act (collectively referred to as the ACA) and any
regulations enacted thereunder that may result from changing political conditions, the new administration or judicial actions;
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+  ratc cuts or other payment reductions or delays by governmental payors and other risks and uncenainties affecting our gevernment businesses;

»  our ability to adequately price producrs;

. tax matters;

= disasters or major epidemics;

= changes in expected contract start dates;

= provider, state, federal, foreign and other contract changes and timing of regulatory approval of contracts;

»  the expiration, suspension, or termination of our contracts with federal or state governments (including, but not limited to, Medicaid, Medicare, TRICARE or other
customers);

»  the difficulty of predicting the timing or outcome of legal or regulatory proceedings or matters, including, but not limited to, our ability to resolve claims and/or
allegations made by states with regard to past practices, including at Envolve Pharmacy Solutions, Inc. (Envolve), as our pharmacy benefits manager (PBM) subsidiary,
within the reserve estimatc we have recorded and on other acceptable terms, or at all, or whether additional claims, reviews or investigations relating to our PBM
business will be brought by states, the federal government or shareholder litigants, or government investigations;

»  timing and extent of benefits from strategic value creation initiatives, including the possibility that these initiatives will not be successful, or will not be realized within
the expected time periods;

= challenges to our contract awards;

= cyber-attacks or other privacy or data security incidents;

= the exertion of management's time and our resources, and other expenses incurred and business changes required in connection with complying with the undertakings in
connection with any regulatory, governmental or third party consents or approvals for acquisitions;

= changes in expected closing dates, estimated purchase price and aceretion for acquisitions;

+  the risk that acquired businesses will not be intcgrated successfully;

= restrictions and limitations in connection with our indebtedness;

«  our ability to maintain or achieve improvement in the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Star ratings and maintain or achieve improvement in other
quality scores in each case that can impact revenue and future growth;

+  availability of debt and cquity financing, on terms that arc favorable to us;

« inflation; and

+  foreign currency fluctuations.

This list of important factors is not intgnded to be exhaustive. We discuss certain of these matters more fully, as well as certain other factors that may affect our business
operations, financial condition and results of operations, in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including our guarterly reports on Form 10-Q and
current reports on Form 8-K, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" of Part T of this filing contains a further discussion of these and other imwortant factors that could cause actual results to
differ from expectations. Due to these important factors and risks, we cannot give assurances with respect to our future performance, including without limitatien our ability to
maintain adequate premium levels or our ability to control our future medical and sclling, gencral and administrative costs.
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SUMMARY OF RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to numerous Tisks and uncertainties that you should be aware of in evaluating our business, including risks that may prevent us from achieving our
business objectives or may adversely affect our business, financial condilion, results of operations, cash flows and prospects, These risks include, but are not limited to, the
following, all of which are more fully described in Part 1, Item 1A "Risk Factors". This summary should be read in conjunction with the Risk Factors section and should not be
relied upon as an exhaustive summary of the material risks facing our business.

+  Qur business could be materially adversely affected by the effects of widespread public health pandemics, such as COVID-19;

*  Qur Mcdicare programs are subject to a variety of unique risks that could adversely impact our financial results;

«  Failure to accurately estimate and price our medical expenses or effectively manage our medical costs or related administrative costs could have a matcrial adverse
effect on our results of operations, financial position and cash flows;

«  Risk-adjustment payment systems make our revenue and results of operations more difficult to estimatc and could result in retroactive adjustments that have a material
adverse effect or our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows;

»  Any failure to adequately price products offered or any reduction in products offered in the Health Insurance Marketplaces may have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, financial position and cash flows;

»  We derive a pertion of our cash flow and gross margin from our prescription dmg plan (PDF) operations, for which we sutunit annual bids for participation. The results
of our bids could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows;

= Qur encounter data may be inaccurate or incomplete, which could have 2 material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and ability
to bid for, and continue to participate in, certain programs;

= If any of our government contracts are terminated or are not renewed on favorable terms or at all, or if we receive an adverse finding or review resulting from an audit or
investigation, our business may be adversely affected;

«  Ineffectiveness of state-operated systems and subcontractors could adversely affect our business;

= Execution of our valuc creation strategy may create disruptions in our business;

»  If competing managed care programs are unwilling to purchase specialty services from us, we may not be able to successfully implement our strategy of diversifying our
business lines;

»  If state regulators do not approve payments of dividends and distributions by our subsidiaries to us, we may not have sufficient funds to implement our business strategy;

= We derive a significant portion of our premium revenues from operations in a limited number of states, and our results of operations, financial position or cash flows
could be materially affected by a decrease in premium revenues or prefitability in any onc of thosc states;

»  Competition may limit our ability to increase penetration of the markets that we serve,

«  Ifwe are unable to maintain relationships with our provider networks, our profitability may be harmed;

+  If we are unable to integrate and manage our information systems effectively, our operations could be disrupted;

*  Animpairment charge with respect to our recorded goodwill and intangible assets could have a material impact on our results of operations;

+ A failure in or breach of our operational or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third partics with which we do business, including as a result of cyber-attacks,
could have a material adverse effect on our business;

*  We may be unable to attract, retain or effectively manage the succession of key personnel;

«  Reductions in funding, changes to cligibility requirements for government sponsored healtheare programs in which we participate and any inability on our part to
effectively adapt to changes to these programs could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position and cash flows;

+  Significant changes or judicial challenges to the ACA could materially and adverscly affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows;

+  Our business activities are highly regulated and new laws or tegulations or changes in existing laws or regulations or their enforcement or application could force us to
change how we operate and could harm our business;

+  Our businesses providing pharmacy benefits management and specialty pharmacy services face regulatory and other risks and uncertainties which could materially and
adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows;

* W have been and may from time to time, become involved in costly and time-consuming litigation and other regulatory proceedings, which require significant attention
from our management, and could adversely affect our business;
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= If we fail to comply with applicable privacy, security, and data laws, regulations and standards, including with respect to third-party scrvice providers that utilize
sensitive personal information on our behalf, our business, reputation, results of operations, financial position and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected:

= If we fail to comply with the extensive federal and state fraud, waste and abuse laws, our busincss, reputation, results of operations, financial position and cash flows
could be materially and adverscly affected;

= Qurinvestment portfolic may suffer losses which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations or liquidity,;

*  Adverse credit market conditions may have a material adverse cffect on our liquidity or our ability to obtain credit on acceptable terms;

+  We have substantial indebtedness outstanding and may incur additional indebtedness in the future. Such indebtedness could reduce our agility and may adversely affect
our financial condition;

»  Changes in the method pursuant to which the LIBOR rates are determined and the phasing out of LIBOR may affect the value of the financial obligations to be held or
issued by us that arc linked to LIBOR or our results of operations or financial condition;

«  Moergers and acquisitions may not be aceretive and may canse dilution to our earnings per share, which may cause the market price of our common stock to decline;

= We may be unable to successfully integrate our existing business with acquired businesses and realize the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions;

*  Owvr business and results of operations may be materially adversely affected if we fail to manage and complete divestitures; and

= Future issuances and sales of additional shares of preferred or common stock could reduce the market price of our shares of common stock.
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Non-GAAPF Financial Presentation

The Company is providing certain non~-GAAP financial iucasures in this report as the Company believes that these figures are helpful in allowing investors to more accurately
assess the ongoing nature of the Company's operations and measure the Company's performance more consistently acress periods. The Company uses the presented non-GAAP
financial measures internally to allow management to focus on period-to-period changes in the Company's eorc business operations. Therefore, the Company belicves that this
information is meaningful in addition to the information contained in the GAAP presentation of financial information. The presentation of this additional non~-GAAP financial
information is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP.

Specifically, the Company believes the presentation of non-GAAP financial infermation that excludes amortization of acquired intangible assets, acquisition related expenses,
as well as other items, allows investors to develop a more meaningful understanding of the Company's performance over time. The tables below provide reconciliations of non-
GAAP items {3 in millions, except per share data).

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019
GAAP net eamings attributable to Centenc 3 1,347 % 1,808 § 1,321
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 770 719 258
Acquisition related expenses 185 602 104
Other adjustments (!} 1,275 29 301
Incomic tax effccts of adjustments (2 {537 (262) (127)
Adjusted net carnings 3 3040 §% 2806 § 1,857
GAAP diluted carnings per share (EPS) attributable to Centene $ 228 % 312 8 3.14
Amottization of acquired intangible assets (3} 1.00 0.95 0.47
Acquisition related expenses Y 0.24 0.86 0.19
Other adjustments t!) 1.63 0.07 0.62
Adjusted Diluted EPS 8 515 8§ 500 8 443
{1}  Other adjustments include the following items:
2021:

(a) legal settlement expense and related legal fees of $1,264 million, or $1.76 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $0.38;
(b} debt extinguishment costs of $125 million, or $0.16 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $0.05;
{c) severance costs due to a restructuring of $54 miltion, or $0.06 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $0.03;

(d) a reduction to the previously reported gain due to the finalization of the working capital adjustment related to the divestiture of certain products of our Tlinois
health plan of $62 million, or $0.08 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $0.02;

(e} non-cash gain related ta the acquisition of the remaining 60% interest of Circle Health of $309 million, or $0.52 per diluted share, net of income tax expense of
30.00;

{f) non-cash impairment of our equity method investment in RxAdvance of $229 million, or $0.32 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $0.07; and

{g) gain related to the divestiture of U.S. Medical Management (USMM) of $150 million, or $0.23 per diluted share, net of income tax expense of $0.02.
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2020
(a) dcbt extinguishment costs of $61 million, or $0.07 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $0,04,
(b} gain related to the divestiture of certain products of our Illinois health plan of $104 million. or $0.10 per diluted share, net of income tax expensc of $0.08; and
(c) non-cash impairment of $72 million, or $0.10 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $0.02.

2019:

(a} non-cash goodwill and intangible asset impairment of $271 million, or $8.57 per diluted share, net of an incomte tax benefit of $0.08; and
(b) debt extinguishment costs of $30 million, or $0.05 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $0.02,

(2) The income tax effects of adjustments are based on the effective income tax rates applicable to each adjustment.

(3) Amortization of acquired intangible asseis is net of an income tax bencfit of 30.31, $0.29, and $0.14 per diluted share for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020
and 2019, respectively,

(4) Acquisition rclated expenses are net of an income tax benefit of $0.07, $0.18 and $0.06 per diluted share for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,

respectively.
Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

GAAP selling, general and administrative expenses 5 10,i66 § 9,867 § 6,533
Less:

Acquisition related expenses 157 580 85

Restruchuring costs 54 —_ —_—

Legal fees related to legal settlement 14 — —

Adjusted selling, general and administrative expenses 3 95,941 § 9,287 § 6,448
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PART 1
Ttem 1. Business

OVFRVIEW

We are a leading multi-national healthcare enterprise that is committed to helping people live healthier lives. We take a local approach - with local brands and local teams - to
provide fully integrated, high-quality, and cost-effective services to government-sponsored and commercial heakthcare programs, focusing en under-insured and uninsured
individuals. We also provide education and outreach programs to inform and assist members in accessing quality, appropriate healthcare services. We believe our local
approach, including member and provider services, enables us to provide accessible, quality, culturally-sensitive healthcare coverage 1o our communities. Our population health
management, cducational and other initiatives are designed to help members best utilize the healthcare system to ensure they receive appropriate, medically necessary services
and effective management of routine, severe and chronic health problems, resulting in better health outcomes. We combine our decentralized local approach for care with a
centralized infrastructure of support functions such as finance, information systems and claims processing.

Our initial health plan commenced operations in Wisconsin in {984. We were organized in Wisconsin in 1993 as a holding company for our initial health plan and
reincorporated in Delaware in 2001, Our stock is publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbel "CNC."

We operate in two segments: Managed Care and Specialty Services. Our Managed Care segment provides health plan coverage to individuals through government subsidized
and commercial programs. Our Specialty Services segment includes companics offering diversified healtheare services and products to our Managed Care segment and other
external customers. For the ycar ended December 31, 2021, our Managed Carc and Specialty Services segments accounted for 95% and 5%, respectively, of our total external
revenues. Our membership totaled 26.6 million as of December 31, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2021, our total revenues and net earnings attributable to Centene
were $126.0 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively, and our total cash flow from operations was $4.2 billion.

Magellan Acquisition

On January 4, 2022, we acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Magellan Health, Inc. (Magellan) for a total purchase price of approximatcly 82.6 billion. The
Magellan acquisition enables Centene to provide whole-hecalth, integrated healthcare solutions to deliver better health outcomes at lower costs for complex, high-cost
populations.

INDUSTRY

We provide a full spectrum of managed healthcare products and services, primanly through Medicaid, Medicare and commercial products. We currently have operations
domestically and internationally.

Medicaid

Established in 1965, Medicaid is the largest publicly funded program in the United States, and provides health insurance to low-income families and individuals with
disabilitics. Authorized by Title XIX of the Social Sccurity Act, Medicaid is an entitlement program funded jointly by the federal and state governments and administered by the
states. The majority of funding is provided by the federal government. Each state cstablishes its own eligibility standards, benefit packages, payment rates and program
administration within federal standards. As a result, there are 56 Medicaid programs - one for each U.S. state, each U.S. territory and the District of Columbia. Eligibility is
based on a combination of household income and assets, often determined by an income level relative to the federal poverty level. Historically, children have represented the
largest cligibility group. Many states have selected Medicaid managed care as a means of delivering quality healthcare and controlling costs. We refer to thesc states as
mandatory managed care states.

Under the Affordable Care Act (ACA), Medicaid coverage was cxpanded to all individuals under age 65 with incomes up to 138% of the federal poverty level, subject to the
states’ elections. The federal government paid 90% of the costs for Medicaid Expansion coverage for newly eligible beneficiaries in 2021, Assuming that the current program
remains in effect unchanged. in subsequent years the federal share is scheduled to remain at 90%.

Established in 1972 and autherized by Title XV1 of the Social Security Act, the Aged, Blind, or Disabled (ABD) program covers low-income persons with chronic physical
disabilities or behavioral health impairments. ABD beneficiaries represent a
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growing portion of all Medicaid reeipients. In addition, ABRD recipients typically utilize more services as a result of their more complicated health status.

The Balanced Budget Act of 1997 created the State Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) 1o help states cxpand coverage primarily to children whose families earned too
much to qualify for Medicaid, yet not enough to afford private heaith insurance. Costs related to the largest eligibility group, children, arc primarily composed of pediatrics and
family care. These costs tend to be more predictable than these associated with other healthcare issues which predominantly affect the adult population,

Long-Term Services and Supports (LTSS) is a Medicaid product that covers Institutional/Residential Care (Nursing Facilities, Intermediate Care Facilitics} and Home and
Comnunity Based Services (HCBS) for beneficiarics requiving assistance with their activities of daily living, such as bathing, dressing and transferring. The mest commeon
HCBS scrvices include persenal care, adult day care, non-emergent transportation, home-delivered meals and personal emergency response systems. LTSS services are
provided for individuals requiring nursing home level of care, receiving waiver services, or entitled to state Medicaid LTSS benefits. The largest groups receiving LTSS, by
spending, are older individuals and individuals with physical disabilitics, followed by individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities, those with serious mental
illness and/or serious ¢motional disturbance and other populations. States are increasingly tumning to managed care as a solution to provide coordinated, holistic care to their
LTSS beneficiaries. According to ADvancing States (formerly National Association of States United for Aging and Disabilities), as of August 2021, 25 states utilize some form

of managed LTSS,

The majority of youth and children in foster care qualify for Medicaid, most commonly through Title TV-E of the Social Security Act, which provides funding to support safe
and stable out-of-home care for children who arc removed from their homes. The federal government has enacted legislation establishing guidelines and requirements for state
child welfare agencies related to the health and well-being of children in foster care, including the provision of grants and technical assistance to ¢nable states to meet these
needs and make explicit connections with state Medicaid. In addition, the ACA requires states to make former foster care children eligible for Medicaid until they reach the age
of 26, provided that they turned 18 while in foster care, and were enrolled in Medicaid at that time.

As of the first quarter of 2020, CMS estimated the total Medicaid market to be approximately $684 billion in 2021, and estimates the market will grow to over $1.0 trillion by
2028. Medicaid spending is estimated to have increased by 5.5% in 2021 and is projected to increase at an average annual rate of 5.8% between 2021 and 2028. Duc 1o the
timing of the CMS report and highly uncertain naturc of the pandemic, the aforementioned projections do not take into account the impact of COVID-19.

A portion of Mcdicaid benceficiaries are dual-eligible, low-income scniors and people with disabilities who are enrolled in both Medicaid and Medicare. According 1o CMS,
there were approximately 11.3 million dual-eligible enrollees in 2020. These dual-¢ligible members may reccive assistance from Medicaid for benefits, such as nursing home
care, HCBS, and/or assistance with Medicare premiums and cost sharing. Dual-cligibles also use more scrvices due to their tendency to have more chronic health issucs. We
serve dual-cligibles through our ARD, LTSS, Medicare-Medicaid Plans (MMP), Mcdicare Advantage Dual Special Needs Plan (DSNP) and standard Medicare Advantage lines
of business.

While Mcdicaid programs have dirccted funds to many individuals who cannot afford or otherwise maintain health insurance coverage, they did not initially address the
incfficient and costly manner in which the Medicaid popilation tends to access healthcare. Medicaid recipients in nen-managed care programs typically have not sought
preventive care or routine treatment for chronic conditions, such as asthma and diabetes. Rather, they have sought heaithcare in hospital emergency departments, which is
typically more expensive. As a resnlt, many states withont managed earc programs have found that the costs of providing Medicaid benefits have increased while the medical
outcomes for the recipients remained unsatisfactory.

We believe managed carc has improved the quality of care for Medicaid beneficiaries and lowered costs. The majority of states have mandated that their Medicaid recipients
enroll in managed care plans. Other states are considering moving to a mandated managed care approach for additional populations and products. As a result, we believe a
significant market oppertunity exists for managed care orgapizations with operations and programs focused on the distinet socio-economic, cultural and healtheare necds of the
uninsured population and the Medicaid populations.

Medicare

We contract with CMS under the Medicare Advantage program to provide Medicare Advantage preducts directly to Medicare beneficiaries as weil as through employer and
union groups. The Medicate program provides healtheare coverage primarily to individuals age 65 or older, as well as to individuals with certain disabilities.
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We provide or amrange healthcare benefits for services normally covered by Medicare, plus a broad range of healthcarc benefits for services not covered by traditional Medicare,
usually in exchange for a fixed monthly premium per member [rom CMS that varies based upon the county in which the member resides, demographic factors of the member
such as age, gender and institutionalized status, and the health status of the member. Any benefits that are not covered by Medicare may result in an additional monthly
premium charged to the enrollee or through portions of payments received from CMS that may be allocated to these benefits, according to CMS regulations and guidance.
Many of our Medicarc Advantage members pay no monthly premium to us for these additional benefits, As our Medicare Advantage members reach their deductibles and out-
of-pocket maximums, our medical costs rise, creating scasonality in the business with a higher percentage of carnings in the first half of the year,

We provide a wide range of Medicarc products, including Medicare Advantage plans with and without prescription drug coverage and Medicare supplement products that
supplemnent traditional fec-fer-service Medicare coverage. Our subsidiaries have a number of contracts with CMS under the Medicarc Advantage program autherized under
Title XVIII of the Social Security Act.

CMS developed the Medicare Advantage Star ratings system te help consumers choose among competing plans, awarding between 1.0 and 5.0 stars to Medicare Advantage
plans based on performance in certain measurcs of quality. The Star ratings are used by CMS to award quality bonus payments to Medicarc Advantage plans. Beginning with
the 2014 Star ratings (calculated in 2013), Medicare Advantage plans were required to achieve a minimurm of 4.0 Stars to qualify for a quality bonus payment. The methodology
and measures included in the Star ratings system can be modificd by CMS annually and Star ratings thresholds are based on performance of Medicare Advantage plans
nationally.

CMS estimated the total Medicare market was approximately $923 billion in 2021, and estimates the market will grow to approximately $1.6 trillion by 2028. Medicare
spending is estimated to have increased 7.5% in fiscal 2021 and is projected to increase at an average annual rate of 7.7% between 2021 and 2028.

Medicare Prescription Drug Plan

We have contracted with CMS to scrve as a plan sponsor offering stand-alone Medicarc Part D PDP plans to Medicare-eligible beneficiarics. We offer PDPs in 50 states and the
District of Columbia. Our PDPs offer national in-netwark prescription drug coverage, including a preferred pharmacy network, subject to limitations in certain circumstances.

Cur PDP conitracts with CMS$ are renewable for successive one-year terms unless CMS notifies us of its decision not to renew by May | of the current contract year or we notify
CMS of our decision not to renew by the first Monday in June of the contract ycar.

The Medicare Part D prescription drug benefit is supported by risk sharing with the federal government through risk corridors designed to limit the losses and gains of the
participating drug plans and by reinsurance for catastrophic drug costs. The government subsidy is based on the national weighted average monthly bid for this coverage,
adjusted for risk factor payments. Additional subsidies are provided for dually-cligible beneficiaries and specified low-income beneficiarics.

Commercial

Established in 2010 and opcrational in 2014, the ACA created Health Insurance Marketplaces, which are a key component of the ACA and provide an opportunity for
individuals and familics to obtain hcalth insurance. States have the option of operating their own Marketplace or partnering with the federal government. States choosing neither
option currently default to a federally-facilitated Marketplace. Premium subsidies are available to make coverage more affordable. Access to Marketplaces is limited to U.S,
citizens and legal immigrants. Insurcrs arc required to offer a minimum level of benefits with coverage that varies based on premiums and out-of-pocket costs. Premium
subsidies are provided to individuals and familics without access to other coverage and with incomes generally between 100-400% of the federal poverty level, with some
exceptions, to help them purchase insurance through the Marketplaces. These subsidies are offered on a sliding scale basis.

We also offer commercial healthcare products to individuals through large and small cmployer groups. We offer plans with differing benefit designs and varying levels of co-
payments at different premium rates. These plans are offered gencrally through contracts with participating network physicians, hospitals and other providers. Coverage
typically is subjcct to copays and can be subject to deductibles and ceinsurance. As our commercial members reach their deductibles and out-of-pocket maximums, our medical
costs rise, creating scasonality in the busincss with a higher percentage of camnings in the first half of the year.
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International

We have an international presence in the United Kingdom (UK), Spain, and Slovakia. In July 2021, we acquired the remaining interest in Circle Health, which includes BMI
Healthcare and represents one of the UK's largest independent hospital operators. Also, in the UK, we have subsidiaries operating as part of Operosc Health Group, which
includes AT Medics Holdings, representing one of the largest provider networks in the country and delivering medical and community based services in the primary care sector
of the National Health Scrvice (NHS), which is the pyblicly funded, natianal healthcare system for England. Our presence in Spain is mainly associated with pur subsidiaries
operating as part of the Ribera Salud Group, which manages health administration concessions and private hospitals in various regions in Spain. Ribera Salud Group also holds a
noncontrolling investment in Slovakia, which provides radiology services in the region. As previously disclosed, we are exploring strategic alternatives for our international
business as part of our portfolio review.

OUR COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS
Our approach is based on the following key competitive strengths:

- Expertise in Government Sponsored Programs. For more than 35 years, we have developed a specialized services expertise that has helped us establish and maintain
relationships with members, providers and our government customers. We have implemented programs developed to achieve savings for our government custemers and
support providers with tools and information to improve health outcomes and quality of care for members. We work to assist the states in which we operate in addressing
the operating challenges they face.

«  Quafity and fnnovation. Our innovative population health management programs focus on improving quality of carc in areas that have the greatest impact on our
members, We concentrate on serving the whole person to impact outcomes and costs, We recognize the importance of member-focused delivery of quality managed care
services and have developed award winning education and outreach programs including the My Health Pays program, Start Smart for Your Baby, Living Well with
Sickle Cell, Fluvention and MemberConnections. It is our objective te provide access to the highest quality of care for onr members, As 3 validation of that objective, we
pursue accreditation by independent organizations that have been cstablished to promote healtheare quality, We seck the National Committee for Quality Assurance
(NCQA) and the Utilization Review Accreditation Commission (URAC) Health Plan Accreditation in eligible statcs.

»  Innovative Technology and Scaluble Systems. The ability to access data and translate it into meaningful information is essential to operating across a multi-state service
area in a cost-cffective manner. Our centralized information systems support our core processing functions under a set of integrated databases and are designed to be
both replicable and scalable to accommodate organic growth and growth from acquisitions. We continue to enhance our systems in order to leverage the platforms we
have developed for our cxisting states for configuration into new states or health plan acquisitions. We believe our predictive modeling technology enables our
population health management operations to proactively case and discasc manage specific high risk members. It can recommend medical care opportunitics using 2 mix
of company defined algorithms and evidence based medical guidelines. Interventions are determined by the clinical indicators, the ability to improve health outcomes,
and the risk profile of members. We believe our integrated approach helps to assure that consistent sources of elaim and member information are pravided across alf of
our health plans. Our membership and claims processing systems are capable of expanding to support additional members in an efficient manner. We continue to design
and deploy enhanced capabilities that we expect will streamline and digitize the member and provider experience, increase satisfaction and deliver adminisirative
efficicncies.

+  Financial Strength and Scale. We are a large healthcare enterprise with $126.0 billion in revenue and $4.2 billion in operating cash flow in 2021, Our strong historical
apctating performance, size, and scale allow us to continue to invest in our businesscs through technology, strategic acquisitions, and key resources that support our
busincss, allowing us to havigate the changing healtheare landscape. We are a leader in many states, including in the four largest Medicaid states. We seek to continue to
increase our Medicaid, Medicare and Health Insurance Moarketplace membership through alliances with key providers, outreach cfforts, devefopment and
implementation of community-specific products and targeted acquisitions.
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*  Diversified Business Lines. We continue 1o broaden our service offerings to address areas that we belicve have been traditionally under-served by Medicaid and
Medicare managed carc organizations. In addition to our Medicaid and Medicare services, our service offerings include commercial programs, PDP, correctional
healthcare services, govermment-sponsored care under federal contracts with the Department of Defense (DoD), and other various specialty services. Through the
utilization of a multi-business line approach, through products such as Ambetter Value, we are able v improve the quality of care, improve outcomes, diversify our
revenues and help control eur medical costs. In 2021, we served members in all 50 states through hundreds of product solutions and are constantly evaluating new
opportunities for expansion.

*  Localized Approach with Centralized Support Infrastructure. We take a localized approach to managing our subsidiaries, including provider and certain member
services. This approach enables us fo facilitate access by our members to high quality, culturally sensitive healthcarc services. Our systems and procedures have been
designed to address these community-specific challenges through outreach, education, transportation and other member support activities. For example, our community
outreach programs work with our members and their communities to promote health and sclf-improvement through cducation on how best to access care. We
complement this localized approach with g centralized infrastructure of support functions such as finance, information systems and claims processing, which allows us to
minimize selling, general and administrative (SG& A} expenses and to integrate and realize synergics from acquisitions. We belicve this combined approach allows us to
efficiently integrate new business opportunitics in both Managed Care and Specialty Services, while maintaining our local accountability and improved access.

MANAGED CARF
Benefits to Customers

We feel that our ability to cstablish and maintain a leadership position in the markets we serve results primarily from our demonstrated success in providing quality care while
reducing and managing costs, and from our specialized programs with statc governments. Among the benefits we are able to provide to the states with which we contract are:

o Significant cost savings and budget predictability compared to state paid reimbursement for services.We bring experience relating te quality of care improvement
methods, utilization management procedures, an efficient claims payment system, and provider performance reporting, as well as managers and staft’ experienced in
using these key clements to improve the quality of and access to care. We generally receive a contracted premium on a per member basis and are responsible for the
medical costs and, as a result. provide budget predictability.

= Data-driven approuches tv halance cost and verify eligibilih: We seek to ensure effective outreach procedures for new members, then educate them and ensure they
receive needed services as quickly as possible, Our IT department has created mapping/translation programs for loading membership and linking membership eligibility
status to all of Centene's systems. We utilize predictive modeling technology to proactively case and discase manage specific high risk members. In addition, we have
developed Centelligence, our enterprise data warchouse system to provide a seamless flow of data across our organization, enabling providers and case managers to
access information, apply analytical insight and make informed decisions.

«  Establishment of realistic and meaningfil expectations for quality deliverables. We have collaborated with state agencics in redefining benefits, eligibility requircments
and provider fee schedules with the goal of maximizing the number of individuals covered throngh Medicaid.

»  Muanaged care expertise in government subsidized programs. Our expertise in government-sponsored programs has helped us establish and maintain strong relationships
with our constituent communities of members, providers and state governments. We provide access to services through local providers and staff that focus on the cultral
norms of their individual communities. To that end, systems and procedures have been designed to address community-specific challenges through outreach, education
and other member support activities.

= Improved quality and medical outcomes. We have implemented programs to enhance the ability of providers to improve the quality of healthcare delivered to our
members. This is demonstrated through health plan accreditations, such as NCQA and Medicare Star ratings, and various program awards.
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Timely pavment of provider claims. We are committed to ensuring that our information systems and claims payment systems meet or cxceed statc requirements. We
continucusly endeavor to update our systems angd processes fo improve the timeliness of our provider payments.

Provider outreach and programs. Our heaith plans have adopted a value-based approach where network providers are actively incentivized by provisions for additional
payments to the providers or reimbursement from the providers based upon their performance in cost and quality measures. Value-based collaboration with providers
feads to improved quality putcomes and reduced administrative burden,

Care management for complex populations. Through our experience with Medicaid populations and long-time presence in statcs with experience in long-term carc for
children and adolescents in the foster care system, we have developed care management, service coordination and crisis prevention/response programs that increase
opportunities for successful outcomes for members. This experience has led to partnerships with specialized networks and community advocates as states transition to
managed carc programs for vulnerable and complex populations.

Responsible collection and dissemination of utilization date. We gather utilization data from multiple sources, allowing for an integrated view of our members'
utilization of services. These sources include medical, vision and behavioral health claims and encounter data, pharmacy data, dental vendor claims and autherization
data from the authorization and case management system utilized by us to coordinate care.

Timely and accurate reporting. Qur information systems have reporting capabilities which have been instrumenta) in identifying the need for new and/or improved
hcaltheare and specialty programs. For state agencics, eur reporting capability is important in demonstrating an auditable program.

Fraud, waste and abuse prevention. We have several systems in place to help identify, detcet and investigate potential fraud, waste, and abuse, including pre- and post-
payment review software. We collaborate with state and federal agencics and assist with investigation requests. We usc nationally recognized standards to benchmark
OUr processcs.

Member Programs and Services

We recognize the importance of member-focused delivery of quality managed care services. Qur locally-based staff assists members in accessing care, coordinating referrals to
related health and social services and addressing member concerns and guestions. Covered healtheare bencfits vary from customer to customer and program to program.

primary and specialty physician care;

inpatient and outpatient hospital care;
cmergency and urgent care;

prenatal and posipartum care;

laboratory and x-ray services;

home-based primary care;

transportation assistance;

vision care;

dental care;

telehealth services:

immunizations;

prescriptions and limited over-the-counter drugs:
spocialty pharmacy:,

provision of durable medical equipment;
behavieral health and substance abuse scrvices:
24-hour nurse advice line;

therapics;

social work s¢rvices; and

care coordination.

We also provide a comprehensive set of education and outreach programs to inform, assist and incentivize members to access quality, appropriate healtheare services in an
cfficient mamncr. Many of these programs have been recognized with awards for their excellence in education, outreach andior case management techniques. These awards
include Case In Point, Hermes Awards, U.S. Environmental Protcction Agency and National Health Information Awards.



lable ot Contents

*  Chronic Conditions aims to improve the health and quality of life for members with diabetes, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmenary discase (COPD), congestive heart
failure, coronary artery discase, and/or hypertension. The program focuses on reducing emergent utilization and inpatient admissions by increasing treatment adherence,
removing barriers to care, and cnhancing scli-management skills.

+  Community Health Record, our patient-centric clectronic database, cellects patient demographic data, clinician visit records, dispensed medications, vital sign history,
lab results, allergy charts, and immunization data, Providers can directly input additional or updatcd patient data and decumentation into the database, All information is
accessible anywhere, anytime to all authorized users, including health plan staff, greatly facilitating coordinated care among providers.

*  Compassionate Connections (Palliative Care) works to identify members with at least onc scrious illness and provide necessary services to both members and those
individuals close to them. Potential services may inctude detailed advanced care planning, a malti-tcam home visit and home health services, and additional social
support. Providing palliative care services works to help alleviate members' suffering, and in turn, provide a better quality of lifec.

«  Emergency Department Diversion strives to identity members’ reasons for visiting the emergency department and conncet them with the right care, at the right time, in
the right place in the future. The program also identifies opportunities for members to better manage their chronic conditions with the help of PCPs and Care Managers.

*  Fall Prevention seeks to decrease the number and severity of older adult falls. The program also aims to suppert members in maintaining their safety, stability, and
independence as long as possible. The program leverages an evidence-based falls prevention toolkit 1o identify members at risk of falling and provide education and
intcrventions to reduce fall risk.

*  Flyvention works to decrease the spread of the flu by increasing the number of members that receive a timely annual flu vaccination. This multi-laycred campaign is
designed to promote vaccinations as the key to flu prevention. Centene works to address these issues by utilizing cnterprise-wide member and provider marketing and
education, as well as increasing access to facilities that provide flu vaccinations.

¢ Health Initiutives for Children is aimed at educating child members on a variety of health topics. In order to empower and educate children, we have partnered with a
nationally recognized children's author to develop our own children's book series on topics such as obesity prevention and healthy cating, asthma. diabetes, foster carc,
the ills of smoking, anti-bullying and heart health.

+  Health Initiatives for Teensis aimed at empowering, educating and reinforcing life skills with our teenage members. We have developed an educational series that
addresses health issues, dealing with chronic discases including diabetes and asthma, as well as teen pregnancy.

= Hepartitis C Care Managemens Program seeks to empower patients towards Hepatitis C virus treatment success through a series of telephonic interventions. Goals of the
program include preventing premature treatment discontinuation due to medication side effects and access to therapy. Through its family of companics, Envolve
clinicians and AcariaHealth patient care coordinators collaborate throughout a patient's treatment course to ensure appropriate therapy management and regimen access.

= Living Well with Sickle Cellis our innovative program that assists with coordination of care for our members with sickle cell disease, Our program ensures that members
with sickle cell discase have established a medical home and work on strategies to reduce emergency department visits through discase self-management strategics,
medication adherence and proper treatment to control symptoms, pain and chronic complications.

¢ Member Access Campaignis a nationwide effort focused on COVID-19 testing and vaccinations through events hosted by Centene health plans ot their partners.

* MemberConnections is a community face-to-face outrcach and education program designed to create a link between the member, provider and the care team to help
identify potential chaltlenges or risk elements to 2 member's health, such as social needs, nutritional challenges and health cducation gaps.
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My Health Pays offers members financial incentives for performing certain healthy behaviors. The incentives are delivercd through a restricted-use prepaid debit
card. This incentive-bascd approach effectively increascs the ntilization of preventive services while strengthening the relationships between members and their primary
care providers.

My Route for Healthis our adult educational series used with our casc management and discasc management programs. The topics of this series include how to manage
asthma, COPD, diabetes, heart diseasc and HIV.

Neighborhood, Environment and Social Traits (NEST)is a predictive model created by Centene, supported by artificial intclligence, using more than 200 geo-
demographic characteristics as inputs that enables us to more proactively address risks and barriers to health that impact our members and the community as a whole,
such as access to the COVID-19 vaceine and other necessary care.

OpiEad is a clinical program with a 98% accuracy rate designed to identify members at risk for an opioid abuse diagnosis based on a scries of critical social and clinical
indicators called the Opioid Risk Classification Algorithm (ORCA). Providers will leverage this risk score to flag members for case management and other appropriate
interventions. High risk members identified by ORCA will receive educational outreach to provide evidenced-based resources to support pain addiction.

OpiEnd Youth Challenge is a targeted curriculum for adolescents ages 9 through 14 to raise awareness about opicid misuse and prevention, As part of the challenge,
teachers and students discuss significant attributes of addiction and epioid misuse, and students then show their understanding by developing and submitting campaign
messaging that depicts ways to prevent misuse.

Preventive Care Programy arc designed to educate our members on the benefits of Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment (EPSDT) scrvices. We have a
systematic program of communicating, tracking, outreach, reporting and follow-threugh that promotes state EPSDT programs.

Promotores Health Network (PHN) is a voluntecr-driven community health network designed to improve the community's health through health education specific to
health conditions impacting their local community and providing guidance and linkage to healtheare services and local resources, PHN provides face-to-face education
te members where they live, shop, worship and congregate.

Readmission Reduction aims to reduce preventable readmissions by ensuring optitnal transitional care from acute and non-acutce scttings. The program focuses on post-
hospitalization outreach, calls to members to verify they understand their discharge instructions, follow up with a Primary Care Physician (PCP), receive medication
reconciliation, and, for the highest-risk members, linking with 2 Community Health Worker.

Start Smart for Your Baby, or Start Smart, is our award winning prenatal and infant health program designed to increase the percentage of pregnant people receiving
carly prenatal care, reduce the incidence of low-birth-weight and pre-term babies, identify high-risk pregnancies, increase participation in the federal Women, Infant and
Chiidren program, prevent hospital admissions in the first year of life and increase well-child visits. This program has led to a 70% increase in the prediction of low birth
weight babies resulting in reduced pregnancy complications, preterm deliveries and infant diseasc.

Strong Beginnings addresscs the rising U.S, rates of nconatal abstinence syndromce and neonatal opioid withdrawal syndrome. The pregram aims to support pregnant
people at risk for substance usc disorder through casc management and carc coordination, and to support their providers through incentives and plan of safe care
guidance.

The Asthma Management Program integrates a hands-on approach with a flexible outreach methodology that can be customized to suit different age groups and
populations affectesd by asthma. We provide proactive identification of members, stratification into appropriate levels of intervention including home visits, culturally
sensitive education, and robust outcome reporting. The program also includes aggressive care coordination to ensure patients have basic scrvices such as transportation
to the dactor, electricity to power the nebulizer, and a clean, safe home environment.
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+  The Neonutal Admissions Program is an extension of the Start Smart for Your Baby program with a focus on newboms whe have a hospital stay longer than standard
after delivery, including those with admissions to the Newborn Intensive Care Unit (NICU). The program strives for timely identification of neonatal admissions to
coerdinate care and provide member education, resources and member-specific care plans to keep both birth parent and baby safe and healthy in the home environment
upon discharge from the hospital.

Providers

For each of our service arcas, we cstablish a provider network consisting of primary and specialty care physicians, hospitals and anciltary providers. Our network of primary
care physicians is a critical component of care delivery, cost management and the attraction and retention of new members. Primary care physicians include family and general
practitioners, pediatricians, intemal medicine physicians and obstetricians and gynecologists. Specialty care physicians provide medical care to members generally upon referral
by primary care physicians. Specialty care physicians include, but are not limited to, orthopedic surgeons, cardiologists and otalaryngolegists, We also provide education and
outreach programs to inform and assist members in accessing quality, appropriate healthcare scrvices.

Our health plans facilitate access to hcalthcare services for our members primarily through contracts with our providers. Our contracts with pnmary and specialty care
physicians and hospitals usually are for one to three-year periods and renew antomatically for successive one-year terms, but gencrally are subject to termination by cither party
upon prior written notice. In the absence of a contract, we typically pay providers at applicable state or fedeaal reimbursement levels, depending on the product (c.g., Medicaid
or Medicare). We pay providers under a variety of methods, including fec-for-service, capitation arrangements, and value-based arrangements,

+  Under our fee-for-service contracts with providers, we pay a negotiated fee for covered services. This medel is characterized as having no financial risk for the provider.

»  Under our capitated contracts providers can be paid a set amount for their services as outlined in their respoctive provider agreements. A provider group's financial
instability or failure to pay secondary providers for services rendered could tead secondary providers to demand payment from us, even though we have made our regular
capitated payments to the provider group. Depending on state law and the regulatory environment. it may be necessary for us to pay such claims.

*  Under value-based arrangements, providers can be paid under either a capitated or fee-for-scrvice model. The arrangement, however, contains provisiens for additional
payments to the providers or reimbursement from the providers based upon their performance in cost and quality measures.

In addition, we maintain a network of qualified physicians, facilities, and ancillary providers in the prime service areas of our TRICARE contract, Scrvices are primarily
provided on a fec-for=-service basis.

We often start our provider relationships in a pay-for-performance arrangement before we transition to a risk-sharing arrangement, which is based on the total cost of care. As
we advance along this continuum, it strengthens our partnerships with our providers, enabling the delivery of high-quality care.

We work with physicians to help them operate cfficiently by providing actionable financial and utilization information, physician and patient educational programs and discase
and population health management programs. Our programs arc also designed to help physicians coordinate care rendered by other providers.

We believe our local and collaborative approach with physicians and other providers gives us a competitive advantage in entering new markets. Our physicians serve on local
committees that assist us in implementing preventive care programs, managing costs and improving the overall quality of care delivered to our members, while also simplifying
the administrative burdens on our providers, This approach has enabled us to strengthen our provider networks through improved physician recruitment and retention that, in
turn, has helped to incrcase our membership base. The following are among the services we provide to support physicians:

*  Provider Engagement Performance Tools and Processes lead to measurable improvements in quality and health outcomes, healthcare costs, and member satisfaction.
High quality provider support and service levels are important as our key customers are increasingly using performance-based measures to sclect and pay health plans,
We have a suite of network performance tools for use by physicians and other providers which monitor the outcomes and care gaps of their individual patient panels. We
mect with the providers to review their performance issues and recommend
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strategies for improvements in their patient panel outcomes. Our tools also allow the physician and others 1o sce where they stand within their value-based contract.

*  Our Integrated Care Modelis member-centric and managed by one care manager assigned to a member who looks at the total care for the member in a holistic manner.
This single care manager will coordinate all care for that member including behavioral health, medical health, and home-based primary care in accordance with an
individualized, integrated care plan. This carc manager also coordinates mectings with the member's integrated care team to assess and alter the care plan as needed. This
results in better ¢linical outcomes and improved metiwber satisfaction,

«  The Provider Portalprovides claims and eligibility rescarch, prior authorizations, member panels, care gaps, patient analytics, and previder analytics meant to drive
provider engagement and improved patient outcomes. Data and reporting are delivered via a secure, user-friendly web-based provider portal. This is provided through
our suite of technology platforms.

Our contracted physicians also benefit from several of the services offered to our members, including the MemberConnections, EPSDT case management and population health
management programs. For example, the MemberConnections staff facilitates doctor-patient relatienships by connecting members with physicians, the EPSDT programs
encourage routine checkups for children with their physicians and the population health management programs assist physicians in managing their patients with chronic discase.

Where appropriate, our health plans contract with our specialty services organizations to provide services and programs such as care management software, dental benefits
management, home-based primary care services, life and population health management, managed vision, pharmacy benefits management, specialty pharmacy and telchealth
scrvices. When necessary, we also contract with third-party providers on a negotiated fee arrangement for physical therapy, home healthcare, diagnostic laboratory tests, x-ray
examinations, transportation, ambulance services and durable medical equipiment.

Quality Management

Gur population health programs focus on improving quality of care in areas that have the greatest impact on our thembers. We cniploy multiple strategics, including care
coordination and complex casc management, which are tailored to meet the individual needs of our members as well as address the unique health needs within the communities
whiere we serve. We promote local physician participation in quality improvement through physician cemmittees chaired by local physician leaders. This structure cnsures
clinical oversight and is critical 10 the success of any clinical quality improvenient program.

We have implemented specialized information systems to support our quality management activitics. Information is drawn from our data warchouse, clinical databascs and our
membership and claims processing system to identify opportunitics to improve care and to track the outcomes of the interventions implemented to achieve those improvements,
Some examples of these programs include:

» us¢ of nationally recognized InterQual or Milliman criteria to help ensure our members receive the right level of care in the most appropriate setting;
= pre-authorized high-risk medication and services that are commeonly over or inappropriately prescribed;

»  member cducation and the provision of appropriate and casily accessed urgent care services to help members avoid unnecessary and costly emergency depattmient visits
and improve their healthcare expetience;

»  emphasis on carc management and care coordination where clinicians, such as nurses and social workers who arc employed to assist high-risk and other selected
members with the coerdination ef heaithcare services that meet their specific needs:

+  diseasc management for chronic illnesscs, such as asthma and diabetes through a comprehensive, multidisciplinary and cellaborative approach;
= prenatal ease management for those with high-risk pregnancics to help them deliver full-term, healthy infants; and

¢ pharmacy treatment compliance programs driven by evidence-based clinical policies and focused on identifying the appropriate medication in the correct dose, delivered
in an efficient format and unlized for the correct duration.
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We provide reporting on a regular basis using our data warehouse. State and Health Employer Data and Information Set (HEDIS) reporting constitutes the core of the
information base that drives our clinical qualilty performance ettorts. This reporting is monitored by health plan quality improvement committees and our corporate population
health management and quality improvement teams,

In an effort to ensure the quality of our provider networks, we verify the credentials and background of our providers using standards that are supported by NCQA.,

It is our objective to provide access to the highest quality of care for our members. As a validation of that objective, we pursue accreditation by independent organizations that
have been established to promote healthcare quality, NCQA Health Plan Accreditation and URAC Health Plan Accreditation programs provide unhiased, third party reviews to

verify and publicly report results on specific quality care metrics. Accreditation is only onc measure of our ability to provide access to quality care for our members. In 2021, we
achieved accreditation in 31 of 33 eligible states for at Jeast one product (Medicare, Medicaid, or Commercial, including Health [nsurance Marketplace).

CMS developed the Medicare Advantage Star ratings system to help consumers choose among competing plans, awarding between 1.0 and 5.0 stars to Medicare Advantage
plans based on performance in certain measures of quality.

For the 2021 Star rating {calculated in 2020 for the quality bonus payment in 2022), two contracts received 4.5 out of 5.0 Stars, three contracts received 4 0 Stars, 17
contracts received 3.5 Stars, and 13 confracts reecived 3.0 Stars. In addition, fur the 2021 Star rating, we carry a 3.5 Star parent organization rating. Approximately 30%
of our Medicare members are in a 4.0 star or above plan for the 2022 bonus year.

For the 2022 Star rating (calculated in 2021 for the quality bonus payment in 2023), one contract received 5.0 out of 5.0 Stars, three contracts received 4.3 Stars, 11
contracts received 4.0 Stars, 23 contracts received 3.5 Stars, and eight contracts received 3.0 Stars. In addition, for the 2022 Star rating, we carry a 4.0 Star parent
organization rating. Over 50% of our Medicare members are in a 4.0 star or above plan for the 2023 bonus year. The year-over-year increase in our Star quality ratings is
primarily due to certain disaster relicf provisions, which we do not expect to be applicable in future years. As a result, we expect to expericnce a meaningful decrease to
our Star ratings for the 2023 Star rating year, which impacts the 2024 bonus year. We expect this to be followed by a subsequent increase to our Star ratings for the 2024
Star rating year, which impacts the 2025 bonus year.

The parent organization Star rating is uscd for new Medicare contracts, while existing contracts follow their individual Star ratings to determine bonus payments. We remain
committed to our quality initiatives and continue te invest in the programs which we expect to translate into value over the next few years.

SPECIALTY SERVICES

Our specialty services are a key component of our healthcare strategy and complement our core Managed Care business. Our specialty services diversify our revenuc stream,
enhance the quality of health outcomes for our members and others, and allow Centene to manage costs.

Envolve

Our Envolve brand brings together our extensive portfolio of specialty healtheare solutions. Envolve leverages our collective expertise to provide integrated and comprehensive
healtheare for members and other organizations.

Pharmacy Selutions. Envolve Pharmacy Solutions utilizes innovative, flexible solutions and customized care management, We offer traditional pharmacy clinical and
administrative services as well as comprehensive speciatized pharmacy benefit services through our specialty pharmacy businesses, AcariaHealth and PANTHERx. Our
traditional pharmacy benefits management program offers progressive services that are specifically designed 1o improve quality of carc while containing costs. Services
that we provide include drug utilization review, formulary and rebate management, patient and physician interventions and prior authorization services and analytics. We
have announced our intention to transition Envolve Pharmacy Selutions from a pharmacy benefit manager to an enterprise center of excellence for our health plans,
continuing standardization across clinical protocols and benefits administration. AcariaHealth, a specialty pharmacy, offers specialized care management services for
complex discascs and enhances the patient care offering through collaboration with providers and the capture of relevant data to mcasure patient
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outcomes. PANTHERX scrves patients living with rare and erphan discases through a comprehensive approach to delivering medications and clinical support.

Nurse Advice Line & After-Hours Support Envolve’s Nurse Advice Line brings together our nurse advice, telehealth, and health and wellness programs, allowing for a
focus on individual health management through education and empowerment. We offer teichealth services where members ¢ngage with customer service representatives
and nursing staff who provide health education and triage advice and offer continuous access to health pian functions. Gur staff can arrange for urgent pharmacy refilis,
transportation and qualificd behavioral health professionals for crisis stabilization assessments.

Vision and Dental Services. Envolve coordinates benefits beyond traditional medical benefits to offer fully integrated vision and dental health services. Our vision
benefit program administers routine and medical surgical cyc care benefits through a contracted national nerwork of ¢ye care providers. Through the dental benefit, we
are dedicated to improving oral health through a contracted network of denta] healtheare providers.

Health Care Enterprises

Our Health Care Enterprises companies aim to improve health outcomes by developing innovative technologies and wiilizing efficient care models to reduce healthcare costs.

*

Clinical Healthcare. Community Medical Group (CMG) provides clinical healthcare, encompassing primary care, access to certain specialty services, and a suite of
social and other support services. CMG operates in Florida through an at-risk primary care provider model, facusing on chinical and social care to at-risk beneficiaries.

Data Analytics. Apixio, one of our healthcare analytics companies, offers, among other solutions, artificial intelligence (AT} technology which performs retrospective
chart reviews for more accurate risk score submission to CMS. Apixio provides services to third party customers as well as our health plans. Interpreta uses its analytics
engine to provide real-time insights to providers, care managers, and payers in the arcas of member prioritization, quality management, and risk adjustment. Interpreta's
solutions are used by our health plans and available for sale to third parties. These businesses continue te digitize the administration of healthcarc and accelerate
innevation and modernization across the enterprise.

Behavioral, Pharmacy and Specialty Health. Magellan Health, which we acquired on January 4, 2022, provides carve-out management services for behavioral health,
pharmacy, employce assistance plans and other areas of specialty healtheare including diagnostic imaging, musculoskeletal management, cardiac and physical medicine.
These services are provided through Magellan's comprehensive network of medical and behavioral health professionals, clinics, hospitals, skilled nursing facilitics, home
care agencies and ancillary service providers.

Other Specialty Companies

Our other specialty companies provide a variety of products and services to complement and expand our business lines.

Correctional Healthcare Services. Centurion provides comprehensive healtheare services to individuals incarcerated in state correctional facilities and detainces in
detention facilities in various states. Centurion also provides staffing scrvices to corectional systems and other government agencies.

Federal Services. Health Nt Federal Services has a Managed Support Contract in the West Region for the DoD> TRICARE program. We provide administrative services
to Military Health System cligible beneficiaries, which includes cligible active duty service members and their families, retired service members and their families,
survivors of retired service members and qualificd former spouses.

Third Party Adminiswration. HealthSmart provides customizable and scalable health plan solutions for sclf-funded ¢miployers, universities and colleges, and Native
American Tribal Enterprises. Service offerings include plan administration, carc management and wellness programs, network, casualty claim, and pharmacy benefit
solutions.

We currently have NCQA accreditation and/or URAC acgreditation for several of our specialty companies.
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CORPORATE COMPLIANCE

Our Ethics and Compliance program assists the organization in developing effective intemal controls that promote prevention and detection of fraud, waste and abuse and
resolution of instances of conduct that do not conform to federal and state law and private payor healthcare program requirements, as well as our own cthics and business
policies. Responsibilities also include the ongoing maintenance of our privacy program and oversight of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) as
they pertain to us and our business units from a compliance, business, and technical perspective.

Three standards by which corporate compliance programs in the healtheare industry are measured are the Federal Organizational Sentencing Guidelines, the CMS Chapter
Guidance and the Compliance Program Guidance series issued by the Department of Health and Human Services' Office of the Inspector General (O1G). Our program contains
cach of the scven clements suggested by these authorities. These key components are:

*  written standards of conduct;

+  designation of compliance officers and compliance committces:

+  effective training and education;

= cffective lines for reporting and communication;

= cnforcement of standards through well-publicized disciplinary guidelines and actinns;
= wnlyrnal monitoring and auditing; and

= prompt r¢sponse to detected offenses and development of corrective action plans.

The goal of our program is to build a culture of ethics and compliance, which is assessed periodically to measure the values and engagement of the organization, Our Corporate
Compliance intranct site, accessible to all employees, contains our Compliance Program description, our Business Ethics and Code of Conduct Policy, and resources for
employecs (o report concerns or ask questions. If needed, employces have access to the contact information for our Board of Directors’ Audit Committee Chairman to report
concerns. Our Ethics and Compliance Helpline is a toll-free number and web-based reporting tool operated by a third party independent of the Company and allows employees
or other persons to report suspected incidents of misconduct, fraud, waste, abuse or other compliance violations anonymously. Furthermore, our Board of Directors has
established a Corporate Compliance Committee that, among other things, reviews ethics and compliance reports on a quarterly basis.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, HEALTH, GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Centene’s steadfast commitment to the environment, the heatth and social well-being of our communities, and our culture of sound and ethical corporate governance extends far
beyond individual programs or initiatives. Through the delivery of high-quality healthcare to at-risk populations, our responsibilitics to members, stakeholders, and our planet
serve as a living expression of our purpose — transforming the health of communities, one person at a time. Continued focus on environmental, social, and governance (ESG)
matters remain foundational to supporting our strategy and long-term value creation. These themes were vital in the development of Centene's Environmental, Social, Health,
and Governance (ESHG) Strategic Framework (the Framework) which was established in 2020 and incorporates our commitment to healthy individuals and healthy
communitics. Tmplementation of the Framework is overseen by a board-level Environmental and Social Responsibility Committee and ESHG initiatives throughout the
organization are driven by a cross-functional work group comprised of executive representatives, We issued an ESHG Report to the Community to communicate the value of
our ESHG efforts in 2020; and in 2021, we issucd a Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) report outlining our governance structure, strategy, risks,
apportunities, and metrics and farget-setting related to managing climate change. In December 2021, we issued our first Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB)
Index report aligned with the SASB Managed Carc standard. providing meaningful sustainability information to our stakcholders, Centene'’s Framework enables us to align our
busincss strategy and long-term planning with our commitments to protect our planet, serve our communities, cultivate healthier lives, and live our values. Intercsted parties can
find our ESG / ESHG-related reports within the Investors section of our website, the URL of which is https://investors.centenc.com/esg. Please note: Nothing on our website,
including our ESG / ESHG reporis or sections thereof, shall he deemed incorporated by reference into this Annual Report.

COMPETITION
We operate in a highly competitive environment in an industry subject to ongoing significant changes, including business consolidations, new strategic alliances, market

pressures, and regulatory and legislative reform both at the federal and state tevel. This includes, but is not limited to, the federal and state healthcare reform legislation
described under the heading "Regulation.” In addition, changes to the political environment may drive additienal changes to the competitive landscape.
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In our business, our principal competitors for customers, members, and providers consist of the following types of organizations

< National and Regional Commercial Managed Care Organizationsthat focus on providing healtheare services to Medicaid, Medicare and correctional members in
addition to members in marketplace and private commercial plans. These organizations consist of national and regional organizations, as well as not-for-profits and
organizations that operate in 4 small geographic location and arc owned by providers (primarily hospitals}. Some of these organizations offer a range of specialty services
including pharmacy benefits management, behavioral health management, population health management, correctional healthcare management, and nurse triage call
support centers.

»  Primary Care Case Management Programs that are established by the states through contracts with primary carc providers. Under these programs, physicians provide
primary care services to Medicaid recipients. as well as limited population health management oversight.

s Adecauntable Care Organizations that consist of groups of doctors, hospitals, and other healthcarc providers, who come together to provide coordinated high quality care
to their patients.

We compete with other Managed Care Organizations and specialty companies for state, county, federal, and commercial contracts. In addition, the impact of the ACA and
potential growth in our segment may atiract new competitors including technology companies, new joint ventures, financial services firms, consulting firms and other non-
traditional competitors. Before granting a contract, state and federal government agencies consider many competitive factors. These factors include quality of care, financial
condition, stability and resources, and established or scalable infrastructure with a demonstrated ability to deliver services and establish comprehensive provider networks, Qur
specialty companics compete with other providers, such as disease management companies, individual health insurance companies, and pharmacy benefits managers for non-
governmental contracts.

We also compete to enroll rew members and retain existing members. People who wish to enroll in a managed healthcare plan or to change healthcare plans typically choosc a
plan bascd on the quality of care and services offercd, case of zocess to services, a specific provider being part of the network and the availability of supplemental benefits. We
belicve that the principal competitive features affecting our ability to retain and increasc membership include the range and prices of benefit plans offered, size and quality of
provider network, quality of service, responsivencss to customer demands, financial stability, comprehensiveness of coverage, diversity of product offerings, market presence
and reputation.

We also compete with other managed care organizations in establishing provider networks. When contracting with various health plans, we belicve that providers consider
existing and potential member velurne, reimbursement rates, population health management programs. speed of reimbursemient and administrative service capabilitics. Sec
"Risk Factors - Competition may limit our ability to increase penetration of the markets that we serve.”

The relative importance of cach of the aforementioned competitive factors and the identity of our key competitors varies by market, including by geography and by product. We
belicve that we compete effectively against other healthcare industry participants.

REGULATION

QOur operations are comprehensively regulated at the local, state, and federal levels. Government regulation of the provision of healthcare products and services is a changing
arca of law that varics from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. States have implemented National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) modcl regulations, requiring
governance practices and risk and solvency assessment reporting, States have adopted these or similar measures to enhance regulations relating to corporate governance and
intemal controls of health maintenance organizations (HMOs) and insurance companics. We are required to maintain a risk management framework and file reports with state
insurance regulators.

Regulatory agencics genorally have substantial discretion to issie regulations and interpret and enforce laws and rules. Changes in the regulatory environment and applicable
laws and rules also may occur periodically. including in connection with changes in political party or administration at the state and federal levels. The ultimate content, timing
or effect of any potential future legisfation enacted under the new administration remains uncertain.

Our regulated subsidiaries are licensed to operate as HMOs, preferred provider organizations (PPOs), third party administrators, utilization revicw organizations, pharmacics,
direct care providers and/or insurance companies in their respective states. In each of the jurisdictions in which we operate, we are regulated by the relevant insurance, health
and/or human services departments,
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departments of insurance, boards of pharmacy and other healthcare providers, and departments of health that oversee the activities of managed care organizations and health
plans providing or arranging to provide services 1o enrollees.

The process for obtaining authorization to operate as a managed care organization, heaith inswance plan, prescription drug plan, pharmacy or provider organization is complex
and requircs us to demonstrate to the regulators the adequacy of the health plan's organizational structure, financial resources, utilization review, quality assurance programs,
proper billing. complaint procedures, and an adequate provider network and procedures for covering emergency medical conditions. For ¢xample, under both state managed
care organization statutes and insurance laws, our health plan subsidiaries, as well as our applicable specialty companies, must comply with minimum statutory capital and
other financial solvency requirements, such as deposit and surplus requirements. Insurance regulations may also require prior state approval of acquisitions of other managed
care organization businesses and the payment of dividends. as well as notice for loans or the transfer of funds. Our subsidiaries are also subject to periodic state and federal
reporting requirements. In addition, each health plan and individual healthcare provider must mect criteria to secure the approval of state regulatory authorities before
implementing certain operational changes, including, without limitation, changes to cxisting offerings, the development of new product offerings, certain organizationai
restructurings and, in somc states, the cxpansion of service areas.

States have adopted a number of regulations that may affect our business and results of operations. These regulations in cortain states include:

*  premium taxes or similar assessments imposed on us;

+  stringent prompt payment laws requining ns to pay claims within a specified peniod of time;
+  disclosure requirements regarding provider fee schedules and coding procedures; and

+  programs to monitor and supervise the activitics and financial solvency of provider groups.

We are regulated as an insurance holding company and arc subject to the insurance holding company acts of the states in which our insurance company and HMO subsidiaries
are domiciled. These acts contain certain reporting requirements as well as restrictions on fransactions between an insurer or HMO and its affiliates. These holding company
laws and regulations generally require insurance companics and HMOs within an insurance holding company system to register with the insurance department of each state
where they are domiciled and to file with those states' insurance departments reports describing capital structure, ownership, financial condition, intercompany transactions and
general business operations. In addition, depending on the size and nature of the tramsaction, there are various notice and reporting requirements that generally apply to
transactions between insurance companies and HMOs and their affiliates within an insurance holding company structure. Some insurance holding company laws and
regulations require prior regulatory approval or, in certain circumstances, prior notice of certain material intercompany transfers of assets as well as certain transactions
between insurance companies, HMOs, their parent holding companies and affiliates. Among other provisions, state insurance and HMO laws may restrict the ability of our
regulated subsidiaries to pay dividends.

Additionally, the holding company regulations of the states in which our subsidiaries are domiciled restrict the ability of any person to obtain control of an insurance company
or HMO without prior regulatory approval. Under those statutes, without such approval or an cxemption, no person may acquire any voling security of an insurance holding
company, which controls an insurance company or HMO, or merge with such a holding company, if as a result of such transaction such person would "control” the insurance
holding company. "Control” is generally dcfined as the direct or indirect power to direct or causc the direction of the management and policies of a company and is presumed to
exist if a person directly or indirectly owns or controls 10% or more of the voting securitics of a company.

PPO regulation also varics by state and covers all or most of the subject arca referred to above.

Our pharmacies must be licensed to do business as pharmacics in the states in which they are located. Our pharmacies nyust also register with the U.S. Drug Enforcement
Administration and individual state controlled substance authoritics to dispense controlled substances. In many of the states where our pharmacies deliver pharmaceuticals, there
are laws and regulations that require out-of-state mail order pharmacics to register with that state's board of pharmacy or similar regulatory body. These states generally permit
the pharmacy to follow the laws of the state in which the mail order pharmacy is lecated, although some states require that we also comply with certain laws in that state.

Our healthcare providers must be licensed to practice medicine and do business as carc providers in the state in which they are located. In addition, they must be in good
standing with the applicable medical board, board of nursing or other applicable entity. Furthermore, they cannot be excluded from participation at either the statc or federal
levels. Our facilities are periodically reviewed by state departments of health and other regulatory agencies to ensure the environment i3 safe to provide care.
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Federal law has also implemented other health programs that are partially funded by the federal government, such as the Medicaid and Medicare programs. Our Medicaid
programs arc regulated and administercd by various state regulatory bodies. Federal funding remains critical to the viability of these programs. Federal law permits the fedetal
government to oversee and, in some cases, fo enact, regulations and other requirements that must be followed by states with respect 1o these programs. Medicaid is administered
at the federal level by CMS. Comprehensive legislation. specifically Title XVIII of the Social Security Act, governs our Medicare program. In addition, our Medicare contracts
arc subject 10 regulation by CMS. CMS has the right to audit Medicarc contractors and the healthcare providers and administrative contractors who provide certain services on
their behalf to determine the quality of care being rendered and the degree of compliance with CMS contracts and regulations.

The ACA transformed the U.S, healthcare system through a series of complex initiatives. Some of the ACA's most signiticant provisions include the imposition of significant
fecs, assessments and taxes, including the pon-deductible tax (technically called & fee) on health insurers based on prior year net premiums written in ycars when imposed {the
health insurer fee or HIF); the cstablishment of federally-facilitated and state-based Health Insurance Marketplaces where individuals and small groups may purchase health
coverage; the implementation of certain premium stabilization programs designed to apportion risk amengst insurers; and the optional Medicaid Expansion. State and federal
regulators have continued to provide additional guidance and specificity to the ACA, and we continue to monitor this new information and evaluate its potential impact on our
business. In Deccmber 2018, a partial summary judgment ruling in Texas v. United States of Amcrica held that the ACA's individual mandate requirement was essential to the
ACA, and without it, the remainder of the ACA was invalid (i.e., that it was not "sevcrable” from the ACA). That decision was appealed to the Fifth Circuit, which ruled in
December 2019 that the individual mandate was unconstitutional after Congress eliminated the individual mandate penalty, and remanded the case to the district court far
additional analysis on the question of severability. The U.S. Supreme Court heard oral arguments in November 2020 and issued its decision in Junc 2021, ruling that the
plaintiffs lacked standing to challenge the individual mandate provision, thus leaving the ACA in effcer. For a further discussion of the ACA. sec "Risk Factors - Significant
changes or judicial challenges to the ACA could materially and adverscly affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows",

We must also comply with laws and regulations related to the award, administration and performance of U.8. Government contracts, Gevernment contract laws and regulations
affect how we do business with our customers and, in some instances. impose added costs on enr business. Moncy lanndering is a method of attempting to conceal the erigins of
mioney gained through illegal activity and is itself a crime that can result in substantial criminal and civil sanctions including fincs and imprisonment. To ensure compliance
with anti-money laundering laws and regulations, it is our policy to conduct business only with legitimate customers and counterparties whose funds are derived from legitimate
commercial activity. In addition, as a result of our international operations, we arc also subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act {(FCPA) and similar worldwide anti-

corruption laws, including the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010. which generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to non-U.8, officials for
the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. A violation of specific laws and regulations by us and/or our agents could result in, among other things, the imposition of fincs

and penalties on us, changes to our business practices, the termination of our contracts or debarment from bidding on contracts.

State and Federal Contracts

In addition to being a licensed insurance company or HMO, in arder to be a Medicaid managed carc organization in each of the states in which wc operate, we generally must
operate under a contract with the states Medicaid agency. States generally either use a formal proposal process, reviewing a number of bidders, or award individual contracts to
qualified applicants that apply for entry to the program. Under these state Medicaid program contracts, we reccive monthly payments based on specificd capilation rates
determined on an actuarial basis. These rates differ by membership category and by state depending on the specific benefits and policies adopted by each state. In addition,
several of our Medicaid contracts require us fo maintain Medicare Advantage special needs plans, which are regulated by CMS, for dual eligible individuals within the state.

We provide Medicare Advantage, PDPs, DSNPs, and MMP which are provided under contracts with CMS and subjeet to federal regulation regarding the award, administration
and performance of such contracts. CMS also has the right to audit our performance to determine our compliance with these contracts, as well as other CMS regulations and the
quality of carc we provide to Medicare beneficiaries under these contracts. We additionally provide behavioral and other healtheare services to correctional sysicms under
contracts in certain states which are also subject to state regulation,

Qur government contracts include government-sponsored managed care and administrative services contracts through the TRICARE program and certaim other healthcare-
refated government contracts,
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Our state and federal contracts and the regulatory provisions applicable to us generally set forth the requirements for eperating in the Medicaid and Medicare sectors, including
provisions relating to:

«  cligibility, enrollment and dis-cnrollment progesses;
= covered services;

« eligible providers;

« subcontractors;

+  record-keeping and record retention;

+  periodic financial and informational reporting;

«  quality assurancc;

*  accreditation;

*  health education and wellness and prevention programs;
= timeliness of claims payment;

+  financial standards;

«  safeguarding of member information:

»  fraud, waste and abuse detection and reporting;

+  grievance procedures; and

+  organization and administrative systems.

A health plan or individual health insurance provider's compliance with these requirements is subject to monitoring by state regulators and by CMS. A health plan is also subject
to periedic comprehensive quality assurance evaluations by a third-party reviewing organization and generally by the insurance department of the jurisdiction that licenses the
health plan. A health plan or individual health insurance provider must also submit reports to various regulatory agencies, including quarterly and annual statutory financial
statements and utilization reports.

Our health plans operate through individual state contracts, generally with an initial term of one to five ycars. The contracts often have renewal or extension terms or are
renewable through the state's reprocurement process. The contracts generally are subject to termination for cause, an event of default or lack of funding. among other things,

Marketplace Contracts
We opcralte in 27 states under federally-facititated marketplace contracts with CMS and state-based exchanges. Both confract types are renewable on an annual basis.

We operate under a contract with the Arkansas Department of Human Services Division of Medical Scrvices and the Arkansas Insurance Department to participate in the
Medicaid expansion model that Arkansas has adopted (referred to as Arkansas Works).

Privacy Regulations

We arc subject to various international, federal, state and local laws and rules regarding the use, security and disclosure of protected health information, personal information,
and other categorics of confidential or legally protected data that our businesses handle. Such laws and rules include, without limitation, HIPAA, the Federal Trade Commission
Act, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Medemization Act of 1999 {Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act}, the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in the European Union (E1J),
and state privacy and sccurity laws such as the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act and the California Online Privacy Protection Act. Privacy and security
laws and regulations ofien change duc to new or amended legislation, regulatiens or administrative interpretation. A variety of state and federal regulators enforce these laws,
including but not limited to the 11.$. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), the Federal Trade Commission, state attorneys gencral and other state regulators.

HIPAA is designed to improve the portability and continuity of health insurance coverage, simplify the administration of health insurance through standard transactions and
ensurc the privacy and security of individual health information. Among the requirements of HIPAA are the Administrative Simplification provisions which include: standards
for processing health insurance claims and related transactions (Transactions Standards); requirements for protecting the privacy and limiting the use and disclosurc of medical
records and other personal health information (Privacy Rule); and standards and specifications for safeguarding personal health information which is maintained, stored or
transmitted in electronic format (Security Rule). The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act amended certain provisions of HIPAA
and enhanced data security obligations for covered entities and their business associates. HITECH also mandated individual notifications in instances of a data breach, provided
enhanced penaltics for HIPAA viclations, and granted enforcement
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autherity ta states’ Attorneys General in addition to the HHS Office for Civil Rights. The HIPAA Omnibus Rule further enhanced the changes under the HITECH Acts and the
Genetic Information Nengdiscrimination Act of 2008 {GINA) which clarified thar genetic information is protected under HIPAA and prehibits most health plans from vsing or
disclosing genetic information for underwriting purposes. These regulations also establish significant criminal penalties and civil sanctions for non-compliance. The precmption
provisions of HIPAA provide that the federal standards will not preempt state taws that arc more stringent than the related federal requirements.

The Privacy and Sccurity Rules and HITECH/Omnibus enhanccments established requircments to protect the privacy of medical records and safeguard personal health
infermatien maintained and used by healthcare providers, health plans, healthcare clearinghouses, and their business associates.

The Security Rule requires healthcare providers, health plans, healthcare clearinghouses, and their business associates to implement admimstrative, physical and technical
safcguards to ensure the privacy and confidentiality of hecaith information clectronically stored, maintained or transmitted. The HITECH Act and Omnibus Rule enhanced a
federal requirement for notification when the sccurity of protected health information is breached. In addition, there are state laws that have becn adopted to provide for, among
other things, private rights of actien for breaches of data security and mandatory notification to persons whosc identifiable information is obtained witheut authorization.

The requircments of the Transactions Standards apply to certain healthcare related transactions conducted using "electronic media,” Since "clectronic media” is defined broadly
to include "transmissions that are physically moved from one location to another using portable data, magnetic tape, disk or compact disk media,” many communications are
considered te be electronically transmitted. Under HIPAA, health plans and providers are required to have the capacity to accept and send all covered transactions in a
standardized electronic format. Penalties can be imposed for failure to comply with these requirements. The transaction standards were modified in October 2015 with the
implementation of the ICD-10 coding system.

In addition, we process and maintain personal card data, particularly in connection with our Marketplace business. As & result, we must maintain compliance with the Payment
Card !ndustry (PCI) Data Security Standard. which is a multifaceted security standard intended to optimize the security of credit, debit and cash card transactions and protect
cardholders against misuse of their personal infarmation.

Other Fraud, Waste and Abuse Laws

Investigating and prosecuting healthcare fraud, wastc and abuse continues to be a top priority for state and federal law enforcement entities. The focus of these efforts has been
dirceted at Medicare, Medicaid, Health Insurance Marketplace and commercial products. The fraud, wastc and abuse laws inciude the federal False Claims Act, which prohibits
the known filing of a false claimy ot the known use of false statements to obtain payment from the federal government. Many states have false claim act statutes that closely
resemble the federal False Claims Act. Additional fraud, waste and abuse prohibitions include a wide range of operating activitics, such as kickbacks or other inducements for
referral of members or for the coverage of products (such as prescription drugs) by a plan, billing for unnccessary medica) services by a provider, improper marketing and
violation of patient privacy rights. The laws and regulations relating to fraud, waste and abuse and the rcquircments applicable to health plans, PDPs and providers participating
in thesc progtams arc complex and change regularly. Compliance with these laws may require substantial resources. We are constantly looking for ways to improve our fraud,
waste and abuse detection methods. While we have both prospective and retrospective processes to identify abusive patterns and fraudulent billing, we continuc to increase our
capabilities to proactively detect inappropriate billing prior to payment.

HUMAN CAPITAL RESOURCES

As the pace of change, complexity and uncertainty in the broader environment accelerates, we continuc our strong investment in creating a purpose-driven culture and attracting,
developing and retaining top talent with diverse voices and experiences. We seck out individuals with ambition for extracrdinary impact and believe every employec is a leader
and s critical to helping us transform the health of communities for those we serve. Our entreprencunal spirited workforce is driven by a steadfast commitment to a diverse,
cquitable, inclusive and safe workplace, and is enabled through robust talent development programs, supported by competitive compensatien, benefits and health and weli-
being programs, and is optimized by full alignment with our purpose, values and strategy through meaningfil connections between our empleyees and their conrmunitics.

As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately 72,500 full-time cquivalent (FTE) employces. During fiscal 2021, the number of emiployees increased primarily due to the
international cxpansion offset by the divestiture of USMM. During fiscal 2021, our voluntary tumnover rate was less than 17%,
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Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

We believe that a diverse workforce and equitable and inclusive environment enables competitive advantage and fucls improved service, innovation and performance with all
stakeholders. We thoughtfully engage diverse talent across Centene, preparing woraen and underreptesented employees for leadership roles, and hiring diverse candidates who
have 1 passion for serving our members and ambition for extraordinary impact.

We have a wide range of programs focused on early identification and accelerated development of diverse talent, including our Employee Inclusion Groups (EIGs), which help
us further enhance our inclusive workforce culture. These voluntary, employee led groups support the attraction, development and retention of talent at all levels, EIGs provide
professional and leadership epportunitics. contribute to community engagement initiatives and support business innovation and corporate best practices. Our EIGs arc key
drivers of Centene's culture. Because of their significant value to us, we support EIGs through leadership involvement, work time and space, resources and executive mentors,
Today, there are over 10,000 members across all five EIGs providing professional and leadership development opportunities for women, military veterans, individuals with
disabilities, LGBTQ+ and multicultural employees. Each EIG offers mentorship programs aligned with our leadership model and bring in unique lived experiences in an effort
to ensure we are mecting employces at their level to deliver the best outcomes for their development. EIGs also partake in networking events, training programs, fireside chats
and panels addressing current issues and other development opportunities for their members. In 2021, our EIGs produced more than 250 development programs ranging from
panet discussions to personal development workshops.

Our team of talent advisors are responsible for leading the end-to-cnd search process, and leveraging onr resources, tools and technologies to help our hiring leaders carcfully
consider the capabilities required to continue to propel our organization forward. Centenc's talent advisors, in partnership with hiring leaders, work to nurture a pipeline that
connects us to a diverse workforce. All of our talent advisors receive training to become Certified Diversity Recruiters and this past year, several participated in the Association
of Talent Acquisition Professionals Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI Excellence Program. The program empowers talent advisors to further their capabilities and bring
DEI talent acquisition best practices into their respective organizations.

In 2022, we released our 2021 Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Annual Report, which may be reviewed for more detailed information regarding our Human Capital programs and
initiatives. Interested parties can find our 2021 Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Annual Report within the Investors section of our website, the URL of which is
https://www.centene com/who-we-are/corporate-facts-reports.html. Please note: Nothing on our website, including our Diversity, Equitv and Inclusion Report or sections
thereof, shall be deemed incorporated by reference inte this Annual Report.

Workforce Well-Being and Support

Centene keeps the health and well-being of our employecs as one of the main driving factors of business decisions. We provide our employees and their families with access to
a varicty of health and wellness programs, including benefits that provide protection and security when events arisc that may require time away from work or that impaet our
employees' financial well-being; that support their physical and mental health; and that offer choice where possible so they can customize their benefits te meet their needs and
the needs of their familics.

For nearly two years, our workforce has demonstrated resilience, courage, and leadership as we've navigated the pandemic and provided uninterrupted service to our members,
with more than 90% of our workforce working from home. In 2021, based on feedback from our employees, we enhanced our benefits to provide employees with permanent
remote working options and enhanced hybrid working arrangements. We also continued to offer the enhanced employee benefits implemented in 2020, such as: our Medical
Reserve Leave policy; providing clinical staff paid leave and benefits for up to threc months of volunicer service; additional paid leave for employees caring for a family or
houschold member affected by COVID-19; covering screening, testing, treatment, and vaccination for COVID-19; and employees were offered up to a 1,000 discount to their
health insutance premiums if they completed healthy behaviors, including receiving a COVID-19 vaccination. Importantly, we continued to support employees with virtual
programming focused on a variety of well-being topics and further developed our employee resource site to provide increased access to well-being resources. As part of our
cmployce resources, we established a highly trained, dedicated COVID-19 concierge team to support employee’s well-being and provide easy access to professionals te respond
to COVID-related questions.

Compensation and Benefits

Our compensation and bencfits programs are market competitive and designed to attract and retain talent. Qur overall compensation philesophy is to pay for performmance by
linking the achievement of both Company and individual goais to total
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compensation. In addition to base pay, these programs (which vary by country/region) include annual bonuses, stock awards, an cmployce stock purchase plan and a 401(k)
plan.

Our benefits cover various aspeets of an employee’s lifc to help them live healthy. These include medical, dental and vision insurance, short- and long-term disability,
supplemental accidental death and dismemberment and fif¢ insurance, weliness program, flexibie spending accounts, parental lcave and caregiver leave,

We also offer bencfits to help employees achieve optimum work-life balance. These include vacation, paid personal and sick time, paid company holidays, paid community
volunteer time, an employee assistance progrant, tuition reimbursement/educational assistance, adoption reimbursement, on-site fitness centers or @ discount at local fitness
centers.

Talent Development

Through our robust talent infrastructure, we continue working to deepen and prepare our diverse talent bench and workforce, which is necessary to support our Value Creation
Plan and business strategy. We believe every employee is a leader and is critical to our success in transforming communities. Our leadership medel sets expectations for what it
means to lead at Centenc and through Centene University, we build skills for how to lead. Centene is committed to developing a workforce who can thrive in the evolving
world of work, enabling our organization to further accelerate growth, inclusivity, and innovation, Through Centenc University, we've designed learning and development at
scale, using new digital tools, real-time virtual leamnings and customized leadership development programs, accessible to all employees, in a modern leaming environment.
Employees can cxplore more than 10,000 resources on a variety of leadership and skill development topics. Additionally, in 2021, we further emphasized critical skills needed
to future-ready our talent through our flagship leadership program, APEX. This multi-day, business-led leadership development program was redesigned into a virtual
environment, ensuring further emphasis and devclopment on key capabilitics (e.g., customer-centricity, innovation at scale, inspirational leadership and emotional and secial
intelligence} niecessary to future-ready the organization.

In addition to building new workforce skills, we utilize our ongojng enterprise talent reviews, succession planning, career devclopment planning and comprehensive workforce
analytics to provide insights to scnior leaders to inform actions and drive intentional talent results through our People Plans, the integrated human capital component of our
annual opcrating plans.

Organizational Culture — Meaningful Connections between Employees and the Communities We Serve

We, our health plans, and our subsidiarics have long been leaders in transforming the heafth of our members and the communities where they five. We believe in focal
partnerships and value the innovative programs and scrvices that they provide for underserved and at-risk populations. We attract a workforce that is purpose-driven and
passionate about transforming communitics and we recognize the importance of veluntcering and supporting the communities in which we serve. We support our workforce by
providing paid time off benefits for employees to participate in individual and werk-related community velunteer programs.

With a largely remote workforce in 2020 and 2021, we took additional steps to ensure 2 highly connected workforce, including monthly forums for people leaders, weckly
communications for all employees, and employec programming to help amplify multiple perspectives and lived expericnces. Our monthly speaker series provides for one-hour
virtual ¢vents featuring a varicty of Centene and community Icaders, offering employees an opportunity to learn ways to build more inclusive behaviors in their daily lives. We
hold a Real Talk series focused on honest dialogue about pressing issues impacting diversity, equity and inclusion at our company and in our communitics. As part of our
conmmitment to honoring rich historics, cultures and heritages in our communities, we host a monthly history and heritage month speaker series.

In our most rccent Shaping Centene Employee Engagement pulse survey, 81% of cmployces reported strong engagement, surpassing the average Fortune 100 benchimark
companics (benchmark data from 2018-2020). Bascd on their responses, we surpassed the 75th percentile of Fortunce 100 benchmark companics in a number of areas, including
but not limited to the Company’s commitment to and people leaders support of diversity, ¢quity and inclusion in the workplace, and having a clear understanding of the
Company's goals and objectives,
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Information about our Executive Officers

The following tabie sets forth information regarding our executive officers, including their ages, at February 18, 2022:

Name Age Pgosition

Michacel F. Neidorff 79 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Andrew L. Asher 53 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Mark J. Brooks 52 Exceutive Vice President and Chief Information Officer
Brandy L. Burkhalter 49  Executive Vice President

Katic N. Casso 40 Scnior Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
Christopher A. Koster 57 Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Brent D. Layton 54 President and Chief Operating Officer

Sarah M. London 41 Vice Chairman, Centene Board of Directots

David P. Thomas 56 Executive Vice President, Markets

Colin A. Toney 36 Executive Vice President, Mergers and Acquisitions

Michael F Neidorff, Mr. Neidorff has served as our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since September 2021, Mr. Neidorff served as Chairman, President and Chief
Exccutive Officer from April 2019 to September 2021. From November 2017 to April 2019, he served as our Chairman and Chicf Exccutive Officer. From May 2004 to
November 2017, he served as Chairman, President and Chicef Executive Officer. He served as President, Chief Executive Officer and as a member of our Board of Directors
from May 1996 to May 2004. In July 2021, Mr. Neidorff informally commumnicated to the board that he may decide for personal reasons to step down before the end of his
contract, after which the board and Mr. Neidorft cstablished a succession planning initiative to ensure a full continuity plan. This succession planning process was discussed in
the Company’s Preliminary Prospectus Supplement, filed July 29, 2021. Subsequently, in December 2021, Mr. Neidorff comrunicated his intent to retire as Chief Executive
Officer in 2022. Mr, Neidortf will serve as Executive Chairman throughout the remainder of 2022, upon his retirement as Chief Exccutive Officer.

Andrew L. Asher. Mr. Asher has served as our Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer since May 2021. From January 2820 to May 2021, he served as Executive
Vice President, Specialty. Prior to joining Centene, he served as the Chief Financial Officer of WellCare from November 2014 to January 2020.

Mark J. Brooks. Mr. Brooks has served as our Executive Vice President and Chicf Information Officer since November 2017. From April 2016 to November 2017, he served as
Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer. Prior to joining Centene, he served as the Chief Information Officer at Health Net from 2012 to 2016.

Brandy L. Burkhalter. Ms. Burkhalter has served as our Exccutive Vice President since June 2018. From December 2015 to Junc 2018, she scrved as Executive Vice President,
Internal Audit & Risk Management,

Katie N. Casso. Ms, Casso has served as our Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer since April 2021. From January 2016 to March 2021,
she served as Vice President, Assistant Controller.

Christopher A. Koster. Mr. Koster has served as Executive Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel since December 2021. From February 2020 to December 2021, he
served as Senior Vice President and General Counsel. From February 2017 to February 2020, he served as Senior Vice President, Corporate Services, Prior to joining Centene,
Mr. Koster served as Missouri Attorney General for cight years.

Brent D Layton. M. Layton has scrved as our President and Chicf Operating Officer since September 2021. He served as President of Centene U.8. Health plans, Products and
International and Executive Vice President from March 2021 to Scptember 2021, From Jannary 2021 to March 2021, he served as Executive Vice President, Markets, Products,
International, and Chief Business Develepment Officcr. From July 2016 10 December 2020, he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Business Development Officer.
From September 2011 to June 2016, he served as Senior Vice President, Business Development.

Sarah M. London. Ms. London has served as our Vice Chairman since September 2021. She served as President, Centene Health Care Enterprises and Executive Vice
President, Advanced Technology from March 2021 to September 2021. From September 2020 to February 2021, she served as Senior Vice President, Technology Innovation
and Modemization. Prior to joining Centene, she served as both Senior Principal and Partner for Optum Ventures from May 2018 to March 2020 and Chief
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Product Officer of Optum from March 2016 to May 2018, From March 2014 to March 2016, she served as Viee President, Client Management and Operations for Humedica.

David P Thamas. Mr. Thomas has served as our Executive Vice President of Markets since October 2019. From January 2019 through October 2019, he served as President
and Chicf Executive Officer of Fidelis Care. Fram May 2018 to December 2018, he served as President of Fidelis Care. He also previously served as Chief Operating Officer
for Fidelis Care from January 2012 through April 2018,

Colin A. Toney. Mr. Toncy has served as our Exccutive Vice President, Mergers and Acquisitions since July 2021, From July 2020 through July 2021, he served as Senior Vice
President, Enterprise Strategy Group. From Junc 2018 through June 2029, he served as Regional Vice President, Mergers and Acquisitions. Prior to joining Centene, he served
as Vice President at Alfen & Company, where be worked for cight years.

Available Information

We are subject to the reporting and information requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act) and, as a result, we file periodic repotts and
other information with the Securitics and Exchange Commission, or SEC. We make these filings available on our website free of charge, thce URL of which is
https://www.centene.com, as soon as reasonably practicable afier we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC maintains a website
(https://www.sec.gov) that contains our annual, quarterly and current reports and other information we file elcctronically with the SEC. Please note: [nformation on our website
does not constitute part of this Annyal Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 1A, Risk Factors.

You should carcfully consider the risks described below before making an investment decision. The trading price of our common stock could decline due fo any of these risks,
in which case you could losc all or part of your investment. You should also refer to the other information in this filing, including our consolidated financial statements and
related notes. The risks and unccrtaintics described below are those that we currently believe may materially affect our Company. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are
unaware of or that we currently deem immaterial also may become important factors that affect our Company. Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms the "Company,”

"we,” "us," "our" or similar terms and "Centene" refer to Centene Corporation, together with its conselidated subsidiaries.

isks Relating to Our Business

Our business could be materially adversely affected by the effects of widespread public health pandemics, such as COVID-1%

Public health pandemics or widespread outbreaks of contagious discascs, such as COVID-19, could materially adversely impact our business. Our business has been affected by
the spread of COVID-19, and the extent to which COVID-19 continues to impact our business will depend on future developments, which are highly unceitain and cannot be
predicted with confidence Factogs that may determing the severity of the impact include the duration and scale of the outbreak, new information which may emerge concering
the severity of COVID-19, {including new strains, which may be merc contagious, more severc or less responsive to treatment or vaccines), the costs of prevention and
treatment of COVID-19 and the potential that we will not receive government reimbursement of additional expenses incurred by our members who contract or require testing
for COVID-19 or who expericnce other health impacts as a result of the pandemic, employee retention, mobility, productivity and utilization of lcave and other benefits,
financial and other impacts on the healthcare provider community, disruptions or delays in the supply chain for testing and treatment supplics, protective equipment and other
products and services, and the actions to contain COVID-19 or address its impact (including laws, regulations and emergency orders, such as stay at home orders, physical
distancing requirements, forced business closures and vaccine requircments or mandates and directives related to the timing and scope of vaccine distributien), among other
factors. In addition, increascd utilization patterns (including deferred demand) have bad, and may continue to have, an impact on our business as members' pattern of seeking
healthcare fluctuates. For e¢xample, risk adjustment could be adversely impacted by COVID-19 related impacts such as disrupted member utilization patterns, access to
members for in-home assessments and regulatory changes such as the retroactive disallowance of Hydroxychloroquine adversely impacting our sccond quarter 202) results.
Additionally, the spread of COVID-19 has previously caused disruption and volatility in the global capital markets, and future disruptions could adversely impact our access to
capital. Similarly, a decline in interest rates has reduced, and could further reduce, our investment income. Finally, the impact of the above items on our government partners
could result in program changes or delays or reduced capitation payments to us, We cannot at this time predict the ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, but it could have
a material adverse effect on our business, including our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Our Medicare programs are subject to a variety of unigue risks that could adversely impact our financial resuits,

If we fail to design and maintain programs that are attractive to Medicare participants; if our Medicarc operations are subject to negative outcomes from program audits,
sanctions, penaltics or other actions; if we do not submit adequatc bids in our existing markets or any expansion markets; if our existing contracts are modified or terminated; or
if we fail to maintain or improve our quality Star ratings, our current Medicare business and our ability to expand our Medicare opcrations could be materially and adversely
affected, negatively impacting our financial performance. For cxample, in October 2021, the CMS published updated Medicare Star quality ratings for the 2022 rating year.
Over 50% of our Medicarc members are in a 4 star or above plan for the 2023 bonus year, compared to approximately 30% for the 2022 bonus year, and 46% for the 2021 bonus
year. The increase in Star quality ratings for the 2022 rating year is primarily due to certain disaster relicf provisions, which we do not cxpect to be applicable in future years.
As a result, we expect to expericnce a meaningful decrease to our $tar ratings for the 2023 Star rating year, which impacts the 2024 bonus year. Our quality bonus and rebates
may be negatively impacted and the attractiveness of our Medicare Advantage plans may be reduced if we are unable to maintain or improve these ratings.
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There are alse specific additional risks under Title XVIIL Part D of the Social Security Act associated with our provision of Medicare Part D prescription drug benefits as part
of our Medicare Advantage plan offerings. These risks include potential uncoilectibility of receivables, inadequacy of pricing assumptions, inability to receive and process
information and increased phanmaceutical costs, as well as the underlying seasonality of this business, and extended settlement periods for claims submissions. Our failure to
comply with Part I} program requirements can result in financial and/or operational sanctions on our Part I products, as well as on our Medicare Advantage products that offer
no prescription drug coverage.

Although we do not anticipate that a single-payer health insurance system or other major healthcare reform provisions will be enacted by the current Congress or state
regulators, certain members of Congress and certain state regulators have proposed legislative initiatives that would establish some form of a single public or quasi-public
agency that organizes healthcare financing, but under which healthcare delivery would remain private. Additionally, the potential impact of the current administration on
heafthcare reform efforts is unknown. We are unable to predict the nature and success of these or other initiatives or pofitical changes, which could have an adverse effect on our
business.

Failure te accurately estimate and price our medical expenses or effectively manage our medical costs or related administrative costs could have a material adverse effect
on aur results of operations, financial position and cask flows.

Our profitability depends to a significant degree on our ability to estimate and effectively manage expenses related to health benefits through. among other things, our ability to
contract favorably with hospitals, physicians and other healthcare providers. For example, our government-sponsered health programs revenue is often based on bids submitted
before the start of the initial contract year. If our actual medical cxpenses excced our estitnates, our health benefits ratio (HBR), or our expenses related to medical services as a
percentage of premium revenues, would increasc and our profits would decline. Because of the narrow margins of our health plan business, relatively small changes in our HBR
can create significant changes in our financial results. Changes in healthcare regulations and practices, the level of utilization of healthcare services, out-of-network utilization
and pricing, hospital and pharmaccutical costs, uncxpected ¢vents, such as disasters, the effects of climate change, major epidemics, pandemics or newly emergent discases
(such as COVID-19), new medical technologies, hew pharmaceutical compounds, increascs in provider fraud and other external factors, including general economic conditions
such as inflation and unemployment levels, arc generally beyond our control and could reduce our ability to accurately predict and cffectively control the costs of providing
health benefits. Also, member behavior could continue to be influenced by the uncertainty surrounding the ACA, including legal challenges to the ACA or potential changes in
premium subsidics.

Our medical expenses include claims reported but not paid, estimates for claims incutred but not reported. and cstimares for the costs necessary to process unpaid claims at the
end of cach peried. Our development of the medical ciaims liabiliry estimate s a continuous process which we monitor and refine on a monthly basis as claims reccipts and
payment information us well as inpatient acuity information becomes available. As more complete information becomes available, we adjust the amount of the estimate, and
include the changes in estimates in medical expenses in the period in which the changes are identificd. Given the uncertainties inherent in such estimates, there can be no
assurance that our medical claims Tiability estimate will be adequate, and any adjustments 1o the estimate may unfavorably impact our results of operations and may be material.

Additionally, when we commence operations in a new state or region or launch a new product, we have limited information with which to cstimate our medical claims liability.
For a period of time after the inception of the new business, we base our estimates on government-provided historical actuarial data and limited actual incurred and received
claims and inpatient acuity information. The addition of new categorics of efigible individuats. as well as evolving Health Insurance Marketplace plans, may pose difficulty in
estimating our medical claims liability.

Froin time to time in the past, our actual results have varied from our estimates, particularly in times of significant changes in the number of our members. If it is determined
that our cstimates are significantly different than actual results, our results of operations and financial position could be adversely affected. In addition, if there is a significant
delay in our receipt of premiums, our business operations, cash flows, or camings could be negatively impacted.

Risk-adjustment payment systems make our revenue and results of operations mere difficult to estimate and could result in retroactive adjustments that have a material
adverse effect on onr results of aperations, financial candition and cash flows.

Most of our government customers employ risk-adjustment models to determine the premium amount they pay for cach mermber. This modcl pays more for members with
predictably higher costs according to the health status of each beneficiary enrolled. Premium payments are generally established at fixed intervals according to the contract terms
and then adjusted on a retroactive basis. We reassess the estimates of the risk adjustment sctflements each reporting period and any resulting
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adjustments are made to premium revenue. In addition, revisions by our govermnment customers to the risk-adjustment models have reduced, and may continue to reduce, owr
premium revenue.

As a result of the variability of certain factors that determine estimates for risk-adjusted premiums, including plan risk scores, the actual amount of retroactive payments could
be materially more or less than our estimates. Consequently, our estimate of our ptans’ risk scores for any period, and any resulting change in our accrual of premium revenues
related thereto, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. The data provided to our government customers to
determing the risk score are subject to audit by them even after the annual scttlements occur. These audits may result in the refund of premiums to the government customer
previously received by us, which could be significant and would reduce our premium revenue in the year that repayment is required. For example, risk adjustment could be
adversely impacted by COVID-19 related impacts such as disrupted member utilization patterns, access to members for in-home assessments and regulatory changes such as
the retroactive disallowance of Hydroxychloroquine adversely impacting our second quarter 2021 results.

Government customers have performed and continue to perform audits of selected plans to validate the provider coding practices under the risk adjustment model used to
calculate the premium paid for each member. In 2018, CMS proposed the removal of the fee for service adjuster from the risk adjustment data validation audit methodology. If
adopted, this proposal, or any similar CM$ rule makiny initiative, could increase our audit error scores. We anticipate that CMS will continue to conduct andits of our Medicare
contracts and contract years on an on-going basis, An audit may result in the refund of premiums to CMS. It is ikely that a payment adjustment could occur as a result of these
audits; and any such adjustment could have a material adverse effect en our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Any failure to adequately price products offered or any reduction in products offered in the Health Insurance Marketplaces may have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

We may be adversely selected by individuals who have higher acuity levels than those individuals who selected us in the past and healthy individuals may decide to opt out of
the pool altogether. In addition, the risk adjustment provisions of the ACA established to apportion risk amongst insurers may not be ¢ffective in appropriately mitigating the
financial risks related to the Health Insurance Marketplace product, are subject to a high degree of estimation and variability, and are affected by our members’ acuity relative to
the membership acuity of other insurers. Further, changes in the competitive marketplace over time, changes to member eligibility in the program design or changes in the
financial incentives of individuals to participate in such products may exacerbate the uncertainty in these relatively new markets. For example, competitors seeking to gain a
foothold in the changing market may introduce pricing that we may not be able to match, which may adversely affect our ability to compete effectively. Competitors may also
choose to exit the market altogether or otherwise suffer financial difficulty, which could adversely impact the pool of potential insured, or require us to increase premium rates.
Any significant variation from our expectations regarding acuity, enrollment levels, adverse selection, cut-of-network costs, or other assumptions utilized in setting adequate
premium rates could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

We derive a portion of our cash flow and gross margin from eur prescription drug plan (PDP) operations, for which we submit annual bids for participatien. The results of
our hids could have a material adverse effect on our results of operafions, financial condition and cash flows.

A significant portion of our PDP membership is obtained from the auto-assignment of beneficiaries in CMS-designated regions where our PDP premium bids are below
benchmarks of other plans’ bids. In general, our premium bids are based on assumptions regarding PDP membership, utilization, drug costs, drug rebates and other factors for
cach region. Our 2022 PDP bids resulted in 34 of the 34 CMS regions in which we were below the benchmarks, compared with our 2021 PDP bids in which we were below the
benchmarks in 33 regions, and within the de minimis range in the remaining region.

If our future Part D prensium bids are not below the CMS benchmarks, we risk losing PDP members who were previously assigned to us and we may not have additional PDP
members auto-assigned to us, which could materially reduce our revenue and profits,

Our encounter data may be inaccurate or incomplete, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and ability to
bid for, and continue to participate in, certain programs.

Our contracts require the submission of camplete and correct encounter data. The accurate and timely reporting of encounter data is increasingly important to the success of our
programs because more states are using encounter data to determine
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compliance with performance standards and 1o set prennum rates. We have expended and may continue to ¢xpend additional effort and incur significant additional costs to
collect or correct inaccurate or incomplete encounter data and have been, and continue to be, exposed to operating sanctions and financial fines and penalties for
noncompliance. In some instances, our government clients have established retroactive requirements for the encounter data we must submit. There alse may be periods of time
in which we are unable to meet existing requirements. In either case, it may be prohibitively expensive or impossible for us to ¢ollect or reconstruct this historical data.

We may experience challenges in obtaining complete and accurate encounter data, due to difficulties with providers and third-party vendors submitting claims in s timely
fashion in the proper format, and with state agencies in coordinating such submissions. As states increase their reliance on encounter data, these difficulties could adversely
affect the premium rates we receive and how membership is assigned to us and subject us to financial penalties, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition, cash flows and our ability to bid for, and continue to participate in, certain programs.

If any of our government contracts are terminated or are not renewed on fuvorable terms or of ofl, or if we receive an adverse finding or review resulting from an audit or
investigation, our husi may be adversely affected,

A substantial portion of our business relates to the provision of managed care programs and selected services 1o individuals receiving benefits under governmental assistance or
entitlement programs, We provide these and other healtheare services under contracts with government entities in the areas in which we operate. Our government confracts are
generally intended to run for a fixed number of years and may be extended for an additional specified number of years if the contracting entity or its agent elects to do so. When
our contracts with government entities expire, they may be opened for bidding by competing healthcare providers, and there is no guarantee that our contracts will be renewed
or extended. Competitors may buy their way into the market by submitting bids with Yower pricing. Even if our respensive bids are successful, the bids may be based upon
assumptions or other factors which could result in the contracts being less profitable than we had anticipated. Further, our government contracts contain certain provisions
regarding eligibility, enrollment and dis-enrollment processes for covered services, eligible providers, perindic financial and informational reporting, quality assurance,
timeliness of claims payment, compliance with contract terms and law, and agreement to maintain a Medicare plan in the state and financial standards, among other things, and
are subject ta cancellation if we fail to perform in accordance with the standards set by regulatory agencies.

We are also subject to various reviews. audits and investigations to verify our compliance with the terms of our contracts with various governmental agencies, as well as
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Any adverse review, audit or investigation could result in, among other things: cancellation of our contracts; refunding of
amounts we have been paid pursnant to our contracts; imposition of fines, penalties and other sanctions on us; less of our right to participate in various programs; increased
difficulty in selling our products and services; loss of one or more of our licenses: lowered quality Star ratings, harm to our reputation; or required changes to the way we do
business. For example, March 2021, the State of Ohio filed a civil action against us. The complaint alleged breaches of coniract with the Ohio Department of Medicaid relating
to the provision of pharmacy benefits management (PBM) services and violations of Ohio law relating to such contracts including among other things, by (1) seeking payment
for services aiready reimbursed, (ii) not accurately disclosing to the Ohio Department of Medicaid the true cost of the PBM services and (iii) inflating dispensing fees for
prescription drugs. We have reached no-fault agreemsents with the Attorneys General of nine states, including Ohio, to resolve claims made by the states related to services
provided by Envolve, our pharmacy benefits manager subsidiary. As a result of the settlement, the Ghio Attorney General's litigation against us was dismissed. Additionally, we
are in discussions to bring final resolution to these concerns in other affected states, Consistent with these discussions, we recorded a reserve estimate of $1,250 million in the
second quarter of 2021 related to the issue, inchisive of the above settlements and rebates that we determined in the course of the matter are payable across our products.
Nerwithstanding such semlement and other ongoing discussions, additional claims, reviews or investigations relating te our PBM business may still be brought by other states,
the federal government or shaveholder Jitigants, and there is no guarantee we will have the ability to settle such claims with other states within the reserve estimate we have
recorded and on other acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, under government procurement regulations and practices, a negative determination resulting from a government
audit of our business practices could result in a contractor being fined. debarred and/or suspended from being able to bid on, or be awarded, new government contracts for a
peried of time,

If any of our government contracts are terminated, not renewed, renewed on less favorable terms, or not renewed on a timely basis, or if we receive an adverse finding or review
resulting from an audit or investigation, our business and reputation may be adversely impacted, our goodwill could be impaired and ovr financial position, results of operations
or cash flows may be materially affected.



Table of Contents

We contract with independent third-party vendors and service providers who provide services to us and our subsidiaries or to whom we delegaie selected functions. Violations
of, or noncormpliance with, laws and regulations governing our business by such third partics, or governing our dealings with such parties, could, among other things, subject us
to additional audits, reviews and investigations and other adverse effects.

Ineffectiveness of state-operated systems and subcontractors could adversely affect aur business.

A number of our health plans rely on other statc-operated systems or subcontractors to qualify, solicit, educate and assign eligible members into managed care plans. The
effectiveness of these state operations and subgontractors can have a material effect on a health plan's enrollment in a particular month or over an extended period. When a state
implements either new programs to determine cligibility or new processes fo assign or enroll cligibic members into health plans, or when it chooscs new subcontractors, there is
an increased potential for an unanticipated impact on the overall number of members assigned to managed care plans.

Execution of our value creation strategy may create disruptions in our business.

Our value creation strategy has included, and may continue to include the acquisition and cxpansion of health plans participating in government sponsored healthcare programs
and specialty services businesses, contract rights and related assets of other health plans both in our existing service areas and in new markets and start-up operations in new
markets or new products in existing markets. While we may continue to pursuc opportunistic acquisitions to expand into ncw geographics and complementary business lines as
well as to augment exisring operations, our guyuisition strategies may shift as we implement our Value Creation Plan. Although we review the records of companies or
businesses we plan to acquire, it is possible that we could assume unanticipated liabilitics or adverse operating conditions, or an acquisition may not perform as well as expected
or may not achicve timely profitability. We also face the risk that we will not be able to effectively imtegrate acquisitions into our existing operations effectively without
substantial expense, delay or other operationaf or financial problems, including due to cenditions on regulatory approval of such acquisitions, and we may need to divert more
management resources to integration than we planned.

In connection with start-up operations and system migrations, we may incur significant expenses prior to commencement of eperations and the receipt of revenue. For example,
in order to obtain a certificate of authority in most jurisdictions, we must first cstablish a provider network, have systems in place and demonstrate our ability to administer a
state contract and process claims. We may eXperience delays in operationat start dates, including those related to the impacts of COVID-19. As a result of these factors, start-up
operations may decrease our profitability. The timing of operating our new Fast Coast headquarters in Charlotte, and the expected bencfits of its completion, may also be
negatively impacted as a result of these factors,

Although our Value Creation Plan is designed to enable us to build upon our strong foundation and unlock value and drive margin cxpansion through various initiatives,
including, without limitation, targeted SG&A initiatives; share repurchascs; divestitures; refinancing activities; using data-driven and innovative approaches to enhance
cfficicncy. lower costs, and drive better health outcomes for our members and providers: streamtlining procurement and improving our bid process; and further scaling through
standardization of our operating model and consolidation of our platform, these initiatives are subject to a variety of risks including, without limitation: anticipated bencfits not
being realized ot not at the levels or on the timing anticipated; that implementation will be materially delayed or more difficult than expected; the diversion of management’s
time and attention; and initiatives being more expensive to complete than anticipated, including as a result of unexpected factors or events,

if we are unable to effectively implement or integrate our valuc creation strategy, including as a result of the continued impact of COVID-19, our future growth will suffer and
our results of operations could be harmed.

If competing managed care programs are unwilling to purchase specialty services from us, we may not be able to successfully implement our strategy of diversifying our
business lines.

We have sought and continue 1o seck 1o diversify our business lines into arcas that complement our government sponsored health plan business in order to grow our revenne
stream and diversify our business. In order ta diversify our business, we must succced in selling the services of our specialty subsidiarics not only to our managed care plans,
but to programs operated by third partics. Some of these third-party programs may compete with us in some markets, and they therefore may be unwilling to purchasc specialty
services from us. In any event, the offering of these services will require marketing activities that differ significantly fromy the manner in which we seek to incrcase revenues
from our government sponsored programs. Our incffectiveness in marketing specialty services to third parties may impair our ability to cxccute our business stratcgy.

27



lahle of Contents

If state regulators do not qpprove payments of dividends and distributions by our subsidiories to us, we may not have sufficient funds to implement our business strategy.

We principally operate through our health plan subsidiaries. As part of normal operations, we may make requests for dividends and distributions from our subsidiaries to fund
our operations. In addition to state corporate law limitations, these subsidiaries arc subject to more stringent state insurance and HMO laws and regulations that limit the amount
of dividends and distributions that can be paid to us without prior approval of, or notification to, state regulators. If these regulators were to deny or delay our subsidiarics'
requests to pay dividends, the funds available to us would be limited, which could harm our ability to implement our business strategy.

We derive a sighificant portion of vur premium revenues from operations in a limited number of states, and our resilts of aperations, financiaf position or cash flows conld
be materiaily affected by a decrease in premium revenues or profitabiiity in any one of those states,

Operations in a limited number of states have accounted for a significant portion of our premium revenues to date. If we were unable to contintie to operate it any of thosc states
or if our current operations in any portion of one of those states were significantly curtailed, our revennes could decrease materially. Our reliance on operations in 2 limited
namber of states could cause our revenues and profitability 10 change suddenly and wnexpectedly depending on legislative or other gevernmental or regulatory actions and
decisions, cconomic conditiong and similar factors in those states. For cxample, states we currently serve may open the bidding for their Medicaid program to other health
msurers through a request for proposal process. Our inability 1o continue te operate in any of the states in which we operate could harm our business.

Competition may limit our ability to increase penetration of the markets that we serve,

We compete for members principally on the basis of size and quality of provider networks, benefits provided and quality of service. We compete with numerous types of
competitors, including other health plans and traditional state Medicaid programs that reimburse providers as care is provided, as well as technology companics, new joint
ventures, financial services firms, consulting firms and other non-traditional competitors. In addition, the administration of the ACA has the potential to shift the competitive
landscape in our segment.

Seme of the health plans with which we compete bave greater financial and other resources and offer a broader scope of products than we do. In addition, significant merger
and acquisition activity has occurred in the managed carc industry, as well as complementary industries, such as the hospital, physician, pharmaccutical, medical device and
health information systems businesses. To the extent that competition intensifies in any market that we serve, as a result of industry consolidation or otherwisc, our ability to
retain or increase members and providers, or maintain or increase our revenuc growth, pricing flexibility and control over medical cost trends may be adversely affected.

If we are unable 1o maintain velationships with our provider networks, our profitability may be harmed.

Qur profitability depends, in large part, upon our ability to contract at competitive prices with hospitals, physicians and other healtheare providers, Our provider arrangenients
with our primary care physicians, specialists and hospitals generally may be canceled by either party without cause upon 96 to 120 days prior written notice. We cannot provide
any assurance that we will be able to continue to renew our existing contracts or enter into new cotitracts on a tinely basis or under favorable terms cnabling us to scrvice our
members profitably. Healthcare providers with whom we contract may not properly manage the costs of, and access to services, be able to provide effective telchealth services,
maintain financial solvency, including due to the impact of COVID-19, or avoid disputes with other providers, Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on the
provision of services to our members and our operations,

In any particular market, physicians and other healtheare providers could refuse to ¢ontract, demand higher payments, or take other actions that could result in higher medical
costs or difficulty in mecting regulatory or accreditation requirements, among other things. In some markets, certain hcalthcare providers, particularly hospitals,
physician/hospital organizations or multi-specialty physician groups, may have significant market positions or ncar monopelfies that could result in diminished bargaining power
on our part. In addition, accountable care organizations, practice management companics, which aggregate physician practices for administrative cfficiency and marketing
leverage, and other organizational structures that physicians, hospitals and other heatthcare providers choose may change the way in which thesc providers interact with us and
may change the compentive landscape. Such organizations or groups of healtheare providers may compete directly with us, which conld adversely affect our operations, and
our results of operations, financial position and cash flows by impacting our relationships with these providers or affecting the way that we price our products and estimate our
costs, which might require us to incur costs to change our operations. Provider networks may consolidate, resulting in a reduction in the competitive cnvironment. In
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addition, if thesc providers refuse to contract with us, use their market position to negotiate contracts unfaverable to us or place us at a competitive disadvantage, our ability to
market products or to be profitable in those arcas could be malterially and adversely affected.

From time to time, healthcare providers assert or threaten to assert claims seeking to terminate non-cancelable agreements due to alleged actions or inactions by us. If we are
unable to refain our current provider contract ferms or enter into new provider contracts timely or on favorable terms, our profitability may be harmed. In addition, from time to
time, we may be subject to class action or other lawsuits by healthcare providers with respect to claim payment procedures or similar matters, For example, our wholly owned
subsidiary, Health Net Life Insurance Company (HNL), is and may continue to be subject to such disputes with respect to HNL's payment levels in conncction with the
processing of out-of-network provider reimbursement claims for the provision of certain substance abuse related services. HNL expects to vigorously defend its claims payment
practices. Nevertheless, in the event HNL receives an adverse finding in any related Iegal proceeding or from a regulator, or is otherwise required to reimburse providers for
these claims at rates that are higher than expected or for claims HNL otherwise belicves are unallowable, our finangial condition and results of operations may be materially
adversely affected. In addition, regardless of whether any such lawsuits brought against us are successful or have merit, they will still be time-consuming and costly and could
distract our management's attention. As a result, under such circumstances we may incur significant expenses and may be unable fo operate our business effectively.

If'we are unable to integrate and manage our information systems effectively, our operations could be disrupted.

Qur operations depend significantly on effective information systems. The infermation gathered and processed by our information systuris assists us in, ameng other things,
monitoring utilization and other cost tactors, processing provider claims, and providing data to our regulators. Our healthcare providers also depend upen our information
systems for membership verifications, claims status and other information. Qur information systems and applications require continual maintenance, upgrading and
cnhancement to meet our operational needs and regulatory requircments. We regularly upgrade and expand our information systems' capabilities. If we experience difficulties
with the transition fo or from information systems or do not appropriately integrate, maintain, enhance or expand our information systems, we could suffer, among other things,
operational disruptions, loss of existing members and difficulty in attracting new members, regulatory problems and increases in administrative expenses. In addition, our ability
to integrate and manage our information systems may be impaired as the result of events outside our control, including acts of nature, such as earthquakes or fires, or acts of
terrorists, which may include cyber-attacks by terrorists or other governmental ot non-governmental actors. In addition, we may from time to time obtain significant pertions of
our systems-rclated or other scrvices ot facilities from independent third parties, which may make our operations vulnerable if such third parties fail to perform adequately.

An impairment charge with respect to our recorded goodwill and intangible assets could have a material impact on our results of operations.

We periodically evaluate our goodwill and other intangible assets to determine whether all or a portion of their carrying values may be impaired, in which case a charge to
carnings may be necessary. Changes in busincss strafegy, government regulations or cconomic or market conditions have tesulted and may result in impairments of our
goodwill and other intangible assets at any time in the future. Our judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators are based on, among other things, legal factors,
market conditions, and operational performance. For example, the non-renewal of our health plan contracts with the state in which they operate may be an indicator of
impairment. If an event or events occur that would cause us to revise our estimates and assumptions used in anatyzing the value of our goodwill and other intangible assets, such
revision could result in a non-cash impairment charge that could have a material impact on our results of operations in the period in which the impairment occurs.

A failure in or breach of our operational or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third parties with which we do business, including as a result of cyber-attacks,
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Information sccurity risks have significantly increased in recent years in part because of the proliferation of new technologies, the use of the intemet and tclecommunications
technologies to conduct our operations, and the increased sophistication and activities of organized crime. hackers, terrorists and other external partics, including foreign state
agents. Our operations rely on the secure processing, transmission and storage of confidential, proprietary and other infarmation in our computer systems and networks.

Sccurity breaches may arise from external or intcrnal threats. External breaches include hacking personal information for financial gain, aftempting to cause harm or
interruption to our operations, or intending to obtain competitive information. We experience attempted external hacking or malicious attacks on a regular basis. We maintain a
rigorous system of prevention and
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detection centrols through our security programs; howevet, our prevention and detection controls may not prevent or identify all such attacks on a timely basis, or at all. Internal
breaches may result fiom inappropriate sceurity access to confidential information by rogue employecs, consultants or third party service providers. Any security breach
involving the misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized disclosure or use of confidential member information, financial data, competitively sensitive information, or other
proprictary data, whether by us or a third party, could have a material adverse effect on our business reputation, financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations.

We may be unable to attract, retain or effectively manage the succession of key personnel.

We are highly dependent on our ability to attract and retain qualificd personnel to operate and expand our business. We may be adversely impacted if we are unable to
adequately plan for the succession of our exccutives and senior managemeni. In July 2021, Mr. Neidorff informally communicated to the board that he may decide for personal
reasons to step down before the end of his contract, after which the board and Mr. Neidorff established a succession planning initiative to ensure a full continuity plan. This
succession planning process was discussed in the Company’s Preliminary Prospectus Supplement, filed July 29, 2021. Subsequently, in Deccmber 2021, Mr. Neidorff
communicated bis intent to retire as Chicf Executive Officer in 2022, Mr. Neidorff will serve as Executive Chairman throughout the remainder of 2022, npon his retirement as
Chief Executive Officer. While we have succession plans in place for members of our executive and senior management team, including our Chief Executive Officer in 2022,
these plans do not guarantee that the services of our executive and senior management team will continue to be available to us. Our ability to replace any departed members of
our exceutive and senior management team or other key employees may be difficult and may take an extended period of time because of the limited number of individuals in
the Managed Care and Specialty Services industry with the breadth of skills and expericnce required to operate and successfully expand a busincss such as ours. Competition to
hirc from this limited pool is intense, and we may be unable 1o hire, train, retain or motivate these personnel. If we arc unable to attract, retain and effectively manage the
succession plans for key persennel, exceutives and senier management, our business and financial position, resalts of operations or cash flows could be harmed.

Risks Relating to Regula nd Legal Matters

Reductions in furding, changes to eligibility requirentents for government sponsored healthcare programs in which we participate and any inability on our part to
effectively adapt to changes to these programs could have a material adverse effect on oar resulis of operations, financial position and cask flows.

The majority of our revenues come from government subsidized healthcare programs including Medicaid, Medicare, TRICARE, CHIP, LTSS, ABD, Foster Care and Health
Insurance Marketplace premiums. Under most programs, the base premiumn rate paid for cach program differs, depending on a combination of factors such as defined upper
payment limits, a member's health status, age, gender, county or region and benefit mix. Since Mcdicaid was created in 1965, the federal government and the states have shared
the costs for this program, with the federal share currently averaging approximately 60%. We are therefore exposed to risks associated with federal and state government
contracting or participating in programs involving a government payor, including but not limited to the general ability of the fedetal and/or state governments to terminatc or
modify contracts with themn, in whole or in part, without prior notice, for convenience or for default bascd on performance; potential regulatery or legislative action that may
materially modify amounts owed; our dependence upen Congressional or legislative appropriation and allotment of funds and the impact that delays in government payments
could have on our operating cash flow and liquidity; and other regulatory, legislative or judicial actions that may have an impact on the operations of government subsidized
healthcare programs including ongoing litigation involving the ACA. For example, future levels of funding and premiom rates may be affected by continuing government
cfforts to contain healthcare costs and may further be affected by state and federal budgetary constraints. Governments periodically consider reducing or reallocating the amount
of money they spend for Medicaid, Medicare, TRICARE, CHIP, 1.TSS, ABD and Foster Care. Furthermore, Medicare remains subject to the automatic spending reductions
imposed by the Budget Control Act of 2011 and the American Faxpayer Relief Act of 2012 ("sequestration"). subject to a 2% cap, which was extended by the Bipartisan Budget
Act of 2019 through 2029, The Coronavirus Aid. Relicf. and Economic Security Act of 2020 temiporarily suspended the Medicare scquestration for the period of May [, 2620
through December 31, 2020, whilc also extending the mandatory sequestration policy by an additional one year. through 2030. The Bipanisan-Bicameral Omnibus COVID
Relief Deal passed in December 2020 further extended the suspension of the Medicare sequestration until March 31, 2021, and the Protecting Medicare and American Farmers
from Scquester Cuts Act passed in December 2021 extended the sequester through March 31, 2022 and will adjust the sequester to 1% between April 1, 2022 and June 30,
2022

In addition, reductions in defense spending could have an adverse impact on certain governmient programs in which we currently participate by, among other things, terminating
or materially changing such programs, or by decrcasing or delaying payments made under such programs, Adverse economic conditions may put pressures on state budgets as
tax and other state revenues decrease while the population that is eligible to participate in these programs remains steady or increases, creating more need for funding. We
anticipate this will require government agencies to find funding alternatives, which may result in
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reductions in funding for programs, contraction of covered benefits, and limited or no premium rate increases or premium rate decreases. A reduction (or less than expected
increase), a protracted delay, or a change in allocation methodulogy in government funding for these programs, as well as termination of one or more contracts for the
convenience of the government, may materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows. In addition, if another federal government
shutdown were to occur for a prolenged period of time, federal government payment obligations, including its obligations under Medicaid, Medicare, TRICARE, CHIP, LTSS,
ABD, Foster Care and the Health Insurance Marketplaces. may be delayed. Similarly, if state government shutdowns were to occur, state payment obligations may be delayed.
If the federal or state governments fail to make payments under these programs on a timely basis, our business could suffer, and our financial position, results of operations or
cash flows may be materially affected.

Payments from government payors may be delayed in the future, which, if extended for any significant period of time, could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operatiens, financial position, cash flows or liguidity. In addition, delays in obtaining, or failure to obtain or maintain, governmental approvals, or moratoria imposed by
regulatory autherities, could adversely affect our revenues or membership, increase costs or adversely affect our ability to bring new products to market as forecasted, Other
changes to our government programs could affect our willingness or ability to participate in any of these programs or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

Finally, changes in these programs could change the number of persons enrolled in or eligible for these programs and increase our administrative and healthcare costs under
these programs. For example, we expect Medicaid ¢ligibility redeterminations, which have been suspended during COVID. to begin in 7022, which we expect to 1educe vur
membership, Maintaining current eligibility levels could cause states 1o reduce reinbursement or reduce benefits in order for states to afford to maintain eligibility levels. If any
state in which we operate were to decrease premiums paid 1o us or pay us less than the amount necessary to keep pace with our cost trends, it could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operalions, financial position and cash flows,

Significant changes or judicial chailenges to the ACA could materially and adversely affect our results of aperations, financial position and cash flows.

The enactment of the ACA in March 2010 transformed the U.S. healthcare delivery system through a series of complex initiatives; however, the ACA has faced, and continues
to face, administrative, judicial and legislative challenges to repeal or change certain of its significant provisions. Changes to, or repeal of, portions or the entirety of the ACA,
as welt as judicial interpretations in response to constitutional and other legal challenges, as well as the uncertainty generated by such actual or potential challenges, could
materially and adversely affect our business and financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Among the most significant of the ACA’s provisions was the establishment of the Health Insurance Marketplace for individuals and small employers to purchase health
insurance coverage that included & minimum level of benefits and restrictions on coverage limitations and premium rates, as well as the expansion of Medicaid coverage to all
individuals under age 65 with inconses up to 138% of the federal poverty level beginning January 1, 2014, subject to ¢ach state's election. The Department of Health and Human
Services (the HHS) additionally indicated that it would censider a limited number of premium assistance demonstration proposals from states that want to privatize Medicaid
expansion. Several states in which we operate have obtained Section 1115 waivers to implement the ACA's Medicaid expansion in ways that extend beyond the flexibility
provided by the federal law, with additional states pursuing Section 1115 waivers regarding eligibility criteria, benefits, and cost-sharing, and provider payments across their
Medicaid programs. Litigation challenging Section 1115 waiver activity for both new and previously approved waivers is expected to continue both through administrative
actions and the courts.

There have been significant efforts from the previous administration to repeal or amend certain provisions of the ACA through changes in regulations. Such initiatives included
repeal of the individual mandate effective in 2019, as well as easing the regulatory restrictions placed on short-term health plans and association health plans (AHPs), which
plans often provide fewer benefits than the wraditional ACA insurance benefits.

Additionally, the 1.8, Department of Labor issued a final rule on June 19, 2018 which expanded flexibility regarding the regulation and formation of AHPs provided by small
employer groups and associations. On June 13, 2019, the HHS, the 1.8, Department of Labor and the U.S. Treasury issued a final rule allowing employers of all sizes that do
not offer a group coverage plan to fund a new kind of health reimbursement arrangement (HRA), known as an individval coverage HRA (ICHRA). Beginning January 1, 2020,
employees became able to use employer-funded ICHR As to buy individual-market insurance, including insurance purchased on the public exchanges formed under the ACA.
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ft remains uncertain whether the current administration will propose changes to restrict these insurance plan options that are not required to meet ACA requirements, and what
the impact of such potential changes may be. There have also been efforts by the previous administration to address the ACA's non-deductible tax imposed on health insurers
based on prior ycar net premiums written (the HIF). Congress passed a spending bill in December 2019, which repealed the health insurance tax indefinitely, effective in 2021,

The constitutionality of the ACA itself continues to face judicial challenge. The ultimate content, timing or cffect of any potential futurc legislation or litigatien and the outcome
of other lawsuits cannot be predicted and may be delayed as a resuit of court closures and reduced court dockets as a result of the COVID-19 pandeniic.

In contrast to previous cxecutive and legislative efforts to restrict or limit certain provisions of the ACA, the American Rescue Act, enacted on March 11, 2021, contained
pravisions aimed at leveraging Medicaid and the Health Insurance Marketplace to expand health insurance coverage and affordability to censumers. The American Rescue Act
anthorized an additional $1.9 trillion in fedcral spending to address the COVID-19 public health emergency, and contained several provisions designed to increase coverage of
certain healthcare services, expand eligibility and bencfits, incentivize state Medicaid expansion, and adpust federal financing for state Medicaid programs, the ultimate impact
of which remain uncertain, The American Rescue Act enhanced eligibility for the advance premium tax credit for certain ¢nrollces in the Health Insurance Marketplace
currently expires en December 31, 2022, and if it is not extended, our Health Insurance Marketplace membership may be reduced.

These changes and other potential changes involving the functioning of the Health Insurance Marketplace as a result of additional new legislation, regulation, executive action
or litigation, inclnding those related to extending enrollment perinds, inereasing ebigibility in the program design, changing the eligibility and amount of the advanced premium
tax credit and expanding navigator services, could impact our business and results of operations adversely or in other ways that we do not currently anticipate.

OQur business activities are highly reguiated and new laws or regulations or changes in existing laws or regulations or their enforcement or application could force us to
change how we operate and could harm our business.

Qur busincss is extensively regulated by the states in which we operate and by the federal government. In addition, the managed care industry has received negative publicity
that has led to increased fegislation, regulation. review of industry practices and private litigation in the commercial sector. Such negative publicity may adversely affect our
stock price and damagc our reputation in various markets.

In each of the jurisdictions in which we operate, we arc regulated by the relevant insurance, health and/er human services or governmient departments that oversee the activities
of managed carc organizations providing or arranging to provide services to Mcdicaid, Medicare, Health Insurance Marketplace enrollees or other beneficiaries. For example,
our health plan subsidiaries, as well as our applicable specialty companies, must comply with minimum statatory capital and other financial solvency requirements, such as
deposit and surplus requirements.

The frequent enactment of, changes to, or interpretations of laws and regulations could, among other things: force us to restructure our relationships with providers within our
network: require us to inyplement additional or different programs and systems; restrict revenue and enroliment growth; increase our healtheare and administrative costs; imposc
additional capital and surplus requircments; and increasc or change our liabikity to members in the event of malpractice by our comracted providers. In additien, changes in
political party or administrations at the state or federal level in the United States or internationally may change the attitude towards healthcare programs and result in changes to
the existing legislative or regulatory environment,

Additionally, the taxes and fees paid to federal, state local and international governments may increase duc to several factors, including: enactment of, changes to. or
interpretations of tax laws and regulations, audits by governmental authorities, geographic expansions into higher taxing jurisdictions and the effect of expansions into
international markets.

We are often required to maintain a minimum HBR or share profits in excess of certain levels, which may be retroactive. In certain circumstances, our plans have returned
premiumms back to the states, enrollees or other beneficiaries in the event profits exceed ¢stablished [evels or HBR docs not meet the minimum requirernent, The amount of
premium returned may include transparent pharmacy pricing and rebate initiatives. Other states may require us to meet certain performance and quality metrics in order to
maintain our contract or receive additional or full contractual revenuc.
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The governmental healtheare programs in which we participate are subject 1o the satisfaction of certain regulations and performance standards. Regulators require numerous
steps for continued implementation of the ACA, including the promulgation of a substantial number of potentially more onerous federal regulations. If we fail to effectively
implement or appropriately adjust our operational and strategic initiatives with respect 1o the implementation of healthcare reform, or do not do so as effectively as our
competitors, our results of operations may be materially adversely affected. For example, under the ACA, Congress authorized CMS and the states to implement managed carce
demonstration programs to serve dually eligible beneficiaries to improve the coordination of their care. Participation in these demonstration pregrams is subject to CMS
approval and the satisfaction of conditions to participation, including mceting certain performance requirements. Our inability to improve or maintain adequate quality scores
and Star ratings to meet government performance requirements or to match the performance of our competitors could result in limitations to our participation in or exclusion
from thesc or other government programs. Specifically, several of our Medicaid contracts require us to maintain a Medicare health plan.

In April 2016, CMS issued final rcgulations that revised existing Medicaid managed carc rules by establishing a minimum MLR standard for Medicaid of 85% and
strengthening provisions related to network adequacy and access to care, enrellment and disenrollment protections, beneficiary support information, continued service during
beneficiary appeals, and delivery system and payment reform initiatives, among others. On November 13, 2020, CMS finalized revisions to the Medicaid managed care
regulations, many of which became effective in December 2020. While not a whelesale revision of the 2016 regulations, the November 2020 final rule adopted changes in arcas
including network adequacy, beneficiary protections, quality oversight, and the establishment of capitation rates and payment policies. Although we strive to comply with all
existing regulations and to meet performance standards applicable to our business, failure to meet these requirements could result in financial fines and penaltics. Also, states or
other governmental ¢ntities may not allow us to continue to participate in their government programs, or we may fail to win procurements to participate in such programs, either
of which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and vash flows.,

In addition, as a result of the expansion of our businesses and operations conducted in foreign countrics, we face political, economic, legal, compliance, regulatory, operational
and other risks and exposures that are unique and vary by jurisdiction. These foreign regulatory requirements with respect to, among other items, environmental, tax, licensing,
intellectual property, privacy, data profection, investment, capital, management control, labor relations, and fraud and corruption regulations are different than those faced by
our demestic busincsses. In addition, we are subject to U.S. laws that regulate the conduct and activitics of 1).8.-based businesses operating abroad, such as the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act (FCPA). Any failure to comply with laws and regulations governing our conduct outside the United States or to successfully navigate international regulatory
regimes that apply to us could adverscly affect our ability to market our products and services, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Our businesses providing pharmacy benefits management and specialty pharmacy services face regulatory and other risks and uncertainties which could materially and
adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

We provide PBM and specialty pharmacy services, including through our Envolve Pharmacy Solutions product and Magellan Health. These businesses are subject to federal and
state laws and regulations that, amoeng other requirements, govemn the relationships of the business with pharmaceutical manufacturers, physicians, pharmacies, customers and
consumers. For example, in March 2021, the State of Ohio filed a civil action against us. The complaint alleged breaches of contract with the Ohio Department of Medicaid
relating to the provision of PBM services and violations of Ohio law rclating to such contracts, including among other things, by (i) secking payment for services alrcady
reimbursed, (ii) not accurately disclosing to the Ohio Department of Medicaid the true cost of the PBM services and (iii) inflating dispensing fees for prescription drugs, We
have reached no-fault agreements with the Attoneys General of nine states, including Ghio, to resolve claims made by the states related to services provided by Envolve, our
pharmacy benefits manager subsidiary. As a result of the settlement, the Ohio Attorney General's litigation against us was dismissed, Additionally, we are in discussions to
bring final resolution to these concerns in other affected states. Consistent with thosc discussions, we recorded a reserve estimate of $1,250 million in the second quarter of 2021
related to this issue, inclusive of the above settlements and rebates that we determined in the course of the matter are payable across our products. Notwithstanding such
settlement and other ongoing discussions, additional claims, reviews or investigations rclating to our PBM business may still be brought by other states, the federal government
or sharcholder litigants, and there is no guarantee we will have the ability to scttle such claims with other states within the reserve cstimate we have recorded and on other
acceptable terms, or at all.

We also conduct business as a mail order pharmacy and specialty pharmacy, which subjects these businesses to extensive federal, state and local laws and regulations. In
addition, federal and state legislatures and regulators regularly consider new regulations for the industry that could materially and adversely affect current industry practices,
including the receipt or disclosure of rebates fromn pharmaccutical companies, the development and use of formularics, and the use of average wholesale prices.
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Qur PBM and specialty pharmacy businesses would be materially and adversely affected by an inability to contract on favorable terms with pharaceutical manufacturers and
other suppliers, including with respect to the structuring of rebates and pricing of new specialty and generic drugs. Tn addition, our PBM and specialty pharmacy businesses
could face potential claims in connection with purported errors by our mail erder or speciatty pharmacies, including in connection with the risks inherent in the authorization,
compounding, packaging and distribution of pharmaceuticals and other healthcare products. Disruptions at any of our mail order or specialty pharmacies due 1o an event that is
beyond our control could affect our ability to process and dispense prescriptions in a timely manner and could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial
position and cash flows.

We have been and may from time to time become involved in costly and time-consuming litigation and other regulatory preceedings, which require significant attention
from our management and could adversely affect our business.

From time fo time, we are a defendant in Jawsnits and regulatory actions and are subject 1o investigations relating to our business, including, without limitation, medical
malpractice claims, claims by members alleging failure to pay for or provide healtheare, claims related to non-payment or insufficient payments for out-of-network services,
claims related to network adequacy, claims alleging bad faith, investigations regarding our submission of risk adjuster claims, putative securitics class actions, protests and
appeals related to Medicaid procurement awards, employment-related disputes, including wage and hour claims, submissions to state agencies related to payments or state false
claims acts and claims related to the imposition of new taxes, including but not limited to claims that may have retroactive application. For examplg, in March 2021, the State of
Ohio filed a civil action against us. The complaint alleged breaches of contract with the Ohic Department of Medicaid relating to the provision of PBM services and violations
of Chio law relating to such contracts, including among other things, by (i) seeking payment for services already reimbursed, (i) not accurately disclosing to the Ohio
Department of Medicaid the true cost of the PBM services and {iii) inflating dispensing fees for preseription drugs. We have reached no-fault agreements with the Attorneys
General of nine states, including Ohio, to resolve claims made by the states related to services provided by Envolve, our pharmacy benefits manager subsidiary. As a result of
the settiement, the Ohio Attormey General's litigation against us was dismissed. Additionally, we are in discussions to bring final resoiution to these concerns in other affected
states, Consistent with those discussions, we recorded a reserve estimate of $1,250 million in the second quarter of 2021 related to this issue, inclusive of the above settlements
and rebates that we determined in the course of the matter are payable across our products. Additional claims, reviews or investigations relating to our PBM business may be
brought by other states, the federal government or sharcholder tigants, and there is no guarantee we will have the ability to settfe such claims with other states within the reserve
estimate we have recorded and on other acceptable terms, or at al). In addition, regardless of the cutcome of any litigation or regulatory proceedings, such proceedings are costly
and time consuming and require significant attention from our management, and could therefore have a material adverse effect on our business and financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

If we fail to comply with applicable privacy, security, and duta laws, regulations and standards, including with respect to third-party service providers that urilize sensitive
persoral information on our bekalf, our business, reputation, resuits of operations, financial pasition and cash flows could be materiatly and adversely affected.

As part of our normal operations, we collect, process and retain confidential member information. We are subject to various federal, state and intemational laws, regulations,
rules and contractal requirements regarding the use and disclosure of confidential member informatien, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of
1996 (HIPAA), the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act of 2009, the Gramm-L.each-Bliley Act, and the Eurapean Union's General

Data Protection Regulation, which require us to protect the privacy of medical records and safeguard personal heaith information we maintain and use. Certain of our businesses
are also subject to the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, which is a multifaceted security standard that is designed to protect credit card account data as mandated
by payment card industry entitics. Despite our best attempts to maintain adherence to information privacy and security best practices. as well as compliance with applicable
laws, rules and contractual requirements, our facilitics and systems, and those of our third-party service providers, may be vulnerable to privacy or security breaches, acts of
vandalismn or theft, malware or other forms of cyber-attack, misplaced or lost data including paper or clectronic media, programming and/or human errors or other similar
events. In the past, we have had data breaches resulting in disclosure of confidential or protected health information that have not resulted in any material financial loss or
penalty to date. For example, in 2021, we leamed that Accellion, a third-party data transfer provider with whom we contract, had a system vulnerability that resulted in
urauthorized access to certain sensitive data of our customers, including protected health information, as well as unauthorized aceess to the data of several of Accellion’s other
clients. This incident led to putative class action lawsuits that were filed against us and our subsidiaries, Health Net, LLC, Health Net of California, Inc., Health Net Life
Tnsurance Company, Health Net Conumumity Solutions, Inc, and California Health & Wellness, and Accellion on behalf of the affected customers. We do not believe that this

incident is likely to have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, resuits of operations, financial position and

34



Table of Contents

cash flows. However, there can be no assurance that this incident and other privacy or security breaches will not require us (o expend significant resources to remediate any
damage, interrupt our operations and damage our business or reputation, subject us to state, federal, or micrnational agency review, and result in enforcement actions, material
fines and penalties, litigation or other actions which could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

In addition, HTPAA broadened the scope of fraud, waste and abuse laws applicable to healthcare companics and established enforcement mechanisms to combat fraud, waste
and abuse, including civil and, in some instances, criminal penalties for failure to comply with specific standards relating to the privacy, security and electronic transmission of
protected health information. The HITECH Act cxpanded the scope of these provisions by mandating individual notification in instances of breaches of protected health
information, providing enhanced penaltics for HIPAA violations, and granting enforcement authority to states' Attorneys General in addition to the HHS Office for Civil Rights.
It is possible that Congress may cnact additional legislation in the future to increase the amount or application of penalties and to create a private right of action under HIPAA,
which could entitle patients to scek monetary damages for violations of the privacy rules.

If we faif to comply with the extensive federal and state fraud, waste and abuse laws, our business, reputation, results of operations, financial position and cash flows could
be materially and adversely affected,

We, along with other companics involved in public healthcare programs, have been, and from time to time arc, the subject of federal and state fraud, waste and abuse
investigations. The regulations and contractual requirements applicable to participants in these public sector programs are complex and subject 1o change. Vielations of fraund,
waste and abuse laws applicable to us could 1esult m civil monetary penalties, criminal fines and imprisonment, and/or exclusion from participation in Medicaid, Medicare,
TRICARE, and other federal healthcarc programs and federally funded state health programs. Fraud, waste and abusc prohibitions encompass a wide range of activities,
including kickbacks for referral of members, incorrect and unsubstantiated billing or billing for unnecessary medical scrvices, improper marketing and violations of patient
privacy rights. These fraud, waste and abuse laws include the federal False Claims Act, which prohibits the known filing of a false claim or the known use of false statements to
obtain payment from the federal government, and the federal anti-kickback statute, which prohibits the payment or receipt of remuneration to induce referrals or
recommendations of healthcare items or services. Many states have fraud, waste and abuse laws, including false claim act and anti-kickback statutes that closely resemble the
federal False Claims Act and the federal anti-kickback statute. In addition, the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 encouraged states to cnact state-versions of the federal False
Claims Act that establish liability to the state for false and fraudulent Medicaid ¢laims and that provide for, among other things, claims to be filed by gui tam relators (private
parties acting on the government's behalf). Federal and state governments have made investigating and prosecuting healthcare fraud, waste and abusc a priority. In the event we
fail to comply with the extensive federal and state fraud, waste and abuse laws, our business, reputation. results of operations, financial position and cash flows could be
materially and adversely affected.

Risks Relating to Conditions in the Financial Markets and Ecopomy
Our investment portfolio may suffer losses which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations or liguidity.

We maintain a significant investment portfolio of cash equivalents and short-term and tong-term investments in a variety of securities, which arc subject to general credit,
liquidity, market and interest rate risks and will decline in value if interest rates increase or onc of the issuers' credit ratings is reduced. Furthermore, COVID-19 has impacted,
and may continue to impact, the global economy resulting in significant market volatility and fluctuating interest rates. As a result, we may experience a reduction in value or
loss of our investments, which may have a negative adverse effect on our results of operations, liquidity and financial condition.

Adverse credit market conditions may have a material adverse effect on onr liquidity or our ability to obtain credit on acceptable terms.

In the past, the securities and credit markets have expericnced extreme volatility and disruption, including duc to the effects of COVID-19. The availability of credit, from
virtually all types of lenders, has at times been restricted. In the event we need access to additional capital to pay our operating expenses, fund subsidiary surplus requirements,
make payments on or refinance



Table of Contents

our indebtedness, pay capital expenditures, or fund acquisitions, our ability to obtain such capital may be limited and the cost of any such capital may be significant, particularly
if we are unable to access our existing revolving credit facility.

Our access to additional financing will depend on & variety of factors such as prevailing economic and credit market conditions, the general availability of credit, the overall
availability of credit to our industry, our credit ratings and credit capacity, and perceptions of our financial prospects. Similatly, our access to funds may be impaired if
regulatory authorities or rating agencies take negative actions against us. If one or any combination of these factors were to occur, our internal sources of liquidity may prove to
be insufficient, and in such case, we may not be able to successfully obtain sufficient additional financing on favorable terms, within an acceptabie time, or at ail.

We have substantial indebledness outstanding and may incur additional indebtedness in the future, Such indebtedness could reduce our agility and may adversely affect
our financial condition.

As of December 31, 2021, we had consolidated indebtedness of $18.8 billion. We may fusther increase our indebtedness in the future.
This may have the effect, among other things, of reducing our flexibility to respond to changing business and economic conditions and increasing borrowing costs.

Among other things, our revolving credit facility and term loan facility (collectively, the Company Credit Facility} and the indentures governing our notes require us to comply
with various covenants that impose restrictions on our operations, including our ability to incur additional indebtedness, create liens, pay dividends, make certain invesiments or
other restricted payments, sell or otherwise dispose of substantially all of our assets and engage in other activities. Our Company Credit Facility also reguires us te comply with
a maximum debt-to-EBITDA ratio and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio. These restrictive covenants could limit our ability to pursue our business strafegies, In addition,
any failure by us to comply with these restrictive covenants could result in an event of default under our Company Credit Facility and, in some circumstances. under the
indentures governing our notes, which, in any case, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

Changes in the methad pursaant to which the LIBOR rates are determined and the phasing out af LIBOR may affect the value of the financial obligations to be held or
issued by us that are linked to LIBOR or our results of aperations or financial condition,

As of December 31, 2021, borrowings under our Company Credit Facility bear interest based upon various reference rates. including LIBOR, which is in the process of being
phased ont. The ULK. Financial Conduct Autherity, which regulates LIBOR, has annpunced that it intends to phase out LIBOR. Banks currently reporting information vsed to
set U.S. dollar LIBOR are currently expected to stop doing so during 2023, and in 2021, the U.S, Federal Reserve Board and other regulatory bodies issued guidance
encouraging banks and other financial market participants to cease entering into new contracts that use U.S. dellar ILIBOR as a reference rate as soon as practicable and in any
event no later than December 31, 2021,

While varions bodies. including government agencies, are seeking to identify an alternative rate to replace LIBOR, including the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR),
there is uncertainty regarding which alternative reference rate will replace LIBOR. We miay need to amend certain agreements that use LIBOR as a benchmark, and we cannot
predict what alternative index or other amendments may be negotiated with our counterparties. As a result, our interest expense could increase and our available cash flow for
general corporate requirements may be adversely affected. Additionally, uncertainty as to the nature of the discontinuation or modification of LIBOR, alternative reference rates
or other reforms could have an adverse impact on the market for, or value of, any L.IBOR-iinked securities, loans, and other financial obligations or extensions of credit heid by
or dug te us or on our overall financial condition or results of operations,

Mergers and acquisiions may not be sccretive and may cause dilition to our earnings per share, which may cause the market price of our commen stock to decline.

The market price of our common stock is generally subject to volatility, and there can be no assurances regarding the level or stability of our share price at any time. The market
price of our common stock may decline as a result of acquisitions if, among other things, we are unable to achieve the expected cost and revenue synergies or growth in
camings, the operational cost savings estimates in connection with the integration of acquired businesses with ours are not realized as rapidly or to the extent anticipated, the
transaction costs related to the acquisitions and integrations are greater than expected or if any financing related to the acquisitions is on unfavorable terms. The market price
also may decline if we do not achieve the perceived benefits of the
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acquisitions, including the Magellan Acquisition, as rapidly or to the extent anticipated by financial or industry analysts or if the effect of the acquisitions on our financial
position, resulls of operations or cash flows 15 not consistent with the expectations of financial or industry analysts.

We may be unable to successfully integrate our existing business with acquired businesses and realize the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions.

The success of acquisitions we make, will depend, in part, on our ability to successfully combine the existing busincss of Centene with such acquired businesses and realize the
anticipated benefits, including synergies, cost savings, growth in earnings, innovation and operational efficiencies, from the combinations. If we are unable to achieve these
objectives within the anticipated time frame, or at all, the anticipated benefits may not be realized fully or at all, or may take longer to realize than expected and the value of our
common stock may be harmed.

The integration of acquired businesses, including Magellan Health, with our existing business is a complex, costly and time-consuming process. The integration may result in
material challenges, including, without limitation:

+  the diversion of management's attention from ongoing business concemns and performance shortfalls as a result of the devotion of management's attention to the
integration;

+  managing a larger company;

= maintaining employee morale and retaining key management and other employecs;

= the possibility of faulty assumptions underlying expectations regarding the integration process,

= retaining existing business and operational relationships and attracting new business and operational relationships;

= consolidating corporate and administrative infrastructures and eliminating duplicative operations;

= coordinating geographically separate organizations;

= unanticipated issues in integrating information technology, communications and other systems;

*  unanticipated changes in federal or state laws or regulations, including the ACA and any regulations enacted thereunder;

» unforeseen expenses or delays associated with the acquisition and/or integration;

*  achieving actual cost savings at the anticipated levels; and

»  decreases in premiums paid under government sponsored healthcare programs by any state in which we operate.

Many of these factors will be outside of our control and any on¢ of them could result in delays, increased costs, decreases in the amount of expected revenues and diversion of
management's time and energy, which could materially affect our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Our ability to successfully manage the expanded
business following any given acquisition, including the Magellan Acquisition, will depend, in part, upon management's ability to design and implement strategic initiatives that
address not only the integration of two independent stand-alene companies, but also the increased scale and scope of the combined business with its associated increased costs
and complexity. There can be no assurances that we will be successful in managing our expanded operations as a result of acquisitions or that we will realize the expected
growth in earnings, operating efficiencies, cost savings and other benefits.

Our business and results of operations nay be materially adversely affected if we fail to manage and complete divestitures.

We regularly evaluate our portfolio in order to determine whether an asset or business is still consistent with our business strategy or whether there may be a more advantaged
owner for that asset or business. When we decide to sell assets or a business, we may encounter difficulty finding buyers or alternative exit strategies, which could delay the
achievement of olr business strategy. Further, divestitures may be delayed due to failure to obtain required approvals on a timely basis, if at all, from governmental authorities,
or may become more difficult to execute due to conditions placed upon approval that could, among other things, delay or prevent us from completing a transaction, or otherwise
restrict our ability to realize the expected financial or strategic goals of a transaction. We might have financial exposure in a divested business, such as through minority equity
ownership, financial or performance guarantees, indemnities or other obligations, such that conditions outside of our control might negate the expected benefits of the
disposition. We could also incur higher costs or charges than planned or incur unexpected charges and could experience greater dis-synergies than expected, which could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations.



Table of Contenis

General Risk Factors

Future issuances and sales of additional shares of preferred or common stock could reduce the market price of our shares of common stock.

We may, from time to time, issuc additional sccuritics to raisc capital or in conncetion with acquisitions. We often acquire intcrests in other companics by using a combination
of cash and our cemmon stock or just cur commen stock. Further, shares of preferred stock may be issued from time to time in one or more serics as our Board of Directors
may from time to time determine each such serics to be distinctively designated. The issuance of any such preferred stock could materially adversely affect the rights of holders
of our common stock. Any of these events may dilute your ownership interest in our company and have an adverse impact on the price of our common stock.

Ttem 1B. Unresolved Staff Cominents
Nonc.
item 2. Praperties

We own our corporate office headquarters buildings and land located in St. Louis, Missouri, which is used by cach of our reportable segments, and we are in the process of
completing our East coast headquarters in Charlotte, North Carolina. We gencrally leasc space in the states where our health plans, specialty companies and cfaims processing
facilities operate. We are required by various insurance and regulatory authoritics to have offices in the service arcas where we provide benefits. We belicve our current
fucilities and expansion plans are adequate to meet our operational necds for the foresecable future.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

A description of the legal proceedings to which we and our subsidiarics are a party is contained in Note 18 Contingencies to the consolidated financial statements included in
Part IT of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Ttem 4. Mine Safery Disclosures

Not applicable.



Table of Conterns

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Mattersand Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market for Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded and quoted on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "CNC” since October 16, 2003, The high and low prices, as reported by the
NYSE, are set forth below for the periods indicated.

2022 Stock Price {through

February 18, 2022) 2021 Stock Price 2024 Stock Price
High Low High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 8681 § 7447 § 7026 § 5716 § 68.64 § 43.96
Second Quarter 75.25 59.33 74.70 53.83
Third Quarter 75.59 59.67 68.45 53.60
Fourth Quarter RS a4 60.81 7231 57.56

As of February 18, 2022, there wer¢ 1,078 holders of record of our common stock.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

In February 2021, our Board of Directors approved an increase in the Company's existing share repurchase program for its common stock. With the increase, the Company is
authorized to repurchase up to $1.0 billion of shares of the Company's commen stock, inclusive of the previously approved stock repurchase pregram. No duration has been
placed on the repurchase program. We reserve the right to discontinue the repurchase program at any time,

During the fourth quarter of 2021, we used proceeds from divestiture of U.S. Medical Management (USMM} and cash on hand to repurchase 2.4 million shares of Centene
commeon stock for $200 million through our stock repurchase program. We have $800 million remaining under the program for repurchases as of December 31, 2021.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Fourth Quarter 2021
(shares in thousands)

Fotal Number

of Shares Approximate § Value of

Purchased as Shares that May Yet Be
Tatal Number of Average Price Part of Publicly Purchased Under the Plans or

Shares Paid per Announced Plans Programs
Period Purchased! Share or Programs (in millionsy®

October 1 - October 31, 2021 3 8 64,90 — % 1,000
November 1 — November 30, 2021 2 73.94 —_ 1,000
December 1 — December 31, 2021 3,012 32.42 2,402 800
Total 3,017 $ 79.10 2402 § 800

(1} Sharcs purchased through a publicly announced plan or program and shares relinquished to the Company by cenain emplovees for payment of taxes or option cost upon vesting of restricted stock
units or option cxercisc.

(2) Our Roard of Dircctors adopted a stock repurchase program which allows for repurchases of up to 14,160 thousand sharcs. As of January 2021, a remaining amount of 5,488 thousand shares were
available under the program. In February 2021, the Company's Board of Directors approved an increase in the Company's existing share repurchase program for its common stock. With the increase,
the Company was authorized to repurchase up to $1.0 billion worth of shares of the Company's common stock, inclusive of the previously approved stock repurchase program. A remaining amount of
$800 million is available under the program. No duration has been placed on the repurchase program.
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Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock for the peried from December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2021 with the cumulative total
return of the New York Stock Exchange Composite Index, the Standard & Poor's Supcrcomposite Managed Healthcare Index and the Standard & Poor's 500 over the same
period. Standard & Poor's 500 is included because our common stock is within the index. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on December 31, 2016 in our common
stogk (at the last reported sale price on such day}, the New York Stack Exchange Composite Index, the Standard & Poor's Supercampasite Managed Healtheare Index, and the

Standard & Poor’s 500 and assumes the reinvestment of any dividends.
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It accordance with the rules of the SEC, the information contained in the Stock Performance Graph on this page shall not be deemed to be "soliciting material,” or to be "filed"”
with the SEC or subject to the SEC's Regulation 14A, or to the liabilities of Scction 18 of the Exchange Act, except to the cxtent that Centene specifically requests that the
imformation be freated as soliciting materia{ or specificaily incorporates it by reference into a document filed under the Sceuritics Act, or the Exchange Act.
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ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should he read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes
included elsewhere in this filing. The discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve kinown and unknown risks and uncertainties, including those set forth under
Part I, Item 14."Risk Factors” of this Form 10-K. The following discussion and analvsis does not include certain items related to the year ended December 31, 2019, including
year-to-year comparisons between the year ended December 31, 2020 and the year ended December 31, 2019, For a comparison of owr results of aperations for the fiscal vears
ended December 31, 2020 and Decomber 31, 2018, see Mem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the vear ended December 31, 2020, filed with the SEC on February 22, 2021.

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
General

We are a leading multi-national healthcare enterprise that is committed to helping people live healthier lives. We take 2 local approach - with local brands and local teams - to
provide fully integrated, high-guality, and cost-effective services to government-sponsored and commercial healtheare programs, focusing on under-insured and uninsured
individnals,

Results of operations depend on our ability to manage expenses associated with health benefits (including estimated costs incurred) and selling, general and administrative
(SG&A) costs. We measure pperating performance based upon two key ratios. The health benefits ratio (HBR) represents medical casts as a percentage of premium revenues,
excluding premium tax and health insurer fee (HIF) revenues that are separately billed, and reflects the direct relationship between the premiums received and the medical
scrvices provided. The SG&A expense ratio represents SG&A costs as a percentage of premium and service revenues, excluding premium tax and health insurer fee revenues
that are separately billed.

Prior to 2021, before the Affordable Care Act {ACA) health insuter fee repeal was effected, our insurance subsidiaries were subject to the HIF. We recognized revenue for

reimbursement of the HIF, including the "gross-up" to reflect the non-deductibility of the HIF. Collectively, this revenue was recorded as premium tax and health insurer fee

revenue in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. For certain products, premiuim taxes, state assessments and the HIF were not pass-through payments and were recorded as
premium revenue and premium tax expense or health insurer fee expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Due to the size of the health insurer fee, one of the
primary drivers of the year-over-ycar variances discussed throughout this section is related to the repeal of the HIF in 2021.

Magellan Acquisition

On January 4, 2022, we acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Magellan Health, Inc. (Magellan). Total consideration for the acquisition was approximately 32.6
billion, consisting of $2.5 billion in cash ($95.00 per share) and an estimated $67 million related to the fair value replacement equity awards associated with pre-combination
service. The Magellan acquisition enables us to provide whole-health, integrated healthcare solutions o deliver better health outcomes at lower costs for complex, high-cost
populations.

Acquisitions and Divestitures

In June 2019, we acquired 40% of Circle Health, one of the U.K.’s largest independent operators of hospitals. The initial 40% investment was accounted for as an equity
method investment, In July 2021, we acquired the remaining 60% interest of Circle Health for $7035 million. Beginning in July 2021, we consolidate 100% of Circle Health.

In the fourth quarter of 2020, we acquired PANTHERX and Apixic. PANTHERX is one of the largest and fastest-growing specialty pharmacies in the United States specializing
in orphan drugs and treating rare disgases, PANTHERX and its management team operate independently as part of our Envolve Pharmacy Solutions business unit. Apixio is a
heafthcare analytics company offering artificial intelligence technology solutions. Apixic remains an operationaily independent entity as part of our Health Care Enterpnises
group, bringing value to its clients and the industry, while also realizing the benefits of enhanced scale.

One of the primary drivers of the year-over-year variances discussed throughout this section are retated to the acquisitions of Circle Health and PANTHERx.

In December 2021, we sold a majority stake in U.S. Medical Management, LLC (USMM) and recognized a pre-tax gain of $150 million. We believe this best positions USMM
to expand its reach and impact while helping us to deliver on our Value
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Creation Plan. We used procceds from the divestiture of USMM and cash on hand to repurchase 2.4 million shares of Centene common stock for $200 million.
Value Creation Plan

As introduced in June 2021, the Value Creation Plan is designed to drive margin expansion by leveraging our scale and generating sustainable profitable growth. In order to
execute the Value Creation Plan, we created the Value Creation Office, which includes members of executive leadership. The three major pillars of the Value Creation Plan are:
SG&A expense savings, gross margin expansion and strategic capital management. The first pillar, SG&A expensc savings, includes initiatives targeting improving
productivity, driving efficiencies and reducing costs throughout the organization, including real estate optimization. The second pillar, gross margin expansion, will be achicved
through initiatives including bid discipling, clinical initiatives, quality improvement and pharmacy cost management. The third piltar, strategic capital management, focuses on
value-creating capital deployment activitics such as sharce repurchases, portfolio optimization and debt and investment management.

COVID-19 Trends and Uncertainties

The COVID-19 outbreak has created unique and unprecedented challenges. In 2020, we saw significant decreases in traditional utilization as stay-at-home orders were put in
place, partially offsct by COVID-19 treatment costs. As stay-at-home orders were lifted and vaccinations became available in 2021, utilization has returned in varying degrecs.
As a tesult, onc of the primary drivers of the year-over-year variances discussed tlnoughoui this section is related to COVID-19. In 2021, we launched several initiatives which
encourage our health plan members, as well as all Americans, to receive the COVID-19 vaccine.

The impact of COVID-19 an our business in both the short-term and long-term is uncertain and difficult to predict. The outlook for 2022 depends on future developments,
including but not limited to: the length and severity of the outbreak (including new variants, which may be more contagious, more severe or less responsive to treatment or
vaccines), the effectiveness of containment actions, the timing and effectiveness of vaccinations and achievement of herd immunity, and the timing and rate at which members
return to accessing healtheare. The pandemic and these future developments have impacted and will continue to affect our membership and medical utilization. From March 31,
2020 through December 31, 2021, cur Medicaid membership has increased by 2.5 million members (excluding the new North Carolina membership). In addition, the pandemic
has and continues to have the potential to impact the administration of state and federal healthcare programs, premium rates and risk sharing mechanisms. We continue to have
active dialogues with our state partners to cnsure our rates are actuarially sound.

Medical utilization continues to lack consistency and will be influenced by the intensity of additional waves of the pandemic. We continue to watch external trends closely, as
COVID-19 costs could increase based upon macra trends. New variants and additional waves of the pandemic could create new dynamics and uncertainties around our
cxpectations.

We are confident we have the team, systems, expertise and financial strength to continue to effectively navigate this challenging pandemic landscape.
Regulatery Trends and Uncertainties

The United States government, politicians, and healthcare experts continue to discuss and debate various elements of the United States healthcare model. We remain focused on
the promise of delivering access 1o high quality, affordable healthcare to all of our members and believe we are well positioned to meet the needs of the changing healthcare
landscape. We have more than three decades of experience, spanning scven presidents from both sides of the aisle, in delivering high-quality healtheare services on behalf of
states and the federal government to under-insured and uninsured families. commercial organizations and military familics. This expertise has allowed us to deliver cost
effective services to our government sponsors and our members. While healthcare ¢xperts maintain focus on personalized healthcare technelogy, we continue to make strategic
decisions to accelerate development of new software platforms and analytical capabilitics. We continue to believe we have both the capacity and capability to successfully
navigate industry changes to the benefit of our members, customers and sharcholders.

For additional information regarding regulatory trends and uncertainties, sce Part [, Item | "Business - Regulation” and Item 1A, "Risk Factors.”
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2021 Highlights

Our financial

performance for 2021 is summarized as follows:

Year-end managed care membership of 26.6 million, an increase of 1.1 million members, or 4% over 2020.
Total revenues of $126.0 billion, representing 13% growth year-over-year.

Premium and service revenues of $118.0 billion, representing 14% growth year-over-year.

HBR of 87.8% for 2021, compared to 86.2% for 2020,

SG&A expense ratio of 8.6% for 2021, compared to 9.5% for 2020.

Adjusted SG&A expense ratio of 8.4% for 2021, compared to 8 9% for 2020.

Diluted EPS of $2.28 for 2021, compared to $3.12 for 2020.

Adjusted Diluted EPS of $5.15 for 2021, compared to $5.00 for 2020,

Operating cash flows of $4.2 billion, or 3.1 times net eamings, for 2021,

A reconciliation from GAAP diluted EPS to Adjusted Diluted EPS is highlighted below, and additional detail is provided under the heading ‘Non-GAAP Financial

Presentation”:

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020
GAAF diluted EPS atributabie to Centene § 228 3 312
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 1.00 0.95
Acquisition related expenses 0.24 0.86
Other adjustments ('} 1.63 0.07
Adjusted Diluted EPS b 515 % 5.00

{1}  Other adjustments include the following items:

2021:

(o) legal scttlement expense and related legal fees of $1,264 million, or $1.76 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $6.38;
(b) debt extinguishment costs of $125 million, or $0.16 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $0.05;
(¢} severance costs duc to a restructuring of $54 milfion, or $0.06 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefir of $6.03;

(d) a reduction to the previously reported gain due to the finalization of the working capital adjustment related to the divestiture of certain products of our Iilinois
health plan of $62 million, or $0.08 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $0.02;

/

(e) non-cash gain related to the acquisition of the remaining 60% interest of Circle Health of $309 million, or 30.52 per diluted share, net of income tax expense of
$£0.00;

() non-cash impairment of our equity method investment in RxAdvance of $229 million, or $0.32 per diluted share, nef of an income tax henefit of $0.07; and

(g) gain related to the divestiture of U.8. Medical Management (USMM) of $150 million, or $0.23 per diluted share, net of income tax expense of $0.02.
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2020
(a) debt extinguishment costs of $61 million, or $0.07 per diluted share, net of an income tax benefit of $0.04;
(b) gain related to the divestiture of certain products of our lllinois health plan of $104 millien, or $0.10 per diluted share, net of income tax expense of $0.08; and

(c) non-cash impairment of $72 million, or $0.10¢ per diluted share, net of an incomc tax benefit of $0.02.

The following items contributed to our revenue and membership growth in 2021:

s Apixio. In December 2020, we acquired Apixio Inc., a healthcare analytics company offering artificial intelligence technology solutions. With this transaction, we intend
to continuce to digitize the administration of healthcare and accelerate innovation.

*  Circle Health. In July 2021, we acquired the remaining intercst m our equity method investment in Circle Health, one of the U.K.’s largest independent operators of
hospitals.

« Correctional. In Inly 2021, Centurien commenced a contract with the Indiana Department ot Corrections. In Octeber 2021, Centurion commenced a contract with the
[daho Department of Cormections. In November 2021, Centurion commenced a contract with the Missouri Department of Corrections. In July 2020, Centurion
commenced a two-year contract with the Kansas Department of Administration to provide healthcare services in the Departrnent of Corrections’ facilities. In April 2020,
Centurion began providing medical services, behavioral healthcare, and substance abuse treatment within four prisons and six community corrections centers across the
state of Delaware.

+  Hawait. In July 2021, we began operating under two new statewide contracts in Hawaii to continue administcring covered services to eligible Medicaid and Children's
Health Insurance Program (CHIP) members for medically nccessary medical, behavioral health, and long-term services and support and to continue administering
services through the Community Care Services program in partnership with the Hawaiil Department of Human Scrvices' Med-QUEST Division.

s Health Insurance Marketplace. In January 2021, we expanded our offerings in the Health Insurance Marketplace. We expanded our Marketplace predust, branded
Ambetter, in nearly 400 new countics across 13 existing states. In addition, Ambetter-branded Marketplace products are now offered in two new states, New Mexico and
Michigan. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) extended the Health Insurance Marketplace special enrollment period until August 15, 2021, which
resulted in membership growth.

«  [Iinois. In Juty 2020, Meridian Health Plan of Illinois, Inc. {Meridian) began serving Medicaid members in Cook County, Illinois, as a result of a member transfer
agreement under which Meridian was assigned 100% of NextLevel Health Partners, Inc.’s approximately 54,000 members who access benefits from the Illinois
Department of Healthcare and Family Services' HealthChoice Illinois Program. In February 2020, we began operating in Illinois under the first phase of an expanded
contract for the Medicaid Managed Care Program. The expanded contract includes children who are in need through the Department of Children and Family
Services/Youth Care by Illinois Department of Healthcare and Family Services and Foster Care.

+  North Carolina. In July 2021, WellCare of North Carolina commenced operations under a new statewide contract in North Carolina providing Medicaid managed carc
services. In addition, we also began operating under a new contract to provide Medicaid managed care services in three regions in North Carolina through our provider-
led North Carolina joint venture, Carolina Complete Health.

«  PANTHERx. In December 2020, wc acquired PANTHERX, onc of the largest and fastest-growing specialty pharmacices in the United States specializing in orphan drugs
and treating rare diseases.

+  Spain. In September 2021, our Spanish subsidiary, Ribera Salud, acquired the remaining 65% interest in Marina Salud, §.A., which is public-private partnership in
Denia.

«  TRICARE. In January 2021, we began administering the Buckiey Prime Service Arca Pilot in the Denver, Colorado area, which is a TRICARE pilot program for valuc-
based payment arrangements not currently an option in the fee-for-service T2017 reimbursement model.
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»  WeliCare. On January 23, 2020, we completed the WellCare Acquisition. The WellCare Acquisition brings a high-quality Medicare platform and further extends our
robust Medicaid offerings. The WellCare Acquisition is a key part of our growth as we become one of the nation’s largest sponsors of government health coverage.

= In addition, revenue growth was significantly driven by Medicaid membership increases resulting from the ongoing suspension of eligibility redeterminations as well as
Medicare membership growth.

The growth items listed above were partially offset by the following items:
»  Effective January 2021, we no longer serve non-risk members under our management services program in Maryland.
»  Effective October 2020, we no longer serve members under the correctional contract in Mississippi.

= In October 2020, CMS published Medicare Star quality ratings for the 2021 rating year. Approximately 30% of our Medicare members are in a 4.0 star or above plan for
the 2022 bonus year compared to 46% for the 2021 benus year.

«  TIn September 2020, our Oregon subsidiary, Trillium Community Health Plan, began operating under an expanded contract serving as a coordinated care organization for
six counties in the state: however, an additional competitor was added to Lane County. As a result, our membership decreased.

»  Effective August 2020, we no lenger serve members under the Military & Family Life Counseling Program contract.
= Effective July 2020, we no longer serve members under the state-wide correctional contract in Vermont,

= In January 2020, in connection with the WellCare Acquisition, we completed the divestire of certain products in owr Illinois health plan, including the Medicaid and
Medicare Advantage lines of business.

+  We experienced a decrease in our 2021 Health Insurance Marketplace membership driven primarily by a reduction of members in the state of Florida, resulting from
price competition in three highly populated counties.

< Beginning in the sccond quarter of 2020, we experienced Medicaid state premium rate reductions and risk corridor actions as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
We expect the following items to contribute to pur future results of operations:
= We expect to realize the benefit in 2022 of acquisitions, investments, and business commenced during 2021, as discussed above.

*  In February 2022, our Louisiana subsidiary, Louisiana Healthcare Connections was awarded a Medicaid contract by the Louisiana Department of Health to continue
admiinistering quality, integrated healthcare services to members across the state. The contract is expected to commence in July 2022.

= In January 2022, we acquired all of the issued and owstanding shares of Magellan for a total purchase price of approximately $2.6 billion. The Magellan acquisition
enables us 1o provide whole-health, integrated healthcare selutions to deliver better health outcomes at lower costs for complex, high-cost populatiens.

+  InJanuary 2022, our Nevada subsidiary, SilverSummit Healthplan, Inc., commenced the contract awarded from the Nevada Department of Health and Human Services -
Health Care Financing and Policy 1o conbinue providing managed care services for its Medicaid Managed Care program in both Clark and Washoe Counties.

»  In December 2021, we converted our equity method investruent in RxAdvance, a pharmacy benefit manager, intc a secured note receivable. This conversion was
consistent with our focus on the simplification of our pharmacy operatians.

*  In October 2021, CMS published updated Medicare Star quality ratings for the 2022 rating year. Over 50% of our Medicare members are in a 4.0 star or above plan for
the 2023 bonus year. compared to approximately 30% for the 2022 bonus year. This increase in Star quality ratings is primarily due to certain disaster relief provisions,
which we do not expect to be applicable in futurc years. As a result, we expect to experience a meaningful decrease to our Star ratings for the 2023 Star rating year,
which impacts the 2024 bonus vear, followed by a subsequent increase to our Star

46



Table of Contents

ratings for the 2024 Star rating year, which impacts the 2025 bonus year,

In October 2021, we announced the expansion of our Medicare Advantage offerings for 2022. Our Medicare plans expect to operate in 1,575 counties across 36 states in
2022, a 26% increasc in counti¢s and three new states compared to 2021,

In August 2021, we announced that our North Carolina subsidiaries, Carolina Complete Health and WeliCare of North Carolina, will coordinate physical and/or other
health services with Lecal Management Entities/Managed Care Organizations under the state's new Tailored Plans. The Tailored Plans, which are expected to launch in
December 2022, are integrated health plans designed for individuals with significant behavioral health needs and intellectual/devetopmental disabilities.

In August 2021, our Ohio subsidiary, Buckeye Health Plan, was awarded a Medicaid contract by the Ohio Department of Medicaid to continue servicing members with
quality healthcare, coordinated services, and benefits. The contract is expected to cormmence in July 2022.

We expect Medicaid eligibility redeterminations to begin in 2022,

The anticipated and previously disclosed carve out of California pharmacy services in January 2022 in connection with the state’s transition of pharmacy services from
managed care to fee for service.

The anticipated carve out of Ohio pharmacy services in July 2022 in connection with the state’s transition of pharmacy services from managed care to a single pharmacy
benefit manager.

Potential Medicaid state rate actions and risk corridor mechanisms as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In addition, in December 2021, we sold a majority stake in USMM, our physician home health business. We believe this best positions USMM to expand its reach and impact
while helping to deliver on our Value Creation Plan.

From De
busingss:

MEMBERSHIP

cember 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021, we increased our managed care membership by 1.1 million, or 4%. The following table sets forth cur membership by line of

December 31,

2021 2020

Traditional Medicaid (" 13,328,400 12,055,400
High Acuity Medicaid @ 1,686,100 1,554,700

Total Medicaid 15,014,500 13,610,100
Commercial 2,602,600 2,633,600
Medicare ¥ 1,252,200 955,400
Medicare PDP 4,070,500 4,469,400
Intemational 597,600 597,700
Correctional 194,500 147,200

Total at-risk membership 23,731,900 22,413,400
TRICARE eligibles 2,874,700 2,877,900
Non-risk membership 4,000 231,600

36610600 35 572900

() Membership includes TANF, Medicaid Expansion, CHIP, Foster Care and Behavioral Health,
@ Membership includes ABD, IDD, LT8S and MMP Duals.
Y Membership includes Medicare Advantage and Medicare Supplement.
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The following table scts forth additional membership statistics, which are included in the membership information above:

Health Insurance Marketplace
Medicaid Expansion

It Membership that is eligible for both Medicaid and Medicare benefits.

December 31,
2021 2020
1,178,000 1,066,800
2,140,500 2,131,600
2,468,100 2,181,400
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis is based on our Consolidated Statements of Operations, which reflect our results of operations for years ended Deccmber 31, 2021, and
2020, respectively, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ($ in millions, except per share data in dollars):

Premium
Service

Premium and service revenues
Premium tax and health insurer fec

Total revenues
Medical costs
Cost of services

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Amortization of acquired intangible assets

Premium tax expense
Health insurer fee expense

Goodwill and intangible impairment

Legal settlement
Earnings from operations
Other income (cxpense):
Investment and othet income
Debt extinguishment costs
Interest expense

Earnings beforc income tax expensc

Income tax expense
Net carnings

Loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net carnings attributable to Centene Corporation

Diluted earnings per common share attributable to Centenie Corporation:

n.m.: not meaningful

2021 2020 % Change 2020-2021
§ 112,319 § 100,055 12 %
5,664 3,745 51 %
117,983 103,800 14 %
7,999 7,315 9 %
125982 111,115 13 %
48,602 86,264 14 %
4,894 3.303 48 %
10,166 9,867 3%
770 719 7 %
8,287 6,332 31 %
— 1476 n.m.
229 72 218 %
1,250 — n.m.
1,784 3,082 42) %
819 480 71 %
(125} ®1) 105 %
(665) (728) (9) %
1,813 2,773 (35) %
477 979 (51 %
1,336 1,794 (26} %
11 14 21) %
$ 1347 § __1.808 (25) %
$ 228 % 3.12 2N %
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Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2020
Total Revenues

The following table sets forth supplemental revenue information for the year ended December 31, ($ in millions):

2021 2020 % Change 2020-2021
Medicaid 3 84,139 § 74,785 13 %
Commercial 16,956 17,071 (1) %
Medicare !} 17,512 14.37% 22 %
Other 7375 4,880 51 %
Total Revenues 3 125982 § 111,115 13 %

I Medicare includes Medicare Advantage, Medicare Supplement and Medicare PDP.

Total 1evenues increased 13% in the year ended December 31, 2021, over the comesponding period in 2020, primarily due to Medicaid membership growth resulting from the
ongoing suspension of eligibility redeterminations, membership growth in the Medicare business, our acquisitions of PANTHERx and Circle Health in 2021 and the
commencement of our contracts in North Carolina, partially offset by the repeal of the health insurer fee. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we received
premium rate adjustments which yielded approximately a net 2.5% composite increase across alf of our markets.

Operating Expenses
Medical Costs

The HBR for the year ended December 31, 2021 was 87.8%, an increase of 160 basis points over the comparable period in 2020. The HBR for 2021 was negatively impacted by
higher traditional medical utilization in the Marketplace business, higher testing and treatment costs associated with COVID-19, and the repeal of the health insurer fee. The
HBR in 2020 was favorably impacted by the ACA risk corridor receivable settlement from the federal government based on the Supreme Court ruling in 2020.

Cost of Services

Cost of services increased by $1.6 billion in the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the corresponding peried in 2020, primarily attributable to the acquisitions of
PANTHERx and Circle Health, which was partially offset by the expiration of the pharmacy contract with our previously divested Illinois health plan.

The cost of service ratio for the year ended December 31, 2021 was 86.4%, compared to 88.2% in 2020. The decrcase in the cost of service ratio was driven by the acquisition of
the Circle Health business, which operates at a lower cost of service ratio.

Selling, General & Administrative Expenses

The SG&A expense ratio was 8.6% for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to 9.5% for the year ended December 31, 2020. The Adjusted SG&A expense ratio was
% 4% for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to 8.9% for the year ended December 31, 2020. The SG&A ratios in 2021 benefited from leveraging of expenses over
higher revenues as a result of increased membership and the acquisition of PANTHERX, partially offset by addition of the Circle Health business, which operates at a
significantly higher SG&A ratio due to the nature of the business. The SG&A expense ratio in 2021 also benefited from lower acquisition related costs. The SG&A expense
ratios in 2020 were negatively impacted by the $275 million charitable contribution to our foundation.

Health Insurer Fee Expense

As a result of the repeal of the health insurer fee, we did not have health insurer fee expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, compared to 31.5 biltion in the
corresponding peried in 2020,
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Impairment

During the third quarter of 2021, we recorded a $229 million non-cash impairment of our equity mecthod investment in RxAdvance, a pharmacy benefit manager. The
impairment was the result of our focus on simplification of our pharmacy operations. Specifically, during the third quarter, we made a strategic decision to transition from using
the RxAdvance platform and consolidate our business on an alternative external platform. During the fourth quarter of 2021, we converted our equity method investment in
RxAdvance into a securcd note receivable, During the first quarter of 2020, we recorded $72 million of non-cash impairment of our third-party carc management software
business,

Legal Settlement

During the sccond quarter of 2021, we recorded a legal scttlement reserve of $1.25 billien (inclusive of the ninc states with which we have reached no-fault agrecments) related
to services provided by Envolve, our pharmacy benefits manager subsidiary, essentially during 2017 and 2018.

Other Income (Expense)

The following table summarizes the components of other income {expense) for the year ended December 31, ($ in millions):

2021 2020
Investment and other income 3 319 % 480
Debt extinguishment costs (125) 61
Interest expense {665) (728)
Other income {expense), het 3 29 3 (309)

Investment and other income. Invesiment and other income increased by $339 million for year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 2020, The increase in investment income
in 202] was due te a gain rclated to the acquisition of the remaining 60% interest of Circle Health of $309 million and a gain related to the divestiture of USMM of $150
millien, partially offset by a $62 million reduction related to the gain due to the finalization of the working capital adjustment related to the divestiture of certain products of our
Illinois health plan recorded for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the previously reported $104 million gain recorded in the year-ended 2020. The increase was
also partially offset by lower interest rates.

Debt extinguishment costs. In August 2021, we redeemed all of our outstanding 5.375% scnior notes duc 2026 and all of WellCare Health Plans, Inc.'s outstanding 5.375%
senior notes duc 2026, including all premiums, accrucd interest and costs and expenses related and recognized a pre-tax loss on extinguishment of approximately $79 million.
The loss inciudes the call premium and the write-off of the unamortized premium and debt issuance costs, and expenses rclated to the redemption.

In February 2021, we tendered or redeemed all of our outstanding $2.2 billion 4,75% Senior Notes, due 2025 and recognized a pre-tax loss on extinguishment of approximately
$46 million. The loss includes the call premium and the write-off of unamortized premium and debt issuance costs,

In October 2020, we redeemed all of the $1.0 billion 4.75% Senior Notes due 2022 (the 2022 Notes) and the $1.2 billion 5.25% Scnior Notes due 2025 (the 2025 Notes). We
recognized a pre-tax loss on extinguishment of 317 million on the redemption of the 2022 Notes and the 2025 Notes in the fourth quarter of 2020, including the call premiums
and write-off of unamortized dcbt issuance costs.

In Febrary 2020, we redeemed all of our outstanding $1.0 billion 6.125% Scnior Notes, duc February 15, 2024 (the 2024 Notes) and recognized a pre-tax loss on
extinguishment of $44 million. The loss includes the call premium, the write-off of unamertized debt issuance costs and the loss on the termination of the $1.0 billion interest
rate sWap associated with the 2024 Notes.

Interest expense. Interest expense decreased by $63 million in the year cnded December 31, 2021, compared to the corresponding period in 2020. The decrease was driven by
our setijor note refinancing actions.
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Income Tax Expense

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded income tax expense of $477 million on pre-tax earnings of $1.8 billion, or an effective tax rate of 26.3%. The effective tax
rate for the year ended December 31, 2021 reflects the repeal of the health insurer fee, the non-taxable gain related to the acquisition of the remaining 60% interest in Circle
Health, the partial non-deductibility of the legal settlement reserve, and the gain on the sale of our majority stake in USMM. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we
recorded income tax expense of $97% million on pre-tax earnings of $2.8 billion, or an effective tax rate of 35.3%, which reflects the tax impact associated with the Illinois
divestiture and the reinstatement of the health insurer fee in 2020, partially offset by a faverable tax settlement.

Segment Results

The following table summarizes our consolidated operating results by segment for the year ended December 31, (3 in millions):

% Change
2021 2020 2020-2021
Total Revenues
Managed Care $ 120,125 % 106,867 12 %
Specialty Services 18,652 14,994 24 %
Eliminations {12,795) (10,746) n.m.
Consolidated Total $ 125,982 % 111,115 13 %
Earnings from Operations
Managed Care 5 1,789 § 3,031 (41) %
Specialty Services (5) 51 (110)%
Consolidated Total $ 1,784 % 3,082 (42} %

n.m.: not meaningful
Moanaged Care

Total revenues increased 12% in the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the corresponding period in 2020, primarily due to Medicaid membership growth resulting

from the ongoing suspension of eligibility redeterminations, membership growth in the Medicare business, our recent acquisition of Circle Health and the commencement of our
contracts in North Carolina, partially offset by the repeal of the health insurer fee. Eamings from operations decreased $1.2 billion between years primarily due to a legal

settlement reserve of $1,25 billion related to services provided by Envolve, higher utilization in the Marketplace business in 2021, the repeal of the health insurer fee in 2021 and
an unfavorable 2020 risk adjustment in 2021. These decreases were partially offset by lower acquisition related expenses and a full twelve months of WellCare results.

Specialty Services

Total revenues increased 24% in the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the corresponding period in 2020, resulting primarily from newly acquired businesses,
including PANTHERYX, increased services associated with membership growth in the Managed Care segment and newly awarded contracts in our correctional business. These
increases were partially offset by the expiration of the pharmacy contract with our previously divested Illineis health ptan. Eamings from operations decreased $56 million
between years. The decline in earnings from operations was negatively affected by the previously discussed impairment of our equity method investment in RxAdvance, 4
pharmacy benefits manager, partially offset by favorable results related to the shared savings programs in our physician home health business. Earnings from eperations in 2020
was negatively affected by the previously discussed $72 million impairment related to our third-party care management software business.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Shown below is a condensed schedule of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, used in the discussion of liquidity and capital resources ($ in millions).

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020
Net cash provided by operating activities 3 4205 % 5,503
Net cash used in investing activities (3,299 (6,955)
! Net cash provided by financing activities 1.362 260
| Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents {11) 18
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash and equivalents 3 2257 % (1,174)

Cash Flows Provided by Operating Activities

Normal operations ate funded primarily through operating cash flows and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. In 2021, operating activities provided cash of 34.2
billion, or 3.1 times net earnings, compared to $5.5 billion in 2020. Cash flow provided by operations in 2021 was due to net earmnings before the legal settlement reserve, the
majority of which is expected to be paid in future periods, an increase in state risk sharing payables, partially offset by risk adjustment and minimum MLR payments for the

Health Tnsurance Marketplace 2020 plan year.

Cash flows provided by operations in 2020 was primarily due to net earnings, an increase in medical claims liabilities from growth and expansions, and an increase in other

long-term liabilities related to minimum MLR payables and a detay in empleyer payroll tax payments related to the COVID-19 extensions to payment deadlines.

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

Investing activitics used cash of $3.3 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021 and $7.0 billion in 2020. Cash flows used in investing activities in 2021 consisted of the net
additions to the investment portfolio of our regulated subsidiaries (including transfers from cash and cash equivalents to long-term investments), capital expenditures, and
acquisition and divestiture activity primanly related to the acquisition of the remaining 60% interest of Circle Health for $705 million, offset by proceeds received related to the

sale of our majority interest in USMM,

} We spent $910 million and $869 million in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, on capital expenditures for system enhancements, market growth, and
corporate headquarters expansions.

and investments include private equity investments and company owned life insurance contracts.

As of December 31, 2021, our investment portfolio consisted primarily of fixed-income securities with a weighted average duration of 3.6 years. We had unregulated cash and
mvestments of $3.4 billion at December 31, 2021, including $538 million in our International subsidiaries, compared to 51.9 billion at December 31, 2020. Unregulated cash

‘ Cash flows used in investing activities in 2020 were driven by our acquisitions of WellCare, PANTHERx and Apixio, partially offsct by divestiture proceeds. Cash flows nsed
' in investing activities in 2020 also consisted of net additions to the investment portfolio of our regulated subsidiaries (including transfers from cash and cash equivalents to

long-term investments) and capital expenditures.

Cash Flows Provided by Financing Activities

million, along with common stock repurchases, including the repurchase of $200 million of commen stock through our stock repurchase program.

Our financing activities provided cash of $1.4 billion in 2021, compared to $260 million in 2020. During 2021, our net financing activities were primarily related to the issuance
of $1.8 billion 2.45% Senior Notes due 2028 (the 202% Notes) to fund a portion of cash consideration for the Magellan Acquisition, which closed in January 2022, and a
$750 million increase to our unsecured term loan facility. This was partially offsct by the repayment and refinancing of senior notes, resulting in a net decrease in debt of $800
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During 2020, our net financing activitics were primarily driven by net proceeds from the issuance and refinancing of senior netes resulting in a net increase in senior debt of
$1.0 billion, offset by commen stock repurchases, including the repurchase of $500 million of common stock through our stock repurchase program.

Ligquidity Metrics

The credit agreement underlying our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan Facility contains customary covenants as well as financial covenants, including a minimum fixed
charge coverage ratio and a maximum debt-to-EBITDA ratio. Our maximum debt-to-EBITDA ratio under the credit agreement may not exceed 4.0 to 1.0. As of December 31,
2021, we had $14% million of borrowings outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility, $2.2 billion of borrowings cutstanding under our Term Loan Facility, and we were in
compliance with all covenants. As of December 31, 2021, there were no limitations on the availability of our Revolving Credit Facility as a result of the debt-to-EBITDA ratio.

In October 2017, we executed a $200 million non-recourse construction loan to fund the expansion of our corporate headquarters. Until the final completion of the project,
which occurred in July 2021, the loan bore interest based on the one month LIBOR plus 2.70%, which reduced to LIBOR plus 2.00% at the time construction completed. The
agreement contains financial and non-financial covenants similar to those contained in our Credit Facility, We guaranteed completion of the construction project associated with
the loan. In April 2021, we finalized the one year extension of the construction loan maturing in April 2022. As of December 31, 2021, we had $184 mllion in borrowings
outstanding under the loan, which is included in the current portion of long-term debt.

We had outstanding letters of credit of $128 million as of December 31, 2021, which were not part of our Revolving Credit Facility. The letters of credit bore weighted interest
of 0.6% as of December 31, 2021. In addition, we had cutstanding surety bonds of $1.3 billion as of December 31, 2021.

The indentures goveming our various maturities of senior notes contain limited restrictive covenants. As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with all covenants.

At December 31, 2021, we had working capital, defined as current assets less current liabilities, of $2.7 billion, compared to $1.8 billion at December 31, 2020, Unregulated
cash was substantially reduced in January 2622 upon the closing of the Magellan Acquisition for the purchase price payment and corresponding closing costs. We manage our
short-term and long-term investments with the goal of ensuring that a sufficient portion is held in investments that are highly liquid and can be sold to fund short-term
requirements as needed.

At December 31, 2021, our debt to capital ratio, defincd as total debt divided by the sum of total debt and total equity, was 41.2%, compared to 39.3% at December 31,
2020. Excluding $184 million of non-recourse debt, our debt to capital ratio was 40.9% as of December 31, 2021, compared to 39.0% at December 31, 2020, We utilize the
debt to capital ratio as a measure, among others, of our leverage and financial flexibility,

We have a stock repurchase program authorizing us to repurchase common stock from time to time en the open market or through privately negotiated transactions. We have
$%00 million remaining under the program for repurchases as of December 31, 2021. No duration has been placed on the repurchase program. We reserve the right to
discontinue the repurchase program at any time. In 2021, we used proceeds from the divestiture of USMM to repurchase 2.4 million shares of Centene common stock for
$200 million through our stock repurchase program. In 2020 we used proceeds from divestitures to repurchase 8.7 million shares of Centene commeon stock for $500 million
through our stock repurchase program.

During the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we received dividends of $2.5 billion and $1.3 billicn, respectively, from our regulated subsidiaries.

2022 Expectations

During 2022, we expect to receive net dividends of approximately $1.1 billion from our regulated subsidiaries and expect to spend approximately $1.1 billion in capital
expenditures primarily associated with system enhanccments and the completion of our offices in Charlotte, North Carolina. In February 2021, our Board of Directors approved
an increase in our existing share repurchase program for our common stock. With the increase, we are authorized to repurchase up to $1.0 billion of shares of our common
stock, inclusive of the previously approved stock repurchase program. We have $800 million remaining under the program for repurchascs as of December 31, 2021, No
duration has been placed on the repurchase program.

On January 4, 2022, we acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Magellan Health. Total consideration for the
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acquisition was approximately $2.6 billion, consisting of 2.5 billion in cash ($95.00 per share) and an estimated $67 million related to the fair value replacement equity awards
associated with pre-combination service. In January 2022, we paid off Magellan's debt of $535 million acquired in the transaction using Magellan's cash on hand.

We have material debt, lease, contingencies and short-term medical claims obligations. Refer to Note 10.D¢bt, Note 1. Leases, Note 18. Contingencies and Note 8. Medical
Claims Liability, respectively, for further information. In addition, we have material commitments as a result of our Fidelis Care acquisition. Refer to Note 17.Commitments for
detail.

Based on our operating plan, we expect that our available cash, cash equivalents and investments, cash from our operations and cash available under our Revolving Credit
Facility will be sufficient to finance our general operations and capital expenditures for at least 12 months from the date of this filing. While we are currently in a strang
liquidity position and believe we have adeguate access to capital. we may elect to increase borrowings on our Revelving Credit Facility. In additien, from time to time we may
¢lect to raise additional funds for these and other purposes, either through issuance of debt or equity, the sale of investment securities or otherwise, as appropriate. In addition,
we may strategically pursue refinancing or redemption opportunities to extend maturities and/or improve terms of our indebtedness if we believe such opportunities are
faverable to us.

We intend to continue to evaluate strategic actions in connection with our Value Creation Plan, targeting initiatives to improve productivity, efficiencies and reduced
organizational costs, as well as capital deployment activities, including share repurchases, portfolio optimization and the evatuation of refinancing opportunities.

REGULATORY CAPITAL AND DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS

Our operations are conducted through our subsidianes. As managed care organizations, most of our subsidiaries are subject to state regulations and other requirements that,
among other things, require the mainienance of minimum levels of statutory capital, as defined by each state, and restrict the timing, payment and amount of dividends and other
distributions that may be paid to us. Generally, the amount of dividend distributions that may be paid by a regulated subsidiary without prior approval by state regulatory
authorities is limited based on the entity’s level of statutory net income and statutory capital and surplus.

As of December 31, 2021, our subsidiaries had aggrepate statutory capital and surplus of $14.0 billion, compared with the required minimum aggregate statutory capital and
surplus requirements of $6.7 billion. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we received $1.5 billion of net dividends from our regulated subsidiaries. For our subsidiaries
that file with the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC). we estimate our Risk Based Capital (RBC') percentage to be in excess of 350% of the Authorized
Control Level.

Under the California Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975, as amended (Knox-Keene), certain of our California subsidiaries must comply with tangible net equity
(TNE) requirements, Under these Knox-Keene TNE requirements, actual net worth less unsecured receivables and intangible assets must be more than the greater of (1) a fixed
mitimum ameount, (i} 2 minimum amount based on premiums or (iii) a minimum amount based on healthcare expenditures, excluding capitated amounts.

Under the New York State Department of Health Codes, Rules and Regulations Title 10, Part 98, our New York subsidiary must comply with contingent reserve requirements.
Under these requirements, net worth based upon admitted asscts must equal or exceed a minimum amount based on annual net premium income.

The NAIC has adopted rules which set minimum risk-based capital requirements for insurance companies, managed care organizations and other entities bearing risk for
healthcare coverage. As of December 31, 2021, each of our health plans was in compliance with the risk-based capital requirements enacted in those states.

As a result of the above requirements and other regulatory requirements, certain of our subsidiaries are subject to restrictions on their ability to make dividend payments, leans
or other transfers of cash to their parent companies. Such restrictions, unless amended or waived or unless regulatory approval is granted, limit the use of any cash generated by
these subsidiaries to pay our obligations. The maximum amount of dividends that can be paid by our insurance company subsidiaries without prior approval of the applicable
state insurance departments is subject to restrictions relating to statutory surplus, statutory income and unassigned surplus. As of December 31, 2021, the amount of capital and
surpius or net worth that was unavailable for the payment of dividends or return of capital to us was $6.7 billion in the aggregate.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
For this information, refer to Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included herein.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our results of operations and liquidity and capital resources are based on our consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP. Our significant accounting policics are more fully described in Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to our consolidated financial
statements included clsewhere herein. Our accounting policics regarding intangible assets, medical claims liability and revenue recognition are particularly important to the
portrayal of our financial position and results of operations and require the application of significant judgment by our management. As a result, they are subject to an inherent
degree of uncertainty. We have reviewed these critical accounting policics and related disclosures with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We have made several acquisitions that have resulted in our recording of intangible assets. These intangible assets primarily consist of purchased contract rights and customer
relationships, provider contracts, trade names, developed technologies, and goodwill. Key assumptions used in the valuation of thesc intangible assets include, but are not
limited to, member attrition rates, contract renewal probabilitics, revenue growth rates, expectations of profitability, and discount and royalty rates. We allocate the fair value of
purchase consideration to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of consideration transferred
over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is generally attributable to the value of the synergics between the combined companies and the
value of the acquired assembled workforee, neither of which qualifies for recognition as an intangible asset. At December 31, 2021, we had $19.8 billion of goodwill and $7.8
billion of other intangible asscts.

Intangible assets arc amortized using the straight-line method over the following periods:

Intangible Asset Amortization Period
Purchased contract rights and customer relationships 3-21 years
Provider contracts 4 - 15 years
Trade names 7 - 20 years
Developed technologies 2 -7 years

Qur management evaluates whether cvents or circumstances have occurred that may affcct the estimated useful life or the recoverability of the remaining balance of goodwill
and other identifiable intangible assets, If the events or circumstances indicate that the remaining balance of the intangible asset or goodwill may be impaired, the potential
impairment will be measured based upon the difference between the carrying amount of the intangible asset or goodwill and the fair value of such asset. Our management must
make assumptions and estimates, such as the discount factor, future utility and other internal and cxternal factors, in determining the estimated fair values. While we believe
these assumptions and estimates are appropriate, other assumptions and estimates could be applied and might produce significantly different results.

Goodwill is reviewed annually during the fourth quarter for impairment. In addition, an impairment analysis of intangible assets would be performed bascd on other factors.
These factors include significant changes in membership, financial performance, state funding, medical contracts and provider networks and contracts.

If a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, an entity will record an impairment charge based on that difference. The impairment charge will be limited to the
amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. We first assess qualitative factors to determine if a quantitative impairment test is necessary. We generally do not calculate
the fair value of a reporting unit unless we determine, based on a qualitative assessment, that it is morc likely than not that its fair valuc is less than its carrying amount.
However, in certain circumstances, such as recent acquisitions, we may ¢lect to perform a quantitative assessment without first assessing qualitative factors.

We do not believe any of our reporting units are currently at risk for impairment. However, as part of our Value Creation Plan, we are completing a portfolio review and may
identify changes in strategic focus, which could result in future impairments of goodwill or intangibles bascd on market indicators at that time.
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Medical Claims Liability

Our medical claims liability includes claims reported but not yet paid, or inventory, estimates for claims incurred but not reported, or IBNR, and estimates for the costs
necessary to process unpaid claims at the end of each period. We estimate our medical claims liability using actuarial methods that are commonly used by health insurance
actuaries and meet Actuarial Standards of Practice. These actuarial methods consider factors such as historical data for payment patterns, cost trends, product mix. seasonality,
utilization of healthcare services and other relevant factors.

Actuarial Standards of Practice generally require that the medical claims liability estimates be adequate to cover obligations under moderately adverse conditions. Moderately
adverse conditions are situations in which the actual claims are expected to be higher than the otherwise estimated value of such claims at the time of estimate. The claims
amounts ultimately settled will most likely be different than the estimate that satisfies the Actuarial Standards of Practice. We include in our IBNR an estimate for medical
claims liability under moderately adverse conditions which represents the risk of adverse deviation of the estimates in our actuarial method of reserving.

We use our judgiment to determine the assumptions to be used in the calculation of the required estimates. The assumptions we consider when estimating IBNR include, without
himitation, ¢laims receipt and payment experience {(and variations in that experience), changes in membership, provider billing practices, healthcare service utilization trends,
cost trends, product mix, seasonality, prior authorization of medical services, benefit changes, known outbreaks of disease or increased incidence of illness such as influenza,
provider contract changes, changes to fee schedules, and the incidence of high dollar or catastrophic claims,

We apply various estimation methods depending on the ¢laim type and the period for which claims are being estimated. For mere recent periods, incurred non-inpatient claims
are estimated based on historical per member per month claims experience adjusted for known factors. Incurred hospital inpatient claims are estimated based on known
inpatient utilization data and prior claims experience adjusted for known factors. For older periods, we utilize an estimated completion factor based on our histerical experience
to develop IBNR estimates. The completion factor is an actuarial estimate of the percentage of claims that have been received or adjudicated as of the end of a reporting period
relative to the estimate of the total ultimate incurred costs for that same period. When we commence operations in a new state or region, we have limited information with which
to estimate our medical claims liability. See "Risk Factors - Failure to accurately estimate and pﬂce our medical expenses or effectively manage our medical costs or related
administrative costs could have a material adverse effect on our results of operati fin | position and cash floaws." These approaches are consistently applied to each
period presented.

Additionally, we contract with independent actuaries to review our estimates on a quarterly basis. The independent actuaries provide us with a review letter that includes the
results of their analysis of our medical claims liability. We do not solely rely on their report to adjust our clams liability. We utilize their calculation of our claims liability only
as additional information, together with management's judgment, to determine the assumptions to be used in the calculation of our liability for claims.

Our development of the medical claims liability estimate is a continuous process which we monitor and refine on a monthly basis as additional claims receipts and payment
information becomes available. As more complete claims information becomes available, we adjust the amount of the estimates, and include the changes in estimates in medical
costs in the period in which the changes are identified. In every reperting period, our operating results include the effects of more completely developed medical claims liability
estimates associated with previously reported periods. We consistently apply our reserving methodology from period to period. As additional information becomes known to us,
we adjust our actuarial models accordingly to establish medical claims liability estimates.
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The paid and received completion factors, claims per member per month and per diem cost trend factors are the most significant factors affecting the IBNR estimate. The
following table illustrates the sensitivity of these factors and the estimated potential impact on our operating results caused by changes in these factors based on December 31,
2021 data:

Completion Factors: (") Cost Trend Factors: )
Increase Increase
{Decrease) (Decrease) in {Decrease) (Decrease) in
Increase Medical Claims Increase Medical Claims
in Factors Liabilities in Factors Liabilities
{in millions) (in millions)
(1.00) % % 718 (1.0 % $ (188)
(0.75) 537 {0.75) (141)
(0.50) 357 {0.50) (94)
{0.25) 178 {0.25) 47)
0.25 (177) 0.25 47
0.50 (354) 0,50 Q4
0.75 (529) 0.75 141
1.00 (701 1.00 188

(1) Reflects estimated potential changes in medical claims liability caused by changes in completion facters.
(2) Reflects estimated potential changes in medical claims liahility caused by changes in cost trend factors for the most recent periods.

While we believe our estimates are appropriate, it is possible future events could require us to make significant adjustments for revisions to these estimates. For example, a 1%
increase or decrease in our estimated medical claims liability would have affected net camings by $105 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, excluding the effect of
any return of premium, risk corridor, or minimum MLR programs. The estimates are based on our historical experience, terms of existing contracts, our observance of trends in
the industry, information provided by our providers and information available from other outside sources.

The change in medical claims liability is summarized as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Balance, January 1, $ 12,438 § 7473 % 6,831
Less: reinsurance recoverable 23 20 27
Balance, January 1, net 12,415 7,453 6,804

Acquisitions — mm
Incurred related to:
Current year 100,385 36N 635
Prior ycars {1,783) (501) (677)
Total incurred 98,602 A [ RS |

Paid related to: .

Current year 87.427 TR

il

]

Prior years 9,370 6,320 5,819
Total paid 96,797 & | [ SaoE |
Balance, December 31, net 14,220 12,415 7453
Plus: reinsurance recoverable 23 23] 20}
Balance, December 31, $ 14,243 8 12438 § 7473

Days in claims payable (1! 52 m

{1} Days in claims payable is a calculation of medical claims liability at the end of the period divided by average expensc per calendar day for the
fourth quartcr of cach year.
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Medical claims are usually paid within a few months of the member receiving service from the physician or other healthcare provider. As a result, the liability generally is
described as having a “shont-tail," which causcs less than 5% of our medical claims liability as of the end of any given year 1o be outstanding the following year. We believe
that substantially all the development of the estimate of miedical claims liability as of December 31, 2021 will be known by the end of 2022,

Changcs in estimates of incurred claims for prior ycars are primarily attributable to reserving under moderately adverse conditions. Additionally, as a result of minimum HBR
and other retum of premiuwm programs, approximatcly $492 million, $86 million and $49 millien of the "Incurred related to: Prior years" was recorded as a reduction to
premium revenues in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Further, claims processing initiatives yielded mcreased claim payment recoveries and coordination of benefits related
to prior year dates of service. Changes in medical utilization and cost trends and the effect of population health management initiatives may aiso contribute to changes in
medical claim liability estimates. While we have evidence that population health management initiatives are effective on a case by case basis, these initiatives primarily focus on
cvents and behaviors prior to the incurrence of the medical event and generation of a ciaim. Accordingly, any change in behavior, leveling of care, or coordination of treatment
occurs prior to claim generation and as a result, the costs prior to the population health management initiative are not known by us. Additionally, certain population health
management initiatives are focused on member and provider education with the intent of influencing bebavior to appropriately align the medical services provided with the
member'’s acuity, In these cases, deterntining whether the population health management initiative changed the behavior cannot be determined. Because of the complexity of
our business, the number of states in which we operate, and the volumc of claims that we process, we are unable to practically quantify the impact of these initiatives on our
changes in estimates of IBNR.

The following arc examples of population health management initiatives that may have contributed to the favorable development through lower medical utilization and cost
trends:

«  Appropriate leveling of care for nconatal intensive care unit hospital admissions, other inpatient hospital admissions, and ebservation admissions, in accordanec with
InterQual or ather evidence based criteria or clinical policy.

*  Managcment of our pre-autherization list, menitoring for over utilized services, and stringent review of durable medical equipment and injectables.

*  Emecrgency department program designed to collaboratively work with hospitals and members to steer non-emergent care to a more appropriate and cost cffective
setting (through patient education, on-site altcrnative urgent care settings, ctc.).

< Inecreased emphasis on care management and clinical reunding where nurse or social worker care managers assist sclected high risk members with the coordination
of healtheare services in erder to meet a patient's specific healthcare necds.

+  Incorporation of discase management which is a comprehensive, multidisciplinary, collaborative approach to chronic illnesses such as asthma.

*  Prenatal and infant health programs utilized such as our Start Smart For Your Baby program.

Revenne Recognition

Our health plans generate revenues primarily from premiums received from the states in which we operate health plans, premiums received from our members and CMS for our
Medicare product, and premiums from members of our commercial health plans. In addition to member premium payments, our Marketplace contracts alse generate revenues
from subsidies rcceived from CMS. We generally receive a fixed premium per member per month pursuant to our contracts and recognize premium revenucs during the period
in which we are obligated to provide services to our members at the amount reasonably cstimable. In some instances, our base premiums are subject to an adjustment, or risk
score, based on the acuity of our membership. Generally, the risk score is detenmined by the State or CMS analyzing subinissions of processed claims data to determine the
acuity of our membership relative to the entire state's membership. We estimate the amount of risk adjustment based upon the processed claims data submitted and expected 10
be submitted to CMS and record revenues on a risk adjusted basis. Some contracts allow for additional premiums refated to certain supplemental services provided such as
maternity deliverics.

Our ¢ontracts with states may require us to maintain a minimum HBR or may require us to share profits in excess of certain levels. In certain circumstances, including
commercial plans, our plans may be required to return premium to the state or policyholders in the event profits exceed establishied levels, We estimate the effect of these
programs and recognize reductions in revenue in the current period. Other states may require us to meet certain performance and quality metrics in order to receive additional or
full contractual revenue. For performance-based contracts, we do net recognize revenue subject to refund until data is sufficient to measure performance.
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Revenues are recorded based on membership and eligibitity data provided by the states or CMS, which is adjusted on 4 monthly basis by the states or CMS for retroactive
additions or deletions to membership data. These eligibility adjustments are estimated monthly and subsequent adjustments are made in the period known. We continuously
review and update those estimates as new information becomes available. It is possible that new information could require us te make additional adjustments, which could be
significant, to these estimates,

Our Medicare Advantage contracts are with CMS. CMS deploys a risk adjustment model which apportions premiums paid 1o all health plans according to health severity and
certain demographic factors. The CMS risk adjustment model pays more for members whose medical history would indicate that they are expected to have higher medical costs.
Under this risk adjustment methodelogy, CMS calculates the risk adjusted premium payment using diagnosis data from hospital inpatient, hospital outpatient, physician
treatment settings as well as prescription drug events. We and the healthcare providers collect, compile and submit the necessary and available diagnosis data ta CMS within
prescribed deadlines. We estimate risk adjustment revenues based upon the diagnosis data submitted and expected to be submitted to {MS and record revenues on a risk
adjusted basis.

For qualifying low income PDP members, CMS pays for some, or all, of the member's monthly premium. We receive certain Part I prospective subsidy payments from CMS
for our PDP members as a fixed monthly per member amount, based on the estimated costs of providing prescription dnig benefits over the plan year, as reflected in our bids.
Approximately nine to ten months subsequent ta the end of the plan year, or later in the case of the coverage gap discuunl subsidy, a setllement payment is made between CMS
and our plans based on the difference between the prospective payments and actual claims experience.

Our specialty services generate revenues under contracts with state and federal programs, healthcare organizations and other commercial organizations, as well as from our own
subsidiaries. Revenues are recognized when the tclated services are provided or as ratably eamed over the covered period of services. For performance-based measures in our
contracts, revenue is recognized as data sufficient to measure performance is available. We recognize revenue related to administrative services under the TRICARE
government-sponsored managed care support contract for the DoD's TRICARE program on a straight-line basis over the option period, when the fees become fixed and
determinable. The TRICARE contract includes various performance-based measures. For each of the measures, an estimate of the amount that has been earned is made at each
interim date, and revenue is recognized accordingly.

Some states enact premium taxes, similar assessments and provider pass-through payments, collectively premium taxes, and these taxes are recorded as a separate component of
both revenues and operating expenses. Additionally, our insurance subsidiaries are subject to the Affordable Care Act annual HIF. The ACA imposed the HIF in 2014, 2015,
2016, 2018 and 2020. The HIF was suspended in 2017 and 2019. Beginning in 2021, the HIF was permanently repealed. If we are able to negotiate reimbursement of portions of
these preminm taxes or the HIF, we recognize revenue associated with the HIF on a straight-line basis when we have binding agreements for such reimbursements, including the
"aross-up™ to reflect the HIFs non-tax deductible nature, Collectively, this revenue is recorded as premium tax and health insurer fee revenue in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. For certain products, premium taxes, state assessments and the HIF are not pass-through payments and are recorded as premium revenue and premium tax expense
or health insurer fee expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Some states require state directed payments that have minimal risk, but are administered as a premium adjustment. These payments are recorded as premium revenue and
medical costs at close to a 100% HBR. We have little visibility to the timing of these payments until they are paid by the state.

59




Table of Contents

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
INVESTMENTS AND DEBT

As of December 31, 2021, we had short-term investments of $1.5 billion and long-term investments of $15.1 billion, including restricted deposits of $1.1 billion. The short-term
investments generally consist of highly liquid securities with maturities between three and 12 months. The Jong-term investments consist of municipal, corporate and .S,
Treasury securities, government sponsored obligations, life insurance contracts, asset backed securities, equity securities and private equity investments and have maturities
greater than one year. Restricted deposits consist of investments required by various state statutes to be deposited or pledged to state agencies. Due to the nature of the states’
requirements, these investments are classified as long-term regardless of the contractual maturity date. Substantially all of our investments are subject to interest rate risk and
will decrease in value if market rates increase. Assuming a hypothetical and immediate 1% increase in market interest rates at December 31, 2021, the fair value of our fixed
income investments would decrease by approximately $3635 million. Declines in interest rates over time, including those that have occurred as markets experienced volatility
related to the COVID-19 pandemic, will reduce our investment income.

We have a foreign currency swap for a notional amount of $705 million with a creditworthy financial instinution to manage foreign cxchange risk related to a Great British
Pound denominated hote receivable from a consolidated international subsidiary. As a result, the fair value of the swap varies with foreign exchange rate fluctuations. Assuming
a 1% increase in the Great British Pound 1o US Dollar foreign exchange rate at December 31, 2021, the fair value of our swap would decrease by approximately $7 million. An
increase in the US Dollar to Great British Pound foreign exchange rate decreases the fair value of the swap and conversely, a decrease in the foreign currency exchange rate
ingreases the value. The offsetting changes in fair value of the foreign currency swap and the remeasurement of the underlying intercompany note receivable were both
recognized in investment and other income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company does net hold or issue any derivative instruments for trading or
speculative purposes.

For a discussion of the interest rate risk that our invesiments are subject to, see "Risk Factors -Our investment portfolio may suffer losses whick could materially and
agversely affect our resulis of operations or liguidiry."
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Ttem 8. Financial Stutements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Centene Corporation:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Centene Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company} as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive eamnings, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021,
and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements}). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013} issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 22, 2022 expressed an unqgualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's intemal control
over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financtal statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial

statements based on our audirts. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consohdated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those nisks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the conselidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overal] presentation of the consolidated financial statements, We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion,

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to
be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2} invalved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communicatien of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which
they relate.

Evaluation of the estimated medical claims liability

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company's medical claims liability includes claims reported but not yet paid, estimates for claims
incurred but not reported, and estimates for the costs necessary to process unpaid claims. As discussed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the balance at
December 31, 2021 was $14,243 million.
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We identificd the cvaluation of the estimated medical claims liability as a critical audit matter. The Company estimates its medical claims liability using actuarial
methods. Specialized skills werc required to evaluatc these actuarial methods, which include analyzing historical claims data in order to estimate the medical claims
liability. The medical ¢laims lability included an estimate for medical claims developing under moderately adverse conditions, which represents the risk of adverse
deviation in the Company's actuarial methods of reserving, which required auditor judgment to evaluate,

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating cffectivencss of certain
internal controls related to the critical audit matter. This included controls over the Company's process to evaluate the estimate of the medical claims liability including
the results of the Company's independent actuarics' analysis. We involved actuarial professionals with specialized skills and knowledge who evaluated the actuarial
methods used by the Company to estimatc the medical claims liability. With the assistance of the actuarial professionals, we challenged the Company’s estimate of the
medical claims liability, including the effcets of modcerately adverse conditions, by devcloping an independent estimate for certain health plans using the Company's
medical claims data, and relative range. We assessed the potential for management bias by evaluating the Company's position and movement within the actuarial
professionals' relative range.

Evaluation of the estimated Affordable Care Act risk adjustment accruals

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Affordable Care Act (ACA) established a permanent risk adjustment program. This program transfers
funds from qualified individual and small group insurance plans with below average risk scores to those insurance plans with abeve average risk scores within each
state. The final scttlement of the December 31, 2021 ACA risk adjustment accruals is scheduled to be determined by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
(CMS) in June 2022, based on data submitted by insurance cotnpanies through April 2022, As discussed in Note 9, the Company recorded an estimated asset and
liability (the ACA risk adjustment accruals} of $522 million, and $536 million, respectively at December 31, 2021,

We identified the cvaluation of the estimated ACA risk adjustment aceruals as a critical audit matter. Specialized skills and a higher degree of auditor judgment were
required to evaluate the Company's estimates, The Company's estimates are based on its analysis of member data, claims data, and projections of claims data expected to
be submitted by the Company, and other insurance plans, to CMS for settlement.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain
internal controls over the Company’s process to develop the estimated ACA risk adjustiment accruals. We involved actuarial professionals with specialized skills and
knowledge who assisted in cvaluating the Company's methodology used in estimating the ACA risk adjustment accruals for consistency with the federally develeped risk
adjustment methodology. Additionally. the actuarial professionals assisted in evaluating the projections of claims data utilized to estimate the ACA risk adjustment

accruals, and assessed the methodologics utilized by the Company for consistency with industry practice. We assessed the Company's process to estimate the ACA risk

adjustment accruals, in ordet to censider the potential for management bias, by performing a retfospective review of the prior period ACA risk adjustment accruals and
assessing the consistency of those estimated balances with the subsequent settlement.

/s/! KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2005,

5t. Louis, Missouri
February 22,2022
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CENTENE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except shares in thousands and per share data in dollars)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Premium and trade receivables
Shon-term investments
Other current assets
Total current assets
Long-term investments
Restricted deposits
Property, software and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other long-term assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Medical claims liability
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Return of premium payable
Uneamned revenue
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liability
Other long-term liabilitics
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencics
Redeemable noncontrolling interests
Stockholders' cquity:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; authorized 10,000 shares; no shares issued or outstanding at December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020

Common stock, $0.001 par valuc; authorized 800,000 shares; 602,704 issued and 582,479 outstanding at December 31,
2021, and 598,249 issued and 581.479 outstanding at December 31, 2020

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive camings

Retained earnings

Treasury stock, at cost (20,225 and 16,770 shares, respectively)

Total Centene stockholders' equity
Noncontrolling interest

Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities, redecimable noncontrolting interests and stockholders’ equity

13043

:

1,068

19,771

3,781

December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
5 13,118 3 10,800
5656
1,539 1,580
28,497 23,393

TS o ]

$ 14243 § 12,438
/18] | P
2,328 1,458

434 523
267 97
25,765 21,585
18,571 16,682
1,407 1,534
5610 2,956
51,353 42,757
82 77
— =
1 ]
19,672
77 137
8,139
(1,094) (816)
26,795 BT
145 112
26,940 BB
$ 78,375 § 68,719

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CENTENE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In millions, except shares in thousands and per share data in dollars)

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Revenues:
Premium s 112,319 % 100,055 % 67,439
Service 5,664 3,745 2,925
Premium and service revenues 117,983 103,500 70,364
Premium tax and health insurer fee 7,999 7,315 4,275
Total revenues 125,982 111,115 74,639
Expenses:
Medical costs 98,602 86,264 58,862
Cost of services 4,894 3,303 2,465
Selling, general and administrative expenses 10,166 9,867 6,533
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 770 71% 258
Premium tax expense 8287 6,332 4,469
Health insurer fee expense — 1,476 _
Impairment Joss 229 72 271
Legal settlement 1,250 — —
Total operating expenses 124,198 108,033 72,858
Earnings from operations 1,784 3,082 1,781
Other income (expense):
Investment and other income 819 480 443
Debt extinguishment costs (125) (61 (30)
Interest expense (665) (728) (412)
Earnings before income tax expense 1,812 2,773 1,782
Income tax expense 477 979 473
Net earnings 1,336 1,794 1,309
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 11 14 12
Net earnings attributable to Centene Corporation 3 1,347 § 1,808 § 1,321
Net earnings per common share attributable to Centene Corporation:
Basic eammings per common share 5 231 % 317 3 3.19
Diluted carnings per common share 3 228 % 312 8 3.14
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic 582,832 570,722 413,487
Diluted 590,516 579,135 420,409

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CENTENE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS
(In millions)
Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 219

Net carnings g 1,336 § 1,794 § 1,309
Reclassification adjustment, net of tax 20 3) 5
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net of tax 221) 191 203
Defined benefit pension plan net gain (loss), net of tax 2 —_ &)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (21 15 {2)
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) (260) 203 190
Comprehensive earnings 1,076 1,997 1,499
Comprehensive loss aitributable to noncontrolling interests il 14 12
3 1087 % 2011 § 1,511

Comprehensive earnings attnbutable to Centene Corporation

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Balance, December 31, 2018
Net earnings (loss}

Other comprehensive earnings, net of §59
tax

Common stock issued for employee benefit
plang

Common stock repurchases

Stock compensation expense

Contribution from noncontrolling interest

Balance, December 31, 2019

Net eamings (loss)
Other comprehensive camings, net of $60
tax

Cominon stock issued for acquisitions

Common stock issued for employee benefit
plang

Cormmion stock repurchases
Stock ¢ompensation expense
Contribution from noncontrelling interest
Balauce, December 31, 2020
Net earings (loss}
Other comprehensive loss, net of ${75) tax

Common stock issued for employee benefit
plans

Common stock repurchases

Stock compensation expense

Contribution from nencontrolling interest

Divestiture of noncontrolling interest

Acquisition resulting in ling
nteyest

Balance, December 31, 2021

CENTENE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In millions, except shares in thousands and per share data in dollars)

Centene Stockholders' Equity

Common Stock

Treasury Stock

Accumulated
$0.001 Par Adgitional Other 50.001 Par Non
Value Paid-in Comprehensive Retained Value controlling
Shares Amt Capital Earnings {Loss) Earnings Shares Amt Interest Total
417,695 § — % 7449 % (56) % 3,663 5217 $  (13%) 9 % 11,013
—_— — — — 1,321 - — [EH) 1312
— — — 190 — — — — 190
3,813 — 21 — — — — — 21
— — — — - 1,243 {75) — (75)
— — 177 — —_ — —_ — 177
— — — — —_ —_ —_ 21 2]
421,508 8 — % 7647 % 134 3 4,984 6460 §  (214) 108§ 12,659
— - . — 1,808 — — 24) 1,784
— e _— 203 — — — —_ 203
171,225 1 11,526 — — — — — 11,527
5923 29 29
(4673 — (24} — — 19,310 (6GZF — (626}
—_ — 281 — — - —_ — 281
—_ — — — — — — 28 28
598,249 5 1 3 19,459 3§ 137 08 6,792 16,770 & (316) 112§ 25885
_ — —_ — 1,347 — _— 21y 1,326
— — — (260) - - — — (260)
4,781 — 3% _ — — — — 38
(326) — a9 — — 3,458 (278) — (297
— _ 203 — — — — — 203
— — — — —_ —_ — 46 46
— — o — - - — 5 (4)
— — — — — — — 3 3
602,704 § 1§ 19672 8§ 775 8,139 20,225 % (1,094) 145 $ 26,540

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Net camings

CENTENE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In millions)

Adjustmenis to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activitics

Depreciation and amortization

Stock compensation expense

Impairment

Loss on debt extinguishment

Gain on acquisition

Deferred income taxes

Gain on divestitures

Other adjustments, net
Changes in assets and liabilities

Premium and trade receivables

Other assets

Medical claims liabilities

Uneamned revenue

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Other long-term liabilities

Other operating activitics, net

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Purchases of investments
Sales and maturities of investments
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Divestiture proceeds, net
Other investing activities, net
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flews from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt
Payments of long-term debt
Common stock repurchases
Payments for debt extinguishment
Debt issuance costs
Other financing activities, net

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Interest paid
Income taxes patd

Equity issued in connection with acquisitions

The following 1able provides a reconeiliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricied cash and cash equivalents reported within the Consolidated Balance Sheets to the totals above:

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents, included in restricted deposits

Total cash, cash cquivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

3 1336 § 1,794 § 1,309
1,476 1,259 643

203 281 177

229 72 271

125 57 30

(309) _— —_

(132) 51 55

(88) (104) —

(an — —
(2,453) (52) {1,076)
{99) (30) (234)

1,802 1,117 578
{109) (528) 4]
1,141 585 (421)

1,093 1,078 185
1 25 (25)

4,205 5,503 1,483
910) (869) (730)
{7,400} {7.402) 2,575

5458 4,921 1,809
{534) (4,049) {36)

68 466 —

19 (22) —
(3,299) (6,955) {1,532)

9,267 5,107 24,721
(7,434) (4,067} {17,803)
(297) (626) 75
(157) {81) (23)
(72) (120) (25)

55 47 37

1,362 260 6,832
(1D 18 (2)

2,257 (1,174) 6,781

10,957 12,131 5,350

$ 13,214 § 10,957 $ 12,131
$ 658 3% 725 8 374
3 678 % 1,191 § 612
$ — 3 11,526 S —

2021 2020 2019

5 13,118 $ 10,800 § 12,123
96 157 8

$ 13,214 § 10,957 § 12,131

The accompanying hotes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CENTENE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Organization and Operations

Centene Corporation, or the Company, is a leading multi-national healthcare enterprisc that is committed to helping people live healthier lives. The Company takes a local
approach - with local brands and local teams - to provide fully imtegrated, high-quality, and cost-cffective services to government-sponsored and commercial healthcare
programs, focusing on under-insured and uninsured individuals. The Company operates in two scgments: Managed Care and Specialty Services. The Managed Care segment
provides health plan coverage to individuals through government subsidized programs, including Medicaid, the State Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), Long-Term
Services and Supports (LTSS), Foster Care, Medicare-Medicaid Plans (MMP), which cover beneficiaries who are dually eligible for Medicaid and Medicare, the Supplemental
Security Income Program, also known as the Aged, Blind or Disabled Program (ABD), Medicare (including Medicare Prescription Drug Plans), and the Health Insurance
Marketplace. The Company also offers a varicty of individual, small group, and large group commercial healthcare products, both to employers and direcily to members in the
Managed Care segment. The Specialty Scrvices segment consists of the Company's specialty companies offering auxiliary healtheare services and products to state programs,
correctional facilitics, healthcare organizations, employer groups and other commercial organizations, as well as to the Company's own subsidiaries. The Specialty Services
segment also includes the government contracts business which includes the Company's government-sponsored managed carc suppoert contract with the U.S, Department of
Defense (DoD) under the TRICARE program and other healthcare related government contracts.

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Centene Corporation and all majority owned subsidiaries and subsidiaries over which the
Company cxercises the power and control to direct activitics significanly impacting financial performance. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated.

Certain ameunts in the consolidated financial statements and notes have been reclassificd to conform to the 2021 presentation. These reclassifications have no effect on net
carnings, cash flow, or stockholders’ cquity as previously reported.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilitics, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Future events and their effects cannot be predicted with certainty; accordingly, the accounting cstimates require
the exercise of judgment. The accounting cstimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements will change as new events occur, as more cxperience is
acquired, as additional information is obtained and as the operating environment changes. The Company cvaluates and updates its assumptions and estimates on an ongoing
basis and may employ outside experts 1o assist in its evaluation, as considered nccessary. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The Company allocates the fair valuc of purchase consideration to the asscts acquired and
liabilitics assumed based on their fair valucs at the acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of consideration transferred over the fair value of the net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is gencrally attributable to the value of the synergies between the combined companics and the value of the acquired assembled workforce,
neither of which qualifies for recognition as an intangible assct.

The Company uscs its best cstimates and assumptions to value asscts acquired and liabilitics assumed at the acquisition date; however, these cstimates are sometimes
preliminary and, in some instances, all information required to valuc the asscts acquired and liabilities assumed may not be available or final as of the end of a reporting period
subsequent to the business combination. If the accounting for the business combination is incomplete, provisienal amounts are recorded. The provisional amounts are updated
during the period determined, wp to one year from the acquisition date. The Company includes the results of aperations of acquired businesses in the Company's consolidated
results prospectively from the date of acquisition.
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Acquisition refated expenses and post-acquisition restructuring costs are recognized separately from the business combination and are expensed as incurred.
Cash and Cash Egquivalents

Investments with original maturities of three months or less are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist of money market funds, bank certificates of deposit
and savings accounts,

The Company maintains amounts on deposit with various financial institutions, which may exceed federally insured limits. However, management periodically evaluates the
credit-worthiness of those institutions, and the Company has not experienced any losses on such deposits.

Investments

Short-term investments incfude securities with maturities greater than three months to one year. Long-term investments include securities with maturities greater than one year,

Short-term and long-term investments are generally classified as available-for-sale and are carrted at fair value. Certain equity investments are recorded using the fair value or
equity method. The Company monitors the difference between the carrying value and fair value of its available-for-sale debt investments and whether declines in fair value are
credit related. Unrealized gains and losses on debt investments available-for-sale are excluded from camings and reported in accumulated other comprehensive eamings (loss), a
separate component of stockholders' equity, net of income tax effects. If a loss is deemed to be credit related, the Company recognizes an allowance through earnings. For each
security in an unrealized loss position, the Company assesses whether it intends to sell the security or if it is more likely than not the Company will be required to sell the
security before recovery of the amortized cost basis for reasons such as liquidity, contractual or regulatory purposes, If the security meets this critenon, the decling in fair value
is recorded in earnings through investment and other income. Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted over the life of the related security using the effective interest
method. To calculate realized gains and losses on the sale of investments, the Company uses the specific amortized cost of each investment sold. Realized gains and losses are
recorded in investment and other income.

The Company uses the equity method to account for investments in entities that it does not control but has the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and
financial policies. Generally, under the equity method, original investments in these entities are recorded at cost and subsequently adjusted by the Company’s share of equity in
income or losses after the date of acquisition as well as capital contributions to and distributions from these companies.

Restricted Deposits

Restricted deposits consist of investments required by various state statutes to be deposited or pledged to state agencies. These investments are classified as long-term,
regardless of the contractual maturity date, due to the nature of the states' requirements. The Company is required to annually adjust the amount of the deposit pledged to certain
states.

Fair Value Measurements

In the normal course of business, the Company invests in various financial assets and incurs various financial liabilities. Fair values are disclosed for all financial instruments,
whether or not such values are recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Management obtains quoted market prices and other observable inputs for these disclosures. The
carrying amounts reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash and cash equivalents, premium and trade receivables, medical claims liability, accounts payable and
accrued expenses, unearned revenue, and certain other current assets and liabilities are carried at cost, which approximates fair value because of their short-term nature.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each financial instrument:

»  Available-for-sale investments and restricted deposits: The carrying amount is stated at fair value, based on quoted market prices, where available. For securities not
actively traded, fair values were estimated using values obtained from independent pricing services or quoted market prices of comparable instruments.

+  Senior unsecured notes: Estimated based on third-party quoted market prices for the same or similar issues,

*  Variable rate debt: The carrying amount of the Company's floating rate debt approximates fair value since the interest rates adjust based on market rate adjustments.
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= Foreign currency swap: Estimated based on Great British Pound to US Dollar foreign exchange rates.

= Contingent consideration: Estimated based on expected achievement of metrics included in the acquisition agreement considering circumstances that exist as of the
acquisition date.

Property, Software and Equipment

Property, software and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Computer hardware and software includes certain costs incurred in the development of
internal-use software, including external direct costs of materials and services and payroll costs of employees devoted to specific software development. Depreciation is
calculated principatly by the straight-line method over estimated useful lives, Leaschold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the
expected useful life or the remaining term of the lease. Property, software and equipment are depreciated over the following periods:

Fixed Asset Depreciation Period
Buildings and improvements 5 - 40 years
Computer hardware and software 3 -5 years
Furniture and equipment 3 - 10 years
Land improvements 10 - 20 years
Leasehold improvements 1 -20 years

The carrying amounts of all long-lived assets are evaluated to determine if adjustment to the depreciation and amortization period or to the unamortized balance is warranted.
Such evalnation is based principally on the expected utilization of the long-lived assets.

The Company retains fully depreciated assets in property and accumulated depreciation accounts until it removes them from service. In the case of sale, retirement, or disposal,
the asset cost and related accumulated depreciation balance is removed from the respective account, and the resulting net amount, less any proceeds, is included as a component
of earnings from operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

[ntangible assets represent assets acquired in purchase transactions and consist primarily of purchased contract rights and customer relationships, provider contracts, trade
names, developed technologies and goodwill. Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the following periods:

Intangible Asset Amortization Period
Purchased contract rights and customer relationships 3-21 years
Provider contracts 4 - 15 years
Trade names 7 - 20 years
Developed technologies 2 -7 years

The Company tests for impairment of intangible assets, as well as long-lived assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset or
asset group (hereinafter referred to as "asset group") may not be recoverable by comparing the sum of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from use
of the asset group and its eventual disposition to the carrying value. Such factors include, but are not limited to, significant changes in membership, state funding, state
contracts, and provider networks and contracts. If the sum of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying value, an impairment determination 1s
required. The amount of impairment is calculated by subtracting the fair value of the asset group from the carrying value of the asset group. An impairment charge, if any, is
recognized within earnings from operations.

The Company tests goodwill for impairment using a fair valuc approach. The Company is required to test for impairment at least annually, absent a triggering event, which
could include a significant decline in operating performance that would require an impairment assessment. Absent any impairment indicators, the Company performs its
goodwill impairment testing during the fourth quarter of each year. The Company recognizes an impaiment charge for any amount by which the carrying amount of goodwill
exceeds its fair value.
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The Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill impairment test The Company generally does not
calculate the fair value of a reporting unit unless it determines, based on a gualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not that its fair value is less than its carrying amount.

Tf the quantitative test is deemed necessary, the Company determines an uppropriate valuation technique to estimate a reporting unit's fair value as of the testing date. The
Company utilizes either the income approach or the market approach, whichever is most appropriate for the respective reporting unit. The income approach is based on an
internally developed discounted cash flow model that includes many assumptions related to future growth rates, discount factors, future tax rates and other various assumptions.
The market approach is based on financial multiples of comparable companies derived from current market data. The Company then compares the fair value of the reporting
unit calculated using the income approach or market approach with its carrying amount and recognizes an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds fair value. The impairment charge is limited to the total amount of goodwill allecated to the reporting unit. Changes in economic and operating conditiens impacting
assumptions used in the Company's analyses could result in goodwill impairment in future perieds.

Medical Claims Liability

Medical claims liability includes claims reported but not yet paid, or inventory, estimates for claims incurred but not reported, or IBNR, and estimates for the costs necessary to
process unpaid claims at the end of each period. The Company estimates its medical claims liability using actuarial metheds that are commonly used by health insurance
actuaries and meet Actuarial Standards of Practice. These actuarial methods consider factors such as historical data for payment patterns, cost trends, product niix, seasonality,
utilization of healthcaic services and other relevant factors.

Actuarial Standards of Practice generally require that the medical claims liability estimmates be adequate to cover obligations under moderately adverse conditions, Moderately
adverse conditions are situations in which the actual claims are expected to be higher than the othcrwise estimated value of such claims at the time of estmate. In many
situations, the claims amounts ultimately settled will be different than the estimate that satisfies the Actuarial Standards of Practice. The Company includes in its IBNR an
estimate for medical claims liability under moderately adverse conditions which represents the risk of adverse deviation of the estimates in its actuarial method of reserving,

The Company uses its judgment to determine the assumptions to be used in the calculation of the required estimates. The assumptions it considers when estimating IBNR
include, without limitation, claims receipt and payment experience (and variations in that experience), changes in membership, provider billing practices, healthcare service
utilization trends, cost trends, preduct mix, seasonality, prior authorization of medical services, benefit changes, known outbreaks of disease or increased incidence of iliness
such as influenza or COVID-19, provider contract changes, changes to fee schedules, and the incidence of high dollar or catastrophie claims.

The Company's development of the medical claims liability estimate is a continuous process which it monitors and refines on a monthly basis as additional claims receipts and
payment information becomes available. As more complete claims information becomes available, the Company adjusts the amount of the estimates, and includes the changes
in estimates in medical costs in the period in which the changes are identified. In every reporting period, the operating results include the effects of more completely developed
medical claims liability estimates associated with previously reported periods. The Company consistently applies its reserving methodology from period to period. As
additional information becomes known, it adjusts the actuarial model accordingly to establish medical claims liability estimates.

The Company reviews actual and anticipated experience compared to the assumptions used to cstablish medical costs. The Company establishes preminm deficiency reserves if
actual and anticipated experience indicates that existing policy liabilities together with the present value of future gross premiums will not be sufficient to cover the present
value of future benefits, settlemnent and maintenance costs. For purposes of determining premium deficiencies, contracts are grouped in a manner consistent with the method of
acquiring, servicing, and measuring the profitability of such centracts.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's health plans generate revenues primarily from premiums received from the states in which it operates health plans, premiums received from its members and the
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) for its Medicare product, and premiums from members of its commercial health plans. In addition to member premium
payments, its Marketplace contracts also generate revenues from subsidies received from CMS. The Company generally receives a fixed premium per member per month
pursuant to its contracts and recognizes premium revenues during the period in which it is obligated to provide services to its members at the amount reasonably estimable. In
some instances, the Company's base premiums are subject to an adjustment, or risk score, based on the acuity of its membership. Generally, the risk score is
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determined by the State or CMS analyzing submissions of processed claims data to determine the acuity of the Company’s membership relative to the cntire statc’s membership.
‘The Company estimates the amount of risk adjustment based upon the processed claims data submitted and cxpected to be submitted to CMS and records revenues on a risk
adjusted basis. Some contracts allow for additional premiums related to certain supplemental services provided such as matemnity deliveries.

The Company's contracts with states may require it to maintain a minimum health benefits ratic (HBR) or may require it to share profits in excess of certain levels. In certain
circumstances, including commercial plans, its plans may be required to return premium to the state or policyholders in the event profits exceed established levels. The
Company estimates the effect of these programs and recognizes reductions in revenue in the current peried. Other states may require 0s to mect certain performance and quality
metrics in order to teceive additional or full contractual rcvenue. For performance-based contracts, the Company does net recognize revenue subject to refund until data is
sufficient to measure performance.

Revenues are recorded based on membership and eligibility data provided by the states or CMS, which is adjusted on 2 monthly basis by the states or CMS for retroactive
additions or dcletions to membership data. These eligibility adjustments are estimated monthly and subsequent adjustments ar¢ made in the peried known. The Company
reviews and updates those estimates as ncw information becomes available. It is possible that new information could require us 1o make additional adjustments, which could be
significant, to these estimates.

The Company's Medicare Advantage contracts are with CMS. CMS deploys a risk adjustment model which apportions premiums paid to all health plans according to health
severity and certain demographic factors. The CMS risk adjustment model pays more for members whose medical history would indicate that they are cxpected to have higher
medical costs. Under this risk adjustment methodology, CMS calculates the risk adjusted premium payment using diagnosis data from hospital inpaticnt, hospital outpatient,
physician treatment settings as well as prescription drug events. The Company and the healthcare providers collect, compile and submit the necessary and available diagnosis
data to CMS within prescribed deadlines. The Company estimates risk adjustment revenues based upon the diagnosis data submitted and expected to be submitted to CMS and
records revenues on a risk adjusted basis.

For qualifying low income PDP members, CMS pays for some, or all, of the member's monthly premium. The Company receives certain Part D prospective subsidy payments
from CMS for its PDP miembers as a fixcd monthly per member amount, bascd on the cstimated costs of providing prescription drug bencfits over the plan year, as reflected in
its bids. Approximately nine to ten months subscquent to the end of the plan year, or later in the casc of the coverage gap discount subsidy. a scttlement payment is made
between CMS and the Company's plans based on the difference between the prospective payments and actual claims experience.

The Company's specialty services generate revenues under contracts with state and federal programs, healthcare organizations and other commercial organizations, as well as
from its own subsidiaries. Revenucs are recognized when the related scrvices are provided, when inventory is shipped or as ratably camed over the covered peried of scrvices.
The Company recognizes revenue related to administrative services under the TRICARE government-sponsored managed care support contract for the DoDYs TRICARE
program on a straight-linc basis over the optien period, when the fees become fixed and determinable. The TRICARE contract includes various performance-based
measwres. For each of the measures, an estimate of the amount that has been camned is made at each interim date, and revenue is recogmzed accordingly.

Some statcs cnact premium taxes, simifar assessments and provider pass-through payments, collectively prenwium taxes, and these taxes are recorded as a separate componert of
hoth revenues and operating cxpenses. Additionally, the Company's insurance subsidiaries are subject to the Affordable Care Act (ACA} annual health insurer fee (HIF), absent

3 HIF moratorium. The ACA imposed the HIF in 2014, 2015, 2016, 2018 and 2020. The HIF was suspendecd in 2017 and 2019. Beginning in 2021, the HIF was permancntly
repealed. If the Company is able to ncgotiate reimbursement of portions of these premium taxes or the HIF, it recognizes revenue associated with the HIF on a straight-line basis
when the Company has binding agrcements for such reimburscments, including the "gross-up" to refiect the HIFs non-tax deductible nature. Collectively, this revenue is
recorded as premium tax and health msurer fee revenuc in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. For certain products, premium taxcs, state assessments and the HIF are
not pass-through payments and are recorded as premium revenuc and premium tax expense or health insurer fee expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Some states require state directcd payments that have minimal risk, but are administered as a premium adjustment. These payments arc recorded as premium revenue and
medical costs at closc to 2 100% HBR. The Company has little visibility to the timing of these payments imtil they are paid by the state.
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Affordable Care Act
The ACA established risk spreading premium stabifization programs as well as minimum medical loss ratio (MLR) and cost sharing reductions.

The Company's accounting policies for the programs are as follows:

Risk Adjustment

The penmanent risk adjustment program established by the ACA transfers funds from qualified individual and small group insurance plans with below average risk scores to
those plans with above average risk scores within each state, The Company cstimates the receivable or payable under the risk adjustment program based on its estimated risk
score compared to the state average risk score. The Company may record a receivable or payable as an adjustment to premium revenues to reflect the year-to-date impact of the
risk adjustment based on its best estimate. The Company refines its estimate as new information becomes available.

Minimum Medical Loss Ratio

Additionally, the ACA cstabhshed a minimum MLR for the Health Insurance Marketplace. The risk adjustment program described above is taken into consideration to
determine if the Company's estimated annual medical costs are less than the minimum MLR and require an adjustment to premium revenues to mect the minimum MLR.

The ACA directs issuers to reduce the Company's members' cost sharing for essential health benefits for individuals with Federal Poverty Levels (FPLs) between 100% and
250% who arc enrolled in a silver tier product; climinate cost sharing for Indians/Alaska Natives with a FPL less than 300% and eliminate cost sharing for Indians/Alaska
Natives regardless of FPL when services are provided by an Indian Health Service. In order to compensate issuers for reduced cost sharing provided to cnrollecs, CMS pays an
advance CSR payment to the Company each month based on the Company’s certification data provided at the time of the qualified health plan application. After the close of the
bencfit year, the Company is required to provide CMS with data on the value of the CSRs provided to enrollees bascd on cither a 'simplified’ or 'standard' approach. A
recongiliation will oceur in order to calculate the difference berween the Company's CSR advance payments received and the value of CSRs provided to enrollees. This
recongiliation will produce either a payable or reccivable to/from CMS. The Company has clected the standard methodology approach. In October 2017, the Trump
Administration issued an executive order that immediately ceased payments of CSRs to issuers, and beginning in 2018 premium rates for Health Insurance Marketplace were
set without factoring in the cost sharing subsidy payments from the federal government.

Premium and Trade Receivables and Unearned Revenue

Premium and service revenues collected in advance are recorded as uncarned revenue. For performance-based contracts, the Company doces not recognize revenuc subject to
refund until data is sufficient to measure performance. Premiums and service revenues due to the Company are recorded as premium and trade receivables and are recorded net
of an allowance based on historical frends and management’s judgment on the collcctability of thesc accounts. As the Company gencrally reccives payments during the month in
which services are provided, the allowance is typically not significant in comparison to total revenues and docs not have a material impact on the presentation of the financial
condition or results of operations. Amounts receivable under federal contracts are comprised primarily of contractually defined billings, acerued contract incentives under the
terms of the contract and amounts related to change orders for services not originally specified in the contract.

Activity in the allowance for uncollectible accounts for the years ended December 31, is summarized below ($ in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Allowances, beginning of year b 243 % 157 % 123
Amounts charged to expense 62 121 76
Recoveries 43) — _
Write-offs of ungollectible receivables (123) (35) (42)
Allowances, end of year 3 139§ 243 % 157
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Significant Customers

The Company receives the majority of its revenues under contracts or subcontracts with state Medicaid managed care programs.Customers where the aggregate annual contract
revenpues exceeded 10% of total annual revenues included the state of California, where the percentage of the Company's total revenue was 11% for the year ended December
31, 2019; and the state of New York, where the percentage of the Company's total revenue was 10%, 11% and 15% for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Other Income (Expense}

Other income (expense) consists routinely of investment income, interest expense and equity method eamings from investments. Investment income is derived from the
Company's cash, cash equivalents, restricted deposits and investments. Interest expense relates 10 borrowings under the senior notes, credit facilities, mortgage and construction
loans, and capital leases. Further, other income (expense) includes gains or losses sales of investments, divestitures, and acquisitions as well as debt extinguishment costs,

fncome Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and Habilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected 10 apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax asscts and liabilities of a change in tax law or 1ax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date.

Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized. In determining if a deductible temporary difference or
net operating loss can be realized, the Company considers future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, future taxable income, taxable income in prior carryback
periods and tax planning strategies.

Contingencies

The Company accrues for loss contingencies associated with outstanding litigation, claims and assessments for which it has determined it is probable that a {oss contingency
exists and the amount of loss can be rcasonably estimated. The Company expenses professional fees associated with litigation claims and assessments as incurred.

Stock Based Compensation

Stock based compensation expense is recognized at grant date fair value over the period during which an employee is required te provide service in exchange for the award.
Excess tax benefits related to stock compensation are presented as a cash inflow from operating activities, The Company accounts for forfeitures when they occur.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk through its international subsidiaries whose functional carrencies include the Furo and Great British Pound. The
assets and liabilities of the Company’s subsidiaries are translated into United States dollars at the balance sheet date. The Company translates its proportionate share of earnings
using average rates during the year. The resulting foreign currency translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive eamings
(loss).

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance

In December 2019, the Financial Aceounting Standards Board (FASB) issued an Accounting Standards Update (ASU) which simplifies the accounting for income taxes by
removing certain exceptions to the general principles in ASC Tepic 740. The ASU also clarifies and amends certain areas of ASC Topic 740 to improve consistent application
of and simplify the generally accepted accounting principles within Topic 740. The guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2020.
The Company adopted the new guidance in the first quarter of 2021. The new guidance did net have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position. results
of aperations and cash flows.
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Recent Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted

The Company has determined that there are no recently issued accounting pronouncements that will have a material impact on its consolidated financial position, results of
operations, or cash flaws.

3. Acquisitions
Magellan Acquisition

On January 4, 2022, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Magellan. Total consideration for the acquisition was approximately £,566 million,
consisting of $2,499 million in cash ($95.00 per share) and an estimated $67 million related to the fair value replacement equity awards associated with pre-combination
service.

The acquisition of Magellan will be accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting which requires assets acquired and liabilities assumed
to be recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date. The valuation of assets acquired and liabilitics assumed has not yet been finalized. Any necessary adjustments from
preliminary estimates wilk be (uialized wilhin one year from the date of acquisition. Measurement period adpustments will be recorded in the period in which they are
determined, as if they had been completed at the acquisition date. Due to the timing of the acquisition, the Company has performed limited valuation procedures, and the
valuation of all assets acquired and liabilities assumed is not yet complete.

WellCare Acquisition

On Januaty 23, 2020, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of WellCare. The transaction was valued at 819,555 million, including the assumption of
debt. The WellCare Acquisition brought a high-quality Medicare platform and further extended the Company’s robust Medicaid offerings. The WellCare Acquisition also
enables the Company to provide access to more comprehensive and differentiated solutions across more markets with a continued focus on affordable, high-quality, culturally-
sensitive healthcare services. With the WeltCare Acquisition, the Company further broadened its product offerings by adding a Medicare prescription drug plan (PDP) to its
existing business lines.

Total consideration paid for the acquisition was $17,605 million, consisting of Centene common shares valued at $11,431 million (based on Centene's stock price
of $66.76), $6,079 million in cash, and $35 million related to the fair value of replacement equity awards associated with pre-combination service. Each WellCare share was
converted into 3.38 shares of validly issued, fully paid, non-assessable Centene commeon stock and $120.00 in cash. In total, 171 million shares of Centene commeoen stock were
issued to the WellCare stockholders, The cash portion of the acquisition was funded through the issuance of long-term debt as further discussed in Note 10. Debt. The Company
recognized $602 million of acquisition related costs, primarily related to WellCare, that are included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the vear ended
December 31, 2020,

The acquisition of WellC'are was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting that requires assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be
recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date. The valuation of all assets acquired and liabilities assumed was finalized in the fourth quarter of 2020.
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The Company's allocation of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date of January 23, 2020 is as follows ($ in millions):

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,947
Premium and related receivables 3,699
Short-term investments 355
Other current assets 1,205
Long-term investments 2,725
Restricted deposits 320
Property, software and equipment 237
Intangible assets = 6,632
Other long-term assets 338

Total assets acquired 18,458
Medical claims liability 4,122
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 3,035
Return of premium payable 192
Unearned revenue 657
Long-term debt & 2,055
Deferred tax liabilities 1,428
Other long-term liabilities 475

Total liabilities assumed 11,964

Total identifiable net assets 6,494
Goodwill & 11,111

Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed $ 17,605

Significant fair value adjustments are noted as follows:

(@) The identifiable intangible assets acquired are to be measured at fair value as of the completion of the acquisition, The fair value of intangible assets is detenmined
primarily using variations of the income approach, which is based on the present value of the future after tax cash flows attributable to each identified intangible asset.
Other valuation methods, including the market approach and cost approach, were also considered in estimating the fair value. The Company has estimated the fair value
of intangible assets to be $6,632 million with a weighted average life of 14 years. The identifiable intangible assets include purchased contract rights and customer
relationships, provider contracts, trade names and developed technelogies.

The fair values and weighted average useful lives for identifiable intangible assets acquired are as follows:

Weighted Average Useful Life (in

Fair Value years)
Purchased contract rights and customer relationships 3 5,737 14
Provider contracts 227 15
Trade names 561 16
Developed technologies 107 3
Total intangible assets acquired $ 6,632 14

{b) Debt is required to be measured at fair value under the acquisition method of accounting. The fair value of WellCare's aggregate principle of 3,950 million Senior Notes
assumed in the acquisition was 2,055 million. The $105 million increase is amortized as a reduction to interest expense over the remaining life of the debt. In 2021, the
Company redeemed WellCare Health Plans, Inc.'s outstanding 5.375% Senior Notes due 2026 (together the 2026 Notes).

(¢} The deferred tax liabilities are presented net of $355 million of deferred tax assets.
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(d)  The acquisition resulted in $11,111 million of goodwill primarily related to synergies expected from the acquisition and the assembled workforce of WellCare.
Substantially all of the goodwill has been assigned to the Managed Care segment. The majority of the goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes.

Divestitures

Immediately prior to the closing of the WellCare Acquisition, Anthem, Inc. acquired WellCare’s Missouri Medicaid health plan, a WellCare Missouri Medicare Advantage
health plan, and WellCare's Nebraska Medicaid health plan. C'VS Health Corporation acquired portions of Centene's Illinois Medicaid and Medicare Advantage health plans as
part of previously announced divestiture agreements. The Company recorded $104 million in pre-tax gains for the year ended December 31, 2020, as a result of the Lllinois
divestiture, which is included in investment and other income on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. In 2021, the Company recorded a reduction to the previously
reported gain due to the finalization of the working capital adjustment related to the divestiture of certain products of the Company's Tllinois health plan of $62 million.

Statement of Operations

From the acquisition date through December 31, 2020, the Company's Consolidated Statement of Operations include total WellCare revenues of $30,709 million. It is
impracticable for the Company to determine the effect on net income resulting from the WellCare acquisition for the year ended December 31, 2020, as the Company
immediately began integrating WellCare into its angoing nperations,

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Infarmation

The following table presents supplemental pro forma information for the vear ended December 31, 2019 ($ in millions, except per share data):

Year Ended
December 31, 2019
Total revenues 3 102,379
Net ecamnings attributable to common stockholders 1,496
Diluted earnings per share $ 2.53

The unaudited pro forma total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020 was 312,905 million, 1t is impracticable for the Company to determine the pro forma earnings
information for the year ended December 31, 2020 due to the nature of obtaining that infermation as the Company immediately began integrating WellCare into its ongoing
operations.

The unaudited pro forma financial information reflects the historical results of Centene and WellCare adjusted as if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2019, primarily
for the following:

» Interest expense associated with debt incurred to finance the transaction.

+  Elimination of historical WellCare intangible asset amortization expense and addition of amortization expense based on the fair value of identifiable intangible assets of
approximately $6,632 million.

»  Issuance of 171 million shares of Centene comman stock in connection with the per share common stock consideration.

+  Elimination of acquisition related costs.

«  Adjustiments to income tax expense telated to pro forma adjustments and increased income tax expense related to IRS Regulation 162(m}6).

The pro forma results do not reflect any anticipated synergies, efficiencies, or other cost savings of the acquisition. Accordingly, the unaudited pro forma financial information
is not indicative of the results it the acquisition had been completed on January 1, 2019 and is not a projection of future results. The unaudited pro forma financial information
does not reflect the previously discussed divestitures as the impact would be impracticable to quantify.
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4. Short-term and Long-term Investments, Restricted Deposits

Short-term and long-term investments and restricted deposits by investment type consist of the following ($ in millions):

December 31, 2021

December 31, 2020

Gross Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Amaortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Lasses Value Cast Gains Lasses Value
Debt securities:
U.8. Treasury securities and $ 642 3 — 8 ) 3% 640§ 907 4 — 911
obligations of U.8. government
corporations and agencies
Corporate securities 8145 130 (75) 8,200 6,560 262 8 6,814
Restricted certificates of deposit 4 — — 4 105 — — 105
Restricted cash equivalents 96 — _ 96 157 —_— — 157
Short-term time deposits 109 — —_ 109 53 — — 53
Municipal securitics 3,398 85 (15} 3,468 2970 129 ) 3,097
Asset-backed securities 1,308 5 (5) 1,308 1,154 13 3} 1,164
Residential mortgage-backed 850 10 (4] 853 1,068 27 — 1,095
securities
Commercial mortgage- backed R70 13 am 873 748 30 (5 773
securitics
Equity securities ) 326 — —_ 326 318 — — 318
Private equity investments ST — — 587 238 — — 838
Life insurance contracts 186 — —_ 186 168 - — 168
Total b3 16,521 % 243 % {114y 3% 16,650 $ 15,046 465 (18) 15,493

(1) Investenents in equity securities primarily consists of exchange traded funds in fixed income securitics.

The Company’s investments arc debt securitics classified as availuble-for-sale with the exception of equity securities, certain private equity investments and life insurance
contracts. The Company's investment policies are designed (o provide liquidity, preserve capital and maxiniize total return on invested assets with the focus on high credit
quality securities. The Company limits the size of investment in any single issuer other than U.S. treasury securities and obligations of 1J.8. governmient corporations and
agencics. As of December 31, 2021, 98% of the Company's investments in rated securities carry an investment grade rating by nationally recognized statistical rating
organizations. At December 31, 2021, the Company held certificates of deposit, equity securities, private equity investments and life insurance contracts, which did not carry a
credit rating. Acerued interest incomce on available-for-sale debt securities was $96 million and $86 million at December 31, 202 and 2020, respeciively, and is included in

other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The Company's residential mortgage-backed sceurities are primarily issued by the Federal National Mortgage Association, Government National Mortgage Association or
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, which carry implicit or explicit guarantees of the U.S. government. The Company's commercial mortgage-backed securities are
primarily senior tranches with a weighted average rating of AA and a weighted average duration of 4 years at December 31, 2021.
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The fair value of available-for-sale debt securities with gross unrealized losses by investment type and length of time that individual secvrities have been in a continuous
unrealized loss position were as follows (8 in millions):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More
Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair
Losses Value 1.osses Value Losses Value Losses Value
1.8, Treasury securities and $ ) % 598§ — 3 3% — 3 —  § — % —
obligations of U.8. government
corporations and agencies
Corporate securities {66) 4,209 9) 209 {7} 953 1) 24
Municipal securities (14) 1,173 eh 39 2y 238 _ _
Asset-backed securities (5) 770 —_ 33 (2} 302 ) 105
Residential mortgage- backed
securities Bas €3] 472 — 15 — 59 _ 2
mmercial mortgage- backed
Commerc £38 ®) 380 (2) ” ) 147 — 13
Total 5 (102) § 7,602 8§ (12) % 331 3§ (16) % 1,699 § 2) § 144

As of December 31, 2021, the gross unrealized losses were generated from2,692 positions out of a total of 6,605 positions. The change in fair value of available-for-sale debt
securities is primarily a result of movement in interest rates subsequent to the purchase of the security.

For each security in an unrealized loss position, the Campany assesses whether it intends to sell the security or if it is more likely than not the Company will be required to sell
the security before recovery of the amortized cost basis for reasons such as liquidity, contractual or regulatory purposes. If the security meets this criterion, the decline in fair
value is recorded in earnings. The Company does not intend to sell these securities prior to maturity and it is not likely that the Company will be required to sell these securities
prior to maturity; therefore, the Company did not record an impairment for these securities.

In addition, the Company monitors available-for-sale debt securities for credit losses. Certain investments have experienced a decline in fair value due to changes in credit
quality, market interest rates and/or general economic conditions. The Company recognizes an allowance when evidence demonstrates that the decline in fair value is credit
related. Evidence of a credit related loss may include rating agency actions, adverse conditions specifically related to the security, or failure of the issuer of the security to make

scheduled payments,

In June 2019, the Company acquired 40% of Circle Health, one of the UK.’s largest independent operators of hospitals. The initial 40% investment was accounted for as an
equity method investment. In July 2021, the Company acquired the remaining 60% interest of Circle Health for $705 miilion. As a result of the acquisition, the Company
tecorded a non-cash gain of $309 million on its original investment in the twelve months ended December 31, 2021. The gain was included in investment and other income on
the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Beginning in July 2021, the Company consolidates 100% of Circle Health.

In September 2021, the Company recorded a $229 million impairment of its equity method investment in RxAdvance, a pharmacy benefit manager. During the third quarter, the
Company made a strategic decision to transition from using the RxAdvance platform and consolidate its business on an alternative external platform as a result of the
Company's focus on simplification of its pharmacy operations. The impairment was based on the Company’s estimate of RxAdvance’s future cash flows and other market
indicators of fair value.
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The contractual maturities of short-term and long-term debt s¢curiti¢s and restricted deposits are as follows ($ in millions):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Investments Restricted Deposits Investments Restricted Deposits
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value
One year or less 3 1,390 % 1,396 3 368 § 368 % 1,407 % 1,414 % 817 § 818
One year through five years 6,212 6,294 460 457 4,748 4,937 221 223
Five years through ten years 3,647 3,681 244 243 3,460 3,639 18 19
Greater than ten years 73 78 — — 81 87 — -
Asset-backed securities 3,028 3,034 — — 2,970 3,032 — —
Total $ 14,350 $ 14,483 § 1,072 § 1,068 § 12,666 § 13,109 § 1,056 § 1,060

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities due to call or prepayment options. Equity securities, private equity investments and life insurance contracts are
excluded from the table above because they do not have a contractual maturity. The Company has an option to redeem at amortized cost substantially all of the securities
included in the greater than ten years category listed above.

5. Fair Value Measurements

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets are categorized based upon observable or unobservabie inputs used to estimate fair valueLevel
inputs are as foflows:

Level Input: Input Definition:
Level I Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets at the measurement date.
Level 1 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level I that are observable for the asset or Mability through corroboration with market data at the

measurement date.

Level 11! Uniobservable inputs that reflect management's best estimate of what niarket participants would use in pricing the assct or liability at the
measurement dale.
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The following table summarizes fair value measurements by level at December 31, 2021, for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis ($ in millions);

Level 1 Levelll Level Il Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 13,18 § — 8 — § 13,118
Investments:
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government corporations and agencies $ 171§ — % — 3 171
Corporate securities — 8,170 — 8,170
Municipal securities — 2,999 — 2,999
Shert-term time deposits — 109 —_ 109
Asset-backed sccuritics — 1,308 — 1,308
Residential mortgage-backed securities — 853 — 853
Commercial mortgage-backed securities — 873 — 8
Equity securities 324 2 — 326
Total investments $ 495 % 14314 $ - § 14,809
Restricted deposits:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9 3 — 3 — 3 96
Certificates of deposit — 4 — 4
Corporate securities — 30 -—_ k]
Municipal secutities — 469 — 469
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government corporations and agencies 469 — — 469
Total restricted deposits $ 565 8 503 % — 3 1,068
Other current assets:
Foreign currency swap agreement 5 — § 15 § — % 15
Total assets at fair value $ 14,178 § 14,832 § — 8 29,010

The following table sumniarizes fair value measurements by level at December 31, 2020, for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis ($ in millions):

Level I Level IT Level IIT Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents b 10,800 % — ¥ — 3 10,800
Investments:
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government corporations and agencies $ 165 % — 8 —_ % 165
Corporate securitics — 6,789 — 6,789
Municipal securities —_ 3,070 — 3,070
Short-term time deposits — 53 — 53
Asset-backed securities —_ 1,164 _ 1,164
Residential mortgage-backed securities — 1,095 — 1,095
Commercial mortgage-backed securities — 773 — 773
Equity securities 316 2 — 318
Total investments $ 481 § 12946 — $ 13,427
Restricted deposits:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 157 % — 8 — 5 157
Certificates of deposit — 105 — 105
Corporate securities — 25 — 25
Municipal securities — 27 — 27
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government corporations and agencies 746 — — 746
Total restricted deposits b %03 % 157 % — 3 1,060
Total assets at fair value $ 12,184 § 13,103 § — 8 25,287
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The Company utilizes matrix pricing services to estimate fair value for securities which are not actively traded on the measurement date. The Company designates these
securities as Level [T fair value measurements. In addition, the aggregate catrying amount of the Company's private equity fnvestments and life insurance contracts, which
approximates fair value, was $773 million and $1,006 million as of December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, respectively.

6. Property, Software and Equipment

Property, software and equipment consist of the following as of December 31 (8 in millions):

2021 2020

Computer software b 1,825 § 1465
Building 1,116 891
Fumitare and office equipment 753 600
Leasehold improvements 732 532
Computer hardware 617 525
Land 248 238

Property, software and equipment, at cost 5,291 4,251
Less: accumulated depreciation {1,900) (1,477)

Property, software and equipment, net $ 3,391 $ 2,774

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2621, 2620 and 2019 was $65 midlion, $487 million and $342 million, respectively.
7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes the changes in goodwill by operating segment (3 in millions):

Managed Care Specialty Services Total
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 5,730 § 1,133 8§ 6,863
Acquisitions and purchase accounting adjustments 11,114 756 11,870
Divestitures (6%) {5) {73)
Reallocation 197 {197) —_
Impairments — €] (9}
Translation impact 1 — 1
Balance as of December 31, 2020 16,974 1,678 18,652
Acquisitions and purchase accounting adjustments 1,139 29 1,168
Divestitures — (24) (24}
Reallocation 250 (250) —
Translation impact (25) — {25)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 18338 ¢ 1433 § 19,771

The majority of the increase in the managed care segment goodwill in 202§ was related to the acquisition of the remaining60% interest in Circle Health,

The majority of the increase in the managed care segment goodwill in 2020 was related to the acquisition and fair value allocations related to the WellCare acquisition discussed
in Note 3. Acquisitions. The majority of the increase in the specialty services segment goodwill related to the acquisitions of Apixio and PANTHERx.
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Intangible assets at December 31 consist of the following ($ in millions):

Weighted Average Life in Years

2021 2020 2021 2024

Purchased contract rights and customer relationships $ 8068 § 8,102 13.5 134
Provider contracts 492 526 13.8 13.5
Trade names 1,107 939 13.3 13.8
Developed technologics 369 336 54 4.8

Intangible assets 10,036 8,903 13.2 131
Less accumulated amortization:

Purchased contract rights and customer relationships (1,642) (1.046)

Provider contracts (139) (152)

Trade names (206) (140)

Developed technologies (225) (77

Total accumulated amortization (2,212) (1,515)

Intangible assets, net $ 7,824 § 8,388

The majority of the increase in intangible assets in 2021 was related to the acquisition of the remainingb0% interest of Circle Health.

Amottization expense was $770 million, $719 million and $258 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.Estimated total amortization
expense related to the December 31, 2021 intangible assets for each of the five succeeding fiscal years is as follows (§ in millions):

Year Expense

2022 $ 768
2023 720
2024 715
2025 707
2026 685
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8. Medical Claims Liability

The following table summarizes the change in medical claims liability (3 in milliens):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Balance, January | $ 12438 § 7473 § 6,831
Less: Reinsurance recoverable 23 20 27
Balance, January 1, net 12,415 7453 6,804
Acquisitions and divestitures — 3,856 59
Incurred related to:

Current year 100,385 86,765 59,539

Prior years (1,783) (501) (677}

Total incurred 98,602 86,264 58,862
Paid related to:

Current year 87427 78,838 52,453

Prior years 9,370 6,320 5,819

Total paid 96,797 85,158 58,272
Balance at December 31, net 14,220 12,415 7,453
Plus: Reinsurance recoverable 23 23 20
Balance, December 3] 3 14243  § 12438 § 7473

Reinsurance recoverables related to medical claims are included in premium and trade receivables. Changes in estimates of incurred claims for prior years are primarily
attributable to reserving under moderately adverse conditions. The impact from COVID-19 on healtheare utilization and medical claims submission pattems continues to
provide increased estimation uncertainty on the incurred but not reporied liability. Additionally, as a result of minimum HBR and other return of premium programs, the
Company recorded approximately $492 million, $86 million, and $49 million of the "Incurred related to: Prior years” as a reduction to premium revenues in 2621, 2020, and
2019, respectively. Further, claims processing initiatives yiclded increased claim payment recoveries and coordination of benefits related to prior year dates of service.

Changes in medical ulilization and cost trends and the effect of population health management initiatives may also contribute to changes in medical claim liability
estimates. While the Company has evidence that population health management initiatives are effective on a case by casc basis, population health management initiatives
primarily focus on events and behaviors prior 1o the incurrence of the medical event and generation of a claim. Accordingly, any change in behavior, leveling of care, or
coordination of treatment occurs prior to claim generation and as a tesult, the costs prior to the population health management initiative are not known by the Company.
Additionally, certain population health management initiatives are focused on member and provider education with the intent of influencing behavior te appropriately align the
medical services provided with the member's acuity. In these cases, determining whether the population health management initiative changed the behavior cannot be
determined. Because of the complexity of its business, the number of states in which it operates, and the volume of claims that it processes, the Company is unable to practically
quantify the impact of these initiatives on its changes in estimates of IBNR.

The Conipany reviews actual and anticipated experience compared to the assumptions used to establish medical costs. The Company establishes premium deficiency reserves if
actual and anticipated experience indicates that existing policy habilities together with the present value of future gross premiums will not be sufficient to cover the present
value of future benefits, settlement and maintenance costs.

The Specialty Services segment has an insignificant amount of medical claims liability and, thercfore, disclosures related to medical claims liabilities have been aggregated and
are presented on a consolidated basis.
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Information about incurred and paid claims development as of December 31, 2021 is included in the table below and is inclusive of claims incurred and paid related to the
WellCure business prior and subsequent to the acquisition date. The claims development information for all periods preceding the most recent reperting period is considered
required supplementary information, Incurred and paid claims development as of December 31, 2021 is as follows ($ in millions):

Cumulative Incurred Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
For the Years Ended December 31,

Claim Year 2019 (unaudited) 2020 {(unaudited) 2021
2019 $ 84,027 § 83,329 § 83,250
2020 88,206 86,502
2021 100,385
Total incurred claims § 270,137

Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
For the Years Ended December 31,

Claim Year 2019 (unaudited) 2020 (unaudited) 2021
2019 3 73,889 § 82,690 § 82,954
2020 76,722 85,593
2021 87,427
Total payment of incurred claims § 255,974
All outstanding liabilities prior to 2019, net of reinsurance 57
Medical claims liability, net of reinsurance § 14,220

Incurred claims and allocated claim adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance, total IBNR plus expected development on reported claims and cumulative claims data as of
December 31, 2021 are included in the following table and are inclusive of the acquired WellCare business. For claims frequency information summarized below, a claim is
defined as the financial settlement of a single medical event in which remuneration was paid to the servicing provider. Total IBNR plus expected development on reported
claims represents estimates for claims incurred but net reported, development on reported claims, and estimates for the costs necessary to process unpaid claims at the end of
each period. The Company estimates its liability using actuarial methods that are commonly used by health insurance actuaries and meet Actuarial Standards of Practice. These
actuarial methods consider factors such as historical data for payment patterns, cost trends, product mix, seasonality, utilization of healthcare services and other relevant
factors. Information is summarized as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2021

Incurred Claims and
Allocated Claim Adjustment Total IBNR Plus Expected

Expenses, Net of Development on Reported
Reinsurance Claims Cumulative Paid Claims
2019 8 83250 § 3 5162
2020 86,502 92 568.2
2021 100,385 9,544 597.3

9. Affordable Care Act

The Affordable Care Act established risk spreading premium stabilization programs as well as a minimum annual MLR and cost sharing reductions.
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The Company's net receivables (payables) for each of the programs are as follows ($ in millions):

Risk adjustment receivable

Risk adjustment payable
Minimum medical loss ratio
Cost sharing reduction receivabie
Cost sharing reduction payable

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
522 % 340
(536} (1,224)
(196) (238)
[ iot
42) [68]

In June 2021, CMS announced the final risk adjustment transfers for the 2020 benefit year. As a result of the announcement, the Company increased its risk adjustment net
payables by $83 million frem December 31, 2020. After consideration of minimum MLR and other related impacts, the net pre-tax expense recognized was approximately
$80 million in the second quarter of 2021.

10, Debt

Debt consists of the following ($ in millions):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

£2,200 million 4.75% Senior Notes, due January 15, 2025 3 — 3 2,230
£1,800 million 5.375% Senior Notes, due June 1, 2026 —_ 1,800
$750 million 5.375% Senior Notes, due August 15, 2026 — 794
$2,500 million 4.25% Senior Notes, due December 15, 2027 2,484 2,482
$2.300 million 2.45% Senior Notes due July 15, 2028 2,304 —
$3,500 million 4.625% Senior Notes, due December 15, 2029 3,500 3,500
$2,000 million 3.375% Senior Notes, due February 15, 2030 2,000 2,000
$£2,200 million 3.00% Senior Notes due October 15, 2030 2,200 2,200
$2.,200 million 2.50% Senior Notes, due March 1, 2031 2,200 —
$1,300 million 2.625% Senior Notes due August i, 2031 1,300 —

Total senior notes 15,988 15,006
Term loan credit facility 2,195 1,450
Revolving credit agreement 149 97
Mortgage notes payable — 50
Construction loan payable 184 180
Finance leases and other 453 153
Debt issuance costs {171y (157)

Total debt 18,838 16,779
Less current portion (267} 97y

Long-term debt $ 18,571 § 16,682

OF the Company's total debt, approximately 15% is variable rate debt tied to London Interbank Offered Rate (I.IBOR). The debt agreements that may be impacted by the
discontinuation of LIBOR have provisions included that are sufficient for the Company to transition from the existing LIBOR rates to the prevailing successor market rates as
necessary.

Serior Notes
2021

In February 2021, the Company issued $2,200 million 2.50% Senior Notes due 2031 (the 2031 Notes). In conjunction with the 2031 Notes offering, the Company completed a
tender offer (the Tender Offer) to purchase for cash, subject to certain conditions, any and all of the outstanding aggregate principal amount of the $2,200 million 4.75% Senior
Notes due 2025 (the 2025 Notes). The Company used the net proceeds from the 2031 Notes, together with available cash on hand, to fund the purchase price for the 2025 Notes
accepted for purchase in the Tender Offer (approximately 36% of the aggregate principal amount outstanding) and used the remaining proceeds to redeem any of the 2025 Notes
that remained outstanding following the Tender Offer, including all premiums, accrued interest and costs and expenses related to the redemption. The Company
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recognized a pre-tax loss on extinguishment of $46 million on the redemption of the 2025 Notes, including the call premium, the write-off of the unamortized premium and debt
1ssuance costs, and cxpenses related to the redemption.

In July 20?1, the Company issucd $1,800 million 2.45%, Senior Notes due 2028 (the 2028 Nutes). The Company used the net proceeds from the oftening of the 2028 Notes to
finance a portion of the cash consideration payable in connection with the acquisition of Magellan Health Inc., which closed in January 2022, and to pay related fees and
expenses, In January 2022, the Company paid off Magellan's debt of $535 million acquired in the transaction using Magellan's cash on hand.

In August 2021, the Company issued $1,800 million aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes which included $500 million aggregate principal amount of additional 2028
Notes at a premium to yield 2.31% and $1,300 million aggregate principal amount of new 2.625% Senior Notes due 2031, The Company used the net proceeds of the offering,
together with cash on hand and term loan facility borrewings, to redeem all of its outstanding 5.375% Senior Notes due 2026 and WellCare Health Plans, Inc.’s outstanding
5.375% Senior Notes due 2026 (together the 2026 Notes), including all premiums, accrued interest and costs and expenses. The Company recognized a pre-tax loss on
extinguishment of $79 millien on the redemptions of the 2026 Notes, including the call premium, the write-off of the unamortized premium and debt issuance costs, and
expenses related to the redemptions.

2020

In connection with the WellCare Acquisition, in January 2020, the Company completed an exchange offer for up to 81,200 million of 5.25% Senior Notes due April 1, 2025 and

$750 million of 5.375% Senior Notes due August 15, 2026 (collectively, the WellCare Notes) issued by WellCare and issued $1,146 million aggregate principal amount of
5.25% Senior Notes due April 1, 2025 and 3747 million aggregate principal amount of 5.375% Senior Notes due August 15, 2026. Additionally, the Company's wholly owned

subsidiary, WellCare Health Plans, Inc.. assumed the remaining unexchanged WellCare Notes. The WellCare Notes were recorded at the acquisition date fair value of $ 2,055
million. The Compeany redeemed the $1,200 million of 5.25% Senior Notes due April 1, 2025 in October 2020.

In February 2020, the Company issued $2,000 million 3.375% Senier Notes due February 15, 2030 (the $2.,000 million 2030 Notes). The Company used the net proceeds from
the $2,000 million 2030 Notes to redeem and all of its outstanding $1,000 million 6.125% Senior Notes, due February 15, 2024 (the 2024 Notes). The Company recognized a
pre-tax loss on extinguishment of $44 million, including the call premium, the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs and the loss on the termination of the 8,000 million
interest rate swap associated with the 2024 Notes. The Company intended to use remaining proceeds to redeem the 2022 Notes. However, as a result of the spread of COVID-19
and the resulting disruption and volatility in the global capital markets, the Company deferred the redemption of the 2022 Notes. The 2022 Notes were redeemed in the fourth
quarter of 2020 in connection with an additional offering of senior notes as further described above, and the Company decided to increase liquidity with the remaining proceeds
of the $2,000 million 2030 Notes.

In May 2020, the Company completed an exchange offer, whereby it exchanged substantially all of the outstanding $2,000 million 3.375% Senior Notes due February 15, 2030,
$1,000 million 4,75% Senior Notes due Janvary 15, 2025, £,500 million 4.25% Senior Notes due December 15, 2027, and 3,500 million 4.625% Senior Notes due December
15, 2029 for identical securities that have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933,

In October 2020, the Company issued $2,200 million 3.0% Senior Notes due October 2030 (the 2,200 million 2030 Netes). The Company used the net proceeds from the
offering, together with cash on hand, to redeem all of the $1,000 million 4.75% Senior Notes due May 15, 2022 (the 2022 Notes) and the 51,200 million 5.25% Senior Notes
due 2025, including all premiums, accrued interest and expenses related to the redemptions. The Company recognized a pre-tax loss on extinguishment of $17 million on the
redemption of the 2022 Notes and the $1,200 million 5,25% Senior Notes due 2025 in the fourth quarter of 2020, including the call premium and write-off of unamortized debt
issuance costs.

The indentures governing the senior notes listed in the table above contain restrictive covenants of Centene Corporation. At December 31, 2021, the Company was in
compliance with all covenants.
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Imterest Rate Swaps

In February 2020, the Company termiinated the interest rate swap agreements associated with the 2022 Notes and £,200 million 4.75% Senior Notes, due January 15, 2025,
(the 2025 Notes). The interest rate swaps associated with the 2024 Notes were alse terminated in connection with the redemption of those notes as discussed above. In total, the
Company terminated three interest rate swap confracts with a notional amount of £2,100 million. The swaps effectively converted $2, 100 milfion of fixed rate notes to floating
rates. As a result of the interest rate swap terminations, the Company reccived $9 million in cash.

Foreign Currency Swap

In connection with the July 2021 acquisition of the remaining 60% interest of Ciircle Health, the Company funded an intercompany note recejvable with an intemational
subsidiary, which is denominated in Great British Pounds and remeasured through earnings each period. In order to manage the resulting foreign exchange risk associated with
the note receivable, the Company entered into a foreign currency swap agreement for a notional amount of $705 million, to purchase £509 million. The swap agreement is
formally designated and qualifies as a fair value hedge. Gains and losses due to changes in the fair value of the foreign currency swap completely offset changes in the
remcasurement of the intercompany note reccivable within investment and other income in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Therefore, there is no net impact o the
Consolidated Statement of Operations. The swap expires on March 31, 2022.

The fair value of the swap agreement as of December 31, 2021 was $15 million, which was recorded in other current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The offsetting
changes in fair value of the forelgn currency swap and the remeasurement on the underlying intercompany note receivable were both recognized in investment and other income
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company does not hold or issue any derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

The fair value of the swap contract ¢xcludes acerited interest and considers the swap counterparty’s credit risk and the current likelihood of the counterparty’s compliance with
its contractual obligations.

Revolving Credit Facility and Ferm Loan Credit Facility

In August 2021, the Company amended and restated its existing credit agreement to, among other things, (i) extend the various maturities under the existing Credit Agreement
until 2026, (ii) increase the aggregate principal amount of the U.S. dollar unsecured term loan facility under the existing Credit Agreement from $1,450 million to
$2,200 million, (iii) increase the maximum total net leverage ratio permitted under the total debt to EBITDA financial covenant from3.5:1.0 to 4.0:1.0, (iv) reduce the
applicable margin with respect to borrowings to between 1.50% to 1.125%, based on the total debt to EBITDA ratic and type of borrowing and (v) include scheduled
amortization payments with respect ta the term loan facility equal to 8% for the first year following closing, 2.5% for the second year following closing and 5% thereafter until
Maturnity.

The Company has (i) unsecured $2,000 million multi-currency revolving credit facility (the Revolving Credit Facility), which includes a 800 million sub-limit for letters of
credit and a $200 million sub-limit for swingline loans and (ii) a $2,200 million unsecured delayed-draw term loan facility (the Term Loan Facility, and, together with the
Revelving Credit Facility, the Company Credit Facility). Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest, at the Company's option, at LIBOR, EURIBOR, CDOR,
BBR or base rates plus, in cach case, an applicable margin between 1,50% to 1,125%, based on the total debt to EBITDA ratio and type of borrowing. Borrowings under the
Term Loan Facility bear interest, ar the Company's option, at LIBOR or base rates plus, in each case, an applicable margin based on the total debt to EBITDA ratio. The
Company has an uncommitted option to increase its Company Credit Facility by an additional $500 million plus certain additional amounts based on its total debt to EBITDA
Tatio,

The Company Credit Facility contains financial covenants including maintenance of a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and a restriction on the Company's maximum total
debt to EBTTDA ratio not to exceed 4.0 to 1.0. It alse contains certain non-financial covenants including: limitations on incurrence of additional indebtedness; restrictions on
incurrence of liens; restrictions on dividends and other restricted payments; restrictions on investments, mergers, consolidations and asset sales; and limitations on transactions
with affiliates. As of December 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants under the Company Credit Facility.
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As of December 31, 2021, the Company had $149 million of borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility, with a weighted average interest rate 6f1.29%.
The Revolving Credit Facility and the Terin Loan Facility will mature on August 16, 2026.
Morigage Notes Payable

The Company paid its non-recourse mortgage note of $50 million in January 2021. The mortgage note was collateralized by its corporate headquarters building and bore a
5.14% interest rate.

Construction Loan

In October 2017, the Company ex¢euted a $200 million non-recourse construction loan to fund the expansion of the Company's corporate headquarters. Until final completion
of the project, which occurred in July 2021, the loan bore interest based on the one month LIBOR plus 2.70%, which reduced to LIBOR plus 2.00% at the time construction
completed. The agreement contains financial and non-financial covenants similar to those contained in the Company Credit Facility. The Company guaranteed completion of the
construction project associated with the loan. In April 2021, the Company finalized the onc year extension of the construction loan maturing in April 2022. As of December 31,
2021, the Company had $184 million in berrewings outstanding under the loan, which is included in the current portion of long-term debt.

Letters of Credit & Surety Bonds

The Company had outstanding letters of credit of $128 million as of December 31, 2021, which were not part of the Revolving Credit Facility. The letters of credit bore interest
at 0.61% as of December 31, 2021. The Company had outstanding surety bonds of 1,257 million as of December 31, 2021,

Apggregate maturities for the Company's debt are as follows ($ in millions);

2022 3 267
2023 115
2024 139
2025 138
2026 2,061
Thereafter 16,306
Total ¥ 19,026

The fair value of outstanding debt was approximately $19,256 million and $17,717 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
11. Leases

The Company records right of use (ROU) asgets and lease liabilities for non-cancelable operating leases primarily fot real estate and equipment. Leases with an initial term of
12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet. Expense related to leases is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term, including rent holidays. The Company
recognized operating lease expense of $390 million and $341 million during the years ended December 31, 202} and 2020, respectively.



The Company considers the existence of options to extend or terminate leases in its analysis of the lease term for the purposes of measuring its right of use assets and lease
liabilities. The renewal options are not included in the measurement of the right of use assets and lcase liabilities unless the Company is reasonably certain to exercise the
optional renewal periods.

The following table sets forth the ROU assets and lease liabilities {$ in millions):

December 31, 2621 December 31, 2020
Assets
ROU assets (recorded within other long-tertn asscts) $ 3566 $ L3
Liabilities
Short-term (recorded within accounts payable and accrued cxpenses) b 204§ 204
Long-term (recorded within other long-tenn liabilities) 3,619 1,334
Total lease liabilities 3 3823 % 1,538

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities, recorded as operating cash flows in the Consolidated Stateménts of Cash Flows, was 385 million and
$276 million during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. New operating leases commenced resufting in the recagnition of ROU assets and lease
liabilities of $177 million and $349 million during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. In connection with theCompany’s acquisition of the remaining
60% interest in its investment in Circle Health that occurred in July 2021, the Company acquired$2,380 million in ROU assets and lease liabilities. As of December 31, 2021,
the Company had additional operating leases that have not yet commenced of $28 million. These operating leases will commence in 2022 with lease terms ranging fromfive to
nine years.

Prior to the acquisition of the remaining Circle Health portfolio, the average remaining lease term of the Company’s operating lease population was9.2 years. The average
remaining lease term of the Circle Health portfolio is 28.2 years resulting in a weighted average remaining Jease term for the Company of21.1 and 9.3 years as of December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively. The lease liabilities reflect a weighted average discount rate of 5.7% and 3.1% as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Lease payments
over the next five years and thereafter are as follows (3 in millions):

December 31,2021

2022 5 389
2023 389
2024 372
2025 341
2026 326
Thereafter 5,481
Total lease payments 7,292
Less: imputed interest (3,469)
Total lease liabilities ¥ 3,823

12. Stockholders' Equity

The Company has 10 million authorized shares of preferred stock at 3.001 par value. At December 31, 2021, there wereno preferved shares cuistanding.

The Company's Board of Directors has authorized 2 stock repurchase program of the Company's common stock from time to time on the open market or through privately
negotiated transactions, The initial program, which was extended in 2009, authorized the repurchase of up to 16 million shares. In October 2019, the Company's Board of
Directors approved a $500 million increase to the program based on the closing stock price on the date of the WellCare Acquisition. Based on the stock price of $66.76, an
additional 7.5 million shares were approved. In February 2021, the Company's Board of Dit¢etors approved an increase in the Company's existing share repurchase program for
its common stock. With the increase, the Company is authorized to repurchase up 10 $1,000 million of shares of the Company's common stock, inclusive of the previously
approved stock repurchase program. As of December 31, 2621, the Company has $80G million remaining under the program for repurchase. No duration has been placed on the
repurchase program. The Company reserves the right to discontinue the repurchase program at any time.
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During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company used divestiture proceeds to purchase2.4 million shares of Centene common stock for £00 nuillien. During the year
end December 31, 2020, the Company used divestiture proceeds to repurchase 8.7 million shares of Centene common stock for 3500 million.

As a component of the employee stock coinpensation plan, employees can use shares of stock which have vested to satisfy statutory tax withholding obligations. As part of this
plan, the Company repurchased 1.1 million shares at an aggregate cost of $78 million in 2021 and 1.6 million shares at an aggregate cost of 3132 million in 2020. These shares
are included in the Company's treasury stock. In addition, the Company withheld 326 thousand shares at aggregate cost of $19 millien, and 407 thousand at an aggregate cost of
$24 million, for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, to meet applicable tax withholding requirements related to the vesting of shares assumed in
connection with the WellCare acquisition. Although these withheld shares are not issued or considered common stock repurchases under a stock repurchase program, they are
treated as common stock repurchases as they reduce the number of shares that would have been issued upon vesting.

In January 2020, the Company issued 171 million shares of Centene common stock with a fair value of $11,431 million and paid $6,079 million in cash in exchange for all the
outstanding shares of WellCare common stock. In addition, the Company recorded $95 million rclated to the fair value of replacement equity awards associated with pre-
combination service.

13 Statutory Capital Requirements and Dividend Restrictions

Various state laws require Centene's regulated subsidiaries to maintain minimum capital levels specified by each state and restrict the amount of dividends that may be paid
without prior regulatory approval. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, Centene's subsidiaries had aggregate statutory capital and surplus of $ 14,039 million and $14,163 miilion,
respectively, compared with the required minimum aggregate statutory capital and surplus of $6,706 million and $5,945 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, the
amount of capital and surplus or net worth that was unavailable for the payment of dividends or return of capital to the Company was $6,706 million in the aggregate.

14. Income Taxes

The consolidated income tax expense consists of the following for the years ended December 31 ($ in millions):

2021 2020 2019

Current provision
Federal 3 507 % 959 § 381
State and local 114 152 41
International 7 4 —
Total current provision 628 1,115 422
Deferred provision (151) (136) 51
Total income tax expense 3 477 % 979 § 473
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The reconciliation of the tax prevision at the U.S. federal statutory rate to income tax expense for the years ended December 31 is as follows ($ in millions):

2021 2020 2019

Earnings before income tax expense $ 1,813 § 2773 8 1,782
Loss (earnings) attributable to flow through noncontrolling interest 2 9 11
Earnings less noncontrolling interest before income tax expense 1.815 2,782 1,793
Tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory rate 381 584 377
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit 63 106 49
Nondeductible compensation 40 54 42
Nendeductible pharmacy settlement 78 — —
Nentaxable divestiture gains 2nd losses (935) —_ —_
ACA Health Insurer Fee — 316 _
Audit settlement _— (Al —_
Valuation Allowance 29 {an —
Nondeductible goodwill — 16 30
Other, net (19 (15) 25

Tncome tax expense b 477 § 978 § 473

The tax e¢ffects of temporary differences which give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented below for the years ended December 31 ($ in millions):

2021 2020
Deferred tax assets:
Medical claims liability $ 120 % 107
Nondeductible liabilities 215 145
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards 357 124
Compensation accruals 205 205
Premium and trade receivables 143 161
Operating lease liability 445 386
Other 112 69
Deferred tax assets 1,597 1,197
Valuation allowance (212} (73)
Net deferred tax assets $ 1,385 1,124
Deferred tax liabilities:
Goodwill and intangible assets $ 1,794 $ 1,805
Prepaid assets 46 13
Fixed assets 409 351
Right of use asset 444 337
Unrealized gainfloss 29 105
Other 70 27
Deferred tax liabilities 2,792 2,658
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ (1,407} § (1,534

As of December 31, 2021, the Company's undistributed earnings from non-1,$. subsidiaries are intended to be indefinitely reinvested in non-U.S. aperations, and therefore no
1.8, deferred taxes have been recorded.

Increases to the net operating loss and fax credit carryforwards and operating lease liability deferred tax assets, as well as the right of use asset deferred tax liability are primarily
related to balances acquired in the Circle transaction.
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Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized. The valuation allowanees primarily relate to future tax
benefits on certain federal, state and foreign net operating loss, federal and state capital loss, and tax credit carryforwards. The 8139 million increase in valuation allowance
primarily relates to tax losses acquired in the Circle transaction that are unlikely to be available to be utilized by the Company due to restrictions en the ability to utilize portions
of the carryforward balances.

Federal net operating loss and eredit carryforwards of $78 million expire beginning in 2022 through 2041; state net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards of $6 million
expire beginning in 2022 through 2041. Substantially all the non-U.S. tax loss carryforwards of $213 million have indefinite carryforward periods.

The Company maintains a reserve for uncertain tax positions that may be challenged by a tax authority. A rollforward of the beginning and ending amount of uncertain tax
positions, exclusive of related interest and penalties, is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020
Gross unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of period ) 354 % 305
Gross increases:
Current year tax positions 9 31
Acquired reserves —_ 118
Prior year tax positions 12 7
Gross decreases:
Settlements (13) (96)
Prior year tax positions (4) (a1
Statute of limitation lapses ) -
Gross unrecognized tax benefits, end of period b 355 % 354

As of December 31, 2021, $308 million of unrecognized tax benefits would impact the Company's effective tax rate in future periods. if recognized. The Company believes it is
reasonably possible that its liability for unrecognized tax benefits will decrease in the next twelve months by $1 million as a result of the expiration of statutes of limitations and
projected audit settlements in certain jurisdictions.

The table above excludes interest and penalties, net of related tax benefits, which are treated as income tax expense (benefit) under the Company's accounting policy. The
Company recognized net interest expense and penalties related to uncertain positions of $1 million expense and $2 million benefit for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. The Company had $43 million and $42 million of accrued interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Company files tax returns for federal as well as numerous state and international tax jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2021, the Company's tax returns are under federal
examination for the tax years 2014 through 2018. The Company is engaged in multiple audit proceedings for its state and foreign filings. Generally, no further state or foreign
audit activity is expected for years prior to 2015.

15. Stock Incentive Plans

The Company's stock incentive plans allow for the granting of restricted stock or restricted stock unit awards and options to purchase common stock. Both incentive stock
options and nonqualified stock options can be awarded under the plans. However, an immaterial amount of options were granted, exercised, or outstanding in 2021. The plans
have 17 million shares available for future awards. Compensation expense for stock options and restricted stock unit awards is recognized on & straight-line basis over the
vesting period, generally three to five years for stock options andone to three years for restricted stock or restricted stock unit awards. Vesting is accelerated byone year for
individuals who qualify under the Company's retirement eligible provisions. Certain restricted stock unit awards contain performance-based as well as service-based provisions.
Certain awards provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control as defined in the plans. The total compensation cost that has been charged against income for the
stock incentive plans was $203 willion, 3281 million and $177 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The total income tax benefit
recognized in the Statements of Operations for stock-bascd compensation arrangements was $35 million, $34 million and $22 million for the years ended December 31, 2021,
2020 and 2019, respectively.
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A summary of the Company’s non-vested restricted stock and restricted stock unit shares as of December 31, 2021, and changes during the year ended December 31, 2021, is
presented below (shares in thousands):

Weighted Average Grant Date Fair

Shares Value
Non-vested balance as of December 31, 2020 7.685 § 62.74
Granted 4478 66.39
Vested (3,809) 62.82
Forfeited {1,212) 60.95
Non-vested balance as of December 31, 2021 7,142 § 65.30

The total fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units vested during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, was 364 million, $364 miilion and 5202
million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, there was %263 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements granted under the
plans; that cost is expected to be recognized aver a weighted-average petiod of 2.1 years.

The Company maintains an employee stock purchase plan and issued516 thousand shares, 487 thousand shares, and 416 thousand shares in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

16. Retirement Plan

Centene has a defined contribution plan which covers substantially all employees who are at least2] years of age. Under the plan, cligible employees may contribute a
percentage of their base salary, subject to certain limitations. Centene may elect to match a portion of the employee's contribution. Company expense related to matching
contributions to the plan was $105 million, $91 million and $64 million during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

17. Commitments

In connection with obtaining regulatory approval of the Fidelis Care acquisition, the Company entered into certain undertakings with the New York State Department of Health
in 2018. These undertakings contain various commitments by the Company cffective upon completion of the Fidelis Care acquisition. One of the undertakings includes a
$340 million contribution by the Company to the State of New York to be paid over a five-year period for initiatives consistent with the Company’s mission of providing high
quality healthcare to vulnerable populations within New York State. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has paid $272 million.

The Company also committed to certain undertakings with the California Department of Insurance and the California Department of Managed Health Care in connection with
obtaining regulatory approval of the Health Net acquisition in 2016, The Health Net commitments related to the undertakings are as follows:

+  invest an additional $30 million through the California Organized Investument Network over thefive years following completion of the acquisition, and the Company
fulfilled this undertaking in 2020;

«  build a service center in an economically distressed communmity in California, investing £200 million over 10 years and employing at least 300 people, of which the
Company has incurred $89 million through 2021;

«  contribute $65 million to improve enrcllee health outcomes ($10 million over five years), support locally-based consumer assistance programs ($5 million over five
years) and strengthen the healthcare delivery system ($5¢ million over five years), of which the Company has contributed $43 million through 2021 and expeets to
comtribuie the remaining portion by March 31, 2022; and

+ invest $75 million of its investment portfolio in vehicles supporting California's healtheare infrastrucrure, of which the Company has invested $4 million through 2021.
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18. Contingencies

Overview
The Company is routinely subjected to legal and regulatory proceedings in the normal course of business. These matters can include, without limitation:

= periodic compliance and other reviews and investigations by various federal and state regulatory agencies with respect to requirements applicable to the Company's
business, including, without limitation, those related to payment of out-of-network claims, submissions to CMS for risk adjustment payments or the False Claims Act,
the calculation of minimum medical loss ratios and rebates related thereto, submissions to state agencies related to payments or state false claims acts, pre-authorization
penalties, timely review of grievances and appeals, timely and accurate payment of claims, and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and other
federal and state fraud, waste and abuse laws;

= litigation arising out of general business activities, such as tax matters, disputes related to healthcare benefits coverage or reimbursement, putative securitics class actions
and medical malpractice, privacy, real estate, intellectual property and employment-related claims; and

= disputes regarding reinsurance arrangements, claims arising out of the acquisition or divestiture of various assets, class actions and claims relating to the performance of
contractual and non-contractual obligations to providers, members, employer groups and others, including, but net limited to, the alleged failure to properly pay claims
and challenges to the manner in which the Company processes claims, claims related to network adequacy and claims alleging that the Company has engaged in unfair
business practices.

Among other things, these matters may result in awards of damages, fines or penaltics, which could be substantial, and/or could require changes to the Company's business. The
Company intends to vigorously defend itself against legal and regulatory proceedings to which it is currently a party; however, these proceedings are subject to many
uncertainties, In some of the cases pending against the Company, substantial non-economic or punitive damages are being sought.

The Company records reserves and accrues costs for certain legal proceedings and regulatory matters to the extent that it determines an unfavorable outcome is probable and the
amount of the loss can he reasonably estimated. While such reserves and accrued costs reflect the Company's best estimate of the probable loss for such matters, the recorded
amounts may differ materially from the actual amount of any such losses. In some cases, no estimate of the possible loss or range of loss in excess of amounts accrued, if any,
can be made because of the inherently unpredictable nature of legal and regulatory proceedings, which may be exacerbated by various factors, including but not limited to, they
may invalve indeterminate claims for monetary damages or may involve fines, penalties or punitive damages; present novel legal theories or legal uncertainties; involve
disputed facts; represent a shift in regulatory policy; involve a large number of parties, claimants or regulatory bodies; are in the early stages of the proceedings; involve a
number of separate proceedings and/or a wide range of potential outcomes; or result in a change of business practices.

As of the date of this report, amounts accrued for legal proceedings and regulatory matters were not material, except for the reserve estimate as described below with respect to
claims or potential claims involving services provided by Envolve Pharmacy Solutions, Inc. (Envolve), as the Company's pharmacy benefits manager subsidiary. It is possible
that in 2 particular quarter or annual period the Company's financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and/or liquidity could be materially adversely affected by an
ultimate unfavorable resolution of or development in legal and/or regulatory proceedings, including as described below. Except for the proceedings discussed below, the
Company believes that the ultimate outcome of any of the regulatory and legal procecdings that are cutrently pending against it should not have a material adverse effect on
financial condition, results of operations, cash flow or liquidity.

California

On October 20, 2015, the Company's California subsidiary, Health Net of California, Inc. (Health Net California), was named as a defendant in a California taxpayer action
filed in Los Angeles County Superior Court, captioned as Michael D. Myers v. Statc Board of Equalization, Dave Jones, Insurance Commissioner of the State of California,
Betty T. Yee, Controller of the State of California, et al., Los Angeles Superior Coutt Case No. BS158655. This action is brought under a California statute that pennits an
individual taxpayer to sue a governmental agency when the taxpayer believes the agency has failed to enforce governing law. Plaintiff contends that Health Net California, a
California licensed Health Care Service Plan (HCSP), is an "insurer” for purposes of taxation despite acknowledging it is not an "insurer” under regulatory law. Under
California law,
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"insurers” must pay a gross premiums tax (GPT), calculated as 2.35% on gross premiums. As a licensed HCSP, Health Net California has paid the California Corporate
Franchise Tax (CFT), the tax generally paid by California busincsses. Plaintiff contends that Health Net California must pay the GPT rather than the CFT. Plaintiff seeks a writ
of mandate directing the Califomia taxing agencies to collect the GPT, and secks an order requiring Health Net California to pay GPT, interest and penalties for a period dating
10 eight years prior to the October 2615 filing of the complaint. This lawsuit is being coordinated with similar lawsuits filed against other entities (collectively, Related Actions).
In March 2018, the Court overruled the Company's demurrer seeking 1o dismiss the complaint and denied the Company's motion to strike allegations seeking retroactive relief.
In August 2018, the trial court stayed all the Related Actions pending determination of a writ of mandate by the California Court of Appeals in two of the Related Actions. In
March 2019, the California Court of Appeals denied the writ of mandate. The defendants in those Related Actions sought review by the California Supreme Court, which
declined to review the matter. Upon the return of the matter to the Los Angeles County Superior Court, motions for sunmary judgment were scheduled. Health Net California’s
motion for summary judgment was heard by the Court in March 2020. In March 2020, the Court granted Health Net California’s motion for summary judgment. In September
2020, the plaintiff appealed the Court’s decision. The Company intends to continue its vigorous defense against these claims; however, this maiter is subject to many
unicertainties, and an adverse outcome in this matter could potentially have a materially adverse impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.

Beginning in Aprit 2021, several lawsuits have been filed against the Company and its subsidiaries, alleging that the defendants failed to prevent Health Net members’ personal
and health data from being exposed in connection with a data breach involving Accellion's File Transfer Appliance. The Company denies any wrongdoing and has filed a
separate lawsuit against Accellion in Delaware seeking indemnity for these claims. In December 2021, the plaintiffs in three of the pending actions filed a motion for
preliminary approval of a settlement with the Company and its subsidiaries, which, if approved by the court, should reselve most or all of the pending litigation. In addition,
claims related to these lawsuits are anticipated to be covered in part by the Company’s insurance carrier. As a result, while these matters are subject to many uncertainties, the
Company does not believe that an adverse outcome in these matters is likely to have a materially adverse impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and
cash flows.

Pharmacy Benefity Management Matters

On March 11, 2021, the State of Ohio filed a civil action against the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries, Buckeye Health Plan Community Solutions, Inc. and Envolve,
in Franklin County Court of Common Pleas, captioned as Ohio Department of Medicaid, et al. v. Centene Corporation, et al. The complaint alleged breaches of contract with
the Ohio Department of Medicaid relating to the provision of pharmacy benefits management (PBM} services and violations of Ohio law relating to such contracts, including
among other things, by (i) seeking payment for services already reimbursed, (i) not accurately disclosing to the Ohio Department of Medicaid the true cost of the PBM services
and (iii) inflating dispensing fees for prescription drugs. The plaintiffs sought an undisclosed sum of money in damages, penalties, and possible termination of the contract with
Buckeye Health Plan.

The Company has reached no-fauli agreemenis with the Atiorney Generals innine states, including Ohio, to resolve claims and/or allegations made by the states related to
services provided by Envolve. As a result of the settlement, the Ohio Attorney General’s litigation against the Company was dismissed. Additionally, the Company is in
discussions to bring final resclution to similar concerns in other affecied states. Consisteni with those discussions, the Company recorded a reserve estimate of $1,250 million in
the second quarter of 2021 related to this issue, inclusive of the above settlements and rebates that the Company determined in the course of the matter are payable across
products. Additional claims, reviews or investigations relating to the Company’s PBM business across products may be brought by other slates, the federal government or
shareholder litigants, and there is no guaraniee the Company will have the ability to settle such claims with other states within the reserve estimate the Company has recorded
and on other acceptable terms, or at all. This matter is subject to many uncertainties, and an adverse outcome in this matter could have an adverse impact on the Company's
financial position, results of operations and cash flows,
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19, Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted net eamings per common share for the years ended December 31 (5 in millions, except per share data in
dollars and shares in thousands):

2021 2020 2019
Earnings attributable to Centene Corporation $ 1,347 § 1,808 3% 1,321
Shares used in computing per share amounts:
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 582,832 570,722 413,487
Common stock equivalents (as determined by applying the treasury stock method} 7,684 8.413 6,922
Weighted average number of common shares and potential dilutive commeon shares outstanding 590,516 579,135 420,409
Net camings per eommon share attributable to Centene Corporation:
Basic earnings per commeon share b 231 % 317 8 3119
Diluted earnings per common share 3 228 % 312 ¢ 3.14

The calculation of diluted earnings per common share for 2021, 2020 and 2019 excludes the impact o4 thousand shares, 398 thousand shares and 1,048 thousand shares,
respectively, related to anti-dilutive stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units.

20. Segment Information

Centene operates in two segments: Managed Care and Specialty Services. The Managed Care segment consists of Centene’s health plans, including all of the functions needed
to operate them. The Specialty Services segment consists of Centene’s specialty companies offering auxiliary healthcare services and products. Factors used in determining the
reportable business segments include the nature of operating activities, the existence of separate senior management teams, and the type of information presented to the
Company's chief operating decision-maker to evaluate all results of operations. The Company does not report total assets by segment since this is not a metric used to allocate
resources or evaluate segment performance. Segment information for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 have been conformed to the 2021 presentation of segment
eliminations.

Segment information for the year ended December 31, 2021, follows (5 in millions);

Specialty Consolidated
Managed Care Services Eliminations Total
Total revenues from external customers S 120,119 § 5863 § — 3 125,982
Total revenucs from internal customers 6 12,789 {12,795) —
Total revenues 3 120,125 § 18,652 § (12,795) § 125,982
Earnings from operations 3 1,789 § 5) § — 3 1,784
Segment information for the year ended December 31, 2020, follows ($ in millions):
Specialty Consolidated
Managed Care Services Eliminations Total
Total revenues from external customers b3 106,862 % 4253 § — % 111,115
Total revenues from internal customers 5 10,741 {10,746) —
Total revenues £ 106,867 § 14,994 § (10,746} § 111,115
Earnings from operations $ 3,031 % 51 % — § 3,082
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Segment information for the year ended December 31, 2019, follows ($ in millions):

Total revenues from external customers
Total revenues from internal customers

Total revenues

Earnings from operations

Specialty Consolidated
Managed Care Services Eliminations Total
$ 71,209 8§ 3430 § — $ 74,639
4 9,348 (9,352) —
$ 71,213 § 12778 % (9,352) § 74,639
3 1,806 § 25) § — 8 1,781

21. Condensed Financial Information of Registrant

Centene Corporatien (Parent Company Only)
Condensed Balance Sheets
(In millions, except shares in thousands and per share data in dollars)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Other current assets
Total current assets
Long~term investments
Investment in subsidiaties
Other Jong-term assets
Total assets

December 31,

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Redeemable noncontrolling interest
Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; authorized 10,000 shares; no shares issued or outstanding at December 31, 2021 and

December 31, 2020

Common stock, $0.001 par value; authorized 800,000 shares; 602,704 issued and 582,479 outstanding at December 31, 2021, and

598,249 issued and 581,479 outstanding at December 31, 2020
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive eamings
Retained earnings
Treasury stock, at cost 20,225 and 16,770 shares, respectively)
Tatal Centene stockholders' equity
Noncontrolling interest
Total stackholders' equity

Total liabilitics, redeemable nencontrolling interests and stockholders' equity

2021 2020
$ $ 668
1 1
738 24
748 693
128 129
45,117 41,565
7 101
[; 46264 § 42 488
$ 619 8 133
14 —
633 133
18,148 16,393
461 —
19,242 16,526
82 77
1 1
19,672 19,459
77 337
8,139 6,792
(1,094) (816)
26,795 25,773
145 112
26,940 25 885
3 46264 S 42,488

See notes to condensed financial information of registrant.
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Centene Corporation (Parent Company Only)
Condensed Statements of Operations
(In millions, except per share data in dollars)

Year Ended December 31,

021 2020 2019
Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 9 § 13 % 11
Contingent consideration — n (24)
Legal settlement 1,116 — —
Other income (expense):
Investment and other income 38 5 11
Gain on divestiture 118 104 —_
Debt extinguishment costs {125} 61} 30
Interest expense (641) {723) (394)
Loss before income taxes (1,73%) (687) {400)
Income tax benefit (308) 331) (172)
Net (loss) before equity in subsidiaries (1,427 (356) (228)
Equity in earnings from subsidiaries 2,763 2,150 1,537
Net earnings 1,336 1,794 1,309
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 11 14 12
Net earnings attributable to Centene $ 1,347 § 1,808 § 1,321
Net earnings per share:
Basic earnings per common share $ 231 % 317 8 319
$ 228 % 312 3 3.4

Diluted earnings per common share

Sec notes to condensed financial information of registrant.
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Centene Corporation (Parent Company Only)
Cendensed Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities:
Dividends from subsidiaries, retum on investment 3 2,194 § 739 % 429
Payments for legal settlement (298) — —
Other operating activities, net (582) (287) 231)
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,314 452 198
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital contributions to subsidiaries (1,217 (761) 7131)
Purchases of investments (723} (1 (124)
Sales and maturities of investments 66 11 —_
Dividends from subsidiarics, return of investment 241 87 291
Investments in acquisitions {151) (7,188) {302)
Proceeds from divestitures, net 130 533 —
Intercompany activities {1,709) 1,185 140
Other investing activities, net — (12) —
Net cash used in investing activities (3,363) (6,256) (726)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt 9,066 4,370 24,647
Payments of long-term debt {7,207y (3,875) (17,778}
Common stock repurchases 297 {626) (75)
Payments for debt extinguishment (157) (81} 23)
Dbt issuance costs (72) (120) (25}
Other financing activities, net 57 47 33
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,380 215 6,779
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (659} (5,589} 6,251
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of peried 668 6,257 6
Cash and cash eguivalents, end of period $ 9 8 668 8 6,257

See notes to condensed financial information of registrant.
Notes to Condensed Financial Information of Registrant
Note A - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

The parent company only financial statements should be read in conjunction with Centene Corporation's audited consolidated financial statements and the notes fo consolidated
financial statements included in this Form 10-K.

The parent company's investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost plus equity in undistributed earnings of the subsidiaries. The parent company's share of net income of its
unconsolidated subsidiaries is included in income using the equity method of accounting. Certain unrestricted subsidiaries receive menthly management fees from the
Company's restricted subsidiaries. The management and service fees received by its unrestricted subsidiaries are associated with all of the functions required to manage the
restricted subsidiaries including but not limited 10 salaries and wages for all personnel, rent, utilities, population health management, provider coniracting, compliance, member
services, claims processing, information technology, cash management, finance and accounting, and other services. The management fees are based either on a percentage of the
restricted subsidiaries' revenue or a cost basis reimbursement.
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Due to the Company's centralized cash management function, cash flows generated by its untestricted subsidiaries are wtilized by the parent company to the extent required,
primarily to repay borrowings on the parent company’s credit facilities, make acquisitions, fund capital contributions to subsidiaries and fund its operations.

Certain amounts presented in the parent company only financial statements are elininaled in the consolidated financial statements ot Centene Corporation.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item YA. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disc¢losure Controls and Procedures - Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2021. The term "disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e} and [5d-15(e)
under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure
rontrels and procedures include, without limitation, controls and provedwes designed (o ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files
or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company's management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefil relationship of possible controls
and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2021, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded
that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Management's Report on Internal Contrel Over Financial Reporting- Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate iniernal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15({f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectivencss of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, Based on our evaluation
under the framework in fnternal Controf - Integrated Framework (2013), our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective at the
reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2021. Our management's assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2021, has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting- WNo change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f} and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) occurred during the year ended Dlecember 31, 2021, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Centene Corporation:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Centene Corporation and subsidiaries' (the Company) intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in
Interngl Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited. in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB). the consolidated balance sheets of the
Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive eamings, stockholders' cquity, and cash flows for each of the
years in the threc-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 22, 2022
expressed an ungualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s managenient is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Repott on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCADB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internat control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Qver Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of finuncial reporting and the preparation of
financia! statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that recetpts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations. intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatermnents. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are suhject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

/st KPMG 1P

St. Louis, Missouri
Febl’uary 22,2022
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C, Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
Not applicable

PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
(a) Directors of the Registrant

Information concerning our directors will appear in our Proxy Staternent for our 2022 annual meeting of stockholders under "Proposal One: Election of Directors.” This portion
of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

(b} Information about our Executive Officers

Pursuant to General Instraction G(3) to Form 18-K and the Instruction te Ttem 401 of Regulation $-K, information regarding our executive officers is provided in Item 1 of Part
I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption "Information about our Executive Officers.”

Information concemning our executive officers’ compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act will appear in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 annual meeting of
stockholders under "Delinquent Section 16{a) Reports™, if applicable.

(c) Corporate Governance

Information concerning certain corporate governance matters will appear in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 annual meeting of stockholders under "Corporate Governance and
Risk Management." These portions of our Proxy Statement are incorporated herein by reference.

Information concerning our audit committee financial expert and identification of our audit committee will appcar in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 annual meeting of
stockholders under "Board of Directors Committees.” Information conceming our code of ethics will appear in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 annual meeting of
stockholders under "Corporate Gavernance and Risk Management.” These portions of our Proxy Statement are incorporated herein by reference.

Ttem 11, Executive Compensation

Information concerning executive compensation will appear in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under "Information About Executive
Compensation.” Information concerning Compensation Committee interlocks and insider participation will appear in the Proxy Statement for our 2022 Annual Meeting of
Stackholders under "Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.” These portiens of the Proxy Statement are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managenment and Related Stockholder Matters
Information concerning the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and our equity compensation plans will appear in our Proxy Statement for our

2022 annual meeting of stockholders under "Information About Stock Ownership” and "Equity Compensation Plan Information.” These portiens of the Proxy Statement are
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Information concerning director independence, certain relationships and related transactions will appear in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 annual mecting of stockholders

under "Corporate Governance and Risk Management," "Director Independence” #nd "Related Party Transactions." These portions of our Proxy Statement are incorporated
herein by reference.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Our independent registered public accounting firm isKPMG LLP, $t. Louis, MO. The Auditor Firm 1D is 185.

Information concerning principal accountant fecs and services will appear in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 annual meeting of stockholders under "Proposal Three:
Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm." This portien of our Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules
The following documents are filed under Item 8 of this report:
1. Financial Siatements:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheeis as of December 31, 2021 and 2020

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

i

Financial Statement Schedules:

None.

3. The exhibits tisted in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this filing.
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Agreement and Plun of Merger, dated as of March 26, 2019, by and among

Centene Corporation, Wellington Merger Sub |, Inc.. Wellington Merger
Sub {l. Ine.. and WellCare Health Plans, Ine.

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Junuary 4, 2021, by and among
Centene Corperation, Maytlower Merger Sub, Inc. and Mageilan Health
Inc,

Aincnded and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Centene
Corporation, dated April 27, 2021

By-laws of Centene Corporation, as amended and restated effective as of
December 14, 2021

[ndenture, dated as of December 6. 2019, by and between Centenc
Corporation, as issuer, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A | as trustee, relating 1o the Company’s 4. 25% Senior Notes

due 2027 ¢including the Form of Global Note attached thereto)

Indenture, dated as of December 6, 2019, by and between Centene
Corporatien, as issuer, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company, NA,_ as trugtee, relating to the Company’s 4.623% Seniior Notes
due 2029 (including the Form of Global Note attached thereto)

Indenture, dated as of February 13, 2020, by and between Centene
Corporation. as issuer, and The Bank of New York Meilon Trust

Company, N.A . as trustee, relating to the Company's 3.375% Senior Notes
duc 2030 {including the Form of Glebal Note attached thereto)

Base Indenture, dated as of Qctober 7, 2020, between the Company_and
The Bank of New York Mellen Trust Company, N A, as trusiee

First Supplemental Indenture. dated as of October 7. 2020, between the
Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A L as
{rustee

Sccond Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 17, 2021, between
the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Contpany. N A as

rustee

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 1. 2021, between the
Company and The Bank of New York Melton Trust Company, N.A., as
Lrustee

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August §2, 2021, between the
Company, N.A . ax

Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

trusiee

2002 Fmplovee Stock Purchase Plan, Ay Amended and Restated

Amendment No 1 to the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, As
Amended and Restated

Centene Corporation 2012 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended

Amended and Restated Non-Employee Directors Deferred Stock
Compensation Plan
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March 27, 2019

January 4, 2021

April 30, 2021

December 14, 2021
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December 6, 2019
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October 7, 2020
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February 17,2021

July 1, 2021

August 12, 2021
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July 28, 2015
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Amended and Restated Voluntary Nonqualified Deterred Compensation Plan
Centene Corporation 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as Amended

Centene Corpyration Shor1-Term Executive Compensation Plan

Execcmive Emplovinent Agreeiment between Centene Corporation amd
Michael F. Nejdorff, dated November %, 2004

Amendment No, 1 to Executive Employment Agreement between Centene

Corporation and Michael F. Neidorft’
Amendmient No. 2 1o Executive Employment Apreement between Centene
LCorporation and Michacl F. Neidorff

Amcndm_enl No. 3 to Executive Employment Agreement between Centene
Corporation and Michael F. Neidorff
Amendm_enl No. 4 10 Executive Employiment Agrcement between Centene
Corporation and Michael F. Neidorff

Amendment No_ 5 to Executive Employment Agreement between Centenc
Corporation and Michael T. Neidortt

Amendiment Ng, 6 to Executive Employment Agreement between Centene
Corporation and Michael F. Neidorff

Amendment No 7. to Executive Emploviment Agreetnent between Centenc
Corporation and Michael F. Neidorft

Amendment No.8 1o Executive Employment Agreement between Cenlene
Corporation and Michael F. Neidorff

Form of Execytive Severance and Change in Control Agreement

Amendment No. 1 1e Form of Executive Severance and Change in Control
Agreement

Amendment No. 2 to Form of Executive Severance and Change in Control
Agreement

Form of Non-statgtery Stock Option Agreement {(Employees)

Form of Non-statutory Stock Option Agreement (Employees) ¥2

Form of Nen-ytamtery Stock Option Agreemen) {Direciors)
Form of Incenjive Stock Option Agreement
Form ot Restricted Stock Unit Agrecment #1

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement #2 {under the 2012 Srock Incentine
Plan, As Amendedy

Form of Performance Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement 41

Form of Pertopmance Based Restricied Stock Unit Agreement #2 {under the
2012 Stock Ingentive Plan, As Amended)

Form of Long_Term Incentive Plan Agreement 41
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10-K
10-K
10-K
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10-Q
10-Q
10-Q
8K
8K

8-K

10-Q
10-Q

10-Q

10-Q
10-K

10-K
10-Q
10-K
8K

10-K
8K

10-K

February 19, 2019
February 22, 2021
February 22, 2011
November 9, 2004

October 28, 2008
April 28, 2009
October 23, 2012
May 16, 2013
December 14, 2016

February 4, 2019

October 28, 2008
October 23, 2012

April 28, 2015

October 28, 2008
February 22, 2021

February 23, 2009
Gctober 28, 2008
February 21, 2017
December 21, 2020

February 21, 2017
December 21, 2020

February 21, 2017

10.6
10.6
10.12
10.1
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10.2
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10.3

10.1
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10.20
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10.26 *

10.27

1028 *

10.29 *

10,30 *

10.31 *

10.32

21
23

31.1

321
322

Form of Long-Term Incentive Plan Agreement #2 (under the 2447 Long.
Term Incentive Plan, As Amended}

f WellCare Heaith Plans, Tnc

Amendment No. 1 to the 2019 Incentive Compensation Plan of WellCare
Health Plans, Inc., dated as of January 23, 2020

WellCare Health Plans, Inc. Executive Severance Mlan. as amended and
restated

P

Executive Employment Agreement between Centene Corporation and
Kenneth Burdick, dated May 30, 2019

Transition Services Agreement between Centene Corporation and Kenneth
Burdick. dated February 21, 2020

Consulting Services Agreement between Centene Corporation and
Kenneth Burdick, dated January 23, 2021

Fourth Amended a i

2021, among the Cmnndn\/ Wclls Fargo Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent, and the lendets and other parties thereto

Letier Agrecment, dated May 4, 2021, by and between Centene
Corporation and Andrew Asher

Separation Agreement and Release between Centene Corporation and
Jeftrey Schwaneke, dated September 26, 2021

Transition Agreement between Centene Corporation and Jesse Hunter
dated October 26, 2021

Separation Avreement and General Release between Centene Manageiment
Company L1.C and Jesse N. Hunter, dated November 5, 2021

Cooperation Agresment between Centene Corporation and Politan Capital
Management LP, dated December 14, 2021
List of subsidiaries

Consent of Independent Repistered Public Accounting Firn incorporated
by reference in each prospectus constituting part of the Registration
Statements on Form S-8 (File Numbers 333-261993, 333.255735, 333-
238597, 333-236036, 333-217634, 333-210376, 333-197737, 333-180976
333-10%467, and 333-90976) and en Form $-3 (File Nurabers 333-238050

and 333-209252‘!

AL[ us f\du ted PU[‘blldﬂI to Secuon 302 of the %rhanes Oxley Act of
2002 (Chief Executive Officer)

Certification Pursuant to Rule [3a-14{u) and 15d-14(a) of the Exchange
Act. us Adopted Pursyant te Section 302 of the Sarbunes-Oxley Act of

2002 (Chiet Financial Officer}
Certification Puwrsuant to 18 LS. C Section 1350 (Chief Exccutive Officer
Cerification Pursuant to 18 U.8.C. Section 1350 (Chief Financial Ofticer)
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8-K

10-Q
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December 21, 2020

April 8, 2019
January 23, 2020

February 12, 2019
February 22, 2021
February 22, 2021
February 22, 2021

August 18, 2021

July 27, 2021

October 26, 2021

TDrecemnber 14, 2021
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101 The following materials from the Centene Corporation Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, formatted in iXBRL {Inline
Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Conseclidated Balance Sheets, {ii)
the Consolidated Statements of Operations, (111} the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Eamings, (iv) the Congsolidated Statements of Stockholders'
Equity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (vi) related notes.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL docwment)

1 SEC File No. 001-32269
+ Schedules (as similar attachments) have been omitted from this filing pursuant to Ttem 601(a}5) of Regulation 5-K.
* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report te be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, theteunto duly authorized, as of February 22, 2022.
CENTENE CORPORATION

By: /s/ Michael F. Neidorff

Michael F. Neidorff
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities as indicated, as of February 22, 2022,
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Signature

Title

/s/ Michael F, Neidorff

Michael ¥, Neidorff
s/ Andrew L. Asher

Andrew L, Asher
/s/ Katie N. Casso

Katie N, Casso

/s/ Orlando Ayala

Orlando Ayala

/s/ Jessica L.. Blume

Jessica L, Blume

/s/ Kenneth A, Burdick

Kenneth A, Burdick
/s/ Christopher J. Coughlin

Christopher J, Coughlin
/s/ H. James Dallas

H. James Dallas
/s/ Wayne & DeVaydt

Wayne 5. DeVeydt
/s/ Fred H. Eppinger

Fred H. Eppinger
/s/ Richard A. Gephardt

Richard A. Gephardt
/s/ Sarah M. London

Sarah M. London
/s/ Leslie V. Norwalk

Leslie V. Norwalk

/s/ Lori J. Robinson

Lori J. Robinson

s/ Theodore R. Samuels

Theodore R, Samuels

/s William [.. Trubeck

William L. Trubeck

11

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
{principal executive officer)

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer)
Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer

(principal accounting officer)

Diirector

Director

Durector

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director



Exhibit 4.1

DESCRIPTION OF CENTENE COMMON STOCK
Authorized Capital Stock of Centene

The Centene amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the total number of shares of capital stock which may be issued by Centene is 810,000,000,
consisting of 800,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per sharc, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share.

Voting Rights

The holders of Centene common stock arce entitled to one vote on each matter submitted for their votc at any meeting of Centenc stockholders for each share of Centene
common stock held as of the record date for the meeting, including the election of directors. Holders of Centene common stock do not have cumulative voting rights.

Gengraily, the affirmative vote of the holders of a majerity of the total number of votes cast of Centenc capital stock represented at a meeting and entitled to vote on a matter is
required in order to approve such matter.

Liquidation Rights

In the event that Centen is liquidated, dissolved or wound up, the holders of Centene common stock will be entitled to share ratably in all asscts remaining after the payment of
liabilitics, subject to any rights of holders of Centene preferred stock prior to distribution.

Dividends
Subject to any preference rights of holders of Centene preferred stock, the holders of Centene commeon stock are entitled to receive dividends and other distributions in cash,
stock or propcrty, if any, declared from time to time by the Centene Board out of legally available funds.

Fully Paid and Non-Assessable

All outstanding shares of Centcne common stock are fully paid and non-assessable.

No Preempfive Rights or Conversion Rights

The Centene common stock has ne preemptive or conversion rights or other subscription rights.
No Redemption Rights or Sinking Fund

No redemption or sinking fund provisions apply to the Centene common stock.

NYSE Listing

Centene common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “CNC.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for the Centene common stock is Broadridge Corporate Tssuer Solutions. Inc.
Anti-takeover Provisions

Some of the provisions in the Centene amended and restated certificate of incorporation, the Centene amended and restated by-laws and the DGCL could have the following
effects, among others:

delaying. deferring or preventing a change in control of Centene;

delaying, deferring or preventing the removal of Centene's existing management or directors;

deterring potential acquircrs fromy making an offer to the Centenc stockholders; and

limiting the Centene stockholders' opportunity to realize premiums over prevailing market prices of Centene common stock in connection with offcrs by potential
acquirers.

LR )

The following is a summary of some of the provisions in the Centene amended and restated certificate of incorporation and the Centene amended and restated by-laws that
could have the effects described above. Centenc belicyves that the bencfits of increased protection of its potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or
unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure Centene cutweigh the disadvantages of discouraging




takeover or acquisition proposals because negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.
Delaware Business Combination Statute

Centene must comply with Scction 203 of the DGCTL, an anti-takcover law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business
combination™ with an “interested stockholder™ for a period of three years following the date the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination or the
transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder is approved in a prescribed manner or certain other exceptions are met. Generally, a “business combination™
includes a merger, assct or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to an intercsted stockholder. An “interested stockholder” includes a person who,
together with affiliates and associates, owns, or did own within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status, 15% or more of the corporation’s veting
stock. The existenee of this provision generally will have an anti-takeover effect for transactions not approved in advance by the Centene Board, including discouraging
attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares of common stock held by stockhelders.

Actions at Meetings of Stockholders; Special Meetings

Centenc’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws require that any action required or permitted to be taken by Centene’s
stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of the stockholders and may not be effected by a consent in wniting. In addition, special meetings of
Centene's stockholders may be called enly by the Centene Board, the chairman of the Centene Board or Centene’s chicf executive officer. These provisions may have the effect
of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying or preventing changes in control or management of Centenc.

Classified Board of Directors

Centenc’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws provide that the Centene Board is divided into threc classes of directors serving
staggered threc-year terms. Each class, to the extent possible, will be cqual in number. Each class holds office until the third annual stockholders’ meeting for election of
directors following the most recent election of such ¢lass.

Directors, and Not Stockholders, Fix the Size of the Centene Board

Centene’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws provide that the number of directors will be fixed from time to time exclusively
pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Centene Board, but in no cvent will it consist of less than five nor more than 14 directors,

Board Vacancies to Be Filled by Remaining Directors and Not Stockholders

Under Centene’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws, any vacancy on the Centene Board created by any reason prior to the
expiration of the term in which the vacancy eccurs will be filled by a majority of the remaining directors, even if less than a quorum. A director elected to fill a vacancy will be
elected for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor.

Advance Notice for Stockholder Proposals

Centene’s amended and restated by-laws contain provisions requiring that advance notice be delivered to Centene of any business to be brought by a stockholder before an
annual meeting and providing for procedures to be followed by Centene stockholders in nominating persons for clection to the Centene Board. Ordinarily, the stockholder must
give notice not less than 120 days nor more than 150 days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that
the date of the meeting is not within 30 days before or 70 days after such date, netice by the stockholder must be received no carlier than 120 days prior to such meeting and no
later than the later of 70 days prior to the mecting or the 10th day following the day on which public disclosure of the date of the annual meeting was first made by Centene. The
notice must include 2 description of the proposal, the reasons for the proposal, and other specificd matters. The Centene Board may reject any proposals that have not followed
these procedures.

Limitation on Liability of Directors; Indemnification

Centene’s amended and restated certificate of incorpotation provides that no director shali be personally liable to Centenc or any of its stockholders for monetary damages for
breach of fiduciary duty as a dircetor, except to the extent such exemption from liability or limitation thereof is not permitted under the DGCI. as the same exists or may



hereafter be amended. If the DGCL is amended hercafier to authorize the further elimination or {imitation of the liability of directors, then the lability of directors shall be
eliminated or limited to the fullest extent authorized by the DGCL, as so amended. Centenc’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation further provides that any repeal
or modification of this limitation of liability by the Centenc stockholders shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of Centenc existing at the time of such
repeal or modification with respect to acts or omissions eccurring prior to such repeal or modification.

Centenc’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation requires that Centene indemnify its directors and officers to the fullest extent authorized or permitted by law, as
now or hereafter in effect. and that such right to indemmification shall continue as o a person whe has ceased to be a director or officer and shall inure to the benefit of his or her
heirs, exceutors and personal and legal representatives, Except for proceedings to enforce rights to indemmification, however, Centene shall not be obligated to indemnify in
connection with a procecding (or part thereof) if such director, officer or successor in interest initiated such proceeding (or part thercof) unless such proceeding was authorized
or consented to by the Centene Board. The right to indemnification includes the right to be paid the expenses incurred in defending or otherwise participating in any proceeding
in advance of its final disposition. Any repeal or modification by the stockholders of indemnification or advancement rights shall not adverscly affect any rights to
indemnification and to the advancement of ¢xpenses of a director or officer of Centenc existing at the time of such repeal or modification with respect to any acts or omissions
occurring prior to such repeal or modification.

The Centene Board may in its discretion provide rights to indemnification and to the advancement of expenses to employces and agents of Centene simiilar to thosc described
above.

The inclusion of thesc provisions in the Centenc amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws may have the effect of reducing the
likelihood of derivative litigation against Centene’s directors and may discourage or deter Centene or its stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against Centene's directors for
breach of their duty of care, cven though such an action, if successful, might otherwise have benefited Centene and its stockholders.

General Provisions Related to Centene Preferred Stock

The following is a description of gencral terms and provisions of the Centenc preferred stock. All of the terms of the Centene preferred stock are, or will be contained in
Centcne’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation, or in one or more certificates of designation relating to cach series of the preferred stock.

The Centene Board is authorized, without further stockholder approval but subject to applicable rules of the NYSE and any limitarions prescribed by law, to issue up to ten
million shares of preferred stock from time to time. The Centenc Board has the discretion to provide for the issuance of all or any shares of preferred stock in one or mere
classes or series, and to fix for each such class or series such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designations, preferences and relative, participating,
optional or other special Tights and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, as shall be stated and expressed in the resolution or resolutions adepted by the board of
directors providing for the issuance of such class or serics, including, without limitation, the authority to provide that any such class or series may be:

+  subject to redemption at such time or times and at such price or prices;

+ entitled to receive dividends (which may be cumulative or non-cumulative) at such rates, on such conditiens, and at such times, and payable in preference fo, or in such
relation to, the dividends payable on any other class or classes or any other series;

+  entitled to such rights upon the dissolution of Centene or upon any distribution of Centene's assets; or

»  convertible into, ar exchangeable for. shares of any other class or classcs of stock or of any other series of the same or any other class or classes of stock of Centene at
such price or prices or at such rates of exchange and with such adjustments as the board may determine,

The purpese of authorizing the Centene Board to issue preferred stock and determine its rights and preferences is to climinate delays associated with a stockhelder vote on
specific issuances. The isshance of preferred stock may provide desirable flexibility in conncction with possible acquisitions and other corporate purpases, but could have the
cffect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire. or could discourage a third party from acquiring, a majority of Centene’s outstanding voting stock.

Certain Effects of Autherized but Unissued Stock

Centene may issue additional shares of common stock or preferred stock without stockholder approval, subject to applicable rules of the NYSE and Delaware law. for a varicty
of corporate purposes, including future public or private offerings to raise additional capital, corporate acquisitions, and emplayee benefit plans and cquity grants.



The existence of unissued and unreserved common and preferred stock may enable Centene to issuc shares to persons who are friendly to current management, which could
discourage an attempi to obtain control of Centene by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise. Centenc will not solicit approval of its stockholders for
issuance of common and preferred stock unless the Centene Board believes that approval is advisable or is required by applicable rules of the NYSE or Delaware law.



EXHIBIT 10.8¢

AMENDMENT OF EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDMENT OF EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT is entered into as of October 26, 2021, by and between
Centene Corporation, a Delaware corporation, together with its successors and assigns permitted under this Agreement (“Employer™), and
Michael F. Neidorff (the “Executive™).

WHEREAS, the parties entered into that certain Executive Employment Agreement dated as of November 8, 2004, which has been
amended from time to time (“Agreement™); and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the Agreement as set forth below.
NOW THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1. Scction 1{a) is amended 1o add the following language at the end thereof to read as follows:
Upen the Executive ceasing to be Executive Chairman of the Board, the Executive shall be entitled to purchase onc of the
Company’s aircraft on commercially reasonable terms, and the parties shall thereafter enter into the agreement regarding such
aircraft as described in Section 3(g} of the Agreement. If the Company acquires a new aircraft afler the Executive ceases to be
Executive Chairman of the Board, the Executive may also exercise this purchase right with respect to such afier-acquired aircraft,
and the provisions of Section 3{g) of the Agreement shall also apply to such after-acquired aircraft.
2. The Agreement, including but not limited to Section 13 thereof, is affirmed, ratified and continued, as amended hereby.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed their names as of the day and year first wntten above.
CENTENE CORPORATION
By: /s/ Robert K. Ditmorg

Its: Lead Director

/s/Mlichael F, Neidorff
MICHAEL F. NEIDORFF




EXHIBIT 10.8h

AMENDMENT OF EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT OF EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT is entered into as of December 14, 2021 by and between
Centene Corporation, a Delaware corporation, together with its successors and assigns permitted under this Agreement (“Employer™), and
Michael F. Neidorff (the “Executive™).

WHEREAS, the parties enfered into that certain Executive Employment Agreement dated as of November 8, 2004, which has been
amended from time to time (“Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the Agreement in order to extend the current term of the Agreement and to make various
related changes to the Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1. Section 2(a) of the Agreement is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“(a) Executive’s Position and Title. The Executive’s positions and titles shall continue to be Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Employer. If elected to the Board of Directors {(the “Board”} by the Employer’s shareholders, the
Executive shall continue to be a member of, and Chairman of, the Board. It is expected that the Executive will cease to serve as
Chief Executive Officer of the Employer as of 2023 Sharcholders’ Meeting, but will continue serving as Executive Chairman of
the Board until the 2024 Shareholders’ Meeting, or such other date as is mutually agreed between the Executive and the Board.
Effective with the 2024 Shareholders’ Meeting (or such other date as is mutually agreed between the Executive and the Board),
Executive will become Non-Executive Chairman of the Board. While Executive serves as Executive Chairman of the Board, the
Executive and the Board will mutually agree on his compensation. While Executive serves as Executive Chairman and for five
years thereafter, Executive will continue to be subject to the Company’s security policy requiring him to use Company provided
aircraft for all air travel, as well as the same security measures currently applicable to Executive as Chief Executive Officer. In
addition, for the remainder of his life, Executive shall be granted (i) the exclusive use of the office located in the southwest-most
corner of the 8* Floor of the building located at 7700 Forsyth Blvd., St. Louis, Missouri, and the restroom and office currently
adjoining it as of the date hereof, (ii) a parking space in the secured area of the garage where the Executive parks as of the date
hereof, and (iii) use of the Executive’s current full-time administrative assistant so long as she desires to remain employed, and in
the event such administrative assistant retires, a full-time executive assistant reasonably acceptable 1o the Executive shall be
provided, and the Executive’s administrative assistant shall have a parking space in the same sccured area of the garage in which
the Executive currently parks. Executive will also have use of a part-time administrative assistant reasonably acceptable to the
Executive through December 31, 2024.”




2. Section 3(g) of the Agreement is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“{g) Expenses. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to receive prompt reimbursement for all expenses ineurred
by him in accordance with the policies and practices of Employer as in effect from time 1o time. Employer will pay all
professional expenses incurred by the Executive in connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Agreement. Such
expense reimbursements shall be made not later than the end of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the
expenses were incurred. Upon Executive ceasing to be the Executive Chairman of the Board, he may at his own expense elect to
assume the Company’s lease on a Company aircrafl. Upon Executive ceasing te be the Executive Chairman of the Board, he may
on commercially reasonable terms lease (without pilots) an aircraft that he directly or indirectly owns to the Company and the
Company shall maintain said aircraft and exercise operational control for all flights on such aircraft when not being used by the
Executive. 1f the Executive uses the aircraft that is being leased to the Company for personal travel, he shall possess operational
control for all flights and shall reimburse the Company on commercially reasonable terms pursuant to an aircraft support services
agreement for the incremental costs of such usage.”

3. The Agreement is affirmed, ratified and continued, as amended hereby.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed their names as of the day and year first written above.
CENTENE CORPORATION

By: /s/ Robert K. Ditmore
Its: Lead Director

fs/ Mi 1 F, Neidorff
MICHAEL F. NEIDORFF



EXHIBIT 10.12

CENTENE CORPORATION

Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement Granted Under

2012 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into by and between CENTENE CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (hereinafter the
“Company”), and the undersigned employee of the Company (hereinafter the “Participant™).

WHEREAS, the Participant renders important services to the Company and acquires access to Confidential Information (as defined
below) of the Company in connection with Participant’s relationship with the Company; and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to align the long-term interests of its valued employees with those of the Company by providing the
ownership interest granted herein and to prevent former employees whose interest may become adverse to the Company from maintaining an
ownership interest in the Company;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual agreements herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as
follows:

1. Grant of Option

This agreement evidences the grant by the Company on December 15, 2021 (the “Grant Date”) to {the “Participant”), of an
option to purchase, in whoele or in part, on the terms provided herein and in the Company’s 2012 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the
“Plan”}, a total of (the “Shares™) of common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the Company (“Common Stock™) at $81.85 per

Share. Unless earlier terminated, this option shall expire at 3:00 p.m., Central Time, on December 14, 2031 (the “Final Exercise Date”). If the
Final Exercise Date is not an epen trading date then this option shall expire at 3:00 p.m., Central Time, on the last open trading date prior to the
Final Exercise Date.

It is intended that the opticn evidenced by this agreement shall not be an incentive stock option as defined in Section 422 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations promulgated thereunder {the “Code™). Except as otherwise indicated by the context,
the term “Participant,” as used in this option, shall be deemed to include any person who acquires the right to exercise this option validly under
its terms. Unless the context otherwise requires, capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.



2. Vesting Schedule

This option will become exercisable (“vest™) as 1o 100% of the original number of Shares on the later of (a) the third anniversary of the
Grant Date and (b) the date that the Performance Condition is achieved (the later of such date, as applicable, the “Vesting Date™), subject to the
Partictpant’s continued service as an Eligible Participant {defined below) through the Vesting Date (the “Service Condition™). For purposes of
this option, the Performance Condition shall mean the closing price for one Share as listed on the New York Stock Exchange has equaled or
exceeded $100 per Share for a peried of 20 consecutive trading days. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the event that the
option does not vest prior to the Final Exercise Date, the option shall not vest, the Vesting Date shall not occur, and this option shall terminate
without becoming exercisable.

The right of exercise shall be cumulative so that o the extent the option is not exercised in any period to the maximum extent permissible
it shall continue to be exercisable, in whole or in part, with respect to all Shares for which it is vested untit the earlier of the Final Exercise Date
or the termination of this option under Section 3 hereof or the Plan.

Notwithstanding anything herein or in the Plan to the contrary, if a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan) occurs while the
Participant remains in conlinued service as an Eligible Participant, to the extent the option hereunder remains outstanding, the Performance
Condition shall be deemed to be satisfied (to the extent nol already achieved) as of the date of the Change in Control, and the option shall
remain subject to the Service Condition until the third anniversary of the Grant Date (to the extent not yet achieved) and for this purpose,
service with the Company or an acquirer, as applicable, shall be counted in determining whether the Service Condition is achieved. The
foregoing vesting requirements notwithstanding, if a Change in Control occurs and the Participant’s employment with the Company or an
acquirer {and any parent or subsidiary thereof) is terminated by the Company or the acquirer {or a parent or subsidiary thereof) without cause
(as defined herein) or by the Participant for Good Reason (as defined below), and the Participant’s date of termination occurs {or in the case of
the Participant’s termination of employment for Good Reason, the event giving tise to Good Reason occurs) within 24 months following the
Change in Control, the Service Condition shall be deemed met and the option shall be vested and exercisable. For purposes hereof, “Good
Reason”™ means: (a) if the Participant is a party to an employment or service agreement with the Company or its affiliates and such agreement
provides for a definition of Good Reason, the definition contained therein; or (b) if no such agreement exists or if such agreement does not
define Good Reason, the occurrence of one or more of the following without the Participant's express written consent, which circumstances are
not remedied by the Company within thirty (30) days of its receipt of a written notice from the Participant describing the applicable
circumstances {which notice must be provided by the Participant within ninety (90) days of the Participant's knowledge of the applicable
circumstances): (i) any material, adverse change in the Participant's responsibilities, authority, title, status or reporting structure; (ii} a material
reduction in the Participant's base salary or shori-term cash incentive opportunity; or (iii} a geographical relocation of the Participant's principal
office location by more than fifty (50) miles; provided that, the Participant in fact terminates employment for Good Reason within one hundred
fifty (150) days following the initial existence of the circumstances giving rise to such Good Reason. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
option may be subject to such adjustments as the Committec may determine, including, without limitation, replacing the underlying Shares
with shares of an acquirer, and may be subject to assumption, continuation, or substitution by the Company or its successor, including by
substitution of Shares hereunder with shares of an acquirer with corresponding changes to the number of shares, exercise price, and other terms
deemed necessary or advisable to reflect any such assumption, continuation, or substitution, in each case,



to the extent and in a manner that complies with applicable law, including Section 409A of the Code. The foregoing provisions shall apply to
the option in connection with a Change in Control, except to the extent otherwise provided in the applicable transaction agreement(s)
evidencing the Change in Control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may take such action as contemplated in Section9(j}3 of the
Plan.

3. Exercise of Option

(a) Form of Exercise. Each election to exercise this option shall be in writing, signed by the Participant, and received by the Company at
its principal office, accompanied by this agreement, and payment in full in the manner provided in the Plan. Common Stock purchased upon
the exercise of this option shall be paid for as follows:

{1)  in cash or by check, payable to the order of the Company;

{2) by (i} delivery of an irrevocable and unconditional undertaking by a creditworthy broker to
deliver promptly to the Company sufficient funds to pay the exercise price and any required
tax withholding or (ii) delivery by the Participant to the Company of a copy of irrevocable
and unconditional instructions to a creditworthy broker to deliver promptly to the Company
cash or a check sufficient to pay the exercise price and any required tax withholding;

3) when the Commen Stock is registered under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, by delivery of shares of Common Stock owned by the Participant valued at their
fair market value as determined by (or in a2 manner approved by) the board of directors of
the Company (the “Board™) in good faith (“Fair Market Value™), provided (i) such method
of payment 1s then permitted under applicable law and (ii) such Common Stock, if acquired
directly from the Company was owned by the Participant at least six months prior to such delivery,;

(4) to the extent permitted under applicable law and permitted by the Board, in its sole discretion,
provided that at least an amount equal to the par value of the Common Stock being purchased
shall be paid in cash; or

(5) by any combination of the above permitted forms of payment.

The Participant may purchase less than the number of shares covered hereby, provided that no partial exercise of this option may be for
any fractional share or for fewer than ten whole shares.

(b) Contin Relationship with th mpany Required. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 3, this option may not be
exercised unless the Participant, at the time he or she exercises this option, is, and has been at all times since the Grant Date, an employee,
officer or director of, or consultant or advisor to, the Company or any other entity the employees, officers,
directors, consultants or advisors of which are eligible to receive option grants under the Plan (an “Eligible Participant”).

(c) Termination of Relationship with th mpany. If the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Participant for any reason, then, except as
provided in paragraphs {d), (e, (), and (g) below, the right to exercise this option shall terminate 30 days after such cessation (but in no event
after the Final Exercise Date), provided that this option shall be exercisable only 10 the extent that the Participant was entitled to exercise this
option on the date of such cessation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Participant, prior to the Final Exercise Date, viclates the non-
competition or confidentiality provisions of any employment, consulting, advisory,



nondisclosure, non-competition or other agreement between the Participant and the Company, the right to exercisc this option shall terminate
immediately upon such violation.

(d) Exercise Peri n Death or Disability. If the Parficipant dies or becomes disabled (within the meaning of Section 22(e}(3) of the
Code) prior to the Final Exercise Date while he or she is an Eligible Participant and the Company has not terminated such relationship for
“cause” as specified in paragraph () below, this option shall be deemed to be vested for the Prorated Amount (as defined below) and shall be
exercisable within the period of 180 days following the date of death or disability of the Participant, by the Participant (or in the case of death
by an authorized transferee), provided that this option shall be exercisable only to the extent of the Prorated Amount, and further provided that
this option shall not be exercisable after the Final Exercise Date. The Prorated Amount shall mean: (i) to the extent the option is not vested on
the date of death or disability, a prorated number of Shares subject to the option determined as follows: the total of the original number of
Shares subject to the option, multiplied by a fraction where the numerator is the total number of whole calendar months from the Grant Date
through the date of death or disability, as applicable, and the denominator is 36 or (ii} to the extent the option is vesied on the date of death or
disability, 100% of the original number of Shares subjcct to the option. For the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall the Prorated Amount
exceed 100% of the original number of Shares subject to the option, whether determined in accordance with (i) or {ii} above.

(e} Discharge for Cause. If the Participant, prior to the Final Exercise Date, is discharged by the Company for “cause” (as defined
below), the right 1o exercise this option shall terminate immediately upon the effective date of such discharge. “Cause”™ shall include acts or
omissions that the Company determines, after affording the Participant an opportunity to be heard, (i) are criminal, dishonest, fraudulent,
constitute miscenduct, or reflect negatively on the reputation of the Company (including any parent, subsidiary, affiliate or division of the
Company); (i) could expese the Company or any parent, subsidiary, affiliate or division of the Company 1o claims of illegal harassment or
discrimination in employment; (iii) are material breaches of this Agreement or other agreement with the Company; or (iv) reflect continued and
repeated failure to perform substantially the duties of hisher employment.



(f) Exercise Peri n Qualified or Early Retirement.

(1) If the Participant’s service as an Eligible Participant terminates on account of Qualified Retirement prior to the Final Exercise
Date and the Company has not terminated such relationship for “cause” as specified in paragraph (), this option shall be exercisable by
the Participant to the extent vested until the Final Exercise Date, provided that if the Vesting Date has not occurred as of the date of the
Qualified Retirement, the option will continue to remain outstanding following the Qualified Retirement and will become exercisable as
to 100% of the original number of Shares subject to the option on the later of {i) the third anniversary of the Grant Date and (ii) the date
that the Performance Condition is achieved, without regard to the Participant’s termination of service prior to the Vesting Date and, upon
any such vesting, shall remain exercisable by the Participant until the Final Exercise Date. . For this purpose, a Qualified Retirement is a
retirement made pursuant to a bona-fide notice of retirernent made 90 days in advance, by a Participant who is at least 55 years old and
has been employed at the Company for at least 10 years.

(2) If the Participant’s service as an Eligible Participant terminates on account of Early Retirement prior to the Final Exercise
Date and the Company has not terminated such relationship for “cause” as specified in paragraph (e), this option shall be exercisable by
the Participant to the extent vested on the date of such Early Retirement until the earlier of the date that is five years after such
termination of the Participant’s service or the Final Exercise Date, provided that if the Vesting Date has not occurred as of the date of the
Early Retirement, the option will continue to remain outstanding following the Early Retirernent and will become exetcisable as to 100%
of the original number of Shares subject to the option on the later of (i) the third anniversary of the Grant Date and (ii) the date that the
Performance Condition is achieved, without regard to the Participant’s termination of service prior te the Vesting Date and, upon any
such vesting, shall remain exercisable by the Participant until the earlier of the date that is five years after such termination of the
Participant’s service or the Final Exercise Datc. For this purpose, an Early Retirement is a retirement made pursuant to a bona-fide notice
of retirement made 90 days in advance, by a Participant who is at least 55 years old and has been employed at the Company for at least
five years.

{g) Exercisc Peri n Change in Control. If a Change in Control occurs while the Participant is an Eligible Participant and such
relationship is not terminated on account of “cause’ as specified in paragraph (¢), death, or disability prior to exercise of the option, this option
shall be exercisable by the Participant until the Final Exercise Date, provided thal this option shall be exercisable (or become exercisable, as
applicable} only to the extent provided in Section 2 hereof in connection with the Change in Control.

(h) Right to Exercise. The Participant’s right to exercise this option and to retain any gains upon a sale or other disposition of the Shares
therefrom is subject to the Participant’s compliance with the covenants set forth in Section 4 hereof.

4. Optionge’s Covenants. For and in consideration of the option hercunder, the Participant agrees to the provisions of this Section 4.

(a) Confidential Information. As used in this Section 4, “Confidential Information™ shall mean the Company’s trade secrets and other
non-public proprietary information relating to the Company or the business of the Company, including information relating to financial
statemnents, existing or proposed target markets, employee skills and compensation, employee data, acquisition targets, servicing methods,
programs, strategies and information, analyses, expansion



plans and strategies, profit margins, financial, promotional, training or operational information, and other information developed or used by the
Company that is not known generally to the public or the industry. Confidential Information shall not include any information that is in the
public domain or becomes known in the public domain through no wrongful act on the part of the Participant.

{b) Non-Disclosure. The Participant agrees that the Confidential Information is a valuable, special and unique asset of the Company’s
business, that such Confidential Information is important to the Company and the effective operation of the Company’s business, and that
during employment with the Company and at all times thereafter, the Participant shall not, directly or indirectly, disclose to any competitor or
other person or entity (other than current employees of the Company) any Confidential Information that the Participant obtains while
performing services for the Company, except as may be required in the Participant’s reasonable judgment to fulfill the Participant’s duties
hercunder or to comply with any applicable legal obligation.

(¢) Non-Competition; Non-Solicjtation.




(1) During Participant's employment with the Company and for the period of six (6) months
immediately afier the termination of Participant’s employment with the Company
(including any parent, subsidiary, affiliate or division of the Company) for any reason
whatsoever, and whether voluntary or involuntary, Participant shall not invest in (other
than in a publicly traded company with a maximum investment of no more than 1% of
outstanding shares), counsel, advise, consult, be employed or otherwise engaged by or
with any entity or enterprise (“Competitor”) that competes with (A) the Company’s
business of providing Medicaid managed care services, Medicaid-related services,
behavioral health, nurse triage or pharmacy compliance specialty services or (B) any
other business in which, after the date of this Agreement, the Company {or any parent,
subsidiary, affiliate or division of the Company) becomes engaged (or has taken
substantial steps in which to become engaged) on or prior lo the date of termination of
Participant’s employment. For purposes of paragraph 4, Participant agrees that this
agreement not to compete applies to any Competitor that does business within the
state of Missouri or and/or any other state or other jurisdiction in the world in which
Centene does business, and that such geographical limitation is reasonable.

{2) During the Participant’s employment with the Company (or any parent, subsidiary,
affiliate or division of the Company) and for the period of twelve months immediately
after the termination of the Participant’s employment with the Company (or any parent,
subsidiary, affiliate or division of the Company) for any cause whatsoever, and whether
voluntary or involuntary (“Restricted Period™), the Participant will not, either directly or
indirectly, either for himself or for any other person, firm, company or corporation, call
upon, seolicit, divert, or take away, or attempt to solicit, divert or take away any of the
customers, prospective customers, business, vendors or suppliers of the Company that the
Participant had dealings with, or responsibility for, or the Participant had aceess to,
confidential information of such customers’, vendors’ or suppliers’ confidential information.

{3) The Participani shall not, at any time during the Restricted Period, without the prior
written consent of the Company, (i} directly or indirectly, solicit, recruit or employ
(whether as an employee, officer, director, agent, consultant or independent contractor)
any person who was or is at any time during the previous six months an employee,
representative, officer or director of the Company (or any parent, subsidiary, affiliate
or division of the Company}); or (ii) take any action to encourage or induce any employee,
representative, officer or director of the Company (or any parent, subsidiary, affiliate
or division of the Company) to cease their relationship with the Company (or any parent,
subsidiary, affiliate or division of the Company) for any reason.

4 This Section 4(c) shall not apply if a "Change in Control" {as defined in thc Plan)
occurs under Section (ii) thereof, or if such Change in Control occurs under
Section (i) or (iii) thereof without the prior approval, recommendation or consent
of the Board of Directors of the Corporation

(d) Enforcement. If any of the provisions of this Section 4 shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent
jurisdiction, the remaining provisions or subparts thercof shall nevertheless continue to be valid and enforceable according to their terms.
Further, if any restriction contained in the provisions or subparts of this Section 4 is held to be overbroad or unreasonable as written, the parties
agree that the applicable provision should be considered to be amended to reflect the maximum period, scope or geographical area deemed
reasonable and enforceable by the court and enforced as amended.

{¢) Remedy for Breach.



(1) Because the Participant’s services are unique and because the Participant has access to the Company’s Confidential Information,
the parties agree that any breach or threatened breach of this Section 4 will cause irreparable harm 1o the Company and that money damages
alone would be an inadequate remedy. The parties thereforc agree that, in the event of any breach or threatened breach of this Section 4, and in
addition to all other rights and remedics available to it, the Company may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for specific performance
and/or injunctive or other relief, without a bond, in order 1o enforce or prevent any violations of the provisions of this Section 4.

(2) The Participant shall immediately repay to the Company a cash sum in the principal amount equal to all gross proceeds (before-
tax) realized by the Participant upon the sale or other disposition of shares occurring at any time during the period commencing on the date
that is three years before the date of the termination of the Participant’s employment with the Company and ending on the date of the breach or
threatened breach of this Section 4 (the “Refund Period”), together with interest accrued thereon from the date of such breach or threatened
breach, at the prime rate (compounded calendar monthly) as published from time to time in The Wall Street Journal, electronic edition
(“Interest™); and

(3) The Participant shall repay to the Company a cash sum equal to the fair market value of all Shares and all or any portion of the
oplion transferred by the Participant as a gift or gifts at any time during the Refund Period, together with Interest, and for which purpose, “fair
market value” per Share shall be the Fair Market Value of one Share on the date such gift occurs and per option Share shall be the positive
difference, if any, between the Fair Market Value of a Share and the exercise price of such option.

(4) The Participant acknowledges and agrees that nothing contained herein shall be construed to be an excessive remedy to prohibit
the Company from pursuing any other remedies available to it for such actual or threatened breach, including but not limited to the recovery of
money damages, proximately caused by the Participant’s breach of this Section 4.

(f) Survival. The provisions of this Section 4 shall survive and continue in full force in accordance with their terms notwithstanding any
forfeiture, termination or expiration of this option in accordance with its terms or any termination of the Participant’s employment for any
reason {whether voluntary or involuntary}.

5. Withholding

No Shares will be issued pursuant to the exercise of this option unless and until the Participant pays to the Company, or makes provision
satisfactory to the Company for payment of, any federal, state or local withholding taxes required by law to be withheld in respect of this
option.

6. Nontransferability of Qption

This option may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered by the Participant, either voluntarily or by operation
of law, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and, during the lifetime of the Participant, this option shall be exercisable only by
the Participant.



7. Provisions of the Plan: Entir nt

This option is subject to the provisions of the Plan, a copy of which is furnished to the Participant with this option, This agreement and
the Plan contain all of the understandings and representations between the Participant and the Company pertaining to the subject matter hereof
and supersede all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, representations, and warranties, both written and oral, with respect
to such subject matter, including any prior agreement evidencing the stock option granted on the Grant Date to the Participant herein, whether
entered into by or otherwise proposed by the parties, and any such prior agreement in any prior form shall be of no force or effect.

In Witness Whereof, the Company has caused this option to be executed under its corporate seal by its duly authorized officer. This option
shall take effect as a sealed instrument.

CENTENE CORPORATION

Name:
Title:

PARTICIPANT

Name:



EXHIBIT 10.30

October 26, 2021
Jesse Hunter

Dear Jesse:

Al your request, we have summarized our understanding of the termination of your employment effective November 5, 2021 with Centene
Management Corporation (“Centene”) based on the following terms set forth in this letter agreement {the “Agreement”).

1. Term: We confirm you will remain an active employee available to provide transition support through November 5, 2021 (the
“Termination Date”).

2. Base Salary: Your annual base pay rate will continue to be $830,000 through and until the Termination Date.

3. Employee Benefits: You will be entitled to continue to participate in all employee and executive benefit plans as other similarly situated
exccutives through and until the Termination Date and will be covered under all applicable indemnification agreements and policies and
D&QO insurance policies.

4. Severance: Following the Termination Date, you will receive severance equal to twelve and one-half (i12.5) months of your annual salary
of $830,000, and an amount equal to $691,667, representing (i) a pro-rated annual bonus for 2021 and (ii) a pro-rated portion of your |
outstanding cash award under the Company’s 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (“Cash LTIP™) for the 2021-2023 '
performance period payable in a lump sum. Centene shall also provide you with your Accrued Obligations (as defined in your Exccutive
Scverance and Change in Control Agreement (“ESA™)} and outplacement services under the ESA. In connection with your termination of
employment, (a) vesting of outstanding RSUs shall cease on December 31, 2022 and any RSUs that vest during such period shall be
payable on the applicable vesting date on which they otherwise would have been paid, (b} a pro-rata amount of PSUs, based on the
number of full quarters employed with the Company during the performance period, shall remain eligible to vest, but shall otherwise
remain subject to increase or decrease based on the Company’s performance and (¢} a pro rata amount of your outstanding cash awards
under the cash LTIP for the 2019-2021 and 2020-2022 performance periods shall remain eligible to vest, but shall otherwise remain
subject to increase or decrease based on the Company’s performance. Any such PSUs which are earned shall be distributed in stock as
soon as practicable following the termination of the applicable performance period, all as provided in the summary previously provided
1o you. All payments are to be made in compliance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The foregoing
amounts are subject to the timely execution and non-revocation of a release of claims in favor of the Company.

5. Inaddition, after your termination on November 5, 2021, if you elect medical, dental and vision coverage through the Consolidated
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985



(“COBRA"}, subject 1o your timely election of COBRA coverage, the Company shall pay for the portien of coverage that will allow you
to pay the same amount as a similarly situated active employee for the first 12 months of coverage from the Termination Date.

6. As part of this Agreement, we have previously provided you with a transition shect that estimates the dollar value of your additional
vesting as discussed, Please note that the calculations are based on an assumed Centene stock price of 363.00 per share and that all
amounts are based on targels not actual payouts. You will not be subject to any offset of these payments if you are employed at any time
after your termination.

7. This is a reminder of your obligations as stated in Section 8 of your ESA regarding confidential information, non-disclosure, non-
competition and non-solicitation period of twelve {12) months immediately after your Termination Date. The parties shall not make any
communications regarding your departure inconsistent with any public filings required to comply with the requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

8. Pursuant to its terms, your deferred compensation under the Centene Corporation Voluntary Deferred Compensation Plan shall be paid to
you in 2021,

9. This Agreement supersedes all prior understandings, agreements, or representations by or among the parties hercto, written or oral, with
respect to the subject matter contained herein.

Jesse, please do not hesitate to contact me should you wish to discuss the terms of this letier further, If you are in agreement, please
acknowledge by signing where indicated.

Sincerely,

Robert Sanders
H. Robert Sanders

EVP, Global Human Resources
314-505-6327

Acknowledged by:

Hunter October 27, 2021
Jesse Hunter Date Signed



Exhibit 10.31

SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

This Separation Agreement and General Release (“Release™) is made by and between Centene Management Company LLC (“Company™) and

Jesse N. Hunter, the individual signing below (“Employee™).

In consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, and agreements contained in this Release, the adequacy and sufficiency of which are hereby

acknowledged, Company and Employee agree as follows:

1. TERMINATION OF RELATIONSHIP. The employment relationship between Employee and Company ended on November 5, 2021

(“Termination Date™).

2. CONSIDERATION FROM COMPANY. In consideration of Employee’s decision te enter into this Release, Company will provide

Employee with the following:

a) Severance Pay. As soon as administratively feasible after the date this Release becomes effective as provided below, Company shall thereafter
pay Employee a single lump sum cash payment in the amount of One million, five hundred fifty-six thousand, two hundred fifty dollars and no

cents ($1,556,250), less applicable taxes and withholdings, as follows:

i. Eight hundred sixty-four thousand, five hundred eighty-three dollars and no cents ($864,583) representing twelve and one-half {12 %)

months of Employee’s base pay;

ii. Four hundred eighty-four thousand, one hundred sixty-seven dollars and no cents (3484,167) representing a pro-rated annual bonus for the

2021 calendar year; and

ili. Two hundred seven thousand, five hundred dollars and no cents ($207,500) representing a pro-rated portion of Employee’s outstanding
cash award under the Centene Corporation 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (“Cash LTIP™) for the 2021-2023 performance
period.

Company shall pay this Severance Pay in a single lump-sum payment no later than the second regular Company payday following the seven day
revocation period described in Section 20 hereof. Monetary payments made pursuant to this section are not considered regular compensation for
services performed and are therefore not eligible for deferral under Company’s 401(k) or deferred compensation plans, may be subject to different
income tax withhelding rates, and do not entitle Employee to any additional compensation and/or employee benefits except as provided in this

Release.



Notwithstanding anything in the Employce’s Executive Severance and Change in Control Agreement dated January 26, 2009 to the contrary,
Employee shall not be required to seek other employment to mitigate payments hereunder and no mitigation or offset shall apply in the event

Employee receives compensation from future employment.

b) COBRA Subsidy. If Employee meets all legal and administrative requirements for continued health and dental insurance (collectively “Medical
Insurance”) coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”), including making a timely election of benefits and
following all directions provided by the Company’s third-party COBRA administrator, Employee will be eligible for a subsidy of Employee’s
COBRA premium as described herein. For the first twelve (12) months of COBRA coverage, Empioyee will be responsible for payment of
premiums for Medical Insurance in the same amount as is charged to similar active employees for similar coverage rather than the full COBRA
premium amount and the Company shall pay the remainder of the COBRA premium amount, provided that Employee continues to meet all
COBRA eligibility requirements, After such time and for any remaining period of COBRA eligibility, Employee will be solely responsible for
paying the entire COBRA premium for the coverage elected as stated in the notice from the third-party COBRA Administrator. In the event the
Company rehires Employee during the period Employee is receiving a COBRA subsidy, Employee understands that the COBRA subsidy shall

cease upon the first of the month afier the date of Employee’s rehire.

¢} OQutplacement. The Company will provide outplacement services to Employee with an agency mutually agreed upon by Employee and by the
Company for six (6) months or until Employee secures alternate employment, whichever occurs first. To the greatest extent applicable, such
outplacement services shall be provided in a manner that is exempt from Section 409A of the Code in accordance with Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-1(b)(9){v)(A). In the event that the outplacement services constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A
of the Code, the outplacement services shall be provided in a manner that complies with Section 409A of the Code and the provisions of Section

19 hereof.

d) Restricted Stock Unit Vesting. Vesting of Employee’s outstanding Restricted Stock Unit (“RSU”) awards will continue until December 31, 2022
and cease as of such date, and any RSUs that vest during such period shall be payable on the applicable vesting date on which they otherwise

would have been paid.



e} Performance Stock Unit Vesting. A pro-rata portion of Employee’s outstanding Performance Stock Unit (“PSU”) awards, based on the number
of full quarters employed with the Company during the performance period of each such award, shall remain eligible to vest, but shall otherwise
remain subject to increase or decrease based on the Company’s performance compared to each award’s metrics, and any PSUs that vest pursuant to

such awards shall be payable in shares of Company stock on the applicable vesting date on which they otherwise would have been paid.

f) Cash Long-Term Incentive Plan Vesting. A pro-rated portion of Employee’s outstanding cash awards under the Cash LTIP for the 2019-2021
and 2020-2022 performance periods, based on the number of full quarters employed with the Company during the performance period of each
award, shall remain eligible to vest, but shall otherwise remain subject to increase or decrease based on the Company’s performance compared to
each award’s metrics, and any amounts that vest pursuant to such awards shall be payable on the applicable vesting date on which they otherwise

would have been paid.

3. NO OBLIGATION. Employee expressly agrees that the consideration specified in Section 2 is consideration in addition to anything of value to
which Employee is otherwise entitled without signing this Release, and Employee understands that if Employee does not sign this Release, or if
Employee revokes this Release, Employee shall not be entitled to these payments and benefits. In consideration of the payments and benefits specified in
Section 2, Employee hereby waives and relinquishes all rights to any additional or different severance payments under an applicable employment

agreement or severance plan or practice.

4. EMPLOYEE'’S FULL AND FINAL RELEASE. Employee, for Employee and Employee’s
attorneys, heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, releases and forever discharges Company and any and all related, parent, affiliated or
subsidiary corporations, including but not limited to
Centene Corporation, as well as their officers, directors, agents, representatives and employees each in their respective official capacity as such (“the
Released Parties™ also coliectively and individually referred to as “Company”) from and against any and ail liabilities, claims, grievances, demands,
charges, complaints, actions and causes of action whatsoever (collectively, “Claims™), whether known or unknown, which first arose prior to and through
the date Employee¢ signs this Release, including, but not limited to, any and all Claims for discrimination, harassment, retaliation, failure to accommodate

or other Claims arising under or pursuant to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of



1866, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA}, the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), the Worker Adjustment and Retraining
Notification Act, any amendments to the foregoing; and any and all other federal, state or local statues, regulations, and/or ordinances, as well as any
claims for alleged wrongful discharge, negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress, breach of contract, tort, fraud, or any other unlawful
behavior. Nothing in this Release, however, is intended to waive (a) Claims for vested benefits under any pension or 401(k) plan or other ERISA-
governed benefit plan provided by Company; (b) Claims for unemployment or workers’ compensation benefits; (¢) Claims that may arise after
Employee signs this Release; (d) claims for indemnification and coverage under applicable directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies; and/or
(e) Claims which cannot be released by private agreement.

The provisions of the State Specific Addendum, attached to this Release, are hereby incorporated into this Release and accepted and

agreed to if Employee lives in or worked for Company in CALIFORNIA, ILLINOIS, MASSACHUSETTS, MINNESOTA, MONTANA,

NEW JERSEY, NORTH DAKOTA, OREGON, SOUTH DAKOTA, OR WEST VIRGINIA

5. NO OTHER CLAIMS,

{a) Current Claims. Employee represents that Employee has not raised a Claim, including but not limited to, unlawful diserimination; harassment;
sexual harassment, abuse, assault, or other criminal conduct; or retaliation in a court or government agency proceeding, in an alternative dispute
resolution forum, or through the Company’s internal complaint process, involving the Company or any other Released Party.

(b) Additional Claims. Employee further represents that, subject to the protected rights addressed below, Employee will not file a lawsuit or
arbitration action to pursue any claim settled, waived, or released by this Release, nor become a member of any class, collective, or other multi-
party action or proceeding in which ¢laims are asserted against the Company or any other Released Parties that in any way relate to Employee’s
employment or the termination of employment with the Company. Employee agrees to pay the Company’s costs and expenses (including
reasonable attorneys® fees) related to the defense of any such lawsuit or arbitration except this promise not to sue does not apply to actions under
the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act (OWBPA) and the ADEA. Although Employee is releasing and waiving claims under the OWBPA and

the ADEA by this Release, Employee may challenge the knowing and voluntary nature of this Release under



the OWBPA and the ADEA before a court, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission {EEOC), or any other federal, state or local agency
charged with the enforcement of any employment laws,
{c) The Company acknowledges that as of the date hereof, based upon the knowledge of its general counsel, it has no outstanding claims against

Employee.

6. PROTECTED RIGHTS. Nothing in this Release, including but not limited to the full and final release of claims, promise not to sue,
representations, return of company property, confidential information, no disparagement, cooperation, and confidentiality of agreement
provisions: (i} limits or affects Employee’s right to challenge the validity of this Release under the ADEA or the OWBPA, (ii) limits the rights of
any governmental agency or prevents Employee from communicating with, filing a charge or complaint with, cooperating with, or otherwisc
participating in an investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, National Labor Relations
Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Department of Justice, and/or any other any federal, state or local agency charged with
the enforcement of any laws, including providing documents or any other information, or (iii) limits Employee from exercising rights under
Section 7 of the NLRA to engage in protected, concerted activity, including discussing the terms and conditions of employment with ether
employees. By signing this Release, Employee is waiving rights to individual relief (including back pay, front pay, reinstatement or other legal
or equitable relief) in any proceeding brought by Employee or on Employee’s behalf by any third party, to the extent permitted by law, except
for any right Employee may have to receive a payment or award from a government agency for information provided to the government agency

or otherwise where prohibited.

7. REPRESENTATIONS. By signing below, Employee confirms and agrees that as of the Termination Date, (i} Except as provided in Section 2
of this Release, Employee has been paid (subject to withholding for taxes and applicable deductions) all compensation and benefits of any kind
(including wages, salary, vacation, sick leave, commissions, bonuses, severance, incentive compensation and equity participation) eamned as a result of
Employee’s employment and owed according to law or policy and is owed no further compensation or benefits of any kind; (ii) Employee has been
given the opportunity to take all paid sick or family leave available pursuant to federal, state or local law, (iii} Employee has had the opportunity to
provide Company with written notice of any and all concerns regarding suspected ethical and compliance issues or violations on the part of Company or

any other Released Parties, and to



the extent Employee is aware of any such misconduct, Employee has reported it to appropriate Company personnel.

DENTIAL IN ATION AN
(a) Return of Company Property. Employee has returned or destroyed (and has not retained any copies in any form) all Company documents and

information (including all Confidential Information and any other information stored on personally owned computer hard drives, portable storage
devices or other format). Employee has also returned all tangible iterns that belong to Company including but not limited to ID badges, cell
phones, tablets, computers, software, equipment, vehicles, or other property belonging to Company. Employee may retain his calendar, contacts
list, persenal files and files needed to submit his income tax returns.

(b} Confidential Information. As further exchange for the consideration provided abuve, Employee acknowledges obtaining confidential business and
proprietary information regarding Company and may have also been bound by one or more non-disclosure or confidentiality agreements. Unless
{1) required by applicable law or regulation, governmental investigation or by a court of competent jurisdiction or (ii) reasonably necessary to
disclose in connection with any legal process between the Company and Employee, Employee agrees that Employee has not disclosed and will not
disclose to anyone outside Company any trade secret or confidential information conceming Company’s products or services until such
information is publicly known or generally known within the Company’s industry, including but not limited to business plans, strategic directions,
accounts payable, contracts with or to providers, and financial data regarding Company’s performance. Employee further agrees that Employee
has not inappropriately disclosed and will not disclose any Protected Health Information about Company’s members. Employee further represents
that any papers, letters, records, files, computer disks, and other documents or materials containing such trade secrets or confidential technical
information or belonging to Company that are in Employee’s possession or control have been retumed to Company or destroyed and that
Employee has provided all passwords necessary for access to encrypted information. Employee also agrees to maintain strict confidentiality
concerning and will not use for any purpose any passwords, software, or any information of any kind concerning Company’s computer system.
Employee is aware of the limitations imposed under the law, including but not limited to under the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, 18 USC §
1030, the Stored Wire & Electronic Communications Act, 18 USC §2701 ¢t seq. and the Economic Espicnage Act of 1996, 18 USC §670, and

understands the penalties for violating any of those provisions.



(¢) Defend Trade Secrets Act Notice to Employee . Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employee understands that as provided by the Federal Defend
Trade Secrets Act, Employee will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade
secret that: (A) is made (i) in confidence to a federal, state or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, and (ii)
solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit
or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. In addition, if Employee files a lawsuit for retaliation by Company for reporting a suspected
violation of law, Employee may disclose the trade secret to Employee’s attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding if

Employee files any decument containing the trade secret under seal and dees not disclose the trade secret except pursuant to court order.

9. NO DISPARAGEMENT. Employee agrees that Employee has not and will not disparage Company or its current or former officers or directors

to members of the public or solicit or encourage others to do so. This provision does not prevent Employee from fully and candidly engaging in
protected conduct referenced above or from responding to any false or misleading comments made about him. The Company agrees that it will instruct
Company officers, managers, and human resources personnel who are aware of this Release not to disparage Employee to members of the public or

solicit or encourage othets to do so.

10. EMPLOYMENT VERIFICATION. In keeping with Company policies and precedures, Employee should direct all requests for employment
verification to Company’s third-party employment verification vendor (“work verification vendor™), The work verification vendor will provide only the
dates of Employee’s employment, positions held, and, where permissible, salary. Any inquiries for employment verification or references that come to
Company will be directed to the work verification vendor. Employee understands that Company will not provide additional information regarding

Employee’s employment unless compelled to do so by law.

N-ADMISSION OF LIABILITY OR WR FUL CONDUCT. This Release shall not be construed as an admission by Company of

any liability or acts of wrongdoing or discrimination, nor shall it be considered to be evidence of such liability, wrongdoing, or discrimination.

12, COOPERATION. Through December 31, 2024, Employee agrees to reasonably cooperate with Company regarding any pending or

subsequently filed internal investigations, litigation, claims, or other



disputes or legal proceedings involving Company that relate to matiers within the knowledge or responsibility of Employee during employment with
Company. Without limiting the foregoing, Employee agrees: (a) to meet with Company’s representatives, its counsel, or other designees at reasonable
times and places subject to Employee’s then current business and personal commitments or (b) to provide truthful testimony to any court, agency, or
other adjudicatory body. Company will reimburse Employee for Employee’s time at a reasonable hourly rate and other reasonable expenses in
connection with the cooperation described in this Paragraph, including, if applicable, travel and lodging and legal fees and expenses incurred if
Employee determines in good faith that he needs to retain counsel in order to cooperate and the Company’s counse! would have a conflict of interest in

also representing Employee.

13. CONFIDENTIALITY OF AGREFMENT. Company and Employee mutually agree that
without the written consent of the other they will not reveal, disclose, disseminate or otherwise communicate in any manner or means this Release or its
terms except to their legal and financial advisors, spouses or domestic partners, or as required or permitted by law or regulation er by a court of
competent jurisdiction or as reasonably necessary to disclose in connection with any legal process between the Company and Employee. Nothing in this
Release is intended to or will be used in any way to limit the right for the Employee to make truthful statements or disclosures regarding claims
of discrimination, retaliation, harassment, including sexual harassment or abuse, or any other unlawful employment practices. This provision

does not prevent Employee from engaging in protected conduct as provided above,

14. DELEGATION, Employee understands and agrees that Company may assign, delegate or transfer this Release and Company’s rights and
obligations under this Release to any of its affiliates (so long as the Company remains secondarily liable for its obligations hereunder) or to any business
entity that by merger, consolidation, stock acquisition, or otherwise acquires all of substantially all of the assets of Company or to which Company

transfers all or substantially all of its assets.

15. NO WAIVER. Failure to insist upon strict compliance with any term, covenant, or condition of this Release shall not be deemed a waiver of
such term, covenant, or condition, nor shall any waiver or relinquishment of any right or power in this Release at any one time or more times be deemed

a waiver or relinquishment of such right or power at any other time or times.

16. GOVERNING LAW. This Release shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Missouri and all disputes or

actions to enforce this Release will be brought and heard in the



state and federal courts with jurisdiction over matters in St. Louis County. If the state in which Employee last worked for the Company prohibits

selection of another state’s law or venue, then the law or venue of that state applies.

17. ASSIGNMENT: Employee represents and warrants that no other person than Employee has or had any interest in the matters referred to in
this Release (other than Employee’s estate or beneficiaries which shall receive any outstanding payments hereunder in the event of Employee’s death)
and has the sole right and exclusive authority to execute this Release. Employee represents and warrants that they have not sold, assigned, transferred,

conveyed or otherwise disposed of any claim, demand or legal right that is the subject of this Release.

18. SEVERABILITY: Should any part, term or provision of this Release, except the release in Section 4, be declared and/or be determined by any
court or arbitrator to be illegal or invalid, the validity of the remaining parts, terms or provisions shall not be affected thereby, and said iilegal or invalid

part, term or provision shall be deemed not to be a part of this Release.

19. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Release sets forth the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes any severance or payment
obligations of Company under any employment agreement or severance plan; however, any of Employee’s prior obligations arising out of a previously
executed agreement (including, but not limited to, the covenants set forth in Section 8 of Employee’s Executive Severance and Change in Control
Agreement dated January 26, 2009 and any RSU grant agreements) related to the confidentiality of information, restrictive covenants {such as
agreements not to compete and non-solicitation agreements), or intellectual property remain intact and are incorporated by reference herein and
enforceable to the full extent permitted by those agreements and the law. This Release may not be modified or amended in any manner, except by an

instrument in writing signed by the Company and Employee.



ING AND LUNTARY WAIVER AND TIME T! NSIDER. Employee agrees that this Release has been written in a manner
calculated to be, and which is, understood by Employee. Employee understands that Employee has a period of 45 days from Employee’s last day of
employment or 45 days from the day Employee receives this Release, whichever is later, within which to consider this Release (Consideration Peried).
Employee further understands that any offer in this Release will expire and be considered withdrawn unless Employee accepts this Release by delivering
a signed copy te Company within the Consideration Period. Employee may choose to sign this Release before the end of this Consideration Period, after
carefully considering its terms, except that Employee may not sign this Release prior to Employee’s last day of employment and prior to receiving
Employee’s final paycheck. Employee also understands that Employee may revoke this Release for a period of seven (7) days after the date Employee
signs this Release. Company, by this Release, advises Employee in writing to consult with an attorney prior to signing this Release. Employee agrees
with Company that changes or negotiations related to this Release, whether material or immaterial, do not restart the running of the Consideration
Period. If Employee wishes to accept this Release, Employee must deliver a signed copy of this Release (a) in hard copy or {(b) by legible scan to .pdf

and email to:

CENTENE CORPORATION
HUMAN RESOURCES OPERATIONS ATTN: EMPLOYEE AGREEMENT & RELEASE
7700 FORSYTH BLVD.
ST. LOUIS, MO 63105
Agreements@centene.com

Employees should return any revocation to the same address. If Employee signs the Release, delivers the Release to Company as described above, and

does not revoke this Release, it will become effective, binding and enforceable on the eighth day after such signature.



I have read this Release and understand its legal and binding effect. [ am acting voluntarily, deliberately, and of my own free will in signing this Release.
The Company has provided me with all information needed to make an informed decision to sign this Release, notice of and an opportunity to retain an

attorney, and an opportunity to ask questions about this Release,

Jesse Hunter 101654
Employee Name Employee ID number
/s/Jesse Hunter November 5, 2021

Employee Signature Date



STATE SPECIFIC ADDENDUM
TO SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

APPLIES TO INDIVIDUALS WHQ LIVED OR WORKED IN THE FOLLOWING STATES:
CALIFORNIA, ILLINOIS, MASSACHUSETTS, MINNESOTA, MONTANA, NEW JERSEY, NORTH DAKOTA, OREGON, SOUTH DAKQTA, OR WEST
VIRGINIA

1. CALIFORNIA. If during Employee’s employment with Company, Employee lived or worked in California,

the following language is added to the end of Employee’s Full and Final Release section of the Release:
I am releasing all rights under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads as follows:

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR RELEASING PARTY DOES NOT
KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, AND THAT,
IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEBTOR OR RELEASED PARTY.

Employee is also not waiving their right to indemnity for necessary expenditures or losses (e.g., reimbursement of business expenses)
incurred on behalf of the Company as provided in Section 2802 of the California Labor Code,

the following is added to the section on protected rights:

Nothing in this Release (including but not limited to the full and final release of claims, promise not to sue, representations, return
of company property, confidential information, no disparagement, cooperation, and confidentiality of agreement provisions)
waives Employee’s right to testify in an administrative, legislative, or judicial proceeding concerning alleged criminal conduct or
alleged sexual harassment on the part of the Company, or on the part of the agents or employees of the Company, when I have
been required or requested to attend such a proceeding pursuant te a court order, subpoena, or written request from an
administrative agency or the legislature.

TILLINOIS. If during Employee’s employment with Company, Employee lived or worked in Illinois, the following is added to the section on protected
rights:
Nothing in this Release (including but not limited to the full and final release of claims, promise not to sue, representations, return
of company property, confidential information, no disparagement, cooperation, and confidentiality of agreement provisions)
prechudes Employee from testifying in an administrative, legislative, or judicial proceeding concerning alleged criminal conduct
or alleged unlawful employment practices regarding the Company, its agents, or employees, when Employee has been required or
requested to do so pursuant to a court order, subpoena, or written request from an administrative agency or the legislature,



MASSACHUSETTS. If during Employee’s employment with Company, Employee lived or worked in Massachusetts, the following statutes are
added to the list of statutes in the release and waiver language set forth in the Employee’s Full and Final Release section of the Release: the
Massachusetts Fair Employment Practices Act, the Massachusetts Payment of Wages Law, the Massachusetts Overtime Law, the Massachusetts Civil
Rights Act, the Massachusetts Equal Pay Act, the Massachusetts Privacy Statute, and the Massachusetts Equal Rights Act, the Massachusetts Labor and
Industries Act, the Massachusetts [ndependent Contractor Act, the Massachusetts Earned Sick Time Law,

MINNESOQTA. If during Employee’s employment with Company, Employee lived or worked in Minnesota, Employee has 15 days to revoke the
Release instead of the 7 days stated in the time to consider paragraph. In addition, the Release shall not become effective until the 15-day revocation
period expires, provided Employee does not revoke.

MONTANA, If during Employee’s employment with Company, Employee lived or worked in Montana, the following language is added to the end of
the Employee’s Full and Finat Release section of the Release:

1 am releasing all rights under Montana Code Annotated Section 28-1-1602, which provides:

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO
EXIST IN THE CREDITQOR’S FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH, [F KNOWN BY THE
CREIITOR, MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED THEE CREPITOR’S SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.

[ understand that | am referred to in this statute as the “creditor” and the Company is referred to as the “debtor.”

NEW JERSEY. If during Employee’s employment with Company, Employee lived or worked in New Jersey, the following statutes are added to the list
of statutes in the Employee’s Full and Final Release section of the Release: the New Jersey Conscientious Employee Protection Act, the New Jersey Law
Against Discrimination, the Family Leave Act, and the Diane B. Allen Equal Pay Act.

In addition, the following is added to the section on protected rights:

Nothing in this Release (including but not limited to the full and final release of claims, premise not te suc, representations, return
of company property, confidential information, no disparagement, cooperation, and confidentiality of agreement provisions) shall
have the purpose or effect of requiring me to conceal the details relating to any claim of discrimination, harassment, or retaliation,
provided that I do not reveal proprietary information consisting of nen-public trade secrets, business plans, and customer
information.



NORTH DAKOTA. If during Employee’s employment with Company, Employee lived or worked in North Dakota, the following language is added
to the Employee’s Full and Final Release section of the Release:

I expressly waive any and all rights that | may have under any state or local statute, executive order, regulation, common law and/or public
policy relating to unknown claims, including but not limited to North Dakota Century Code § 9-13-02.

OREGON. If during Employee’s employment with Company, Employee lived or worked in Oregon, the following is added to the section on protected
rights:

Nothing in this Release (including but not limited to the full and final release of claims, promise not to sue, representations, return
of company property, confidential information, no disparagement, cooperation, and confidentiality of agreement provisions) shall
has the purpose or effect of preventing me from disclosing factual information or discussing conduct that constitutes unlawful
discrimination; harassment; sexual harassmend, abuse, assault, or other criminal conduct; or retaliation

SOUTH DAKOTA. If during Employee’s employment with Company, Employee lived or worked in South Dakota, the following language is added
to the Employee’s Full and Final Release section of the Release:

I expressly waive any and all rights that | may have under any state or local statute, executive order, regulation, common law and/or public
policy relating to unknown claims, including but not limited to South Dakota Codified Laws Section 20-7-11.

- WEST VIRGINIA. If during Employee’s employment with Company, Employee lived or worked in West Virginia, the following language is added to
the Releases in the indicated places:

*  “The West Virginia Human Rights Act” is added to the list of statutes released in the Employee’s Full and Final Release section of the Release

» A reference to “The toll free number for the West Virginia Bar Association is 1-866-989-8227" is added to the knowing and voluntary waiver and
time to consider section.

»  “This confidentiality obligation does not apply to communications between Employee and (a) the Human Rights Commission and (b) similarly
situated employees™ is added to the confidentiality of agreement section.

“%16 methocli and/or factors used or considered in arriving at the amount of consideration offered” is included in Involuntary Reduction Program section
after “time limits:”



List of Subsidiaries

Absoclute Total Care, Inc., 2 South Carolina corporation

AcariaHealth Pharmacy #11, Inc., a Texas corporation

AcariaHealth Pharmacy #12, Inc.. a New York corporation

Acariatealth Pharmacy #13, Inc., a California corporation

AcarizHealth Pharmacy #14, Inc., a California corporation

AcariaHealth Pharmacy #26, Inc., 2 Delaware corporation

AcariaHealth Pharmacy, Ine,, a California corporation

AcariaHealth Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation

AcariaHealth, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Access Medical Acquisition, LLC, a Del e LLC

Access Medical Group of Florida City, LLC, a Flonda LLC

Access Medical Group of Hialeah, LL.C, a Flerida LLC

Access Medical Group of Lakeland, LLC, a Florida LLC

Access Medical Group of Miami, LLC, a Florida LLC

Access Medical Group of North Miami Beach, LLC. a Florida LLC
Access Medical Group of Gipa-Locka, LLC, a Florida LLC

Access Medical Group of Perrine, LLC, a Florida LLC

Access Medical Group of Tampa, LLC, a Florida LLC

Access Medical Group of Tampa 1l, LLC, a Florida LLC

Access Medical Group of Tampa 111, LLC, a Florida L.LC

Access Medical Group of Westchester, LLC, a Florida LLC

Accountable Care Coalition Direct Contracting, LLC, a Florida LL.C
Accountable Care Coalition of Chesapeake, LLC, a Maryland LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Community Health Centers, LLC, a Texas LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Community Health Centers [1, LLC, a Texas LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Elite Providers II, I.L.C, a Delaware L1.C
Accountable Care Coalition of Elite Providers, 11{, LLC, a Delaware LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Elite Providers 1V, LLC, a Delaware L1L.C
Accountable Care Coalition of Elite Providers LLC, a Hawau LLC
Accountabie Care Coalition of Elite Providers V, LLC, a Delaware LLC
Accountable Care Coalitioh of Elite Providers VII, LLC, an Arizona LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Florida Partners, LLC, a Florida LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Georgia, LLC, a Georgia LLC
Accountable Care Cealition of Maryland, LLC, a Maryland LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Maryland Primary Care, LLC, a Maryland LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of New Jersey, Inc., a New Jersey corporation
Accountable Care Coalition of North Texas, LLC, a Texas LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Northeast Georgia, LLC, a Georgia LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Nertheast Parters, LLC, a Pennsylvania LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Northwest Florida, LLC, a Florida LL.C
Accountable Care Coalition of Prime Health, LLC, an Oregon LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Quatity Health, LLC, an Oregon LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Quality Health 11, LLC. a Delaware LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Quality Health III. LLC, a Delaware LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Southeast Partners. LLC, a Georgia LLC

Exhibit 21



Accountable Care Coalition of Southeast Physician Partners, LLC, a South Carolina LLC
Accountable Care Coalition of Southeast Texas, Inc., a Texas corporation
Accountable Care Coalition of Southeast Wisconsin, LLC, a Wisconsin LLC
Acconitable Care Coalition of Tennessee, LEC, a Tennessee LLC
Accountatle Care Coalition of Texas, Inc., a Texas corporation

Agate Resources, Inc,, an Oregon corporation

Ambetter of Magnolia, Inc., a Mississippi corperation

Ambetter of Narth Carolina, Inc., a North Carolina corporation

Ambetter of Peach State Inc., a Georgia corporation

America’s 15t Choice California Holdings, LLC, a Florida corporation
American Progressive Life and Health Insurance Company of New York, a New York corporation
Apixio, Inc, a Delaware corporation

Atch Personalized Medicine Initiative, LLC, a Missouri LLC

Artkansas Health & Wellness Health Plan, Inc., an Arkansas corporation
Arkansas Total Care, Inc., an Arkansas corporation

Arkansas Toral Care Holding Company, LLC, a Delaware LLC

AT Learning Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

AT Medics Holdings LLP, an English and Welsh LLP

AT Medics Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

AT Technology (Private) Lid., a Pakistan private company

AT Technology Setvices Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

AWC of Syracuse, Inc., a New York corporation

B2B Gestion Integra S.L.U., a Spanish 5.L.U.

B2B Salud §.L.U., a Spanish S.L.U.

Bankers Reserve Life Insurance Company of Wisconsin, a Wisconsin corporation
Bishopswood 8PV Lud., an English and Welsh private company

BMI Healthcare Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

BMI Hospital Decontamination Led., an English and Welsh private company
BMI Imaging Clinic Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

BM! Southend Private Hospital Ltd., an English and Welsh private company
BMI Syon Clinic Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

Bridgeway Health Solutions LLC, a Delaware LLC

Bridgeway Health Scluticns of Arizona, Inc., an Arizona corporation
Buckeye Community Health Plan, Inc., an Ohio corporation

Buckeye Health Plan Community Solutions, Inc., an Ohio corporation
California Health and Wellness Plan, a Califomia corporation

Cantina Laredo Clayton, LP, a Delaware limited partnership

Carelst Health Plan Administrative Services, Inc,, an Arizona corporation
Care 1st Health Plan of Arizona, Inc., an Arizona corporation

Carolina Complete Health Holding Company Partnership, a Delaware pattnetship
Carolina Complete Health, Inc., a North Carolina corporation

CCTX Holdings, LLC, a Texas LLC

CEF Holding Company Limited, a limited liability Malta company

Celtic Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Celtic Insurance Company, an Illinois corporation

CeltiCare Health Plan Holdings LLC, a Delaware LLC

CeltiCare Health Plan of Massachusetts, Inc., a Massachuseits corporation
Cenpatico Behavioral Health, LLC, a California LLC

Centene Center, LLC, a Delaware LLC



Centene Center 1, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Centene Center 11, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Centene Company of Texas, LP, a Texas limited partmership

Centene Europe Finance Compatiy Limited, a limited liability Malta company
Centene Health Plan Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corperation

Centene Institute for Ad d Health Education, L1.C, a Del ¢ LLC
Centene International Financing Company Limited, a limited liability Malta company
Centene International Ventures, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Centene Management Company, LLC, a Wisconsin LLC

Centene Technology Europe, 31U, a Spanish S.1..U.

Centene Technology UK Ltd., an English and Welsh private company
Centene Venture Company Alabama Health Plan, Inc., an Alabama corporation
Centene Venture Company Florida, Inc_, a Florida corporation

Centene Venture Company llinais, Inc., an Hlinois corporation N
Centene Venture Company Indiana, Inc., an Indiana corporation

Centene Venture Company Kansas, Inc., a Kansas corporation

Centene Venture Company Michigan, Inc., a Michigan corporation

Centene Venture Company T Inc., a T cotporation
Centene Venture Insurance Company Texas, Inc., a Texas corporation

Centro Inmunologocia De La Comunidad Valenciana, 8.1... a Spanish S.L.
Centurion Correctional Healthcare of New Mexico, LLC, a New Mexico LLC
Centurion Detention Health Services, LLC, a Delaware L1.C

Centurion of Arizona, LLC, an Anizona LLC

Centurion of Delaware, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Centurioh of Florida, LLC, a Florida LLC

Centurion of Indiana, LLC, an Indiana 1.LC

Cenmurion of Kansas, LLC, a Kansas LLC

Centurion of Mi LLC, a Mi LLC

Lenturion of Mississippi, LLC, a Mississippi LLC

Centurion of New Hampshire, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Centurion of Pennsylivania, LLC, a Pennsyivania LLC

Centurion of Tennessee, LLC, a Tennessee LLC

Centurion of Verment, LLC, a Vermont LLC

Cenmrion of West Virginia, LLC, 8 West Virginia L1.C

Centurion of Wyoting, LLC, a Wyoming LLC

Centurion, LLC, a Delaware L1.C

Chrysalis Medical Services, LLC, a New Jersey LLC

Circle Birmingham Lid., an English and Welsh private company

Circle Clinical Services Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

Circle Harmony Health Ltd., 2 Hong Kong private company

Circle Health { Led., an English and Welsh private company

Circle Health 2 Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

Circle Health 3 Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

Circle Health 4 Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

Circle Health Holdings Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

Circle Health Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

Circle Holdings Ltd., a Jersey private company

Circle Hospital (Reading) 1.td_, an English and Welsh private company

Circle International, an English and Welsh PLC




Circle Nottingham Lid., an English and Welsh private company

Circle Rehabilitation Services Lid., an English and Welsh private company
Clinica Santo Domingo De Lugo, S L., a Spanish S.L.

CMC Real Estate Company, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Collaborative Health Systems, LLC, 2 New York LLC

Collaborative Health Systems [PA, LLC, a Florida LLC

Collaborative Health Systems of Maryland, LLC, a Maryland LLC
Collaborative Health Systems of Virginia, LLC, a Virginia LLC
Community Medical Holdings Corporation, a Delaware corporation
Comprehensive Health Management, Inc., a Florida corporation
Coordinated Care Corporation, an Indiana corporation

Coordinated Care of Washington, Inc., a Washington corporation

CT Poprad, s.r.0., a Slovakia 8.R.0.

CT Presov s.r.o., a Slovakia 5.R.0.

DELMARVA Collaborative Care, LLC. a Delaware 1.1.C

Driscare CZ, a.s., a Czech Republic AS.

District Community Care, Inc., a Washington D.C. corporation

Dr Magnet s.r.o., a Slovakia S.R.0.

Elche-Crevillente Salud, a Spanish S.A.

Envolve Benefits Options, Inc., a Delaware corporatien

Envolve Dental, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Envolve Dental of Florida, Inc., a Florida corporation

Envelve Dental of Texas, Inc., a Texas corporation

Envolve Dental IPA of New York, Inc., a New York corporation

Envolve Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Euvolve, Ine., a Delaware corporation

Envolve PeopleCare, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Envolve Pharmacy 1PA, LLC, a New York LLC

Envelve Pharmacy Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Envolve Optical, Inc. a Delaware corporation

Envolve Total Vision, Inc., 2 Delaware corporation

Envolve Vision Benefits, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Envoelve Vision, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Envolve Vision IPA of New York, Inc., a New York corporation

Envelve Vision of Florida, Inc., a Florida corporation

Envolve Vision of Texas, Inc.. a Texas corporation

Essential Care Partners, LLC, a Texas LLC

Forensic Health Services, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Foundation Care, LLC, a Missouri LLC

General Healthcare Group Lid., an English and Welsh private company
General Healtheare Holdings 2 Ltd., an English and Welsh private company
General Healthcare Holdings 3 Lid., an English and Welsh private company
Generale de Sante International Ltd., an English and Welsh private company
GHG (DB) Pension Trustees Lid.. an English and Welsh private company
GHG Healthcare Holdings Ltd., an English and Welsh private company
GHG Intermediate Holdings Ltd., an English and Welsh private company
GHG Leasing Lid., an English and Welsh private company

GHG Mount Alvernia Hospital Lid.. an English and Welsh private company
Golden Triangle Physician Alliance, a Texas not-for-profit corporation



Granite State Health Plan, Inc., a New Hampshire corporation
Hallmark Life Insurance Company, an Arizona corporation
Harmony Health Management, Inc., a3 New Jersey corporation
Harmony Health Plan, Inc., an [llinois corporation

Harmony Health Systems Inc., a New Jersey corporation
Health Care Enterprises, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Health Net Access, Inc., an Arizona corporation

Health Net Community Solutions, Inc., a California corporation
Health Net Community Solutions of Arizona, Inc., an Arizona corporation
Health Net Federal Services, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Health Net Health Plan of Oregon, Inc., an Oregon corporation
Health Net Life Insurance Company, a California corporation
Hgalth Net Life Reinsurance Company, a Cayman Islands corporation
Health Net, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Health Net of Arizona, Inc., an Atizona corporation

Health Net of California, Inc., a California corporation

Health Plan Real Estate Holdings, Ing., a Missouri corporation
HealthSmart Benefit Solutions, Inc., an Hlinois corporation
HealthSmart Benefits Management, LLC, a Texas LLC
HealthSmart Care Management Solutions, LP, a Texas partnership
HealthSmart Information Systems, Inc., a Texas corporation
HealthSmart Preferred Care I1, LP, a Texas partmership
HealthSmart Preferred Network H Inc,, a Delaware corporation
HealthSmart Primary Care Clinics, LP, a Texas partnership
HealthSmart Rx Solutiens, Inc., an Ohio corporation

Heatthy Louisiana Holdings, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Healthy Missouri Holdings, Inc., a Missouri corporation
Healthy Washington Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Heritage Health Systems, Inc., a Texas corporation

Heritage Health Systems of Texas, Inc., a Texas corporation
Heritage Physician Networks, a Texas not-for-profit corporation
HHS Texas Management, Inc., a Texas corporation

HHS Texas Management, LP, a Texas limited parinership

HLM Strategic Investment Fund, L.P, a Delaware limited partnership
Home State Health Plan, Inc., a Missouri corporation
HomeS¢ripts.com, LLC, a Michigan L1L.C

Hospinet, 5.L.,a Spanish S.L.

Hospital Polusa, S.A., a Spanish S.A,

Hospital Povisa, S.A., 2 Spanish S.A,

IMlinois Health Practice Alliance, LLC, a Delaware corporation
Infragstructuras y Servicios de Alzira S. L., a Spanish S.L.
Integrated Mental Health Services, a Texas corporation
Interpreta Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Interpreta, In¢., a Delaware corporation

Iowa Total Care, Inc., an lowa corporation

Kentucky Spirit Health Plan, Inc., a Kentucky corporation
LifeShare Management Group, LLC, a New Hampshire LLC
Louisiana Healthcare Connections, Inc., a Louisiana corporation
Magnolia Health Plan, Inc., a Mississippi corporation



Maunaged Health Nelwork, a Califernia corporation

Managed Health Network, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Managed Health Services Insurance Corporation, a Wisconsin corporation
Marina Salud, S.A., a Spanish S.A.

Maryland Collaborative Care, LLC, a Maryland LLC

Maryland Collaborative Care Transformation Organization, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Mauli Ola Health and Wellness, Inc., a Hawaii corporation

Medicina NZ, spol s.r.0., a Slovakia S R.O.

Meriden Hospital Advanced Imaging Centre Ltd., an English and Welsh pri,vate company
Metidian Health Plan of Illinecis, Inc., an Illinois corporation

Meridian Health Plan of Michigan, Inc., a Michigan corporation

Meridian Management Company, LLC (a/k/a Meridian Administration Company, LLC), a Michigan LLC
Meridian Network Services, LLC, a Michigan LLC

MeridianRx, LLC, a Michigan LLC

MeridianRx IPA, LLC, a New York LLC

MeridianRx of Indiana, LL.C, a Michigan LLC

MH Services International Holdings (UK) Limited, an English and Welsh private company
MHM Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation

MHM Correctional Services, LLC, a Delaware LLC

MHM Services of California, LLC, a California LLC

MHM Solutions, LLC, a Delaware LLC

MHM Health Professionals, LLC, a Delaware LL.C

MHN Government Services LLC, a Delaware LLC

MHN Services, LLC, a California LLC

MHS Consulting International, Inc,, a Delaware corporation

MHS Travel & Charter, Inc., a Wisconsin corporation

Michigan Complete Health, a Michigan corporation

Mid-Atlantic Collaborative Care, LLC, a Maryland LLC

Mount Alvemnia PET CT Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

MR Centrum Melnick, s.t.o., a Czech Republic SR.O.

MR Poprad, s.1.0., a Slovakia S.R.O.

MR Zilina, 5.r.0., a Slovakia S.R.O.

Natijons Healthcare Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

Nebraska Total Care, Inc., a Nebraska corporation

Network Providers, LLC, a Delaware LLC

New York Quality Healthcare Corporation, a New York corporation

Next Door Neighbors, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Next Door Neighbors, LLC., a Delaware LLC

Northern Maryland Collaborative Care, LLC, a Maryland LLC

North West Cancer Clinic Ltd., an English and Welsh private company
Novasys Health, Inc.. a Delaware corporation

OB Care, a Czech Republic S R.O.

OB Klinika a.s., a Czech Republic A S.

Ohana Health Plan, Inc., a Hawaii corporation

Oklahoma Complete Health Holding Company, LLC, a Delaware LLC
Oklahoma Complete Health Inc., an Oklaboma corporation,

One Care by Care 1st Health Plans of Arizona, Inc, an Arizona corporation
Operose Health (Group) Ltd., an English and Welsh private company
Operose Health (Group) UK Ltd., an English and Welsh private company



Operose Health Ltd., an English and Welsh private company
Pantherx Access Services, LLC, a Pennsylvania LLC

Pantherx Specialty, LLC, a Pennsylvania LLC

Panther Pass Co, LLC, a Pennsylvania L1L.C

Panther Specialty Holding Ce, LL.C, a Pennsylvania LLC

Parker LP, LLC, a Nevada LLC

Peach State Health Plan, Inc., a Georgia corporation

Penn Marketing America, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Pennsylvania Health and Wellness, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation
Preamed s.r.o., a Slovakia S.R.0O.

Premier Marketing Group, LLC, a Delaware LL.C

Primary Care Partners Ltd., an English and Welsh private company
PRIMEROSALUD, S.L.U,, & Spanish §.L.U.

Pro Diagnostic Group, A.S,, a Slovakia A.S.

Pro Magnet, s.r.o, a Slovakia $.R.0,

Pro Magnet CZ, s.r.0., a Czech Republic S.R.O.

Pro Nuclear, a.s., a Slovakia A.S.

Pro RTG, s.r.0. a Slovakia S.R.O.

Progress Medical A.S., a Czech Republic A.S.

Prowl Holdings, LLC, a Delaware LLC

QCA Healthplan, Inc., an Arkansas corporation

Qualchoice Life and Health Insurance Company, and Arkansas company
Quincy Coverage Corporation, a New York corporation

Rhythm Health Tennessee, Inc., a Tennessee corporation

Ribera Diagnéstics, §.L.U., a Spanish §.L.U.

Ribera Healtheare,5.1..U., a Spanish S.L.U.

Ribera Lab, 5.L.U., a Spanish §.L.U.

Ribera Management, S.L.U., a Spanish S.L.U.

Ribera Salud II, a Spanish UTE

Ribera Slaud Infraestructuras S.L.U., a Spanish $.L.U.

Ribera Salud Proyectos S.1.., a Spanish S.L.

Ribera Salud Tecnologias S L.U., a Spanish S LU

Ribera Salud, S_A., a Spanish S.A.

Ribera-Quilpro UTE, a Spanish UTE

Runnymeade SPV Ltd., an English and Welsh private company
Salus Administrative Services, Inc., a New York corporation
Salus IPA, LLC, a New York LLC

Secure Capital Sclutions 2000, S.L U, a Spanish S.L.U.
SelectCare Health Plans, Inc., a Texas corporation

SelectCare of Texas, Inc., a Texas corporation

Servicios De Mantenimiento Prevencor, 8.L.U., a Spanish S.L.U.
Shangbai Circle Harmony Hospital Management Limited, a Chinese private company
SilverSummit Healthplan, Inc., a Nevada corporation

Social Health Bridge Trust, a Delaware trust

Social Health Bridge, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Specialty Therapeutic Care Holdings, LLC, a Delaware LLC
Specialty Therapeutic Care, GP, LLC, a Texas LLC

Specizlty Therapeutic Care. LP. a Texas limited paninership
Sunflower Stare Health Plan, Inc., a Kansas corporation



Sunchine Health Community Solutions, Inc., a Florida corporation

Sunshine Health Holding, LLC, a Florida LLC

Sunshine State Health Plan, Inc., a Florida corporation

Superior HealthPlan, Inc., a Texas corporation

Superior HealthPlan Community Solutions, Inc., a Texas corporation

Superior Health Management Advisors, LLC

Terapias Medicas Demiciliarias, 8.L., a Spanish S.L.

The Pavilion Clinie Ltd., an English and Welsh private company

The Practice Properties Limited, an English and Welsh private company

The WellCare Management Group, Inc., a New York corporation

Three Shires Hospital LP, an English and Welsh limited partnership

TKH Holding 14d., an English and Welsh private company

Torrejon Salug, 8.A., a Spanish 5. A.

Torrevicja Salud S.L.U., a Spanish $.L.U.

Torrevieja Salud UTE, a Spanish UTE

Transplant Health Solutions TPA, Inc., a New York corporation

Trillium Community Health Plan, Inc., an Oregon corporation

UAM Agent Services Corp., an lowa corporation

Universal American Corp., a Delaware comporation

Universal Americars Holdings, LLC, a Delaware LLC

Universal American Financial Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Vivamed s.r.o., a Slovakia SR.O.

WCG Health Management, Inc.. a Delaware corporatien

Windsor Health Group, Inc., a Tennessee corporation

WellCare Health Insurance Company of America, an Arkansas corporation
WellCare Health Insurance Company of Kentucky, Inc., a Kentucky corporation
WellCare Health Insurance Company of Louisiana, Inc., a Louisiana corporation
WellCare Health Insurance Company of Nevada, Inc., a Nevada corporation
WellCare Health Insurance Company of Oklahema, Ine., an Oklahoma corporaticn
WellCare Health Insurance Company of Washington, Inc., a Washington corporation
WellCare Health Insurance Company of New Hampshire, Inc., a New Harupshire corporation
WellCare Health Insurance Company of New Jersey, Inc., a New Jersey corporation
WellCare Health Insurance of Arizona, Inc., an Arizona corporation

WellCare Heatth Insurance of Connecticut, Inc., a Connecticut corporation
WellCare Health Insurance of Hawaii, Inc., a Hawaii corporation

WellCare Health Insurance of Wew York, Inc., a New York corporation
WellCare Health Insurance of North Carolina, Inc., a North Carolina corporation
WellCare Health Insurance of Southwest, Inc., an Arizona corporation

WellCare Health Insurance of Tennessee, Inc., a Tennessee corporation
WellCare Health Plans, Inc., a Delaware corporation

WellCare Health Plans of Arizona, Inc., an Anzona corporation

WellCare Health Plans of Kentucky, Inc., a Kentucky corporation

WellCare Health Plans of Massachusetts, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation
WellCare Health Plans of Missouri, Inc., a Missour corporation

WellCare Health Plans of New Jersey, Inc., a New Jersey corporation

‘WellCare Health Plans of Rhode Island, Inc., a Rhode Island corporation
WellCare Health Plans of Vermont, Inc., a Vermont corporation

WellCare National Health Insurance Company, a Texas corporation

WellCare of Alabana, Inc.. an Alabama corporation



WellCare of Arkansas, Inc., an Arkansas corporation

WellCare of California, Inc., a California comporation

‘WellCare of Connecticut, Inc., a Connecticut corporation
WellCare of Georgia, Inc., a Georgia corporation

WellCare of 1llinais, Inc., an Illincis corporation

WellCare of Indiana, Inc.. an Indiana corporation

WellCare of Maine, Inc., a Maine corperation

WellCare of Michigan Holding Company, a Michigan corporation
WellCare of Missouri Health Insurance Company, In¢., 8 Missouri corporation
WellCare of Mississippi, Inc., a Mississippi cotporation
WellCare of New Hampshire, Inc., a New Hampshire corporation
WellCare of New York, Inc., a New York corporation

WellCare of North Carolina, Inc., a North Carolina corporation
WellCare of Ohio, Inc., an Ghio corporation

WellCare of Oklahoma, Inc., an Okiashoma corporation

WellCare of Pennsylvania, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation
WellCare of South Carolina, Inc., a South Carolina corporation
WellCare of Texas, Inc., a Texas corporation

WellCare of Virginia, Inc., a Virginia corporation

WellCare of Washington, Inc., a Washington corperation
WellCare Prescription Insurance, Inc., an Arizona corporation
Western Sky Community Care, Inc., a New Mexico corporation
Winning Security, $.L., a Spanish S L.

Worlgo Management Services, Inc., a New York corporation




Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements Nos. 333-261993, 333-255735, 333-238597, 333-236036, 333-217634, 333-210376, 333-197737,
333-180976, 333-108467, and 333-90976 on Form S-8 and in the registration statements Nos. 333-238050 and 333-209252 on Form 8-3 of our repoerts dated February 22, 2022,
with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Centene Corporation and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

fs{ KPMG LLP

St, Louis, Missouri
February 22, 2022



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

1, Michael F. Neidorff, certify that:

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Centene Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untruc statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ are responsible for cstablishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(c)} and internal control over financial reporting {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 132-15¢f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiarics, is made known te us by others within those entities, particularly during
the periad in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internat control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purpascs in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the cffectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the peried covered by this report based on such cvaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting: and

The registrant’s other certifying otficer and | have disclosed, based on our mest recent evaluation of intemnal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability 10 record, process. summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any frayd, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s intemal control aver financial
reporting,
Dated: February 22, 2022 /s/ MICHAEL F. NEIDORFF

Chairman and Chief Exceutive Officer
{principal executive afficer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

1, Andrew L. Asher, certify that:

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Centene Corporation;

Bascd on my knowledge, this report docs not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made. not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respeets the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and T are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(c) and 15d-15(¢)) andl internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure contrels and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such interal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adverscly affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any frand, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
Dated: February 22, 2022 /s/ ANDREW L. ASHER

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Centene Corporation (the Company) for the period ended December 31, 2021, as filed with the Sccurities and Exchange
Commission on the datc hereof (the Report), the undersigned, Michac! F, Neidorff, Chairman and Chief Executive Officcr of the Company. hereby certifics, purswant to 1§

U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
[} the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all matcriat respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ MICHAEL F. NEIDORFF

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Dated: February 22, 2022




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In conncction with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Centene Corporation (the Company) for the period ended December 31, 2021, as filed with the Securitics and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the Report), the undersigned, Andrew L. Asher, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies,

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Scction 1350, that:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in alt matenal respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: February 22, 2022 s/ ANDREW L. ASHER

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial ofticer)




